

Assessing the consequences of childhood trauma on behavwioral issues and mental health outcomes

Edited by Myriam Verena Thoma, Shauna Ledean Rohner and Jan Höltge

Published in Frontiers in Psychiatry





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-83251-072-8 DOI 10.3389/978-2-83251-072-8

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Assessing the consequences of childhood trauma on behavioral issues and mental health outcomes

Topic editors

Myriam Verena Thoma — University of Zurich, Switzerland Shauna Ledean Rohner — University of Zurich, Switzerland Jan Höltge — University of Hawaii at Manoa, United States

Citation

Thoma, M. V., Rohner, S. L., Höltge, J., eds. (2023). Assessing the consequences of childhood trauma on behavioral issues and mental health outcomes. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-83251-072-8

🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

Table of contents

- 05 Editorial: Assessing the consequences of childhood trauma on behavioral issues and mental health outcomes Myriam V. Thoma, Shauna L. Rohner and Jan Höltge
- 08 Childhood Maltreatment, Psychopathology, and Offending Behavior in Patients With Schizophrenia: A Latent Class Analysis Evidencing Disparities in Inpatient Treatment Outcome

Steffen Lau, Johannes Kirchebner, Sabine Kling, Sebastian Euler and Moritz Philipp Günther

18 Associations Between Childhood Trauma and the Age of First-Time Drug Use in Methamphetamine-Dependent Patients

> Cui Huang, Qiuyu Yuan, Ling Zhang, Lei Wang, Shu Cui, Kai Zhang and Xiaoqin Zhou

26 Childhood Maltreatment in Individuals With Schizophrenia Spectrum Disorders: The Impact of Cut-Off Scores on Prevalence Rates

> Angelina Weitkämper, Michael Kellner, Jona Ruben Iffland, Martin Driessen, Hanna Kley, Frank Neuner and Benjamin Iffland

36 Childhood Trauma and Aggression in Persons Convicted for Homicide: An Exploratory Study Examines the Role of Plasma Oxytocin

Kah Kheng Goh, Mong-Liang Lu and Susyan Jou

47 A Clinical Rationale for Assessing the Impact of Childhood Sexual Abuse on Adjunctive Subcutaneous Esketamine for Treatment-Resistant Depression

> Eduardo Jorge Muniz Magalhães, Luciana Maria Sarin, Lorena Catarina Del Sant, Ana Cecília Lucchese, Carolina Nakahira, Marco Aurélio Tuena, Camila Brito Puertas, Victor Augusto Rodovalho Fava, Rodrigo Simonini Delfino, Juliana Surjan, Matheus Souza Steglich, Matheus Ghossain Barbosa, Guilherme Abdo, José Alberto Del Porto, Charles B. Nemeroff, Hugo Cogo-Moreira, Acioly Luiz Tavares Lacerda and Andrea Feijo Mello

54 The Role of Qi-Stagnation Constitution and Emotion Regulation in the Association Between Childhood Maltreatment and Depression in Chinese College Students Huiyuan Huang, Quanwu Song, Jiawen Chen, Ying Zeng, Wenqi Wang, Bingqing Jiao, Jiabao Lin, Yan Li, Rong Zhang, Lijun Ma,

66 The Italian Version of the International Trauma Questionnaire: Symptom and Network Structure of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder in a Sample of Late Adolescents Exposed to a Natural Disaster

Rodolfo Rossi, Valentina Socci, Francesca Pacitti, Claudia Carmassi, Alessandro Rossi, Giorgio Di Lorenzo and Philip Hyland

Huafeng Pan and Yafei Shi

75 Associations of Childhood Maltreatment With Suicidal Behavior Among Chinese Adolescents: Does It Differ Based on Gender and Biological Rhythm?

Yang Xie, Huiqiong Xu, Baolin Wang, Xiaoyan Wu, Shuman Tao, Yuhui Wan and Fangbiao Tao

- 83 Developmental trauma: Conceptual framework, associated risks and comorbidities, and evaluation and treatment Daniel Cruz, Matthew Lichten, Kevin Berg and Preethi George
- 97 Adverse childhood experiences and behavioral problems in early adolescence: An empirical study of chinese children Yunfan Chen
- 108 Epistemic trust and personality functioning mediate the association between adverse childhood experiences and posttraumatic stress disorder and complex posttraumatic stress disorder in adulthood

Hanna Kampling, Johannes Kruse, Astrid Lampe, Tobias Nolte, Nora Hettich, Elmar Brähler, Cedric Sachser, Jörg M. Fegert, Stephan Gingelmaier, Peter Fonagy, Lina Krakau, Sandra Zara and David Riedl

120 Childhood maltreatment, depression and their link to adult economic burdens

Julia Petersen, Ann-Christin Schulz, Elmar Brähler, Cedric Sachser, Jörg M. Fegert and Manfred E. Beutel

- 133 Mediating pathways of neuroticism and social anxiety in the relationship between childhood trauma and the fear of missing out among Chinese college students Jiale Shi, Wei Li, Chengwen Han, Jingying Han and Fang Pan
- 141 Adverse childhood experiences growing up in East or West Germany or abroad Ann-Christin Schulz, Christoph Kasinger, Manfred Beutel,

Jörg M. Fegert, Vera Clemens and Elmar BrählerChildhood maltreatment affects depression and anxiety: The

152 Childhood maltreatment affects depression and anxiety: The mediating role of benign envy and malicious envy Xiaojun Li, Linping Tu and Xinsheng Jiang

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY David Cohen, Sorbonne Universités, France

*CORRESPONDENCE Myriam V. Thoma m.thoma@psychologie.uzh.ch

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Adolescent and Young Adult Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 17 November 2022 ACCEPTED 23 November 2022 PUBLISHED 02 December 2022

CITATION

Thoma MV, Rohner SL and Höltge J (2022) Editorial: Assessing the consequences of childhood trauma on behavioral issues and mental health outcomes. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:1101099.

doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.1101099

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Thoma, Rohner and Höltge. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Assessing the consequences of childhood trauma on behavioral issues and mental health outcomes

Myriam V. Thoma^{1,2*}, Shauna L. Rohner^{1,2} and Jan Höltge^{3,4}

¹Psychopathology and Clinical Intervention, Institute of Psychology, University of Zürich, Zurich, Switzerland, ²University Research Priority Program "Dynamics of Healthy Aging", University of Zürich, Zurich, Switzerland, ³Department of Psychology, University of Hawai'i at Mānoa, Honolulu, HI, United States, ⁴School of Social Work, Resilience Research Centre, Dalhousie University, Halifax, NS, Canada

KEYWORDS

childhood trauma, mental health, behavioral issues, psychosocial adjustment, lifespan impact

Editorial on the Research Topic

Assessing the consequences of childhood trauma on behavioral issues and mental health outcomes

Introduction

Childhood trauma is a common and global phenomenon (1). Multiple reports have demonstrated a significant relationship between childhood trauma, detrimental mental and physical health outcomes, behavioral issues, and psychosocial maladjustment (2). Given its widespread prevalence and harmful health consequences, childhood trauma is a major public health concern. This Research Topic aimed to enhance the understanding of the relationship between childhood trauma and various health outcomes across the life span and in different countries around the globe. Thus, the included papers investigated links between childhood trauma and health outcomes, with seven in China (Chen; Goh et al.; Li et al.; Huang, Yuan et al.; Huang, Song et al.; Shi et al.; Xie et al.), four in Germany (Kampling et al.; Petersen et al.; Schulz et al.; Weitkämper et al.), and one each in Brazil (Muniz Magalhães et al.), Italy (Rossi et al.), and Switzerland (Lau et al.). In addition, this Research Topic contains one conceptual framework developed in United States (Cruz et al.).

The following papers addressed the relationships between childhood trauma and various mood and anxiety outcomes. Huang, Song et al. explored how Qi-stagnation constitution (QSC; unbalanced constitution due to long-term emotional dysfunction and stagnation of Qi movement) and emotion regulation affect the relationship between childhood maltreatment and depressive symptoms. Results revealed a mediating role of QSC between childhood maltreatment and depressive symptoms

and a moderating effect of emotion dysregulation on the association between QSC and depressive symptoms. Li et al. investigated if the social comparison emotions of benign and malicious envy can explain the relationship between child maltreatment and depression and anxiety. While malicious envy increased the detrimental effect of child maltreatment on depression and anxiety, benign envy attenuated these effects. Muniz Magalhães et al. analyzed if the experience of childhood sexual abuse was linked to a reduced effect of adjunctive subcutaneous esketamine for the treatment of depression in outpatients who showed resistance to conventional antidepressants. The authors found that childhood sexual abuse might not attenuate the effect of esketamine on depression in this sample, providing evidence for an alternative treatment for otherwise treatment-resistant depressive patients. Petersen et al. investigated the potential interaction of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs), depression, and economic burdens. Results show that a higher number of ACEs was linked to more depressive symptoms. Individuals who had experienced four or more ACEs showed the highest number of depressive symptoms. Moreover, depression acted as a moderator by increasing economic burden. Shi et al. assessed underlying pathways of the relationship between childhood trauma and the fear of missing out (FOMO). Their findings show that childhood trauma was positively associated with FOMO. Furthermore, the results indicate three mediating pathways on this relationship through neuroticism and social anxiety, showing a sequential mediation effect of these two constructs.

The next group of papers investigated the relationship between ACEs and outcomes specifically associated with (developmental) trauma. Cruz et al. discuss recent research on developmental trauma (disorder) and implications for research and practice. The authors also shed light on different risks regarding health and wellbeing for those affected by developmental trauma. Developmental trauma may affect attachment, worldview assumptions, self-perception, and emotion regulation, as well various physical and mental health disorders. The authors highlight the importance of the correct diagnostic process, clinical assessment, and treatment methods for those affected by developmental trauma disorder. Kampling et al. examined the mediating role of personality functioning and epistemic trust in the relationship between ACEs and posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and complex (C)PTSD. Personality functioning partially mediated the relationship between ACEs and PTSD/CPTSD. When epistemic trust was included as a predictor for personality functioning, the explained variance of personality functioning increased, compared to the inclusion of ACEs as a single predictor. Rossi et al. assessed the factor and symptom structure of the Italian version of the International Trauma Questionnaire (ITQ), which measures (C)PTSD symptoms. Findings confirm the factorial validity of the ITQ and support a differentiation between symptoms of PTSD and the three CPTSD symptoms.

The following group of papers investigated various relationships between ACEs and schizophrenia spectrum disorder (SSD). Lau et al. examined whether child maltreatment in Swiss offender patients with SDD could explain the extent of offending behavior, psychopathology, and treatment success. Patients with SDD and no child maltreatment experiences showed the highest levels of psychopathology and violent offending in the past and were most likely to show criminal behavior in the future. Weitkämper et al. assessed prevalence rates of common types of childhood maltreatment in individuals with a primary diagnosis of SSD. While they found generally high rates of childhood maltreatment in individuals with SSD, the prevalence rates for physical abuse and neglect and emotional abuse varied depending on the cut-off thresholds applied.

A last group of studies examined the relationship between ACEs and survivors' behavioral problems and harmful behaviors directed toward themselves or others. The study by Chen found strong associations between ACEs and behavioral problems (e.g., hyperactivity, prosocial problems). An investigation of subgroup differences revealed that males, rural children, and children of mothers with lower education levels were more likely to have been exposed to multiple types of ACEs. Goh et al. conducted a group comparison of individuals convicted for homicide with a non-offending group to investigate if the level of plasma oxytocin could explain the link between childhood trauma and overt aggression. While childhood trauma was negatively associated with plasma oxytocin and positively associated with aggression in both groups, plasma oxytocin was only significantly associated with aggression in the offenders group. Huang, Yuan et al. examined the relationship between childhood trauma and the age of first-time drug use. Younger age of first-time drug use among methamphetaminedependent patients was linked to more severe childhood trauma, particularly physical and emotional abuse. The results further suggest that a detrimental family environment (e.g., high levels of family conflict and independence), was linked to more severe childhood trauma. Xie et al. investigated if the positive link between child maltreatment and suicidal ideation, planning, and attempts varies by sex; and whether these sex differences can be explained by biological rhythm disorder. The authors found that adolescents with higher levels of biological rhythm disorder and child maltreatment report significantly more suicidal behavior. The extent of the biological rhythm disorder mainly played a significant role for suicidal behaviors in females.

Finally, the study by Schulz et al. shed light on underlying socio-political mechanisms of ACEs by assessing ACE frequencies in individuals who grew up in East or West Germany or abroad. Using two representative samples, they found significantly more ACEs reported by those who grew up abroad, with the lowest rates of ACEs reported by those who grew up in East Germany. They also identified significant age cohort and gender effects.

Conclusion

This Research Topic highlights recent findings on childhood trauma and various health outcomes across the lifespan and in several countries around the globe. The selected papers help to enhance the awareness of the detrimental link between childhood trauma and various mood and anxiety disorders, outcomes specifically associated with (developmental) stress (disorders), schizophrenia spectrum disorders, behavioral problems, as well as harmful behaviors directed toward themselves or others. These papers have also elucidated various potentially modifiable points of intervention to help diminish these detrimental health consequences of childhood trauma. In order to increase the understanding of the link between childhood trauma and detrimental health outcomes, it appears to be necessary to consider various socio-demographic and person-related factors, as well as aspects of the child-rearing environment, including the wider socio-political context. We believe that this Research Topic provides an up-to-date overview of some of the latest findings of the global and common risk factor that is "childhood trauma" and further advances the understanding of its detrimental health consequences.

Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Stoltenborgh M, Bakermans-Kranenburg MJ, Alink LRA, van IJzendoorn MH. The prevalence of child maltreatment across the globe: Review of a series of meta-analyses. *Child Abuse Rev.* (2015) 24:37–50. 10.1002/car.2353

2. Carr A, Duff H, Craddock F. A systematic review of the outcome of child abuse in long-term care. *Trauma, Violence, Abuse.* (2020) 21:660-77. 10.1177/1524838018789154





Childhood Maltreatment, Psychopathology, and Offending Behavior in Patients With Schizophrenia: A Latent Class Analysis Evidencing Disparities in Inpatient Treatment Outcome

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Christian Huber, University Psychiatric Clinic Basel, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Daniel Schöttle, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Germany Alaptagin Khan, Harvard Medical School, United States

*Correspondence:

Moritz Philipp Günther moritzphilipp.guenther@usz.ch orcid.org/0000-0002-7707-5532

†ORCID:

Steffen Lau orcid.org/0000-0002-3175-3457 Johannes Kirchebner orcid.org/0000-0002-6072-9958 Sabine Kling orcid.org/0000-0001-7202-7200 Sebastian Euler orcid.org/0000-0002-5009-8355

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 30 September 2020 Accepted: 04 January 2021 Published: 28 January 2021

Citation:

Lau S, Kirchebner J, Kling S, Euler S and Günther MP (2021) Childhood Maltreatment, Psychopathology, and Offending Behavior in Patients With Schizophrenia: A Latent Class Analysis Evidencing Disparities in Inpatient Treatment Outcome. Front. Psychiatry 12:612322. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.612322 Steffen Lau^{1†}, Johannes Kirchebner^{1†}, Sabine Kling^{2†}, Sebastian Euler^{3†} and Moritz Philipp Günther^{3*}

¹ Department of Forensic Psychiatry, University Hospital of Psychiatry Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland, ² Computer Vision Laboratory, Department of Information Technology and Electrical Engineering, Swiss Federal Institute of Technology (ETH) Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland, ³ Department of Consultation Psychiatry and Psychosomatics, University Hospital of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

Background: Extant research has provided evidence for disparities between patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorder (SSD) who have and have not experienced childhood maltreatment (CM) in terms of treatment outcome, psychopathology and their propensity to engage in offending behavior. However, research addressing all phenomena is scarce.

Objective: The current study aims to explore differences between offender patients with SSD and CM and those with SSD and no CM in terms of their offending, psychopathology at different points in time and treatment outcome.

Method: In the present explorative study, latent class analysis was used to analyze differences between 197 offender patients with SSD and CM and 173 offender patients with SSD and no CM, who were admitted to forensic psychiatric inpatient treatment between 1982 and 2016 in Switzerland.

Results: Three distinct homogenous classes of patients were identified, two of which were probable to have experienced significant CM. One third of patients with SSD and CM were probable to benefit from inpatient treatment, even surpassing results observable in the group without CM, whereas the other group with SSD and CM was probable to benefit less. Patients with SSD and no CM displayed more psychopathology at first diagnosis and prior to their index offense. Interclass differences in offending behavior were minimal.

Conclusions: Offender patients with SSD and CM differ not only from offender patients with SSD and no CM, but also amongst themselves. While some with SSD and CM experience a remission in psychopathology and improve their prognosis for future offending behavior, others do not. Directions for future research on SSD and CM are discussed.

Keywords: latent class analysis, schizophrenia, childhood maltreatment, violence, offending behavior, trauma

INTRODUCTION

Patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders (SSD) and offending behavior are a significant population in forensic psychiatry. Evidence suggests that the rate of offending behavior (i.e., illegal violent and non-violent aggression against others) may be twice as high in patients with SSD, in comparison to the overall population, even if age, substance use and socio-economic factors are controlled for (1-3). Furthermore, offending behavior is nine times higher in patients with SSD and substance use as a comorbidity and 19.5 times as high for homicide or attempted homicide (1).

Among the numerous studies on the possible underlying reasons for this association, childhood maltreatment (CM) has been recurrently identified to at least double the odds for both, substance use and offending behavior in patients with SSD (4). CM includes sexual abuse (i.e., sexual contact between child and adult), physical abuse (i.e., bodily assault), emotional abuse (i.e., verbal assaults, humiliation), emotional neglect (i.e., failure of caregivers to provide for basic emotional and psychological needs) and physical neglect (i.e., failure of caregivers to provide for basic bodily needs such as food or shelter) (5-8). While CM might be seen as an unspecific risk factor for various psychiatric diseases (9, 10), some evidence revealed a link between SSD and specific types of CM such as emotional abuse (6, 8) or emotional neglect (7, 9, 10) compared to other psychiatric diseases. Similarly, some research has linked physical abuse to homicide (11) and offending in patients with SSD (12).

Further research revealed that specific types of CM are linked to psychopathology in SSD without including the role of offending behavior. For example, drawing on network analysis, all 5 scales of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form were linked to general psychopathology defined in the Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale (PANSS), which again linked to positive and negative symptoms in the PANSS (7). This means, for instance, Isvoranu et al. linked physical abuse to grandiosity, excitement and hostility via poor impulse control (7). Similarly, physical abuse was connected to hallucinations, delusions and paranoia via somatic concern and unusual thought content. Finally, in the same study, physical neglect was linked to blunted affect, lack of spontaneity and flow of conversation via motor retardation. Such results seem particularly relevant for efforts aiming to optimize treatment outcomes. Especially, since another recent systematic review and meta-analysis reported treatment outcomes to be poorer in SSD when there was a history of CM (13). Odds ratios for poorer treatment outcomes in patients with CM and SSD ranged between 2.35 [CI 1.05-5.27; (14)] and 6.80 [CI 1.66-27.86; (15)].

In summary, studies have shown that specific types of CM might play an important role for offending behavior and psychopathology in SSD. However, the (inter-)relations between CM, offending behavior, and psychopathology in SSD are not sufficiently clear. A more comprehensive analysis, which enlightens the complex interaction between subtypes of CM, psychopathology, and offending behavior in SSD, was recommended in a recent review and meta-analysis on the topic (4). This might allow more targeted preventive efforts of CM, SSD and offending behavior. As suggested by another recent metaanalysis indicating that patients with psychotic disorders and CM (regardless of violent behavior) experience poorer treatment outcomes than patients with psychosis alone (13), the effect of CM on treatment of SSD should be further evaluated in a naturalistic clinical setting in light of the presence or absence of CM.

The present study aims to identify subgroups of patients with SSD based on treatment outcome and the presence of various patient characteristics, such as the specific types of CM, psychopathology, and types of violent and non-violent offending. We were particularly interested in whether or not patients with offending behavior and SSD with and without CM are distinct groups. Further, using an exploratory approach, we investigated whether a particular subtype of CM is more prone to more severe offending or poorer treatment outcome in SSD. Using latent class analysis (LCA), all given variables were explored without prior preconceptions (i.e., preconceived classification of variables into dependent and independent variables). This allows for a more explorative and less biased interpretation of the data set.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Source of Data and Preliminary Processing

Data on CM, symptoms of SSD and criminal behavior were collected from 370 offender patients with SSD in inpatient treatment at the Center for Inpatient Forensic Therapy at the Zurich University Hospital of Psychiatry between 1982 and 2016 [with 296 cases being treated after 2000, n = 339 (91.6%) male, mean age of M = 34.1, SD = 10.2, also see Table 1]. Data collection was done via retrospective file analysis approved by the Zurich Cantonal Ethics Committee (Ref.-No. KEK-ZH-NR 2014-0480). One hundred seventy-three of these 370 offender patients with SSD had no record of CM, while 197 had experienced one or more of the specified types of CM (emotional or physical neglect, emotional or physical abuse, sexual abuse). Standard treatment of offender patients at this forensic psychiatric hospital include antipsychotic and other medication, psychotherapeutic (mostly cognitive behavioral) interventions, occupational therapy and other social support. File review was executed by a trained psychiatrist with 10% also being coded by a second trained independent rater to ensure interrater reliability (Cohens's Kappa of 0.78). Both raters employed directed qualitative content analysis (16) with an objective coding protocol based on an extended set of criteria by Seifert and Leygraf (17-19) and additional parameters adopted from relevant literature. Diagnosis of SSD was based on both the international classification of diseases (ICD) (20) and diagnostic and statistical manual (DSM) (21) of psychiatric disorders. All files examined in the present study contained psychiatric and somatic anamneses, past and present psychiatric inpatient and outpatient reports, legally binding police reports, testimonies in a court of law, court proceedings, reports from social workers, and biannual reports from the nursing and care staff. Due to the significant legal

Abbreviations: CM, childhood maltreatment; LCA, latent class analysis; SSD, schizophrenia spectrum disorder.

consequences of all this documented material with insufficiencies being challenged by various legal stakeholders, its quality can be considered to be high in Switzerland.

Measures for Subsequent Data Analysis

All variables analyzed in this study are presented in the Supplementary Materials. Childhood was defined according to Swiss law to last from birth until the completion of 18 years of age. CM was defined as to include emotional and physical neglect, emotional and physical abuse and sexual abuse according to definitions provided by the short form of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ-SF) (5) and was rated as being absent or present during file analysis. In addition, the observation of domestic violence during childhood was recorded as absent or present. Before and after forensic psychiatric inpatient treatment, symptoms of SSD were assessed based on all categories of the positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) (22) in terms of being absent, being discretely present, or being distinctly present. This data served for computing change in psychopathology during inpatient treatment. An adoption of the CTQ-SF and PANSS for coding seemed adequate, since symptoms of CM and psychopathology were recorded by licensed psychiatrists and clinical psychologists during inpatient treatment with high requirements in professional merit. As a limitation, it may be argued that both the CTQ-SF and the PANSS did not become a standard instrument of psychopathological assessment until after 2003 and 1987, respectively. Psychopathological symptoms before admission to forensic inpatient treatment (at first diagnosis of SSD and in the 12 months prior to the index offense) were coded in broader psychopathological categories also based on the PANSS (see Supplementary Materials). This adjustment was adopted because psychopathology prior to admission to forensic psychiatric inpatient treatment may have been recorded by diagnosing physicians not fully trained in psychiatry in some instances. Previous and index offenses were coded based on common categories of severity. Future prognosis for release from forensic detainment and probability for further criminal behavior was coded based on the last available interdisciplinary assessment of offender patients, which can be expected to be based on the utmost diligence due to the associated legal consequences. These measures were included as a proxy for social functioning of offender patients at the end of inpatient forensic psychiatric treatment as estimated by interdisciplinary professionals. For descriptive statistics, psychiatric medication during forensic inpatient treatment was assessed, including the cumulative daily olanzapine equivalent of all prescribed antipsychotic medication, which was derived by converting dosages based on the classical weighted mean dose method (23), the minimum effective dose method (24) or international experts' consensus (25) in order of availability of conversion factors.

Statistical Analysis

Latent class analysis (LCA) was used to group offender patients into homogenous subgroups based on the parameters explored, thus creating a new multidimensional discrete latent variable (the "latent" class or subgroup) based on a crossclassification of the observed parameters (26). Based on extant literature, the hypothesis was that offender patients with SSD and CM (in comparison to those with SSD and no CM) would compose a distinct homogenous class with characteristic parameter values (e.g., higher prevalence of all types of CM, certain symptoms of SSD, specific treatment outcome, etc.). In contrast to regression analysis, LCA holds the advantage that groups need not be defined in advance, thus allowing a more explorative and unbiased interpretation of the data set.

Latent class analysis (LCA) was conducted with the poLCA package implemented in R Studio version 1.1.383. Designed for the analysis of multivariate categorical data, LCA categorizes each observation probabilistically into an unobserved (= latent) nominal class, while minimizing the confusion between observations (27). The LCA model is estimated by maximizing the log-likelihood function using the expectation maximization (EM) algorithm (28).

Different numbers of classes (1-4) were evaluated to identify the most parsimonious model with the overall best fit representing the entire data set of 39 variables with 370 observations each. For the given number of classes, each latent class analysis was repeated 500 times with different starting values to avoid local extrema. An LCA model fit is considered stable, if the same solution is found at least twice. Five hundred repetitions were chosen to identify a stable solution with high certainty, but at the same time minimize computation time. In all analyses, each variable was assigned the same prior probability of belonging to a set class, given that no particular expectation regarding classification was available from the literature. For LCA, conditional independence was assumed between the individual variables. Even if this assumption were not fully met, recently it has been shown that error dependencies only add little bias to an independence model (29), particularly if the prevalence is high as was the case with CM (47%) in the current study.

To assess model fit and to compare results with the previous literature, the maximum log-likelihood, the Bayesian information criterion (BIC), Akaike's information criterion (AIC), and entropy were used. Whereas, maximum loglikelihood is exclusively a measure of goodness of model fit, BIC and AIC are measures of parsimony aiming to avoid over-fitting. Entropy is a measure of classification uncertainty (30), with values of > 0.8 indicating a good separation between classes. For a particular number of classes, the model with the lowest log-likelihood was selected. To subsequently compare models between different numbers of classes, information criteria were evaluated. BIC penalizes additional model parameters more strongly than AIC and hence can be considered more conservative in preventing overfitting. AIC has been reported to overestimate the correct number of components in a finite mixture model (31), whereas BIC performs more adequately (32). For this reason, BIC was prioritized over AIC in selecting the best model fit. scBIC is a sample-size-corrected BIC value being computed for completeness.

TABLE 1 | Descriptive statistics on offender patients with SSD and CM vs. with SSD without CM.

Variable	CM experienced		No CM experienced	
	n/N	%	n/N	%
Mean age at admission (and SD)	32.54	10.12	35.99	10.07
Male gender	179/197	90.9	160/173	92.5
Country of birth Switzerland	107/197	54.3	60/173	34.7
Single (at time of index offense)	167/194	86.1	130/170	76.5
Educational level: Graduation from mandatory schooling (at time of index offense)	62/193	32.1	70/149	47.0
Unemployed (at time of index offense)	156/194	80.4	108/158	68.4
Homeless (at time of index offense)	32/133	24.1	16/97	16.5
Poverty in the patients' childhood/adolescence	76/177	42.9	31/106	29.2
Mean age at first diagnosis of SSD (and SD)	26.39	8.84	30.15	9.29
Suicidal in past	133/194	68.6	99/162	61.1
Suicide attempt in past	77/193	39.9	40/158	25.3
Substance abuse				
Alcohol	123/188	65.4	80/139	57.6
Cannabis	136/197	69.0	87/173	50.3
Opiod	65/197	33	38/173	22
Cocaine	80/197	40.6	43/173	24.9
Stimulants/ amphetamines/ecstasy	54/197	27.4	28/173	16.2
Personality disorder present	31/197	15.7	16/171	9.4
Other psychiatric/somatic comorbidity	74/196	37.8	51/169	30.2
Mean IQ score (and SD)	94.72	14.76	90.96	14.3
Mean length of forensic psychiatric inpatient treatment (and SD)	135.97	9.99	86.98	9.79
Medicaition during current hospitalization				
Antipsychotics	190/194	97.9	160/166	96.4
Benzodiazepines	31/167	18.6	21/145	14.5
Antidepressants	18/166	10.8	13/145	9.0
Olanzapine equivalents at discharge (and SD)	19.32	13.01	19.14	15.19

SSD, schizophrenia spectrum disorder; CM, childhood maltreatment; IQ, intelligence quotient; SD, standard deviation.

TABLE 2 | LCA model fit evaluation criteria.

Number of classes	Number of estimated parameters	Residual degrees of freedom	Maximum log-likelihood	AIC	BIC	scBIC	Entropy	Number of times solution was found
1	47	323	-6,835.912	13,765.82	13,949.76	14,079	-	500/500
2	95	275	-6,541.789	13,273.58	13,645.36	13,906	0.8446609	316/500
3	143	227	-6,336.825	12,959.65	13,519.28	13,911	0.8937778	200/500
4	191	179	-6,211.936	12,805.87	13,553.35	14,077	0.8278053	37/500

AIC, Akaike's information criterion; BIC, Bayesian information criterion; entropy, measure of classification uncertainty. Bold value indicates BIC of final model.

RESULTS

Descriptive statistics on the sample of patients studied are presented in **Table 1**. Offender patients with SSD and CM did not differ significantly from those without CM in terms of their mean age at first diagnosis of SSD, mean age at admission, gender, mean IQ, antipsychotic or other psychiatric medication or frequency of other somatic or psychiatric comorbidities. Patients with CM were more frequently born in Switzerland, more often grew up in poverty, were less often single, had less frequently graduated mandatory schooling and were more often unemployed and homeless. They had more records of attempted suicide in the past, more illegal substance use (but less abuse of alcohol) and slightly more often a comorbid personality disorder. Their length of stay in forensic psychiatric inpatient treatment was longer than that of patients without CM.

Next, the clinically most relevant results of the LCA are presented. In comparison to the one class-, the two-class and

TABLE 3 | Conditional item response probabilities of a patient within a particular class to give a specific item response.

Item	Class 1	Class 2	Class 3	Maximum interclass difference
Childhood maltreatment				
Victim of emotional neglect during childhood				
No	HIGH	MEDIUM	HIGH	0.23
Yes	LOW	MEDIUM	LOW	0.23
Victim of emotional abuse during childhood				
No	VERY HIGH	HIGH	HIGH	0.16
Yes	VERY LOW	LOW	LOW	0.16
Observer of domestic violence during childhood				
No	HIGH	MEDIUM	MEDIUM	0.22
Yes	LOW	MEDIUM	MEDIUM	0.22
Victim of physical neglect during childhood				
No	MEDIUM	MEDIUM	MEDIUM	0.14
Yes	MEDIUM	MEDIUM	MEDIUM	0.14
Victim of physical abuse during childhood				
No	HIGH	MEDIUM	HIGH	0.19
Yes	LOW	MEDIUM	LOW	0.19
Symptoms at first diagnosis of SSD				
Delusions				
No	MEDIUM	LOW	LOW	0.27
Yes	VERY HIGH	HIGH	HIGH	0.27
Hallucinations				
No	LOW	LOW	MEDIUM	0.16
Yes	HIGH	HIGH	MEDIUM	0.16
Conceptual disorganization				
No	LOW	HIGH	HIGH	0.34
Yes	HIGH	LOW	LOW	0.34
Disturbed affect or drive				
No	VERY LOW	MEDIUM	MEDIUM	0.42
Yes	VERY HIGH	MEDIUM	MEDIUM	0.42
Negative symptoms				
No	VERY LOW	MEDIUM	MEDIUM	0.40
Yes	VERY HIGH	MEDIUM	MEDIUM	0.40
Symptoms prior to index offense				
Delusions				
No	VERY LOW	MEDIUM	LOW	0.35
Yes	VERY HIGH	MEDIUM	HIGH	0.35
Hallucinations				
No	LOW	MEDIUM	MEDIUM	0.20
Yes	HIGH	MEDIUM	MEDIUM	0.20
Conceptual disorganization				
No	LOW	HIGH	HIGH	0.42
Yes	HIGH	LOW	LOW	0.42
Disturbed affect or drive				
No	HIGH	VERY HIGH	VERY HIGH	0.16
Yes	LOW	VERY LOW	VERY LOW	0.16
Negative symptoms				
Not present	VERY LOW	VERY LOW	LOW	0.28
Existed discretely	VERY HIGH	MEDIUM	MEDIUM	0.45
Existed distinctly	VERY LOW	LOW	LOW	0.19

(Continued)

TABLE 3 | Continued

Item	Class 1	Class 2	Class 3	Maximum interclass difference
Alogia				
No	LOW	VERY HIGH	VERY HIGH	0.67
Yes	HIGH	VERY LOW	VERY LOW	0.67
Blunted affect				
No	VERY LOW	LOW	HIGH	0.59
Yes	VERY HIGH	HIGH	LOW	0.59
Apathy				
No	LOW	VERY HIGH	VERY HIGH	0.78
Yes	HIGH	VERY LOW	VERY LOW	0.78
Anhedonia				
No	VERY LOW	MEDIUM	HIGH	0.67
Yes	VERY HIGH	MEDIUM	LOW	0.67
Social withdrawal				
No	VERY LOW	MEDIUM	MEDIUM	0.52
Yes	VERY HIGH	MEDIUM	MEDIUM	0.52
Poor attention				
No	VERY LOW	HIGH	HIGH	0.58
Yes	VERY HIGH	LOW	LOW	0.58
History of prior offenses				
Previous offenses: assault or property crime w	ith violence			
No	MEDIUM	HIGH	MEDIUM	0.15
Yes	MEDIUM	LOW	MEDIUM	0.15
Previous offenses: non-violent crime				
No	HIGH	HIGH	HIGH	0.14
Yes	LOW	LOW	LOW	0.14
Index offense leading to forensic hospitalization	n			
Index offense: homicide/attempted homicide				
No	VERY LOW	VERY LOW	LOW	0.11
Yes	VERY HIGH	VERY HIGH	HIGH	0.11
Index offense: arson				
No	HIGH	VERY HIGH	VERY HIGH	0.16
Yes	LOW	VERY LOW	VERY LOW	0.16
Therapy outcome variables				
Psychiatric prognosis on future criminal behav	ior as estimated at discharg	ge		
Favorable	LOW	LOW	VERY LOW	0.17
Sufficient	VERY LOW	LOW	LOW	0.10
Doubtful	VERY LOW	LOW	LOW	0.13
Unfavorable	MEDIUM	VERY LOW	LOW	0.34
Change in PANSS-positive scale from admission	on to discharge			
Less symptoms	HIGH	VERY HIGH	LOW	0.54
No change	LOW	VERY LOW	HIGH	0.53
more symptoms	VERY LOW	VERY LOW	VERY LOW	0.01
Change in PANSS-negative scale from admissi	on to discharge			
Less symptoms	LOW	HIGH	VERY LOW	0.65
No change	MEDIUM	LOW	HIGH	0.53
More symptoms	VERY LOW	VERY LOW	VERY LOW	0.12
Change in PANSS-general psychopath. scale f	om admission to discharge	•		
Less symptoms	MEDIUM	VERY HIGH	VERY LOW	0.91
No change	LOW	VERY LOW	VERY HIGH	0.87
More symptoms	VERY LOW	VERY LOW	VERY LOW	0.04

(Continued)

TABLE 3 | Continued

Item	Class 1	Class 2	Class 3	Maximum interclass difference
Change in PANSS-total scale from admission	n to discharge			
Less symptoms	HIGH	VERY HIGH	VERY LOW	0.89
No change	LOW	VERY LOW	VERY HIGH	0.88
More symptoms	VERY LOW	VERY LOW	VERY LOW	0.02
Estimated class population share	0.2569	0.2885	0.4546	

A higher maximal inter-class difference in the conditional item response probabilities observed within the category of a given item indicates a more relevant finding.

the four-class-model, the three-class model recorded the lowest BIC, indicating best model fit in terms of model complexity and parsimony (see **Table 2**). The other model fit criteria did not conflict with this solution, nor did clinical theories, once details of the three-class model were examined (next).

More detailed analysis of the three-class model provides evidence supporting the initial hypothesis, that offender patients with SSD and CM are distinct from those with SSD and no CM not only due to their experiencing of CM, but also due to different characteristics of the other parameters explored. Surprisingly, offender patients with SSD and CM composed two distinct subgroups (classes two and three), while those with SSD and no CM grouped separately (class one). Table 3 presents the clinically most relevant conditional item response probabilities of the three classes with interclass differences above 10% for a subgroup-specific interpretation, as has been suggested elsewhere (33, 34). (Complete results are presented in the Supplementary Materials). Conditional item response probabilities quantify the probability for patients to provide a specific item response depending on the class to which they belong. They allow the comparison of variables amongst the three classes presented (e.g., the probability to be a victim of emotional neglect in class one vs. class two or three). Posterior probabilities, i.e., the probability of a patient with her/ his individual set of item responses belonging to a specific class, can be estimated with Bayes formula (35), but will not be presented here in order to maximize clarity and brevity.

Class one (estimated to comprise 26% of offender patients with SSD) in the final model is characterized by the lowest probability for any CM, with physical neglect being the most frequent CM. By contrast, class two (29% estimated population share) and (to a lesser extent) class three (45% estimated population share) are more probable to experience CM - particularly emotional and physical neglect, as well as physical abuse. At first diagnosis of SSD class one is much more probable than classes two and three to experience delusions, hallucinations, disturbed affect or drive, conceptual disorganization and negative symptoms. Class three is slightly more probable to experience these symptoms than class two, but both are significantly less probable to suffer from such symptoms than class one. In the year prior to the index offense, a similar picture is observable where class one is much more probable to exhibit positive and negative symptoms as well as disturbances of affect and drive than classes two and three. However, now TABLE 4 | Overview of the most relevant results in the final 3-class-model.

Parameter	Class 1	Class 2	Class 3
СМ	-	+	+
Symptoms of SSD	+	-	-
Violent offending	+	-	-
Symptom remission during inpatient treatment	+	+	-
Favorable prognosis on future criminal behavior	-	+	-

CM, childhood maltreatment; SSD, schizophrenia spectrum disorder.

class two is distinctly more probable to experience blunted affect, apathy and anhedonia than class three. In terms of criminal behavior, there is little difference in the probabilities for crimes committed prior to the index offense between classes. Yet for the index offense, class one is clearly more probable to engage in actual or attempted homicide or arson than classes two and three. Except for homicide, class three is slightly more probable than class two to engage in all types of index offenses. There is no difference between classes in their perspective for release from forensic detention, but the prognosis on future criminal behavior is most probable to be favorable for class two and most probable to be unfavorable for class one. It is no surprise then that class two is also most probable to experience a reduction in positive, negative and general psychopathological symptoms, class three is least probable to experience such remission and class one ranges inbetween classes two and three. Negative symptoms were most probable to remain unchanged or even worsen over inpatient treatment in all three classes in comparison to positive symptoms and general psychopathology.

DISCUSSION

To the authors' best knowledge, this is the first study to explore the role of different types of CM, psychopathology, aspects of criminal behavior and treatment efficacy of offender patients with SSD. Latent class analysis revealed significant differences between three homogenous (latent) patient groups. Among these, class one seems to be least probable to be affected by CM, most probable to experience positive and negative symptoms of SSD, most probable to engage in the most violent of offending and have an average treatment outcome in terms of symptom remission, but the least favorable prognosis for future criminal behavior. Overall, class one seems to be more determined by factors inherent to their SSD, such as positive and negative symptoms of psychopathology, rather than CM related effects. They might represent the "late starters," a subgroup of offenders suffering from SSD suggested by Hodgins (33).

By contrast, classes two and three were considerably more probable to be affected by CM, particularly physical neglect, physical abuse and emotional neglect. Both classes with SSD and CM, were similarly less probable to experience positive or negative symptoms of SSD and to engage in serious offending, in comparison to those with SSD and no CM. Unexpectedly, however, class two was significantly more probable than class three (and class one) to experience a positive outcome from psychiatric inpatient treatment in terms of a remission of symptoms and favorable prognosis for future offending. The most relevant and distinguishing characteristics of the three classes are summarized in **Table 4**.

Findings on the types of CM most prevalent in offender patients with SSD in the present study confirm prior research, often reporting physical and emotional neglect and sometimes physical abuse to be linked to schizophrenia, but rarely observing any sexual abuse (which may be due to patients not reporting such CM due to shame) (7, 10).

Yet, the presence of two distinct subgroups of offender patients with SSD and CM with one probable to benefit from psychiatric inpatient treatment (class two) while the other (class three) is not probable to benefit, has not been reported so far. This finding assumes particular relevance since the estimated population share of the subgroup with SSD and CM not benefiting during inpatient treatment is almost as big as the other two classes (SSD with and without CM) combined (see estimated class population share in **Table 3**). The presence of two antithetic subgroups of patients with SSD and CM in terms of treatment outcome, may provide an explanation for the disparity among results from extant research on treatment efficacy in patients with psychosis and CM with only a small pooled odds ratio in a recent metaanalysis (13).

Results (presented here) indicate that patients with SSD and no CM more probably displayed more psychopathology at first diagnosis and prior to their index offense and to be more probable to engage in more violent offending behavior (see Table 3). This is interesting since prior research reported CM to increase odds for SSD (9, 36) and at least double the risk for offending behavior in patients with SSD (4). However, all of these meta-analytic and review based accounts (4, 9, 36) note insufficient differentiation between subtypes of CM (especially emotional abuse vs. physical abuse) and significant variability in defining offending behavior and SSD (or more generally psychosis) in the studies reporting CM to promote SSD or offending behavior. Similarly, Teicher et al. (37) elaborate in their ecophenotype hypothesis that "the myriad (of) possible outcomes of exposure to childhood maltreatment depend on the timing, type, and severity of exposure, plus a host of genetic factors that influence susceptibility and resilience, and an array of protective factors that attenuate risk."

Future research should explore why some offender patients with SSD and CM benefit from treatment while others do not. The fact that class two is also somewhat more probable than class three to experience blunted affect, apathy and anhedonia prior to committing a crime might hint the role of affective symptoms in this observation. Using network analysis, Isvoranu et al. (7) provided evidence for certain pathways in which specific CM (e.g., physical neglect) is connected to symptoms of general psychopathology (motor retardation), which are then linked to positive and negative symptoms of SSD (blunted affect, anhedonia) - also see introduction. Yet, authors did not consider the role of offending or the possibility for (latent) subgroups of patients with SSD and CM, who may have distinct interconnections between CM, symptoms of SSD and other (confounding) variables, as evidenced in the present study. Personality trait factors may act as confounding variables, even if they do not reach clinical significance to warrant a personality disorder (38). Unfortunately, there was no information available on personality traits in the data analyzed here, unless a personality disorder was diagnosed in addition to SSD. Adding personality disorders to LCA did not provide new insight on the results presented here. Descriptive statistics evidenced patients with CM to have a minimally higher prevalence of personality disorders (15.7 vs. 9.4%) in the sample studied here (see Table 1). Future research should include (subtle) personality traits as a possible confounder. In the present study, descriptive statistics did further enforce the hint on the role of affective symptoms apparent in LCA results, since patients with CM had a higher prevalence of attempted suicide in the past. Similarly, their more frequent use of illegal substances has been observed in prior research and interpreted as an attempt of patients to manage affective symptoms (39).

As a potential limitation, so far, there are no definite guidelines regarding minimal sample size in LCA models. While simulation studies recommended a heuristic number of \geq 500 (40), many LCA applications did use smaller sample sizes (41). Associated dangers with too small a sample size are the over-extraction of classes, or the diminished detectability of classes with low prevalence. Given that the current study used a sample size of 370 patients, the risks associated with a small sample size need to be considered. Of course, on a cautionary note, the possibility exists that latent class analysis over-extracted classes and thus classes two and three might only reflect dimensional variation within a broader class, with differences in their response to inpatient treatment potentially reflecting fluctuations in the severity of psychotic symptoms over time. In contrast, as there was no underlying theory that suggested a further class, we have no reason to assume that a class was missed because of low prevalence.

Limitations of the current study, not mentioned above, involve the lack of data on (re-)victimization of patients as adults or number of overall traumatic life incidents. This seems unfortunate in light of evidence on a dose response relationship between all types of CM, later traumas and the development of SSD (42–44). However, all data on traumatic experiences are particularly vulnerable to inaccuracies due to unreported trauma (45). Descriptive statistics on the data studied here provide evidence that patients with CM (in comparison to those without CM) were more frequently subject to numerous socio-economic disadvantages, including poverty during childhood, lower levels of education, a higher rate of unemployment and homelessness, despite an average IQ similar to those patients without CM. There is evidence that all of these factors act as stressors increasing the risk for mental illness and criminal offending (46–49). Future research should include such stressors in addition to CM and other trauma in exploring offender patients with SSD and their optimal treatment.

Another limitation pertains to the generalizability of the results presented here. In outpatient settings or inpatient settings in which adherence to therapy is less strictly enforced by legal provisions, additional factors have been reported to mediate poorer therapy outcome in patients with SSD and CM. This includes an avoidant coping style, less compliance to prescribed medication, poor therapeutic alliance and less engagement with treatment services (13). Future studies should include these parameters in analysis in addition to objective measures on social functioning and criminal behavior after release from forensic detention.

Further limitations pertain to retrospective file analysis in general and its specifics in this study. This includes the adoption of the PANSS and Childhood Trauma Questionnaire for coding and coding itself. However, similar to other present-day research (50, 51), retrospective analysis allowed the current study to include a large number of difficult to explore clinically relevant cases with the rare combination of SSD, CM and offending behavior and examine parameters over a prolonged period

REFERENCES

- Fazel S, Gulati G, Linsell L, Geddes JR, Grann M. Schizophrenia and violence: systematic review and metaanalysis. *PLoS Med.* (2009) 6:e1000120. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed. 1000120
- Fazel S, Wolf A, Palm C, Lichtenstein P. Violent crime, suicide, and premature mortality in patients with schizophrenia and related disorders: a 38-year total population study in Sweden. *Lancet Psychiatry.* (2014) 1:44– 54. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(14)70223-8
- Stevens H, Laursen TM, Mortensen PB, Agerbo E, Dean K. Post-illness-onset risk of offending across the full spectrum of psychiatric disorders. *Psychol Med.* (2015) 45:2447–57. doi: 10.1017/S0033291715000458
- Green K, Browne K, Chou S. The relationship between childhood maltreatment and violence to others in individuals with psychosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Trauma Violence Abuse*. (2019) 20:358– 73. doi: 10.1177/1524838017708786
- Bernstein DP, Stein JA, Newcomb MD, Walker E, Pogge D, Ahluvalia T, et al. Development and validation of a brief screening version of the childhood trauma questionnaire. *Child Abuse Neglect.* (2003) 27:169– 90. doi: 10.1016/S0145-2134(02)00541-0
- Fusar-Poli P, Tantardini M, De Simone S, Ramella-Cravaro V, Oliver D, Kingdon J, et al. Deconstructing vulnerability for psychosis: meta-analysis of environmental risk factors for psychosis in subjects at ultra high-risk. *Euro Psychiatry*. (2017) 40:65–75. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2016.09.003
- Isvoranu A-M, van Borkulo CD, Boyette L-L, Wigman JT, Vinkers CH, Borsboom D, et al. A network approach to psychosis: pathways between childhood trauma and psychotic symptoms. *Schizophrenia Bull.* (2016) 43:187–96. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbw055

of time. Future research should review current results using longitudinal and interview based study designs.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Kantonale Ethikkommission Zürich Stampfenbachstrasse 121 8090 Zürich. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MG, JK, and SL designed the study and protocol. The survey of the data via questionnaire was preformed independently by JK and SL. All statistical analyses were carried out by MG and supervised by SK. The first draft of the manuscript was done by MG. SL, JK, SK, and SE edited multiple drafts. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.612322/full#supplementary-material

- Kraan TC, Velthorst E, Themmen M, Valmaggia L, Kempton MJ, McGuire P, et al. Child maltreatment and clinical outcome in individuals at ultra-high risk for psychosis in the EU-GEI high risk study. *Schizophrenia Bull.* (2017) 44:584–92. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbw162
- 9. Freedman R. Investigating trauma as a risk factor for psychosis. *Schizophrenia Bull*. (2017) 43:1. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbw153
- Schmitt A, Popovic D, Kaurani L, Senner F, Papiol S, Malchow B, et al. Childhood trauma in schizophrenia: current findings and research perspectives. *Front Neurosci.* (2019) 13:274. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2019.00274
- Engelstad KN, Rund BR, Lau B, Vaskinn A, Torgalsbøen A-K. Increased prevalence of psychopathy and childhood trauma in homicide offenders with schizophrenia compared to nonviolent individuals with schizophrenia. *Nordic J Psychiatry.* (2019) 73:501–8. doi: 10.1080/08039488.2019.1656777
- Kolla NJ, Malcolm C, Attard S, Arenovich T, Blackwood N, Hodgins S. Childhood maltreatment and aggressive behaviour in violent offenders with psychopathy. *Can J Psychiatry.* (2013) 58:487–94. doi: 10.1177/070674371305800901
- Thomas S, Höfler M, Schäfer I, Trautmann S. Childhood maltreatment and treatment outcome in psychotic disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Psychiatr Scandinavica*. (2019) 140:295–312. doi: 10.1111/acps.13077
- Misiak B, Frydecka D. A history of childhood trauma and response to treatment with antipsychotics in first-episode schizophrenia patients: preliminary results. J Nervous Mental Dis. (2016) 204:787–92. doi: 10.1097/NMD.00000000000567
- Lysaker PH, Nees MA, Lancaster RS, Davis LW. Vocational function among persons with schizophrenia with and without history of childhood sexual trauma. J Traumatic Stress. (2004) 17:435–8. doi: 10.1023/B:JOTS.0000048957.70768.b9

- Hsieh H-F, Shannon SE. Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. *Qual Health Res.* (2005) 15:1277–88. doi: 10.1177/1049732305276687
- Habermeyer E, Wolff R, Gillner M, Strohm R, Kutscher S. Patienten mit schizophrenen Störungen im psychiatrischen Maßregelvollzug. Der Nervenarzt. (2010) 81:1117–24. doi: 10.1007/s00115-009-2913-z
- Kutscher S, Schiffer B, Seifert D. Schizophrene patienten im psychiatrischen massregelvollzug (§ 63 StGB) Nordrhein-Westfalens. Fortschritte Neurol Psychiatr. (2009) 77:91–6. doi: 10.1055/s-0028-1109080
- Seifert D. Die entwicklung des psychiatrischen massregelvollzzugs (§ 63StGB) in Nordrhein-Wesfalen. *Psychiat Prax.* (1997) 24:237–44.
- World Health Organization (WHO). ICD-10: International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems: Tenth Revision, 5th ed. Geneva: World Health Organization (2016).
- American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders: DSM-IV-TR. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association; (2000). p. 980.
- Kay SR, Fiszbein A, Opler LA. The positive and negative syndrome scale (PANSS) for schizophrenia. *Schizophrenia Bull.* (1987) 13:261– 76. doi: 10.1093/schbul/13.2.261
- Leucht S, Samara M, Heres S, Patel MX, Furukawa T, Cipriani A, et al. Dose equivalents for second-generation antipsychotic drugs: the classical mean dose method. *Schizophrenia Bull.* (2015) 41:1397–402. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv037
- Leucht S, Samara M, Heres S, Patel MX, Woods SW, Davis JM. Dose equivalents for second-generation antipsychotics: the minimum effective dose method. *Schizophrenia Bull.* (2014) 40:314–26. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu001
- Gardner DM, Murphy AL, O'Donnell H, Centorrino F, Baldessarini RJ. International consensus study of antipsychotic dosing. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2010) 167:686–93. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2009.09060802
- Schreiber JB. Latent class analysis: an example for reporting results. *Res Soc Administ Pharm.* (2017) 13:1196–201. doi: 10.1016/j.sapharm.2016.11.011
- 27. Lazarsfeld PF, Henry NW. *Latent Structure Analysis*. New York, NY: Houghton Mifflin Co. (1968).
- Dempster AP, Laird NM, Rubin DBJJotRSSSB. Maximum likelihood from incomplete data via the EM algorithm. J R Statist Soc: Series B. (1977) 39:1–22. doi: 10.1111/j.2517-6161.1977.tb01600.x
- Torrance-Rynard VL, Walter SD. Effects of dependent errors in the assessment of diagnostic test performance. *Stat Med.* (1997) 16:2157–75. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1097-0258(19971015)16:19<2157::aid-sim 653>3.0.co;2-x
- Asparouhov T, Muthén B. Variable-specific entropy contribution. (2018). Available online at: http://www.statmodel.com/download/UnivariateEntropy. pdf (accessed January 14, 2021).
- 31. Soromenho G. Comparing approaches for testing the number of components in a finite mixture model. *Comput Statis.* (1994) 9:65–78.
- Roeder K, Wasserman L. Practical Bayesian density estimation using mixtures of normals. J Am Statis Assoc. (1997) 92:894– 902. doi: 10.1080/01621459.1997.10474044
- Lau S, Günther MP, Kling S, Kirchebner J. Latent class analysis identified phenotypes in individuals with schizophrenia spectrum disorder who engage in aggressive behaviour towards others. *Euro Psychiatry*. (2019) 60:86– 96. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2019.05.005
- 34. Völlm B, Edworthy R, Holley J, Talbot E, Majid S, Duggan C, et al. A mixedmethods study exploring the characteristics and needs of long-stay patients in high and medium secure settings in England: implications for service organisation. *Health Serv Res.* (2017). doi: 10.3310/hsdr05110
- Linzer DA, Lewis JB. poLCA: An R package for polytomous variable latent class analysis. J Statis Softw. (2011) 42:1–29. doi: 10.18637/jss.v042.i10
- Morgan C, Fisher H. Environment and schizophrenia: environmental factors in schizophrenia: childhood trauma—a critical review. *Schizophrenia Bul.* (2007) 33:3–10. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbl053

- Teicher MH, Samson JA. Childhood maltreatment and psychopathology: A case for ecophenotypic variants as clinically and neurobiologically distinct subtypes. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2013) 170:1114–33. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.12070957
- Cramer AO, Van der Sluis S, Noordhof A, Wichers M, Geschwind N, Aggen SH, et al. Dimensions of normal personality as networks in search of equilibrium: You can't like parties if you don't like people. *Euro J Personal.* (2012) 26:414–31. doi: 10.1002/per.1866
- Ouimette PE, Brown PJ. Trauma and substance abuse: Causes, consequences, and treatment of comorbid disorders. *Am Psychol Assoc.* (2003) 1:315. doi: 10.1037/10460-000
- Finch WH, Bronk KC. Conducting confirmatory latent class analysis using M plus. *Struct Eq Model.* (2011) 18:132–51. doi: 10.1080/10705511.2011.532732
- Nylund-Gibson K, Choi AY. Ten frequently asked questions about latent class analysis. *Transl Issues Psychol Sci.* (2018) 4:440. doi: 10.1037/tps0000176
- Matheson S, Shepherd AM, Pinchbeck R, Laurens K, Carr VJ. Childhood adversity in schizophrenia: a systematic meta-analysis. *Psychol Med.* (2013) 43:225–38. doi: 10.1017/S0033291712000785
- McGrath JJ, Saha S, Lim CC, Aguilar-Gaxiola S, Alonso J, Andrade LH, et al. Trauma and psychotic experiences: transnational data from the world mental health survey. Br J Psychiatry. (2017) 211:373–80. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.117.205955
- 44. Varese F, Smeets F, Drukker M, Lieverse R, Lataster T, Viechtbauer W, et al. Childhood adversities increase the risk of psychosis: a meta-analysis of patient-control, prospective-and cross-sectional cohort studies. *Schizophrenia Bull.* (2012) 38:661–71. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbs050
- Dill DL, Chu JA, Grob MC, Eisen SV. The reliability of abuse history reports: A comparison of two inquiry formats. *Comprehen Psychiatry*. (1991) 32:166– 9. doi: 10.1016/0010-440X(91)90009-2
- Agnew R. Experienced, vicarious, and anticipated strain: An exploratory study on physical victimization and delinquency. *Justice Quart.* (2002) 19:603– 32. doi: 10.1080/07418820200095371
- Agnew R, Matthews SK, Bucher J, Welcher AN, Keyes C. Socioeconomic status, economic problems, and delinquency. *Youth Soc.* (2008) 40:159– 81. doi: 10.1177/0044118X08318119
- The 48 Harris MN. Teasdale prediction repeated В of violence individuals with among serious mental disorders: situational dispositional factors. Interperson versus I Viol. 2017:0886260517730023. doi: 10.1177/0886260517730023
- Silver E, Teasdale B. Mental disorder and violence: An examination of stressful life events and impaired social support. Soc Prob. (2005) 52:62– 78. doi: 10.1525/sp.2005.52.1.62
- Lally J, Breese E, Osman M, Hua Sim C, Shetty H, Krivoy A, et al. Augmentation of clozapine with ECT: a retrospective case analysis. *Acta Neuropsychiatr.* (2020) 24:1–6. doi: 10.1017/neu.2020.32
- Yoshimura B, Sato K, Takaki M, Yamada N. Algorithm-based pharmacotherapy for first-episode schizophrenia involuntarily hospitalized: A retrospective analysis of real-world practice. *Early Interven Psychiatry*. (2019) 13:39–46. doi: 10.1111/eip.12442

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Lau, Kirchebner, Kling, Euler and Günther. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Associations Between Childhood Trauma and the Age of First-Time Drug Use in Methamphetamine-Dependent Patients

Cui Huang^{1,2,3}, Qiuyu Yuan^{1,2,3}, Ling Zhang^{1,2,3}, Lei Wang^{1,2,3}, Shu Cui^{1,2,3}, Kai Zhang^{1,2,3*} and Xiaoqin Zhou^{1,2,3*}

¹ Chaohu Hospital, Anhui Medical University, Hefei, China, ² School of Mental Health and Psychological Sciences, Anhui Medical University, Hefei, China, ³ Anhui Psychiatric Center, Anhui Medical University, Hefei, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Xiaochu Zhang, University of Science and Technology of China, China

Reviewed by:

Lijia Chang, Chiba University, Japan Hang Su, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, China

*Correspondence:

Xiaoqin Zhou zhouxqlulu@126.com Kai Zhang zhangkai@ahmu.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Addictive Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 25 January 2021 Accepted: 03 March 2021 Published: 26 March 2021

Citation:

Huang C, Yuan Q, Zhang L, Wang L, Cui S, Zhang K and Zhou X (2021) Associations Between Childhood Trauma and the Age of First-Time Drug Use in Methamphetamine-Dependent Patients. Front. Psychiatry 12:658205. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.658205

Childhood trauma is related to substance use disorder; however, few studies have examined the relationship between childhood trauma and the age at which the drug was first used. The aim of this study was to investigate the relationship between childhood trauma and the age of first-time drug use among methamphetamine-dependent patients. Moreover, we analyzed the characteristics of adverse family environment associated with severe childhood trauma and the risk factors for starting drugs in minors. A baseline interview was conducted with 110 participants who were in detoxification, including demographic information, past substance use, and age of first-time drug use. The participants' childhood trauma experience before 18 years of age was evaluated using the simplified version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ-SF). The Chinese version of the Family Environment Scale (FES-CV) was used to assess the family environment of methamphetamine-dependent patients. Among 110 non-injecting methamphetamine-dependent patients, nearly half (n = 48, 43.6%) had moderate and severe childhood trauma. Correlation analysis showed that the age of first-time drug use negatively correlated with emotional abuse (r = -0.32, p < 0.01) and physical abuse (r = -0.27, p < 0.01). The age of first-time drug use negatively correlated with conflict (r = -0.20, p < 0.05) and independence (r = -0.22, p < 0.05) of family environment, but positively correlated with intellectual-cultural orientation (r = 0.28, p < 0.01). Additionally, childhood trauma factors significantly correlated with many indexes of family environment, especially cohesion (r = -0.45, p < 0.01), conflict (r = 0.49, p < 0.01), and independence (r = 0.33, p < 0.01). Additionally, the regression model showed that when emotional abuse increased by one point, the age of first-time drug use was 0.69 years earlier. These findings suggest that a detrimental family environment can aggravate childhood trauma, and the experience of childhood emotional or physical abuse may be an effective predictor of early drug use among methamphetamine-dependent patients.

Keywords: methamphetamine, age of first-time drug use, minor, childhood trauma, family environment

INTRODUCTION

According to the 2020 World Drug Report released by the United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime, approximately 35.6 million people suffer from substance-related disorders globally. The use of amphetamines, especially methamphetamine, is increasing in parts of Asia and North America, with adolescents and young adults accounting for the largest share of users (1). According to the Drug Situation Report released by the Chinese government in 2019, methamphetamine drug has the largest number of abusers in China, with 1.186 million abusing methamphetamine, accounting for 55.2% of the 2.148 million existing drug users (2).

Drug abuse leads to a variety of serious consequences, such as severe depression (3), and even suicide attempts (4); drug abusers gradually become socially vulnerable and marginalized, such as unemployed and homeless. It must be noted that the social, economic, and public health burden associated with substancerelated disorders, especially methamphetamine dependence, is enormous (5, 6). Moreover, worldwide, the average age at which a drug is used for the first time is reported to be relatively low, most of which begins when the individuals are underage (7–10). Therefore, initial age of drug use is becoming younger, and the issue of drug abuse among teenagers and even students needs to be urgently addressed (11). As there are no approved drugs for methamphetamine-dependent disorders currently, psychotherapy and symptomatic treatment are the main approaches (12).

The epidemiological causes of drug abuse are complex and multifactorial, and many risk factors, including childhood trauma, are related to substance use (13, 14). High levels of traumatic childhood experiences have been observed in people with substance-related disorders (15). In a study of 113 adult opioid addicts treated with buprenorphine, 80.5% reported experiencing at least one type of childhood trauma (16). Several adverse psychological and behavioral consequences of childhood abuse include depression, post-traumatic stress disorder, anxiety, attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, and conduct disorder (17). Additionally, a meta-analysis concluded a causal relationship between childhood abuse, including emotional and physical abuse, drug use, mental disorders, attempted suicide, risky behaviors, and sexually transmitted diseases (18). Moreover, in a 5-year cohort study, childhood sexual abuse was found to increase the risk of teenagers starting using injecting drugs (19).

Family environment is the most important part of childhood; an unfavorable family environment has a negative impact on children's growth (20). Parents' substance dependence behavior is closely related to children's awful childhood experiences, and children exposed to parental alcoholism are more likely to suffer from various forms of abuse, neglect, and family dysfunction.

Psychotherapy is an important research topic. Current studies have focused on childhood trauma and drug use, but there are few reports on the relationship between childhood trauma and the age of first-time drug use. Drug abuse generally starts from non-injection, gradually forms drug dependence, and finally moves to the injection mode (21–23). The transition from non-injecting drug use to injecting drug use greatly increases blood-borne diseases such as HIV (24–26); conversely, rates of high-risk injection and sexual activity were lower in people who started using drugs later (27). Therefore, our goal was to explore whether childhood trauma leads to an increase in the age of the first-time non-injecting drug use, and the impact of the family environment on methamphetamine-dependent patients. This provides a theoretical basis for treatment in the field of psychology. In this way, drug users who have experienced childhood trauma can have an opportunity to intervene appropriately in reducing the number of relapses, restore social function, and reduce social burden.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

The participants were recruited from a compulsory rehabilitation center in the Anhui Province, China. Individuals who met the following criteria were included in this study: (1) adults (\geq 18 years old); (2) met the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5th edition (DSM-5) criteria for methamphetamine dependence; (3) were non-injecting drug users, and (4) can provide informed consent. Concurrently, participants who met any of the following exclusion criteria were excluded: (1) suffering from severe mental illness, such as schizophrenia, depressive disorder, and so on; (2) those who have used psychoactive substances in the past month; (3) those who have comorbidity with serious organic diseases, including cerebrovascular disease, cardiovascular disease, and neurodegenerative disease.

After screening, 123 patients were eligible to participate in the study. Of the 13 excluded samples, eight were heroin users and five had incomplete data. As a result, 110 methamphetamine-dependent patients were included in this study (**Figure 1**).



This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Chaohu Hospital of Anhui Medical University (Ethics number: 201901kyxm-02). All research procedures were in line with the Helsinki Declaration. First, we explained the purpose, method, and process of the study to the participants in detail to ensure that the participants understood the study. After obtaining informed consent from the participants, we conducted the research using a questionnaire, and did not use any invasive or harmful examination, or medication.

Measures

A socio-demographic questionnaire was designed to collect the enrolled patients' socio-demographic information. The questionnaire mainly included age, sex, race, education status, and marital status; all the information was filled in by the participants themselves.

The childhood trauma of amphetamine users was subsequently evaluated using the simplified version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ-SF), a 28-item retrospective self-report questionnaire that briefly screened the history of mental and physical abuse and neglect in childhood and adolescence before the age of 18 years. The original English version of the CTQ-SF was compiled by Professor Bernstein and his colleagues and was later translated into Chinese by Zhao et al. (28, 29). The Chinese version of the CTQ-SF has good reliability and validity (30, 31). CTQ-SF is also applicable to adult drug abusers (32).

Additionally, to explore the family environmental factors influencing childhood trauma, we used a Chinese version of the Family Environment Scale (FES-CV); it comprises 90 items classified into 10 areas: cohesion, expressiveness, conflict, independence, achievement orientation, intellectual-cultural orientation, active-recreational orientation, moral-religious emphasis, organization, and control (33). The FES-CV has been widely used with good reliability and validity (34).

Statistical Analysis

First, we described the socio-demographic characteristics of the participants, and then divided them into minor and adult groups according to the age of the first-time drug use. The data were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov single-sample test was used to evaluate the normal distribution of continuous variables. According to the results of the normality test, Pearson correlations or Spearman correlations were used to determine the correlations between each family environment variable and each childhood trauma subtype of amphetamine users. Then, the childhood trauma of the minor and adult groups were compared. Independent sample t test or the Mann Whitney U test were used to compare the two groups depending on the normal distribution of the continuous variables. Additionally, the chisquare test was used to compare classified variables. Finally, linear regression and binary logistic regression were applied to obtain more valuable information. Statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS21.0. Statistical significance was set at p < 0.05, and all reported *p* values were bilateral.

RESULTS

Social Demographic Characteristics of Methamphetamine Users

The sociological characteristics and drug abuse data are presented in Table 1. A total of 110 methamphetamine-dependent patients were included in this study, and none of them used injections. The participants were all Han Chinese adult males, with an average age of 30.7 ± 3.6 years. Among them, 46 (41.8%) were unmarried, 35 (31.8%) were married, and 29 (26.4%) were divorced. Additionally, 65 (59.1%) had urban household registration, and 45 (40.9%) had rural household registration. The average length of education of the participants was 8.27 \pm 3.03 years. The majority (n = 76, 69.1%) reported having a junior high school education or below, some (n = 33, 30.0%) reported having high school education, and only one had completed his college. There was a significant difference between the adult and minor groups. Participants who started using methamphetamine before adulthood were likely to be less educated, unmarried, and lived in cities.

Association Between Childhood Trauma, Family Environment and the Age of First-Time Drug Use

Nearly half (48, 43.6%) of the 110 participants had moderate and severe childhood trauma. The average age of initial drug use was 22.6 \pm 4.2 (oldest, 32 years; youngest, 14 years). According to **Table 2**, the Pearson correlation analysis shows that the age of first-time drug use negatively correlated with the total score of childhood trauma (r = -0.24, p < 0.05), emotional abuse (r = -0.32, p < 0.01), and physical abuse (r = -0.27, p < 0.01). The age of first-time drug use negatively correlated with conflict (r = -0.20, p < 0.05) and independence (r = -0.22, p < 0.05) of family environment, but positively correlated with intellectual-cultural orientation (r = 0.28, p < 0.01). Additionally, childhood trauma factors significantly correlated with many indexes of family environment, especially cohesion (r = -0.45, p < 0.01), conflict (r = 0.49, p < 0.01), and organization (r = -0.29, p < 0.01).

The Differences in Childhood Trauma Between Minor Group and Adult Group

The results of the Mann-Whitney *U* test (**Table 3**) show that the minor group had more severe childhood trauma (Z = -2.15, p = 0.03), especially emotional (Z = -3.10, p = 0.00) and physical abuse (Z = -2.77, p = 0.01) than the adult group. Additionally, there was no significant difference in relapse times and frequency of drug abuse between the two groups (**Table 1**).

Quantitative Analysis of Factors Influencing Age of First-Time Drug Use

Based on a further analysis of the age of first-time drug use, we found that under age methamphetamine-dependent patients had a higher level of childhood trauma than those who started using methamphetamine in adulthood.

TABLE 1 | Social demographic characteristics of methamphetamine dependent patients.

	Total (<i>n</i> = 110)	Minor (<i>n</i> = 21)	Adult (<i>n</i> = 89)	<i>t/Ζ/</i> λ	p
Age (years)	30.70 ± 3.60	28.20 ± 3.20	31.30 ± 3.50	-3.74	0.00
Education (years)	8.30 ± 3.00	6.80 ± 2.40	8.60 ± 3.10	-2.53	0.01
Marital status				12.16	0.00
Unmarried	46 (41.80%)	16 (76.00%)	30 (34.00%)		
Married	35 (31.80%)	2 (10.00%)	33 (37.00%)		
Divorced	29 (26.40%)	3 (14.00%)	26 (29.00%)		
Place of household registration				110.00	0.00
Urban areas	65 (59.10%)	15 (71.00%)	50 (56.00%)		
Rural areas	45 (40.90%)	6 (29.00%)	39 (44.00%)		
Relapse times	0.70 ± 1.00	1.00 ± 1.40	0.60 ± 1.00	1.76	0.08
Frequency of drug abuse per month	13.80 ± 11.80	16.00 ± 12.30	13.30 ± 11.70	-0.97	0.33

TABLE 2 | Correlation between childhood trauma, family environment and age of first-time drug use.

<i>n</i> = 110	Age of first drug use	Childhood trauma	Emotional abuse	Physical abuse	Sexual abuse	Emotional neglect	Physical neglect
Age of first drug use	_	-0.24*	-0.32**	-0.27**	-0.09**	-0.16	-0.03
Cohesion	0.03	-0.45**	-0.28**	-0.28**	-0.17	-0.37**	-0.38**
Expressiveness	0.07	-0.22*	-0.14	-0.24*	-0.03	-0.23*	-0.07
Conflict	-0.20*	0.49**	0.47**	0.41**	0.18	0.38**	0.24*
Independence	-0.22*	0.33**	0.19	0.33**	0.09	0.29**	0.15
Achievement orientation	-0.02	-0.12	-0.04	-0.09	-0.09	-0.09	-0.09
Intellectual-cultural orientation	0.28**	-0.13	-0.12	-0.16	0.06	-0.14	-0.03
Active-recreational orientation	0.12	-0.21*	-0.19*	-0.15	-0.08	-0.18	-0.10
Moral-religious emphasis	-0.05	-0.15	-0.06	-0.08	-0.06	-0.17	-0.08
Organization	0.14	-0.29**	-0.21*	-0.24*	-0.13	-0.20*	-0.22*
Control	0.12	-0.11	-0.10	-0.13	0.04	-0.16	0.01

*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01.

TABLE 3 The difference of childhood trauma between minor group and adult	
group.	

	Minor (<i>n</i> = 21)	Adult (n = 89)	Ζ	p
Childhood trauma	42.90 (12.15)	37.13 (7.91)	-2.151	0.031
Emotional abuse	8.10 (2.28)	6.62 (1.75)	-3.099	0.002
Physical abuse	8.29 (4.36)	6.13 (1.80)	-2.772	0.006
Sexual abuse	5.71 (1.27)	5.81 (1.64)	-0.189	0.850
Emotional neglect	11.76 (4.62)	9.70 (3.64)	-1.899	0.058
Physical neglect	9.05 (3.85)	8.88 (2.87)	-0.115	0.908

We conducted a linear regression analysis between the age of first-time drug use and childhood trauma factor scores, and entered it stepwise; emotional abuse was retained in the regression model. The regression model showed that when emotional abuse increased by 1 point, the age of first-time drug use was 0.69 years earlier. The age of first-time drug use and the number of childhood traumas were analyzed using regression analysis; for each additional type of childhood trauma, the age at first-time drug use was 0.95 years earlier. Finally, the binary logistic regression between first-time time drug abuse in adulthood and family environmental factors showed that conflict was a risk factor for starting drugs in minors (p = 0.04) (data not shown).

DISCUSSION

In this study, we examined the relationship between childhood trauma and the age at which non-injecting drug was used for the first-time time among Chinese methamphetamine-dependent patients. It was found that the age of first-time drug use of methamphetamine-dependent patients experiencing severe childhood trauma, especially emotional abuse or physical abuse, will be earlier, with more childhood trauma subtypes. The indepth quantitative analysis conducted in our study shows that, in the regression model, for each additional score of emotional abuse, the age of first-time drug use will be 0.69 years earlier, and for each additional trauma subtype, the age of the firsttime drug use will be 0.95 years earlier. Our study found no correlation between physical neglect and age of first-time drug use, even though the incidence of physical neglect was high. After exploring the causes of childhood trauma our findings suggest that family environmental factors are strongly associated with the level of childhood trauma and the age of first-time drug use.

Previous research has shown that childhood trauma can lead to early drug use (7, 35), which is consistent with the results of our study. However, existing studies have focused on drug users who inject the drug, while this study focused on drug users who use non-injecting drugs. Drug abuse usually begins with noninjecting drug use and gradually transforms into injecting the drug under the influence of a variety of complex factors (36–38). Therefore, from this point of view, our study on the age of firsttime drug use among non-injecting drug users is more sensitive, persuasive, and practical than the research on injecting drug use.

Our study observed that emotional and physical abuse was associated with first-time drug use at younger ages before adulthood. Emotional abuse refers to the long-term and inappropriate emotional reaction of the caregivers or others to children, such as malicious refusal, isolation, intimidation, or the use of insulting, satirical and discriminatory language to treat children. Physical abuse refers to actual or potential physical harm to children caused by the rude and inappropriate behavior of caregivers or others. Physical and emotional abuse in childhood has a negative effect on mental health in adulthood (39, 40). A correlation was found between childhood trauma and emotional disorders (41), and emotional regulation is found to play an intermediary role in childhood trauma led substance abuse (42). Early childhood stress interferes with the maturation of brain networks associated with cognitive and emotional processes, which adversely affect cognitive and emotional processes during adolescence (43). Additionally, the brain structure of people who experienced childhood trauma changed accordingly, including reduction of the caudate nucleus (44), hippocampus (45), and amygdala (46). Similar results were obtained in animal models of childhood trauma, such as loss of hippocampal volume, and destruction of dendritic structures (47). Childhood trauma can affect HPA axis activity, which may be related to post-traumatic depression (48). There is a significant correlation between childhood trauma and low cortisol arousal levels (49), resulting in pro-inflammatory state, which plays an important role in the development of emotional disorders in adulthood (50). Traumatic events can lead to negative emotions, which persist over time, are difficult for individuals to manage, and may lead to the use of drugs for self-treatment (51, 52). Especially in individuals who do not have enough emotional regulation strategies to tolerate strong negative emotions, substance use may become a repetitive and maladaptive coping mechanism. In presence of multiple traumatic experiences, substance use may intensify, and individuals exposed to traumatic events may turn to substance use, to mitigate the long-term negative effects of exposure to trauma (53). This mechanism of mood disorders leads to early drug use in individuals with severe childhood trauma. Furthermore, these results are similar to our study's results, which show that longer the years of education, or the older the age of first-time drug use, lower the number of relapses. Compared to people with low levels of education, people with higher education know more emotional regulation strategies, while older people are better at emotional regulation than teenagers.

Our study found that the more subtypes of childhood trauma, the earlier the age of first-time drug use. A previous national study in the UK found a significant cumulative relationship between trauma and mental illness, and the more types of trauma, the higher the probability of mental illness (54). Early childhood abuse will physically change neurobiological development, excluding direct physical harm, have a negative impact on cognitive, emotional, and social growth, and lead to psychological, behavioral, and learning problems; these problems will continue throughout the whole life (55-57). A growing body of evidence suggests that the origins of most adult diseases are associated with childhood development and biological disorders. These early life experiences may affect the mental and physical health of adults, either through the accumulation of time or the biological embedding of adversity during sensitive developmental periods (58). Physical abuse in childhood may be an experience that changes neurobiological development and increases the risk of mental illness.

Although a high incidence of physical neglect among methamphetamine-dependent patients has been observed, the internal correlation with the age of first-time drug use could not be found. To investigate its reason, several previous studies had shown that the internal consistency of CTQ-SF 's physical neglect subscale is relatively low (31, 59, 60), and this phenomenon can be attributed to the cultural differences in the definition of physical neglect.

Our results show that family environment is closely related to the level of childhood trauma and the age of firsttime drug use. Methamphetamine-dependent patients who experienced high levels of family conflict and independence, or low family cohesion and emotional expression, reported more severe childhood trauma. Cohesion and conflict are mainly reflected in the relationships among family members. In a low cohesion and high conflict family environment, family members lack communication and do not publicly express their views and emotions. Previous studies have shown that psychosocial background includes childhood trauma, maternal mental illness, maladaptive parenting styles, and dysfunctional parent-child relationships, all of which are recognized as contributing factors to the development of marginal characteristics (61). Borderline personality disorder has a mediating effect on drug abuse and childhood trauma, and there is a relationship between multiple childhood trauma and borderline personality (62-64). Additionally, childhood abuse has a cumulative effect, and those who have experienced more developmental abuse show significantly higher levels of marginal characteristics (65). Synchronously, borderline personality shows more impulsive behaviors, including alcoholism, drug abuse (66), gambling, and promiscuity (67). Conversely, positive affect and resilient coping in adulthood were both positively correlated with positive family environment and negatively correlated with childhood trauma (68). In adulthood, when faced with adversity, individuals with poor ability to resist adversity will develop maladaptive behavior,

including drug abuse. Additionally, previous studies have shown that family history of drug and alcohol abuse is closely associated with childhood trauma (35), and that maternal alcohol abuse is significantly associated with all types of childhood trauma except physical abuse, while physical abuse is associated with paternal alcohol abuse (69). Meanwhile, the family history of drug use is related to the earlier age of first drug use, and childhood physical trauma plays an intermediary role in the relationship between the family history of substance use problems and the age at first-time drug use (7).

There are some limitations to our research. First, this study uses a cross-sectional survey, so causality cannot be inferred. Second, our study is based on the participants in the cultural background of the Han nationality in China, which may not be completely representative of other cultural backgrounds in the world. Third, the sample size of the minor group of amphetamine users in this study was not large enough, leading to the restriction of discovering some meaningful indicators. Finally, the CTQ-SF is a self-retrospective reporting tool that may not accurately reflect the level of trauma exposure, and recall bias may also affect our results, especially those who frequently take drugs are more likely to recall the history of childhood abuse.

CONCLUSION

In short, childhood trauma is a strong predictor of the age at which drug is used for the first time, and the more severe childhood trauma is, the younger the age of first-time drug use is. Trauma interventions for drug users and early trauma screening and treatment for children and adolescents may reduce drug abuse throughout life. Therefore, public health policies need to address this specifically in order to reduce the chances of potential drug users becoming drug users.

REFERENCES

- World Drug Report 2020. (2020). Available online at: https://wdr.unodc.org/ wdr2020/field/WDR20_Booklet_2.pdf (accessed January 10, 2020).
- Drug Situation Report in 2019. (2020). Available online at: http://www.gov.cn/ xinwen/2020-06/28/content_5522443.htm (accessed January 10, 2020).
- Wang Z, Du J, Sun H, Wu H, Xiao Z, Zhao M. Patterns of childhood trauma and psychological distress among injecting heroin users in China. *PLoS ONE*. (2010) 5:e15882. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0015882
- Marshall BD, Galea S, Wood E, Kerr T. Longitudinal associations between types of childhood trauma and suicidal behavior among substance users: a cohort study. *Am J Public Health.* (2013) 103:e69–75. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2013.301257
- The global burden of disease attributable to alcohol and drug use in 195 countries and territories, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2018) 5:987– 1012. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(18)30337-7
- Whiteford HA, Degenhardt L, Rehm J, Baxter AJ, Ferrari AJ, Erskine HE, et al. Global burden of disease attributable to mental and substance use disorders: findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet.* (2013) 382:1575–86. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)6 1611-6
- 7. Svingen L, Dykstra RE, Simpson JL, Jaffe AE, Bevins RA, Carlo G, et al. Associations between family history of substance use, childhood trauma, and

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of Chaohu Hospital of Anhui Medical University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The manuscript was designed and written by author CH. Data was collected by CH, QY, LZ, LW, and SC, analyzed by CH and KZ, and verified by XZ. All authors read and agreed to the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (81801341), China International Medical Exchange Foundation (Z-2018-35-2002), and the Anhui Provincial Key R&D Programme (202004j07020030).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all the participants who volunteered to participate in this study.

age of first drug use in persons with methamphetamine dependence. J Addict Med. (2016) 10:269–73. doi: 10.1097/ADM.0000000000233

- Abdala N, Hansen NB, Toussova OV, Krasnoselskikh TV, Kozlov AP, Heimer R. Age at first alcoholic drink as predictor of current HIV sexual risk behaviors among a sample of injection drug users (IDUs) and non-IDUs who are sexual partners of IDUs, in St. Petersburg, Russia. *AIDS Behav.* (2012) 16:1597– 604. doi: 10.1007/s10461-011-0013-0
- Li X, Zhou Y, Stanton B. Illicit drug initiation among institutionalized drug users in China. Addiction. (2002) 97:575– 82. doi: 10.1046/j.1360-0443.2002.00119.x
- Cullen W, Bury G, Barry J, O'Kelly F. Drug users attending general practice in Eastern Regional Health Authority (ERHA) area. *Ir Med J.* (2000) 93:214–7.
- Jia Z, Jin Y, Zhang L, Wang Z, Lu Z. Prevalence of drug use among students in mainland China: a systematic review and meta-analysis for 2003-2013. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. (2018) 186:201–6. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2017.12.047
- Gouzoulis-Mayfrank E, Härtel-Petri R, Hamdorf W, Havemann-Reinecke U, Mühlig S, Wodarz N. Methamphetamine-related disorders. *Deutsch Arztebl Int.* (2017) 114:455–61. doi: 10.3238/arztebl.2017.0455
- Mirhashem R, Allen HC, Adams ZW, van Stolk-Cooke K, Legrand A, Price M. The intervening role of urgency on the association between childhood maltreatment, PTSD, and substance-related problems. *Addict Behav.* (2017) 69:98–103. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2017.02.012
- 14. Quinn K, Boone L, Scheidell JD, Mateu-Gelabert P, McGorray SP, Beharie N, et al. The relationships of childhood trauma and adulthood prescription

pain reliever misuse and injection drug use. *Drug Alcohol Depend.* (2016) 169:190-8. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2016.09.021

- Santo T, Jr., Campbell G, Gisev N, Tran LT, Colledge S, Di Tanna GL, et al. Prevalence of childhood maltreatment among people with opioid use disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. (2020) 219:108459. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2020.108459
- Sansone RA, Whitecar P, Wiederman MW. The prevalence of childhood trauma among those seeking buprenorphine treatment. J Addict Dis. (2009) 28:64–7. doi: 10.1080/10550880802545101
- Gilbert R, Widom CS, Browne K, Fergusson D, Webb E, Janson S. Burden and consequences of child maltreatment in high-income countries. *Lancet.* (2009) 373:68–81. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61706-7
- Norman RE, Byambaa M, De R, Butchart A, Scott J, Vos T. The long-term health consequences of child physical abuse, emotional abuse, and neglect: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS Med.* (2012) 9:e1001349. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001349
- Hadland SE, Werb D, Kerr T, Fu E, Wang H, Montaner JS, et al. Childhood sexual abuse and risk for initiating injection drug use: a prospective cohort study. *Preventive Med.* (2012) 55:500–4. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2012.08.015
- Liu YN, Gan FX, Yu CQ, Gao WJ, Lyu J, Pang ZC, et al. Effect of family environment in childhood and adolescence on mental health in adulthood. *Zhonghua Liu Xing Bing Xue Za Zhi*. (2018) 39:600– 3. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0254-6450.2018.05.011
- Koozegar M, Shahesmaeili A, Noroozi M. Transition from first drug use to regular injection among people who inject drugs in Iran. *Addict Health*. (2018) 10:32–40. doi: 10.22122/ahj.v10i1.458
- Wagner FA, Anthony JC. From first drug use to drug dependence; developmental periods of risk for dependence upon marijuana, cocaine, and alcohol. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2002) 26:479– 88. doi: 10.1016/S0893-133X(01)00367-0
- Noroozi M, Farhadi MH, Armoon B, Farhoudian A, Shushtari ZJ, Sharhani A, et al. Factors associated with time between using a drug and injection initiation among people who inject drugs in Kermanshah, Iran. *Int J Adolesc Med Health.* (2018) 32:1–6. doi: 10.1515/ijamh-2017-0204
- 24. Grenfell P, Baptista Leite R, Garfein R, de Lussigny S, Platt L, Rhodes T. Tuberculosis, injecting drug use and integrated HIV-TB care: a review of the literature. *Drug Alcohol Depend.* (2013) 129:180–209. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2012.11.013
- Meijerink H, van Crevel R, van der Ven AJ. Intravenous drug use and the spread of HIV; an international perspective. *Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd*. (2013) 157:A5690.
- Mathers BM, Degenhardt L, Phillips B, Wiessing L, Hickman M, Strathdee SA, et al. Global epidemiology of injecting drug use and HIV among people who inject drugs: a systematic review. *Lancet.* (2008) 372:1733– 45. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61311-2
- Lopez WD, Krueger PM, Walters ST. High-risk drug use and sexual behaviors among out-of-treatment drug users: an aging and life course perspective. *Addict Behav.* (2010) 35:432–7. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2009.12.010
- Bernstein DP, Ahluvalia T, Pogge D, Handelsman L. Validity of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire in an adolescent psychiatric population. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (1997) 36:340–8. doi: 10.1097/00004583-199703000-00012
- Bernstein DP, Stein JA, Newcomb MD, Walker E, Pogge D, Ahluvalia T, et al. Development and validation of a brief screening version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2003) 27:169– 90. doi: 10.1016/S0145-2134(02)00541-0
- He J, Zhong X, Gao Y, Xiong G, Yao S. Psychometric properties of the Chinese version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form (CTQ-SF) among undergraduates and depressive patients. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2019) 91:102–8. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.03.009
- Jiang WJ, Zhong BL, Liu LZ, Zhou YJ, Hu XH, Li Y. Reliability and validity of the Chinese version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form for inpatients with schizophrenia. *PLoS ONE*. (2018) 13:e0208779. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0208779
- 32. Thombs BD, Lewis C, Bernstein DP, Medrano MA, Hatch JP. An evaluation of the measurement equivalence of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire–Short Form across gender and race in a sample of drug-abusing adults. *J Psychosom Res.* (2007) 63:391–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2007.04.010

- Marchi NC, Scherer JN, Pachado MP, Guimarães LS, Siegmund G, de Castro MN, et al. Crack-cocaine users have less family cohesion than alcohol users. *Rev Bras Psiquiatria*. (2017) 39:346–51. doi: 10.1590/1516-4446-2016-2091
- Boyd CP, Gullone E, Needleman GL, Burt T. The Family Environment Scale: reliability and normative data for an adolescent sample. *Fam Process.* (1997) 36:369–73. doi: 10.1111/j.1545-5300.1997.00369.x
- Taplin C, Saddichha S, Li K, Krausz MR. Family history of alcohol and drug abuse, childhood trauma, and age of first drug injection. *Subst Use Misuse*. (2014) 49:1311–6. doi: 10.3109/10826084.2014.901383
- Liebling EJ, Green TC, Hadland SE, Marshall BDL. Injection drug use and overdose among young adults who use prescription opioids non-medically. *Addict Behav.* (2018) 76:20–6. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2017.07.017
- Baluku M, Wamala T. When and how do individuals transition from regular drug use to injection drug use in Uganda? Findings from a rapid assessment. *Harm Reduct J.* (2019) 16:73. doi: 10.1186/s12954-019-0350-2
- Ivsins A, Marsh S. Exploring what shapes injection and non-injection among a sample of marginalized people who use drugs. *Int J Drug Policy*. (2018) 57:72–8. doi: 10.1016/j.drugpo.2018.04.006
- Edwards VJ, Holden GW, Felitti VJ, Anda RF. Relationship between multiple forms of childhood maltreatment and adult mental health in community respondents: results from the adverse childhood experiences study. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2003) 160:1453–60. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.160.8.1453
- Herrenkohl TI, Hong S, Klika JB, Herrenkohl RC, Russo MJ. Developmental impacts of child abuse and neglect related to adult mental health, substance use, and physical health. *J Fam Violence*. (2013) 28:10.1007/s10896-012-9474-9. doi: 10.1007/s10896-012-9474-9
- Jaworska-Andryszewska P, Rybakowski JK. Childhood trauma in mood disorders: Neurobiological mechanisms and implications for treatment. *Pharmacol Rep.* (2019) 71:112–20. doi: 10.1016/j.pharep.2018.10.004
- Mandavia A, Robinson GG, Bradley B, Ressler KJ, Powers A. Exposure to childhood abuse and later substance use: indirect effects of emotion dysregulation and exposure to trauma. *J Traum Stress.* (2016) 29:422– 9. doi: 10.1002/jts.22131
- Chen Y, Baram TZ. Toward understanding how early-life stress reprograms cognitive and emotional brain networks. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2016) 41:197–206. doi: 10.1038/npp.2015.181
- 44. Frodl T, Janowitz D, Schmaal L, Tozzi L, Dobrowolny H, Stein DJ, et al. Childhood adversity impacts on brain subcortical structures relevant to depression. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2017) 86:58–65. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.11.010
- 45. Aas M, Haukvik UK, Djurovic S, Tesli M, Athanasiu L, Bjella T, et al. Interplay between childhood trauma and BDNF val66met variants on blood BDNF mRNA levels and on hippocampus subfields volumes in schizophrenia spectrum and bipolar disorders. J Psychiatr Res. (2014) 59:14– 21. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.08.011
- Paquola C, Bennett MR, Lagopoulos J. Understanding heterogeneity in grey matter research of adults with childhood maltreatmenta meta-analysis and review. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2016) 69:299–312. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.08.011
- Molet J, Maras PM, Kinney-Lang E, Harris NG, Rashid F, Ivy AS, et al. MRI uncovers disrupted hippocampal microstructure that underlies memory impairments after early-life adversity. *Hippocampus*. (2016) 26:1618– 32. doi: 10.1002/hipo.22661
- Lu S, Gao W, Huang M, Li L, Xu Y. In search of the HPA axis activity in unipolar depression patients with childhood trauma: combined cortisol awakening response and dexamethasone suppression test. J Psychiatr Res. (2016) 78:24–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2016.03.009
- Bernard K, Frost A, Bennett CB, Lindhiem O. Maltreatment and diurnal cortisol regulation: a meta-analysis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2017) 78:57– 67. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2017.01.005
- Pariante CM. Why are depressed patients inflamed? A reflection on 20 years of research on depression, glucocorticoid resistance and inflammation. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2017) 27:554– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2017.04.001
- Garland EL, Pettus-Davis C, Howard MO. Self-medication among traumatized youth: structural equation modeling of pathways between trauma history, substance misuse, and psychological distress. J Behav Med. (2013) 36:175–85. doi: 10.1007/s10865-012-9413-5

- Jacobsen LK, Southwick SM, Kosten TR. Substance use disorders in patients with posttraumatic stress disorder: a review of the literature. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2001) 158:1184–90. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.158.8.1184
- Lawson KM, Back SE, Hartwell KJ, Moran-Santa Maria M, Brady KT. A comparison of trauma profiles among individuals with prescription opioid, nicotine, or cocaine dependence. *Am J Addict.* (2013) 22:127– 31. doi: 10.1111/j.1521-0391.2013.00319.x
- Shevlin M, Dorahy MJ, Adamson G. Trauma and psychosis: an analysis of the National Comorbidity Survey. Am J Psychiatry. (2007) 164:166– 9. doi: 10.1176/ajp.2007.164.1.166
- Glaser D. Child abuse and neglect and the brain-a review. J Child Psychol Psychiatry Allied Discip. (2000) 41:97-116. doi: 10.1017/S0021963099004990
- Lee V, Hoaken PN. Cognition, emotion, and neurobiological development: mediating the relation between maltreatment and aggression. *Child Maltreatment*. (2007) 12:281–98. doi: 10.1177/1077559507 303778
- Hussey JM, Chang JJ, Kotch JB. Child maltreatment in the United States: prevalence, risk factors, and adolescent health consequences. *Pediatrics*. (2006) 118:933–42. doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-2452
- Shonkoff JP, Boyce WT, McEwen BS. Neuroscience, molecular biology, and the childhood roots of health disparities: building a new framework for health promotion and disease prevention. *JAMA*. (2009) 301:2252– 9. doi: 10.1001/jama.2009.754
- Gerdner A, Allgulander C. Psychometric properties of the Swedish version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form (CTQ-SF). Nord J Psychiatry. (2009) 63:160–70. doi: 10.1080/08039480802514366
- Kim D, Bae H, Han C, Oh HY, Macdonald K. Psychometric properties of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form (CTQ-SF) in Korean patients with schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 144:93–8. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2012.12.020
- Mezei J, Juhasz A, Kilencz T, Vizin G. Borderline personality disorder in the light of developmental psychopathology. *Neuropsychopharmacol Hung*. (2020) 22:102–11.
- Cattane N, Rossi R, Lanfredi M, Cattaneo A. Borderline personality disorder and childhood trauma: exploring the affected biological systems and mechanisms. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2017) 17:221. doi: 10.1186/s12888-017-1383-2

- Ibrahim J, Cosgrave N, Woolgar M. Childhood maltreatment and its link to borderline personality disorder features in children: a systematic review approach. *Clin Child Psychol Psychiatry*. (2018) 23:57–76. doi: 10.1177/1359104517712778
- Lieb K, Zanarini MC, Schmahl C, Linehan MM, Bohus M. Borderline personality disorder. *Lancet.* (2004) 364:453– 61. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(04)16770-6
- Hecht KF, Cicchetti D, Rogosch FA, Crick NR. Borderline personality features in childhood: the role of subtype, developmental timing, and chronicity of child maltreatment. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2014) 26:805– 15. doi: 10.1017/S0954579414000406
- 66. Ghinea D, Parzer P, Resch F, Kaess M, Edinger A. The association between illicit drug use, borderline personality disorder and depression in a helpseeking sample of adolescents. *Prax Kinderpsychol Kinderpsychiatr.* (2020) 69:126–40. doi: 10.13109/prkk.2020.69.2.126
- de Aquino Ferreira LF, Queiroz Pereira FH, Neri Benevides AML, Aguiar Melo MC. Borderline personality disorder and sexual abuse: a systematic review. *Psychiatry Res.* (2018) 262:70–7. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.01.043
- Bradley B, Davis TA, Wingo AP, Mercer KB, Ressler KJ. Family environment and adult resilience: contributions of positive parenting and the oxytocin receptor gene. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2013) 4:21659. doi: 10.3402/ejpt.v4i0.21659
- Casswell S, Thamarangsi T. Reducing harm from alcohol: call to action. Lancet. (2009) 373:2247–57. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60745-5

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Huang, Yuan, Zhang, Wang, Cui, Zhang and Zhou. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Childhood Maltreatment in Individuals With Schizophrenia Spectrum Disorders: The Impact of Cut-Off Scores on Prevalence Rates

Angelina Weitkämper^{1*}, Michael Kellner^{2,3}, Jona Ruben Iffland⁴, Martin Driessen⁵, Hanna Kley⁶, Frank Neuner¹ and Benjamin Iffland¹

¹ Department of Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, Bielefeld University, Bielefeld, Germany, ² Department of Psychiatry, Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics, Hospital Herford, Herford, Germany, ³ Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, University Hospital Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany, ⁴ Centre for Psychiatry, Justus Liebig University Gießen, Gießen, Germany, ⁵ Clinic of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy Bethel, Bielefeld, Germany, ⁶ Department of Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, Outpatient Clinic, Bielefeld University, Bielefeld, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Felice lasevoli, University of Naples Federico II, Italy

Reviewed by:

Giulia Agostoni, Vita-Salute San Raffaele University, Italy Francesca Martini, San Raffaele Scientific Institute (IRCCS), Italy

*Correspondence: Angelina Weitkämper angelina.weitkaemper@uni-bielefeld.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Schizophrenia, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 08 April 2021 Accepted: 08 June 2021 Published: 06 July 2021

Citation:

Weitkämper A, Kellner M, Iffland JR, Driessen M, Kley H, Neuner F and Iffland B (2021) Childhood Maltreatment in Individuals With Schizophrenia Spectrum Disorders: The Impact of Cut-Off Scores on Prevalence Rates. Front. Psychiatry 12:692492. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.692492

Childhood maltreatment is a common phenomenon in various psychiatric disorders. Accordingly, patients with disorders from the schizophrenia spectrum (SSD) appear to have high prevalence rates of childhood maltreatment. However, the interpretation and comparability of prevalence rates is impeded by methodological weaknesses and differences such as measures and thresholds used in previous studies. Therefore, we aimed to provide and compare systematically captured data on prevalence rates of all common types of childhood maltreatment in patients with SSD using a standardized and well-established questionnaire and the most frequently used thresholds. The sample consisted of 48 patients with a primary diagnosis of SSD. 58.3-77.1% of the sample experienced at least one type of childhood maltreatment. Prevalence rates for physical abuse, physical neglect, and emotional abuse were dependent on the thresholds used, while equal rates were found for emotional neglect and sexual abuse. Physical neglect (46-67%), and emotional abuse (44-48%) were most commonly reported, followed by emotional neglect (38%), physical abuse (25–38%), and sexual abuse (25%). Additionally, high levels of peer victimization were reported by SSD patients. It appears that childhood maltreatment is a common phenomenon in SSD, even though methodological details, especially cut-off scores, have a substantial impact on the prevalence rates that are determined. Therefore, the methodology of studies should be closely examined when drawing conclusions from presented prevalence rates.

Keywords: schizophrenia spectrum disorders, child neglect, child abuse, childhood maltreatment, peer victimization, prevalence of childhood maltreatment

INTRODUCTION

One of the most important challenges worldwide is childhood maltreatment (1). Childhood maltreatment refers to all forms of physical, emotional, or sexual abuse, neglect, or transgressions resulting in actual or potential harm to the child's health, survival, or development (2). Generally, experiences of childhood maltreatment appear to be an important risk factor for mental health

26

problems (3) and are associated with various psychiatric disorders such as substance use disorder, depression, anxiety disorders, and eating disorders (3–5). Individuals who have experienced childhood maltreatment present with an earlier onset of symptomatology, a greater symptom severity, more hospitalizations and more suicide attempts (6–11).

A growing body of research has investigated childhood maltreatment in disorders of the schizophrenia spectrum (SSD), resulting in a change in the conceptualization of SSD leading from a rather narrow focus on genes and brain functions to an integrated bio-psycho-social approach (12). Accordingly, several studies reported that childhood maltreatment is also very common in SSD with prevalence rates ranging between 18 and 87% (8, 13-18). In line with findings in other psychiatric disorders, SSD patients who have experienced childhood maltreatment exhibited higher symptom severity, more comorbid disorders, greater cognitive impairment, an earlier age at first hospitalization, more hospitalizations, and more suicide attempts than SSD patients without childhood maltreatment experiences (8, 10, 17). Thus, childhood maltreatment is not only a common phenomenon in SSD but also appears to be associated with a less favorable course of disease.

However, previous studies reported a wide range of rates of childhood maltreatment in cases of SSD (8, 14–17, 19–30). The wide range may be due to real differences in different samples but also to methodical differences. For instance, childhood maltreatment was assessed using different methods (e.g., interviews, questionnaires) and different measures [e.g., Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ; 2), Maltreatment and Abuse Chronology of Exposure – Scale (MACE; 34)].

For example, Kim et al. (21) used a semi-structured interview on the history of sexual and physical abuse, based on Russell's typology (31) of severe and very severe sexual abuse and the operationalization of physical abuse in the Conflict Tactics Scale (32). The authors reported prevalence rates of 19% for sexual abuse and 24.7% for physical abuse. Rubino et al. (27) reported a slightly higher prevalence rate of 28.7% of at least one type of childhood maltreatment while using a semistructured interview [the Abuse Questionnaire; (33)]. However, the authors assessed physical and sexual abuse as well as emotional and psychological abuse which may explain the higher frequency of childhood maltreatment. Husted et al. (14) used a modified structured clinical interview for DSM-IV and additional data sources (medical, social and legal records and collateral information provided by other family members) to assess childhood maltreatment and reported a relatively low prevalence rate of 18.4%. Schenkel et al. (8) also used a detailed structured interview supplemented by information from the medical chart. The authors reported a prevalence rate of at least one type of childhood maltreatment more than twice as high (45.1%). Whereas, Husted et al. (14) defined childhood maltreatment "as a threat to physical, emotional and sexual integrity, a victim of serious injury or illness or a witness of violence" (p. 3) with no distinction of subtypes, Schenkel et al. (8) only captured sexual and physical abuse.

When questionnaires have been used to capture childhood maltreatment, prevalence rates tended to be higher compared to data collected via interviews. In two studies, sexual abuse alone was captured using a 4-item screening questionnaire, which was created for a Canadian survey, and prevalence rates of 35 and 40% were reported (22, 23). Perona-Garcelán et al. (26) used an event checklist to capture traumatic events in childhood and determined slightly higher prevalence rates of sexual and physical abuse of 46.8 and 49%, respectively. Álvarez et al. (19) ascertained a similar prevalence rate of at least one type of childhood maltreatment of 46.1%. In the study, an event checklist on traumatic events was used and 4 subtypes of childhood maltreatment were defined: physical abuse, sexual abuse, witness to family violence, and psychological abuse, and negligence. In doing so, physical abuse and witness to family violence were assessed using single items and psychological abuse and negligence were requested by an open-ended question. Sexual abuse was assessed using three items, whereby the questions were not explicitly related to abuse by caregivers.

Higher prevalence rates of at least one type of childhood maltreatment can be seen when measures based on broader definitions of childhood maltreatment were used. For example, McCabe et al. (16) used a modified version of the Childhood Adversity Questionnaire [CAQ; (34)] and determined a relatively high prevalence rate of 86.6%. In addition to parental behavior toward the child, the CAQ also covers parental mental health problems and substance use as well as parental separation or loss of a parent and sibling. Further, Schalinski et al. (17) used a more extensive measure, the standardized MACE (35), which, in addition to childhood maltreatment by caregivers, also includes victimization by peers. The authors determined a slightly lower rate of 73% of at least one type of childhood maltreatment, which may be caused by different definitions of childhood maltreatment compared to McCabe et al. (16).

In sum, previous studies often used single items, self-created or modified, and unvalidated measures to capture childhood maltreatment in patients with SSD (e.g., 17, 19, 11), thus the reliability and validity of the data remain unclear. Moreover, some previous studies have focused on sexual and physical abuse (e.g., 24, 25, 26, 29), although emotional forms of child abuse seem to have similarly harmful consequences for mental health as sexual and physical abuse (36). Finally, the conceptualization of measures was often based on different definitions of childhood maltreatment, which complicates the comparability of the data even further (e.g., 22, 17, 11).

In order to facilitate comparability between studies, it is helpful to use standardized, well-established measures. One of the most commonly used standardized measure is the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ; 2). The CTQ captures all common types of abusive and neglectful behaviors by family members, such as emotional abuse, sexual abuse, physical abuse, emotional neglect, and physical neglect. Presenting with strong psychometric properties in both clinical and community samples (37, 38), the strength of this instrument is that it allows for a severity rating of the different types of childhood maltreatment ("none to low," "low to moderate," "moderate to severe," and "severe to extreme") reflecting the fact that types of maltreatment

may be continuous phenomena rather than clearly delineated events or experiences (37, 39). However, a dichotomous categorization of the different types of maltreatment using a severity cut-off is indicated to enable the comparison of rates of child maltreatment from studies that applied different instruments based on similar definitions. While the authors do not provide dichotomous thresholds to determine the presence or absence of the different types of childhood maltreatment, previous studies have indicated prevalence rates of childhood maltreatment in SSD patients based on severity ratings. In doing so, Larsson et al. (15) have used the "low to moderate" severity rating as a dichotomous threshold and reported a rate of at least one type of childhood maltreatment of 85%. Other studies have used the more conservative "moderate to severe" threshold and have determined lower prevalence rates between 45 and 73% (25, 28-30). In contrast, some authors have not utilized threshold values based on the original severity ratings, but on empirically determined and validated threshold values as reported by Walker et al. (20, 24, 40). To ascertain these cut-off scores, the CTQsubscale scores were related to ratings of experts blind for the CTQ-scores who conducted detailed clinical interviews. Experts determined whether participants had a history of clinically significant maltreatment based on the fulfillment of consensus child abuse and neglect criteria (40). These criteria comprised the same definitions of abuse and neglect from which the items of the CTQ subscales were derived. Threshold scores were determined applying receiver operating characteristic (ROC) methods and showed good to excellent sensitivity and specificity (40). Hence, the cut-off scores established by Walker et al. (40) allow for a more accurate and clinically relevant evaluation of the presence of childhood maltreatment while clinical significance of the thresholds according to Bernstein and Fink (41) remains unclear. So far, comprehensive reports of prevalence rates of childhood maltreatment in SSD applying the cut-off scores according to Walker et al. (40) are scarce. While Hassan et al. (20) and Mohammadzadeh et al. (24) determined prevalence rates of the different forms of childhood maltreatment with emotional abuse (45.1 and 54.6%) and physical neglect (52.4 and 56.8%) being most commonly reported, detailed information on co-occurrence of forms of maltreatment were not presented.

With prevalence rates ranging between 45 and 85%, the presented lack of consistency in applying threshold values may be responsible for the wide range of reported maltreatment frequencies while using the CTQ. Therefore, more information on the impact of threshold scores on prevalence rates of childhood maltreatment in SSD is needed to facilitate the comparison of studies using the CTQ.

However, in addition to childhood maltreatment referring to transgressions by caregivers, victims of maltreatment by caregivers are also more likely to experience maltreatment by peers, often referred to as peer victimization (42–45). Peer victimization includes overt victimization (physical aggression or verbal threats), relational victimization (malicious manipulation of relationships, such as social rejection) and reputational victimization (damaging another's peer relationships, for example by spreading rumors) (46). In contrast to the consequences of childhood maltreatment, the effects of peer victimization on mental health have been underestimated until recently, as peer victimization has long been considered a normal, developmental experience. However, a growing body of research indicates that peer victimization is also associated with psychopathology such as depression and social anxiety (46–51). However, only a few studies have investigated the relationship between peer victimization and psychosis, reporting prevalence rates up to 48% in patients with psychotic disorders (17, 52). In addition, peer victimization appears to increase the risk of individual psychotic symptoms (53, 54). Nevertheless, given the paucity of studies that have examined the role of peer victimization in SSD, valid conclusions about the relationship between peer victimization and SSD remain open.

In sum, data on prevalence rates of childhood maltreatment in patients with SSD are rare and very heterogeneous. Only a few studies captured childhood maltreatment systematically and reported prevalence rates of all common types of childhood maltreatment (15, 17, 20, 25, 28, 55, 56). However, different thresholds were used to determine prevalence rates of childhood maltreatment in patients with SSD, resulting in a lack of comparability. Additionally, little is known about peer victimization, as another form of adverse childhood experiences, in patients with SSD. Therefore, we aimed to provide and compare systematically captured data on prevalence rates of all common types of childhood maltreatment in patients with SSD using the standardized and well-established Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ; 1) and the most frequently used thresholds following the guidance of Bernstein and Fink (41) and Walker et al. (40). We expected to find high prevalence rates of childhood maltreatment in SSD. However, we presumed remarkable differences in prevalence rates depending on cut-off scores established. In particular, we presumed higher prevalence rates for emotional abuse, physical abuse and physical neglect, when rates were calculated using cut-off scores according to Walker et al. (40) due to the fact that the corresponding cut-off scores are less conservative. In addition, we aimed to increase knowledge about peer victimization in SSD by conducting exploratory analyses of the extent of experiences of peer victimization in a sample of SSD patients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

48 patients with a primary diagnosis of SSD were recruited in four local outpatient and inpatient psychiatric clinics. In these clinics patients with varying psychiatric disorders were treated due to standard clinical care. Eligible patients were recruited by medical staff members through personal contacts on the wards and during group therapy sessions. Participants were included if they met criteria for any schizophrenia-spectrumdisorder according to the International Classification of Mental and Behavioral Disorders Tenth Version [ICD-10: F20–F29; (57)]. Exclusion criteria were an age below 18 and above 65, an IQ below 85, insufficient knowledge of the German language, acute suicidality, substance-induced psychosis, and psychotic disorder due to (brain-) organic dysfunction. Information on exclusion criteria was obtained from the patients' medical records. Of the 48, 72.9% were inpatients. More than 85% of the sample met criteria for schizophrenia, 2.1% for a brief psychotic disorder, and 12.5% for a schizoaffective disorder. Data collection in inpatients took place after an acute psychotic episode. Prior to assessment, patients were informed about the objectives and the procedure of the study and gave their written informed consent to participate. The study was reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Bielefeld University and of the Department of Medicine at the Justus Liebig University Giessen, Germany.

Measures and Instruments

Information about number and type of diagnoses was obtained from the medical records of the clinic where participants received care. Sociodemographic data were collected using a sociodemographic questionnaire. Self-reported data were then validated with data from the medical record (e.g., age, number, and duration of inpatient treatments).

Symptom severity was evaluated using the *Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale* [PANSS; (58)]. The 30-item expert rating assesses symptoms of schizophrenia based on information reported by the patient, direct observations, and observations made by health care staff or family members. The severity of each item for the past 7 days is rated on a scale of 1 (absent), 2 (minimal), 3 (mild), 4 (moderate), 5 (moderate to severe), 6 (severe), to 7 (extreme), resulting in three subscales: positive symptoms (range: 7–49), negative symptoms (range: 7–49) and general psychopathology (range: 16–112). Interviews were carried out by trained research assistants or master level clinical psychologists, whereas the PANSS interviews were conducted only by master level clinical psychologists.

The German version of the self-rating scale *Childhood Trauma Questionnaire* (CTQ; 1) was employed to retrospectively assess the exposure to childhood maltreatment by family members. The 28-item scale captures five types of abusive and neglectful behaviors by family members (emotional abuse, sexual abuse, physical abuse, emotional neglect, and physical neglect). Each item is rated from 1 (never true) to 5 (very often true) with a possible range of subscale scores of 5–25 and a total sum score ranging from 25 to 125.

Peer victimization was retrospectively assessed using the *Fragebogen zu belastenden Sozialerfahrungen* [FBS; (59)] [Adverse Social Experiences Questionnaire]. The self-rating scale consists of a list of 22 aversive social situations. Patients can indicate whether they had experienced these situations (rated 1) or not (rated 0) during childhood (age 6–12) or adolescence (age 13–18) resulting in two subscales ranging from 0 to 22 and a total sum score ranging from 0 to 44. The total-score of the FBS presented with a satisfying stability over a 20-month period and construct validity has been confirmed suggesting a good fitness of the instrument [e.g., (49, 50, 59)].

Statistical Analyses

To allow comparability of different studies, the most common thresholds established by Bernstein and Fink (41) and Walker et al. (40) were applied to determine prevalence rates of childhood maltreatment. While cut-off scores according to Walker et al. (40) allow a dichotomous classification, thresholds reported by Bernstein and Fink (41) can also be used to inform

about the severity of childhood maltreatment ("none to low," "low to moderate," "moderate to severe," and "severe to extreme"). The cut-off scores established by Walker et al. (40) were 10 for emotional abuse, 15 for emotional neglect, 8 for physical abuse, 8 for physical neglect, and 8 for sexual abuse. The Bernstein severity thresholds are presented in Table 3. Unfortunately, previous studies that have applied severity ratings reported by Bernstein and Fink (41) used different thresholds ("low to moderate" or "moderate to severe") to determine the frequency of childhood maltreatment. In the present study, the more common and more conservative severity ratings of at least "moderate to severe" were used to obtain a dichotomous classification. To determine the prevalence rates of childhood maltreatment, subjects were divided into groups according to fulfillment of the different types of maltreatment. Furthermore, to provide descriptive data, mean values and standard deviations on childhood maltreatment and peer victimization were calculated. To analyze gender differences in prevalence rates, Pearson's chi-square tests or, for expected cell frequencies below 5, the Fisher's exact test, were performed. T-tests for independent samples were used to analyze gender differences in mean scores of all types of childhood maltreatment and peer victimization. All analyses were carried out with SPSS 26.

RESULTS

The total sample consisted of 48 SSD patients. The average age of the participants was M = 39.1 (SD = 10.3). Table 1 presents participants' demographics and means on psychopathology.

TABLE 1 Subject characteristics and mean values on psychopathol	ogy
measures ($N = 48$).	

Age, <i>M (SD,</i> rang	ge)	39.1 (10.3, 20–64)
Gender, % femal	29.2 (14)	
Nationality, % Ge	81.3 (39)	
Family status, %	81.3 (39)	
Income per mon	th (in euro), <i>M (SD)</i> , range	811.6 (649.7), 90–2,900
Total duration (we	eeks) of inpatient treatments, M (SD), range	57.8 (61.9), 3–288
Total number of i	npatient treatments, M (SD), range	8.6 (9.9), 1–46
Positive and Neg	ative Syndrome Scale, M (SD)	55.2 (14.7)
	Positive Symptoms	13.3 (4.9)
	Negative Symptoms	14.2 (5.9)
	General Psychopathology	27.5 (7.1)
Childhood Traum	na Questionnaire, M (SD)	49.3 (15.5)
	Emotional abuse	11.6 (5.3)
	Emotional neglect	13.6 (5.6)
	Physical abuse	8.1 (4.2)
	Physical neglect	9.2 (3.2)
	Sexual abuse	6.9 (3.7)
Peer victimization	n, <i>M</i> (<i>SD</i>)ª	12.9 (7.7)
	Age 6 – 12	4.9 (4.3)
	Age 13 – 18	8.0 (4.9)

^a Fragebogen zu belastenden Sozialerfahrungen [FBS; (59)] [Adverse Social Experiences Questionnaire, n = 47].

TABLE 2 | Prevalence rates of childhood maltreatment based on thresholds as established by Bernstein and Fink (41) and Walker et al. (40) in the present study with SSD patients and in a representative sample of the German population.

			Present	study, N = 4	48	Iffland et al. (60) ^b , $N = 2,500$	Häuser et al. (61) ^b , N = 2,504			
	Walke	er et al. (40)	, % (n)	Bernstein and Fink (41), % (n)			Walker et al. (40), % (n)	Bernstein and Fink (41) ^a , % (n)		
	Total	Female	Male	Total	Female	Male	Total	Total		
Emotional abuse	47.9 (23)	57.1 (8)	44.1 (15)	43.8 (21)	57.1 (8)	38.2 (13)	10.2 (254)	4.6 (115)		
Emotional neglect	37.5 (18)	57.1 (8)	29.4 (10)	37.5 (18)	57.1 (8)	29.4 (10)	13.9 (348)	13.9 (348)		
Physical abuse	37.5 (18)	42.9 (6)	35.3 (12)	25.0 (12)	28.6 (4)	23.5 (8)	12.0 (301)	5.6 (139)		
Physical neglect	66.7 (32)	71.4 (10)	64.7 (22)	45.8 (22)	50.0 (7)	44.1 (15)	48.4 (1,210)	28.7 (719)		
Sexual abuse	25.0 (12)	42.9 (6)	17.6 (6)	25.0 (12)	42.9 (6)	17.6 (6)	6.2 (156)	6.2 (156)		
At least one type	77.1 (37)	92.9 (13)	70.6 (24)	58.3 (28)	78.6 (11)	50.0 (17)	33.9 %	_		

^a Reported prevalence rates based on the "moderate to severe" thresholds; ^bAnalyses based on the same sample; No significant gender differences were found for CTQ subscales (all p's > 0.05).

Out of the sample of 48 SSD patients, we found 37 participants (77.1%) meeting cut-off scores according to Walker et al. (40) and 28 patients (58.3%) meeting the "moderate to severe" thresholds established by Bernstein and Fink (41) for at least one type of childhood abuse or neglect, as measured by the CTQ subscales (41). The prevalence rates for the different types of childhood maltreatment are presented in Table 2. Using cut-off scores established by Walker et al. (40), 18.8% (n = 9) of the participants met threshold level for one subtype, 16.7% (n = 8) met threshold levels for two subtypes, 14.6% (n = 7) for three subtypes, 16.7% (n = 8) for four subtypes, and 10.4% (n = 5) for all five subtypes. In addition, 10.4% (n = 5) met the threshold level as established by Bernstein and Fink (41) for one subtype, 12.5% (n = 6) met threshold levels for two subtypes, 8.3% (n = 4) for three subtypes, 18.8% (n = 9) for four subtypes, and 8.3% (n = 4)for all five subtypes. Table 3 shows the distribution of childhood maltreatment severity for all types of childhood maltreatment assessed with the CTO (41).

As can be seen in **Table 1**, the mean value of childhood maltreatment in the total sample was 49.3 (SD = 15.5). Females had a mean value of 54.57 (SD = 16.46) while males showed a mean value of 47.15 (SD = 14.86; t(46) = 1.53, p = 0.13). A significant gender difference was observed for sexual abuse (t(46) = 2.00, p = 0.05), with higher mean values in females (M = 8.57, SD = 3.72) compared to males (M = 6.29, SD = 3.54), while no significant gender differences were found for emotional abuse, emotional neglect, physical abuse, and physical neglect (all p's > 0.05).

Table 1 also shows that the mean value of peer victimization in the total sample was 12.9 (SD = 7.7). Female patients had a mean value of 14.1 (SD = 10.3) while a mean value of 12.3 (SD = 6.5) was obtained for male patients (t(45) = 0.70, p =0.49). In childhood (age 6–12) a mean value of 4.9 (SD = 4.3) was determined in the total sample, female patients showed a mean value of 5.6 (SD = 5.5) and male patients a mean value of 4.6 (SD = 3.6) (t(45) = 0.80, p = 0.43). In adolescents (age 13–18) a mean value of 8.0 (SD = 4.9) was determined in the total sample. A mean value of 8.4 (SD = 6.3) was observed for female patients and 7.8 (SD = 4.3) for male patients (t(45) = 0.41, p = 0.69).

DISCUSSION

With this study we aimed at presenting and comparing prevalence rates of childhood maltreatment in a sample of patients with SSD based on both the original "moderate to severe" severity ratings established by Bernstein and Fink (41) and the empirically determined and validated cut-off scores established by Walker et al. (40). 58.3% of the sample reached threshold for at least one type of childhood maltreatment using "moderate to severe" thresholds established by Bernstein and Fink (41), while 77.1% of the sample reached cut-off score according to Walker et al. (40) for at least one type of maltreatment. Physical neglect (46-67%) and emotional abuse (44-48%) were found to be the most frequently reported types of childhood maltreatment followed by emotional neglect (38%), physical abuse (25-38%) and sexual abuse (25%). In addition, we have run exploratory analyses on peer victimization in SSD and reported descriptive data.

Prevalence rates of childhood maltreatment in SSD show a large variability with our results being in a medium range (Table 4). With respect to the prevalence rates for at least one type of childhood maltreatment in patients with SSD, Mørkved et al. (25) reported a slightly higher rate of 67.3%, while the prevalence rate in the study of Schäfer et al. (28) was higher (73.0%) than our finding (58.3%). Both studies also used the "moderate to severe" thresholds as established by Bernstein and Fink (41) for calculating prevalence rates. A comparison of the prevalence rate with the results of Schäfer et al. (28), however, is limited by the fact that the authors included only female subjects in their study. Generally, females report significantly higher rates of sexual abuse than males (60). This is also reflected in our study in the significantly higher mean score of sexual abuse among females compared to males. Accordingly, when comparing the prevalence rates of the different types of childhood maltreatment in our study with those reported by Schäfer et al. (28), rates of emotional and physical types of childhood maltreatment are similar, while prevalence rates of sexual abuse reported by Schäfer et al. (28) are noticeably higher (37%) than in the present study (25%). This difference may have led to a clearly higher prevalence

TABLE 3 | Severity thresholds and distribution of childhood maltreatment severity (41) (N = 48).

	Severity rating, % (n)															
	None to low			Low to moderate			Moderate to severe			Severe to extreme						
	Thresh- old	Total	Female	Male	Thresh- old	Total	Female	Male	Thresh- old	Total	Female	Male	Thresh- old	Total	Female	Male
Emotional abuse	≤8	45.8 (22)	35.7 (5)	50 (17)	9–12	10.4 (5)	7.1 (1)	11.8 (4)	13–15	14.6 (7)	7.1 (1)	17.6 (6)	≥16	29.2 (14)	50.0 (7)	20.6 (7)
Emotional neglect	≤9	18.8 (9)	7.1 (1)	23.5 (8)	10–14	43.8 (21)	35.7 (5)	47.1 (16)	15–17	10.4 (5)	14.3 (2)	8.8 (3)	≥18	27.1 (13)	42.9 (6)	20.6 (7)
Physical abuse	≤7	62.5 (30)	57.1 (8)	64.7 (22)	8–9	12.5 (6)	14.3 (2)	11.8 (4)	10–12	8.3 (4)	7.1 (1)	8.8 (3)	≥13	16.7 (8)	21.4 (3)	14.7 (5)
Physical neglect	≤7	33.3 (16)	28.6 (4)	35.3 (12)	8–9	20.8 (10)	21.4 (3)	20.6 (7)	10–12	27.1 (13)	28.6 (4)	26.5 (9)	≥13	18.8 (9)	21.4 (3)	17.6 (6)
Sexual abuse	5	58.3 (28)	21.4 (3)	73.5 (25)	6–7	16.7 (8)	35.7 (5)	8.8 (3)	8–12	18.8 (9)	28.6 (4)	14.7 (5)	≥13	6.3 (3)	14.3 (2)	2.9 (1)

TABLE 4 | Summary of prevalence rates in SSD patients reported in previous studies (in %).

	Thresholds	CTQ total, <i>M</i> (SD)	At least one type	Emotional abuse	Sexual abuse	Physical abuse	Emotional neglect	Physical neglect
Present study	Walker et al. (3)	49.3 (15.5)	77.1	47.9	25.0	37.5	37.5	66.7
	Bernstein and Fink (2)		58.3	43.8	25.0	25.0	37.5	45.8
Hassan et al. (20)	Walker et al. (3)	-	-	54.6	34.3	43.2	29.6	56.8
Mohammadzadeh et al. (24)	Walker et al. (3)	-	-	45.1	32.9	40.2	39.0	52.4
Larsson et al. (15)	Bernstein and Fink (2) ^a	-	85.0	63.0	35.0	29.0	67.0	46.0
Li et al. (74)	Bernstein and Fink (2) ^a	42.7 (12.1)	-	31.7	39.9	22.2	58.7	71.7
Haug et al. (75)	Bernstein and Fink (2)	47.2 (18.8)	-	32.0 ^b 26.0 ^c	14.0 ^b 30.0 ^c	11.0 ^b 15.0 ^c	32.0 ^b 26.0 ^c	32.0 ^b 33.0 ^c
Mørkved et al. (25)	Bernstein and Fink (2)	46.4 (15.5)	67.3	23.1	26.9	17.3	30.8	38.5
Schäfer et al. (28)	Bernstein and Fink (2)	48.5 (18.3)	73.0	40.0	37.0	20.0	43.0	37.0
Shannon et al. (29)	Bernstein and Fink (2)	_	45.0	_	-	_	_	-
Vogel et al. (56)	Bernstein and Fink (2)	45.4 (17.5)	-	46.8	27.8	25.6	62.3	65.8
Wang et al. (76)	Bernstein and Fink (2)	-	71.1 ^d 69.0 ^e	10.9 ^d 8.6 ^e	27.3 ^d 18.9 ^e	19.5 ^d 14.7 ^e	25.8 ^d 37.8 ^e	63.3 ^d 55.2 ^e
Xie et al. (30)	Bernstein and Fink (2)	41.3 (12.4)	47.2	19.4	13.9	11.1	19.4	38.9

Thresholds according to Bernstein and Fink (41) refers to the "moderate to severe" severity ratings; ^aThe "low to moderate" severity ratings were used as dichotomous thresholds; ^bMale; ^cFemale; ^dFirst episode; ^eChronic.

rate for at least one type of childhood maltreatment reported by Schäfer et al. (28).

In contrast to our findings and the studies already mentioned, Shannon et al. (29) reported a smaller prevalence rate for at least one type of childhood maltreatment of 45%, although the authors also used the "moderate to severe" threshold. When considering the findings of Shannon et al. (29) it is important to note that the CTQ, designed to be used as a self-report questionnaire, was used as an interview by Shannon et al. (29). The authors themselves limited the method they used, since maltreatment could have led to general mistrust among those affected. Additionally, mistrust as a common symptom in patients with SSD may have led to an underreported history of maltreatment in a research interview. In contrast, a self-report questionnaire provides anonymity and perhaps an increased sense of confidentiality, which may facilitate disclosure. Taking into account the positive correlation between childhood maltreatment and symptom severity (8, 10, 17) and the assumption that inpatients exhibit higher symptom severity, the place of recruitment as an index for symptom severity, may also be an explanation for the difference. While our results are based on data from a mixed sample of outpatients and inpatients, Shannon et al. (29) only examined outpatients, whereas the higher prevalence rate reported by Schäfer et al. (28) was determined in a sample of inpatients.

Unsurprisingly, in line with previous studies in representative samples (60, 61), the prevalence rates calculated with the cutoff scores established by Walker et al. (40) were higher than the rates calculated using the thresholds established by Bernstein and Fink (41). This is due to the fact that the "moderate to severe" thresholds are as or more conservative than the cut-off scores reported by Walker et al. (40). Accordingly, as expected, prevalence rates for emotional abuse, physical abuse, and physical neglect were higher when rates were calculated using cut-off scores according to Walker et al. (40) whereas prevalence rates for emotional neglect and sexual abuse were equal to prevalence rates calculated using thresholds as established by Bernstein and Fink (41). In comparison, the "low to moderate" thresholds established by Bernstein and Fink (41) are the least conservative of the thresholds described. In line, applying this thresholds led to elevated prevalence rates of at least one type of childhood maltreatment of up to 85% in a previous study (15).

Comparing our results with those of studies that have used other questionnaires instead of the CTQ, we find that the use of thresholds as reported by Walker et al. (40) has resulted in a prevalence rate, which is similar to those of other studies with similarly broad definitions of childhood maltreatment (e.g., 19, 20). The comparatively lower prevalence rate we determined based on the thresholds according to Bernstein and Fink (41) can be classified between those of previous studies. It is lower than those of previous studies with similarly broad definitions of childhood maltreatment (e.g., 19, 20) but, as expected, it is higher than rates in previous studies that have limited the investigation to sexual or physical abuse (e.g., 25, 26, 29). Thus, comparing studies that used different instruments remains difficult when different definitions of childhood maltreatment were used.

Considering the prevalence rates of the various forms of maltreatment, emotional abuse and physical neglect were most frequently reported in our study. These results are similar to those of previous studies that have used the CTQ to capture childhood maltreatment in SSD (15, 20, 24, 28, 55, 56, 62). Physical neglect and emotional types of childhood maltreatment were also most commonly reported in a representative sample of the German population (60, 61). However, prevalence rates of all types of childhood maltreatment in our SSD sample were clearly higher and more than twice as high for at least one type of childhood maltreatment compared to the prevalence rates in the representative sample (see **Table 2**). This highlights the relevance of childhood maltreatment in SSD.

However, a validation study from the general German population indicated that the subscale for physical neglect shows high intercorrelations with the other subscales and a weak internal consistency (63), thus elevating the risk of an over-estimation of prevalence rates for physical neglect. When following the authors' recommendation to apply the subscale "physical neglect" with caution or even to exclude it from analyses, the present results indicate the specific significance of emotional forms of maltreatment in patients with SSD. Because similar distributions were also found in studies examining other psychiatric disorders such as affective or anxiety disorders (49, 50, 64), it may be suggested that the distribution and significance of the different types of childhood maltreatment are not limited only to patients with SSD.

Although exploratory, the present study was among the first to examine associations of peer victimization and SSD. Levels of peer victimization presented in our SSD sample (M = 12.9, SD = 7.7) were consistent with previous studies that used the FBS to capture peer victimization in different clinical samples [e.g., (65,

66)]. Most notably, Iffland et al. (67) as well as Sansen et al. (50) showed that levels of peer victimization in a healthy sample [M = 7.7 (SD = 4.8) and M = 9.0 (SD = 6.6)] were substantially lower than in patients with varying psychiatric disorders [M = 16.5 (SD = 8.7) and M = 12.7 (SD = 8.5)]. Due to a lack of cut-off scores for the FBS, no actual prevalence rate of peer victimization could be reported in this study, resulting in a lack of comparability with other studies. For instance, Schalinski et al. (17) used the German version of the MACE Scale (68) to assess childhood maltreatment and peer victimization in SSD. The authors reported prevalence rates of peer victimization are as common as childhood maltreatment in patients with SSD.

Strengths and Limitations

To our knowledge, the present study is the first to present prevalence rates for childhood maltreatment in SSD based on both cut-off scores according to Walker et al. (40) and Bernstein and Fink (41), which allows a thorough evaluation of data for childhood maltreatment in SSD in future research. Accordingly, our results provide information on how conservative the investigated cut-off scores are and may thus facilitate the decision on which cut-off scores to use in future research. Additionally, explorative data of peer victimization were presented in this study. With respect to the alarming prevalence rates, the current study has practical implications. Prevention of childhood maltreatment is highly relevant - with respect to our explorative analyses maltreatment here refers to victimization by caregivers and by peers. In particular, sensitizing, informing, and training relevant (e.g., caregivers, educators, teachers) could help identifying children at risk for childhood maltreatment, especially emotional types of childhood maltreatment, and latter impacts on mental health. Moreover, the routine collection of any form of childhood maltreatment history from all users of mental health services is recommended. In this regard, when using standardized self-reports such as the CTQ, more sensitive cut-off scores, such as those established by Walker et al. (40), should be used in order to minimize false-negative results. Finally, patients who have been abused or neglected by caregivers during childhood or adolescence should receive the offer of appropriate psychosocial treatments. At this point, the present study emphasizes that this also applies to patients with more genetically-conceptualized disorders such as SSD.

However, the present study has several limitations. First of all, memory errors and biases may have influenced the results of our study. Particularly, the retrospective nature of the CTQ and FBS may have led to inaccuracy of reports. Memory biases may be a particular problem in SSD, since patients could have difficulties in reality testing. This may be even more true in not fully clinically stabilized SSD patients as tested in our study. However, Read et al. (69) suggested that retrospective self-reports can be considered reliable even if participants with a history of psychosis were included. Fisher et al. (70) also found that reports of childhood maltreatment were not associated with current severity of psychotic symptoms. However, co-morbid disorders or sociodemographic characteristics may have influenced the prevalence rates calculated in our study. Accordingly, Bonoldi et al. (71) indicated that childhood maltreatment is moderated by substance abuse and age. Further, it is uncertain whether our sample of patients with SSD is representative of all patients with SSD, especially since our sample size is small and includes relatively few females, as it is often the case in SSD research. Therefore, subgroup analyses, for example exploration of gender differences, were limited in our study and should be investigated in future research. In addition to the small sample size, the present study lacks a healthy control group. Hence, conclusions regarding increased prevalence rates in SSD patients and its role in the etiology of the disorder have to be drawn with caution. Finally, although the German version of the CTQ seems to be a reliable and valid measure for childhood maltreatment in clinical samples (72, 73), a validation study from the general German population has indicated that the subscale for physical neglect shows high intercorrelations with the other subscales and a weak internal consistency (63), therefore the authors recommend applying the physical neglect subscale with caution.

CONCLUSION

Childhood maltreatment is a common phenomenon in SSD, even though methodological details, especially cut-off scores, have a substantial impact on the prevalence rates that are determined. Therefore, the methodology of studies should be closely examined when drawing conclusions from presented prevalence rates.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data sets presented in this article are not readily available. To preserve the anonymity of participants, only aggregated data can be provided. Requests for access to datasets should be directed to Angelina Weitkämper, angelina.weitkaemper@uni-bielefeld.de.

REFERENCES

- 1. Dubowitz H, Bennett S. Physical abuse and neglect of children. *Lancet.* (2007) 369:1891–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)60856-3
- 2. World Health Organization (1999). Report of the Consultation on Child Abuse Prevention 29–31 March 1999. Geneva, Switzerland.
- 3. Affi TO. The relationship between child maltreatment and axis I mental disorders: a summary of the published literature from 2006 to 2010. *Open J Psychiatry.* (2012) 2:21–32. doi: 10.4236/ojpsych.2012. 21004
- Affif TO, Brownridge DA, Cox BJ, Sareen J. Physical punishment, childhood abuse and psychiatric disorders. *Child Abuse Neglect.* (2006) 30:1093– 103. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2006.04.006
- Chen LP, Murad MH, Paras ML, Colbenson KM, Satler AL, Goranson EN, et al. Sexual abuse and lifetime diagnosis of psychiatric disorders: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mayo Clin Proc.* (2010) 85:618– 27. doi: 10.4065/mcp.2009.0583
- Danielson CK, de Arellano MA, Kilpatrick DG, Saunders BE, Resnick HS. Child maltreatment in depressed adolescents: differences in symptomatology based on history of abuse. *Child Maltreat.* (2005) 10:37–48. doi: 10.1177/1077559504271630

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of the Bielefeld University and the Ethics Committee of the Department of Medicine at the Justus Liebig University Giessen. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AW made substantial contributions to the conception and design of the work, the acquisition, analysis, and interpretation of the data, drafted, revised, and approved the manuscript, and ensures the accuracy and integrity of any part of the work. MK, JI, MD, HK, and FN contributed to the conception of the study and revised the manuscript critically for important intellectual content. MK, JI, MD, and HK made substantial contributions to data acquisition. BI was the chief investigator for this study, contributed to the conception of the study, supervised data analyses, participated in the interpretation of the data, and critically revised the manuscript for important intellectual content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

we acknowledge support for the publication costs by the Open Access Publication Fund of Bielefeld University.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank our research assistants for their support during data collection as well as the clinicians and patients who kindly donated their time during data collection.

- Nanni V, Uher R, Danese A. Childhood maltreatment predicts unfavorable course of illness and treatment outcomes in depression: a meta-analysis. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2012) 169:141–51. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.11020335
- Schenkel LS, Spaulding WD, DiLillo D, Silverstein SM. Histories of childhood maltreatment in schizophrenia: Relationships with premorbid functioning, symptomatology, cognitive deficits. *Schizophr Res.* (2005) 76:273–86. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2005.03.003
- Simon NM, Herlands NN, Marks EH, Mancini C, Letamendi A, Li Z, et al. Childhood maltreatment linked to greater symptom severity and poorer quality of life and function in social anxiety disorder. *Depress Anxiety.* (2009) 26:1027–32. doi: 10.1002/da.20604
- Üçok A, Bikmaz S. The effects of childhood trauma in patients with first-episode schizophrenia. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2007) 116:371–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2007.01079.x
- Zisook S, Lesser I, Stewart JW, Wisniewski SR, Balasubramani GK, Fava M, et al. Effect of age at onset on the course of major depressive disorder. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2007) 164:1539–46. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2007.0610 1757
- Read J, Fink PJ, Rudegeair T, Felitti V, Whitfield CL. Child maltreatment and psychosis: a return to a genuinely integrated bio-psycho-social model. *Clin Schizophr Related Psychoses.* (2008) 2:235–54. doi: 10.3371/CSRP.2.3.5

- Bendall S, Jackson HJ, Hulbert CA, McGorry PD. Childhood trauma and psychotic disorders: a systematic, critical review of the evidence. *Schizophr Bull.* (2008) 34:568–79. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbm121
- Husted JA, Ahmed R, Chow EWC, Brzustowicz LM, Bassett AS. Childhood trauma and genetic factors in familial schizophrenia associated with the NOS1AP gene. *Schizophr Res.* (2010) 121:187–92. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2010.05.021
- Larsson S, Andreassen OA, Aas M, Røssberg JI, Mork E, Steen NE, et al. High prevalence of childhood trauma in patients with schizophrenia spectrum and affective disorder. *Compr Psychiatry*. (2013) 54:123–7. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2012.06.009
- McCabe KL, Maloney EA, Stain HJ, Loughland CM, Carr VJ. Relationship between childhood adversity and clinical and cognitive features in schizophrenia. J Psychiatr Res. (2012) 46:600–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2012.01.023
- Schalinski I, Fischer Y, Rockstroh B. Impact of childhood adversities on the short-term course of illness in psychotic spectrum disorders. *Psychiatry Res.* (2015) 228:633–40. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2015.04.052
- Trotta A, Murray RM, David AS, Kolliakou A, O'Connor J, Forti M, et al. Impact of different childhood adversities on 1-year outcomes of psychotic disorder in the genetics and psychosis study. *Schizophr Bull.* (2016) 42:464– 75. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbv131
- Álvarez MJ, Roura P, Osés A, Foguet Q, Solà J, Arrufat FX. Prevalence and clinical impact of childhood trauma in patients with severe mental disorders. *J Nerv Ment Dis.* (2011) 199:156–61. doi: 10.1097/NMD.0b013e3182 0c751c
- Hassan AN, Stuart EA, De Luca. V. Childhood maltreatment increases the risk of suicide attempt in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2016) 176:572– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016.05.012
- Kim D, Kaspar V, Noh S, Jung HN. Sexual and physical abuse among Korean female inpatients with schizophrenia. *J Trauma Stress.* (2006) 19:279– 89. doi: 10.1002/jts.20119
- Lysaker PH, Meyer PS, Evans JD, Clements CA, Marks KA. Childhood sexual trauma and psychosocial functioning in adults with schizophrenia. *Psychiatr Serv.* (2001) 52:1485–8. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.52.11.1485
- Lysaker PH, Nees MA, Lancaster RS, Davis LW. Vocational function among persons with schizophrenia with and without history of childhood sexual trauma. J Trauma Stress. (2004) 17:435–8. doi: 10.1023/B:JOTS.0000048957.70768.b9
- Mohammadzadeh A, Azadi S, King S, Khosravani V, Sharifi Bastan. F. Childhood trauma and the likelihood of increased suicidal risk in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Res.* (2019) 275:100– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2019.03.023
- Mørkved N, Winje D, Dovran A, Arefjord K, Johnsen E, Kroken RA, et al. Childhood trauma in schizophrenia spectrum disorders as compared to substance abuse disorders. *Psychiatry Res.* (2018) 261:481– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.01.011
- Perona-Garcelán S, Carrascoso-López F, García-Montes JM, Ductor-Recuerda MJ, López Jiménez AM, Vallina-Fernández O, et al. Dissociative experiences as mediators between childhood trauma and auditory hallucinations. *J Trauma Stress.* (2012) 25:323–9. doi: 10.1002/jts.21693
- Rubino IAM, Nanni RCB, Pozzi DMM, Siracusano AM. Early adverse experiences in schizophrenia and unipolar depression. *J Nerv Ment Dis.* (2009) 197:65–8. doi: 10.1097/NMD.0b013e3181925342
- Schäfer I, Harfst T, Aderhold V, Briken P, Lehmann M, Moritz S, et al. Childhood trauma and dissociation in female patients with schizophrenia spectrum disorders: an exploratory study. J Nerv Ment Dis. (2006) 194:135– 8. doi: 10.1097/01.nmd.0000198199.57512.84
- Shannon C, Douse K, McCusker C, Feeney L, Barrett S, Mulholland C. The association between childhood trauma and memory functioning in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (2011) 37:531–7. doi: 10.1093/schbul/ sbp096
- 30. Xie P, Wu K, Zheng Y, Guo Y, Yang Y, He J, et al. Prevalence of childhood trauma and correlations between childhood trauma, suicidal ideation, and social support in patients with depression, bipolar disorder, and schizophrenia in southern China. J Affect Disord. (2018) 228:41– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.11.011
- 31. Russel DEH. The Secret Trauma. New York, NY: Basic Books (1986).

- Straus MA. Measuring interfamily conflict and violence: the conflict tactics (CT) Scales. J Marriage Fam. (1979) 41:75–88. doi: 10.2307/351733
- 33. Janssen I, Krabbendam L, Bak M, Hanssen M, Vollebergh W, De Graaf R, et al. Childhood abuse as a risk factor for psychotic experiences. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2004) 109:38–45. doi: 10.1046/j.0001-690X.2003. 00217.x
- Rosenman S, Rodgers B. Childhood adversity in an Australian population. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. (2004) 39:695– 702. doi: 10.1007/s00127-004-0802-0
- Teicher MH, Parigger A. The "Maltreatment and Abuse Chronology of Exposure" (MACE) scale for the retrospective assessment of abuse and neglect during development. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0117423. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0117423
- Egeland B. Taking stock: childhood emotional maltreatment and developmental psychopathology. *Child Abuse Neglect.* (2009) 33:22-6. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2008.12.004
- Bernstein DP, Stein JA, Newcomb MD, Walker E, Pogge D, Ahluvalia T, et al. Development and validation of a brief screening version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire. *Child Abuse Neglect.* (2003) 27:169– 90. doi: 10.1016/S0145-2134(02)00541-0
- Scher CD, Stein MB, Asmundson GJG, McCreary DR, Forde DR. The childhood trauma questionnaire in a community sample: psychometric properties and normative data. J Trauma Stress. (2001) 14:843–57. doi: 10.1023/A:1013058625719
- Lipschitz DS, Bernstein DP, Winegar RK, Southwick SM. Hospitalized adolescents' reports of sexual and physical abuse: a comparison of two self-report measures. J Trauma Stress. (1999) 12:641–54. doi: 10.1023/A:1024717117960
- Walker EA, Gelfand A, Katon WJ, Koss MP, Von Korff M, Bernstein D, et al. Adult health status of women with histories of childhood abuse and neglect. *Am J Med.* (1999) 107:332–9. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9343(99)00235-1
- 41. Bernstein DP, Fink L. Childhood Trauma Questionnaire: A Retrospective Self-Report. St. Antonio, TX: Pearson (1998).
- Bolger KE, Patterson CJ. Developmental pathways from child maltreatment to peer rejection. *Child Dev.* (2001) 72:549–68. doi: 10.1111/1467-8624.00296
- Duncan RD. Maltreatment by parents and peers: the relationship between child abuse, bully victimization, psychological distress. *Child Maltreat.* (1999) 4:45–55. doi: 10.1177/1077559599004001005
- Richmond JM, Elliott AN, Pierce TW, Aspelmeier JE, Alexander AA. Polyvictimization, childhood victimization, and psychological distress in college women. *Child Maltreat.* (2009) 14:127– 47. doi: 10.1177/1077559508326357
- Schwartz D, Proctor LJ. Community violence exposure and children's social adjustment in the school peer group: the mediating roles of emotion regulation and social cognition. J Consult Clin Psychol. (2000) 68:670– 83. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.68.4.670
- Siegel RS, la Greca AM, Harrison HM. Peer victimization and social anxiety in adolescents: prospective and reciprocal relationships. J Youth Adolesc. (2009) 38:1096–109. doi: 10.1007/s10964-009-9392-1
- Gibb BE, Abramson LY, Alloy LB. Emotional maltreatment from parents, verbal peer victimization, and cognitive vulnerability to depression. *Cognit Ther Res.* (2004) 28:1–21. doi: 10.1023/B:COTR.0000016927.18027.c2
- Hawker DS, Boulton MJ. Twenty Years' research on peer victimization and psychosocial maladjustment: a meta-analytic review of cross-sectional studies. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. (2000) 41:441–55. doi: 10.1111/1469-7610. 00629
- 49. Iffland B, Sansen LM, Catani C, Neuner F. Emotional but not physical maltreatment is independently related to psychopathology in subjects with various degrees of social anxiety: a web-based internet survey. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2012) 12:49–56. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-12-49
- Sansen LM, Iffland B, Neuner F. Peer victimization predicts psychological symptoms beyond the effects of child maltreatment. *Psychiatry Res.* (2014) 220:1051–8. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014.09.008
- Storch EA, Masia-Warner C, Crisp H, Klein RG. Peer victimization and social anxiety in adolescence: a prospective study. *Aggress Behav.* (2005) 31:437–52. doi: 10.1002/ab.20093
- 52. Trotta A, Di Forti M, Mondelli V, Dazzan P, Pariante C, David A, et al. Prevalence of bullying victimisation amongst first-episode

psychosis patients and unaffected controls. *Schizophr Res.* (2013) 150:169–75. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2013.07.001

- Catone G, Marwaha S, Kuipers E, Lennox B, Freeman D, Bebbington P, et al. Bullying victimisation and risk of psychotic phenomena: analyses of British national survey data. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2015) 2:618–25. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00055-3
- Cunningham T, Hoy K, Shannon C. Does childhood bullying lead to the development of psychotic symptoms? A metaanalysis and review of prospective studies. *Psychosis.* (2016) 8:48–59. doi: 10.1080/17522439.2015.1053969
- 55. Schäfer I, Fisher HL, Aderhold V, Huber B, Hoffmann-Langer L, Golks D, et al. Dissociative symptoms in patients with schizophrenia: relationships with childhood trauma and psychotic symptoms. *Compr Psychiatry.* (2012) 53:364–71. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2011.05.010
- Vogel M, Spitzer C, Kuwert P, Möller B, Freyberger HJ, Grabe HJ. Association of childhood neglect with adult dissociation in schizophrenic inpatients. *Psychopathology*. (2009) 42:124–30. doi: 10.1159/000204763
- 57. World Health Organisation (1992). *The ICD-10 International Classification of Mental ond Behavioural Disorders*. Clinical Descriptions and Diagnostic Guidelines, Geneva, Switzerland.
- Kay SR, Fiszbein A, Opler LA. The positive and negative syndrome scale for schizophrenia. *Schizophr Bull.* (1987) 13:261–76. doi: 10.1093/schbul/ 13.2.261
- Sansen LM, Iffland B, Catani C, Neuner F. Entwicklung und Evaluation des Fragebogens zu belastenden Sozialerfahrungen in der Peergroup (FbS). Z Klin Psychol Psychother. (2013) 42:34–44. doi: 10.1026/1616-3443/a 000184
- Iffland B, Brähler E, Neuner F, Häuser W, Glaesmer H. Frequency of child maltreatment in a representative sample of the German population. *BMC Public Health.* (2013) 13:980. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-13-980
- Häuser W, Schmutzer G, Brähler E, Glaesmer H. Maltreatment in childhood and adolescence—results from a survey of a representative sample of the German population. *Dtsch Arztebl Int.* (2011) 108:287– 294. doi: 10.3238/arztebl.2011.0287
- 62. Andrianarisoa M, Boyer L, Godin O, Brunel L, Bulzacka E, Aouizerate B, et al. Childhood trauma, depression and negative symptoms are independently associated with impaired quality of life in schizophrenia. Results from the national FACE-SZ cohort. *Schizophr Res.* (2017) 185:173–81. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016.12.021
- Klinitzke G, Romppel M, Häuser W, Brähler E, Glaesmer H. Die deutsche Version des Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) – psychometrische Eigenschaften in einer bevölkerungsrepräsentativen Stichprobe. *Psychother Psychosom Med Psychol.* (2012) 62:47–51. doi: 10.1055/s-0031-1295495
- 64. Devi F, Shahwan S, Teh WL, Sambasivam R, Zhang YJ, Lau YW, et al. The prevalence of childhood trauma in psychiatric outpatients. Ann Gen Psychiatry. (2019) 18:15. doi: 10.1186/s12991-019-0239-1
- 65. Brühl A, Kley H, Grocholewski A, Neuner F, Heinrichs N. Child maltreatment, peer victimization, and social anxiety in adulthood: a crosssectional study in a treatment-seeking sample. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2019) 19:1. doi: 10.1186/s12888-019-2400-4
- 66. Iffland B, Sansen LM, Catani C, Neuner F. The trauma of peer abuse: effects of relational peer victimization and social anxiety disorder on

physiological and affective reactions to social exclusion. *Front Psychiatry*. (2014) 5:26. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2014.00026

- Iffland B, Weitkämper A, Weitkämper NJ, Neuner F. Attentional avoidance in peer victimized individuals with and without psychiatric disorders. *BMC Psychology.* (2019) 7:12. doi: 10.1186/s40359-019-0284-1
- Isele D, Teicher MH, Ruf-Leuschner M, Elbert T, Kolassa IT, Schury K, et al. KERF Ein Instrument zur umfassenden Ermittlung belastender Kindheitserfahrungen: Erstellung und psychometrische Beurteilung der deutschsprachigen MACE (Maltreatment and Abuse Chronology of Exposure) Scale. Z Klin Psychol Psychother. (2014) 43:121–30. doi: 10.1026/1616-3443/a000257
- Read J, Van Os J, Morrison AP, Ross CA. Childhood trauma, psychosis and schizophrenia: a literature review with theoretical and clinical implications. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2005) 112:330– 50. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2005.00634.x
- Fisher HL, Craig TK, Fearon P, Morgan K, Dazzan P, Lappin J, et al. Reliability and comparability of psychosis patients' retrospective reports of childhood abuse. *Schizophr Bull.* (2011) 37:546–53. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbp103
- Bonoldi I, Simeone E, Rocchetti M, Codjoe L, Rossi G, Gambi F, et al. Prevalence of self-reported childhood abuse in psychosis: a meta-analysis of retrospective studies. *Psychiatry Res.* (2013) 210:8–15. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2013.05.003
- Bader K, Hänny C, Schäfer V, Neuckel A, Kuhl C. Childhood trauma questionnaire-psychometrische Eigenschaften einer deutschsprachigen Version. [Childhood Trauma Questionnaire - Psychometric properties of a German version]. Zeitschrift Für Klinische Psychol Psychother. (2009) 38:223–30. doi: 10.1026/1616-3443.38.4.223
- Wingenfeld K, Spitzer C, Mensebach C, Grabe HJ, Hill A, Gast U, et al. Die deutsche Version des Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ): Erste Befunde zu den psychometrischen Kennwerten. Psychother Psychosom Med Psychol. (2010) 60:442–50. doi: 10.1055/s-0030-1247564
- 74. Li XB, Li QY, Liu JT, Zhang L, Tang YL, Wang CY. Childhood trauma associates with clinical features of schizophrenia in a sample of Chinese inpatients. *Psychiatry Res.* (2015) 228, 702–7. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2015.06.001
- Haug E, Øie M, Andreassen OA, Bratlien U, Nelson B, Aas M, et al. Anomalous self-experience and childhood trauma in first-episode schizophrenia. *Compr Psychiatry*. (2015) 56:35–41. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2014.10.005
- 76. Wang Z, Xue Z, Pu W, Yang B, Li L, Yi W. Comparison of firstepisode and chronic patients diagnosed with schizophrenia: Symptoms and childhood trauma. *Early Interv Psychiatry*. (2013) 7:23–30. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-7893.2012.00387.x

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Weitkämper, Kellner, Iffland, Driessen, Kley, Neuner and Iffland. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Childhood Trauma and Aggression in Persons Convicted for Homicide: An Exploratory Study Examines the Role of Plasma Oxytocin

Kah Kheng Goh^{1,2}, Mong-Liang Lu^{1,2,3} and Susyan Jou^{2,4*}

¹ Department of Psychiatry, Wan-Fang Hospital, Taipei Medical University, Taipei, Taiwan, ² Psychiatric Research Center, Wan-Fang Hospital, Taipei Medical University, Taipei, Taiwan, ³ Department of Psychiatry, School of Medicine, College of Medicine, Taipei Medical University, Taipei, Taiwan, ⁴ Graduate School of Criminology, National Taipei University, Taipei, Taiwan

Evidence has demonstrated the association between childhood trauma and criminality

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Athanassios Douzenis, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece

Reviewed by:

Bernhard Bogerts, Otto von Guericke University Magdeburg, Germany Marije E. Keulen-De Vos, Forensic Psychiatric Center De Rooyse Wissel, Netherlands

> ***Correspondence:** Susyan Jou sjou@mail.ntpu.edu.tw

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Forensic Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 02 June 2021 Accepted: 21 July 2021 Published: 17 August 2021

Citation:

Goh KK, Lu M-L and Jou S (2021) Childhood Trauma and Aggression in Persons Convicted for Homicide: An Exploratory Study Examines the Role of Plasma Oxytocin. Front. Psychiatry 12:719282. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.719282 in adulthood, however, less is known about how best to explain the route from childhood trauma to adulthood aggression. Results from both human and animal studies have generated the hypothesis that dysfunction of the oxytocinergic system may correlate with pathological aggression. The current study represents a first exploratory examination to investigate the trajectory from childhood trauma to aggression, specifically, plasma oxytocin's role in this association. We assessed the childhood trauma experiences in a total of 108 participants, including 33 persons convicted for homicide and 75 non-offending healthy participants, using the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire, with in-depth clarification interviews for cross-validation. All participants were checked for aggression using the Modified Overt Aggression Scale and their plasma oxytocin levels were obtained. Results indicated that persons convicted for homicide had higher childhood trauma scores and lower plasma oxytocin levels than healthy controls. The plasma oxytocin levels were inversely correlated with childhood trauma in all participants. Further mediation models were constructed to explore these associations, in the best-fit model, the relationship between childhood trauma and aggression is mediated by plasma oxytocin levels in persons convicted for homicide. In conclusion, the association between childhood trauma and aggression of persons convicted for homicide is mediated by their plasma oxytocin levels. With leading to further theoretical consideration in the causality on how best to explain the interaction between childhood trauma and aggression, the current study may assist in developing further research and preventive strategies for aggression, particularly the importance of early identification of childhood trauma.

Keywords: oxytocin, childhood trauma and adversity, homicide, aggression, violence

INTRODUCTION

Violence remains a leading cause of mortality worldwide. The burden and harm elicited by violent crimes are tremendous, engendering a combined negative effect on society in terms of both insecurity and physical disability. Considering the relation to offender characteristics and violent crime formation models, recent studies have reported that most offenders have a history

36

of childhood trauma (1, 2). Trauma experienced in childhood has severe consequences. Individuals with childhood trauma are at higher risk of engaging in problematic behaviors; subsequently resulting in adverse effects, on both physical and mental health, that may appear in childhood and continue into adulthood (3, 4). Although several studies using forensic and psychiatric samples have suggested a relationship between childhood trauma and violent crime (5–7), less is known about how best to explain the route from childhood trauma to adulthood aggression. Various brain circuits, including the amygdala and pre-frontal cortex, may be involved in aggression formulation (8). In addition to these anatomical findings, neurotransmitter activity, such as serotonin, dopamine, norepinephrine, and y-aminobutyric acid, is proposed to be positively correlated with aggression (8). Childhood trauma compromises homeostasis and leads to numerous psycho-neuroendocrine changes that may affect physiological, emotional, cognitive, and social functioning, including the ability to regulate, affect, and subsequently develop empathy (9, 10).

Oxytocin plays a crucial role in stress and aggression, with animal studies demonstrating its association to maternal behavior, aggression, non-social behaviors (11), and stress response regulation (12). Oxytocin lowers hypothalamuspituitary-adrenal activity and cortisol levels, which increases levels of plasma oxytocin; this results in a negative feedback system, where stress increases the level of cortisol, which in turn increases the level of oxytocin, resulting in a subsequent decrease in cortisol (13). History of aggression was shown to inversely correlate with oxytocin levels in the cerebral spinal fluid, indicating that oxytocin plays a mechanistic role in human aggression (14). In one study, the fightor-flight response increased activation of the amygdala in participants with low oxytocin levels, which was associated with a lack of trust (15) in children who had experienced trauma. The association of oxytocin with trustworthiness was also demonstrated in an experimental adult's monetary payoffs study (16). Low plasma oxytocin levels have been observed in children who experienced trauma (17) and in adults who were exposed to childhood trauma (18). Further, disrupted oxytocin regulation was noted in individuals with childhood trauma (19). The severity of childhood trauma may also have an inverse correlation role in modulating oxytocin concentrations (20). It is possible that individuals who have experienced trauma do not have a normally functioning oxytocin inhibition process, allowing stress responses to escalate to unproportionally high levels (13). This phenomenon may also be caused by a failure to exhibit high oxytocin receptor levels in the amygdala of children with experiences of trauma. A low oxytocin level may be associated with neurostructural changes in those who experienced maltreatment, for example, a low oxytocin level is associated with larger hypothalamus and amygdala volumes (21) as a result of the compensatory growth mechanism. Reduced amygdala activation, under the influence of oxytocin, has been shown to reduce danger signaling, and is linked to the promotion of trust, increased sociability, and decreased social fear (22). Lower salivary oxytocin levels in maltreated children lead to a lower percentage of gaze fixation for the human face eye area and this visual attention deficit is resulting in social-emotional problems (23). It is believed that untoward childhood trauma may interfere with the oxytocinergic system on a more fundamental level, particularly affecting the molecular and genetic mechanisms. Genetic variation, of the oxytocin receptor (Oxtr) gene for example, may moderate the link between childhood trauma and social relationship in adulthood (24). The total Oxtrknockout male mice (excised at the time of conception) had heightened aggression compared with the controls while the predominantly forebrain-specific Oxtr-knockout male mice (excised postnatally) displayed similar aggression levels with controls mice (25). This animal study indicates that oxytocin may play an important role in the development of neural circuits that underlie aggression in adulthood. In the human study, the single-nucleotide polymorphisms of the Oxtr gene, for example, rs7632287 (26) and rs53576 (27) were associated with the frequency of aggressive behaviors.

Supplementation of exogenous oxytocin has been shown to attenuate the amygdala's response to social stress and fear (28). Exogenous oxytocin induces a momentary "state of mind" change in individuals through a reduction in feelings of fear (29) and resulting in an alteration to the brain's cognitive-emotional schemas and shifting an individual's perception of others as untrustworthy to more trustworthy (30). Intranasal oxytocin administration decreased social threat hypersensitivity and, accordingly, reduced both anger and aggressive human behaviors (31). In the study of taskrelated aggressive responses, oxytocin administration decreased aggression in healthy young men and the higher baseline endogenous urinary oxytocin levels were associated with less aggressive responses (32). In a study of general healthy participants, compared with a placebo group, behavioral aggression was slightly higher in the experimental group directly after the intranasal administration of oxytocin, although the opposite was found as the study period progressed (33). In another study of healthy participants, compared with the placebo group, the intranasal administration of oxytocin increased the aggressive responses of participants in the experimental group while playing a monetary game (34). The acute effect of oxytocin on aggressive behavior did not been observed in another study of the healthy adult man but when examining those responders, higher scores on antisocial personality traits were related to their increase in aggression response following oxytocin administration (35).

All of the evidence implies that endogenous and exogenous oxytocin may be capable of modulating aggressive behaviors in humans. However, the link between downregulation of the oxytocinergic system and heightened aggression is less straightforward and required further research (36). Various experimental studies try to postulate the pathways and possible factors that may tangle between childhood trauma, aggression, and oxytocinergic dysfunction. Despite this evidence, results of research investigating the correlation between childhood trauma, oxytocin levels and aggression are, in general, mixed and inconsistent.

The role of oxytocin in persons convicted for homicide is the primary focus of our study. Childhood trauma may disrupt oxytocin regulation, with a decrease in oxytocin levels potentially correlating with heightened levels of aggression. However, if oxytocin mediates the route from childhood trauma to adulthood aggression is still unknown. This study aims to explore a theoretical framework that may explain the pathway through which childhood trauma leads to aggression in persons convicted for homicide. First, it is hypothesized that persons convicted for homicide have higher scores in childhood trauma measures compared with those healthy participants. Further, we postulate that persons convicted for homicide have lower plasma oxytocin levels than healthy participants who have not committed violent crimes. In addition, under the presumption that aggression is a phenotype associated with persons convicted for homicide and manifests in them committing violent crimes, this study aimed to examine the proposed trajectory from childhood trauma to adulthood aggression, oxytocin is considered to contribute to aggression.

METHODS

Participants

This study was conducted between November 1, 2018, and April 30, 2019, following approval from Taiwan's Ministry of Justice. Persons convicted for homicide (Taiwan Criminal Codes §271, §272, §273, and §274) were recruited from probation offices in Taipei, Shihlin, Taoyuan, and Hsinchu, while control group participants were recruited from the community through research advertisements, and were without a history of criminal convictions, illicit drug use, and mental disorders. A total of 108 participants, composed of 33 in the homicide group and 75 in the control group, were enrolled. The demographic data of participants and their related characteristics are shown in Table 1. All participants were aged 20-65 years, male, had adequate mental competence, and were willing to provide written informed consent. Those who had received hormone therapy were excluded. All participants were interviewed by qualified psychiatrists using structured interviews for the screening and diagnosis of mental disorders. To minimize the possible confounding effects of current trauma-related symptom severity and other psychopathology, none of the participants had schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, posttraumatic stress disorder, epilepsy, intellectual disability, dementia, neurocognitive disorder, or other serious medical illnesses. Explanations regarding the purpose, content, process, and possible risks involved in this study were delivered orally to all participants. Participant rights were thoroughly explained, particularly, that their criminal sentences, parole or probation periods would not be affected by whether they chose to participate in the study or not, and written informed consents were collected. Participants were free to withdraw from the study at any time. Recruited offenders continued to serve their sentences, with their probation periods unchanged. This study was approved by the Joint Institutional Review Board of Taipei Medical University.

Measures

Demographic Questionnaire

The first part of the questionnaire related to participants' basic demographic data, including height, weight, age, date of birth, place of birth, marital status, educational history, occupational history, family history, medical history, psychiatric history, current medication use, alcohol and cigarette use, and selfreported criminal convictions. Additional information on age at index offense, length of sentence, and length of imprisonment were collected through questionnaires provided to persons convicted for homicide only.

Childhood Trauma

Childhood trauma is defined as child maltreatment constitutes all forms of ill-treatment, abuse, neglect or negligent treatment or commercial or other exploitation, resulting in actual or potential harm to the child's health, survival, development or dignity in the context of a relationship of responsibility, trust or power (37). The Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form (CTQ-SF) (38) was used to assess the childhood trauma of participants. In a previous study, the CTQ-SF was translated into Chinese, and the translated version's reliability was confirmed (Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.57-0.90$; Intra-class coefficient = 0.67-0.85) (39). The CTQ-SF screens the history of participants for childhood adversities and consists of 28 items, measuring five types of aforementioned childhood trauma. Participants with scores exceeding the moderate exposure cutoff point on each subscale (physical abuse: >10; emotional abuse: >13; sexual abuse: ≥ 8 ; physical neglect: ≥ 10 ; emotional neglect: ≥ 15) were classified as having a history of exposure to childhood trauma (19, 40). Physical, emotional, and sexual abuse were further categorized as major childhood trauma. For cross-validation, participants were asked to provide detailed clarification about their childhood trauma experiences during individual interviews.

Aggression

Aggression is defined as an intention to harm another person who is motivated to avoid that harm and the perpetrator has strong faith that the behavior will harm the target (41). Besides the homicide crimes convicted by the offenders, the characteristics of aggression of all participants were also been measured using both the Modified Overt Aggression Scale (MOAS) (42), a 4-part behavior rating scale designed to measure four types of aggressive behaviors; namely, verbal aggression, aggression against property, auto-aggression, and physical aggression. Participants were asked to determine whether each statement appropriately described their behaviors over the past week, and during the most serious incidents of their lifetime. The reliability and validity of the Chinese versions of MOAS were assessed in previous studies (Intra-class coefficient = 0.94; Mann-Whitney test Z = -2.89) (43).

Oxytocin Laboratory Assessment

Ten milliliters of venous blood were collected from each participant's antecubital region or hand. Plasma oxytocin levels were determined using an enzyme immunosorbent assay (Catalog number: EKE-051-01, Phoenix Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,

	Homicid	e group (<i>N</i> = 33)	Healthy	group (<i>N</i> = 75)	p
	М	SD	м	SD	
Age (in year)	39.97	12.44	39.05	12.48	0.73
Height (in cm)	170.18	7.15	173.15	5.75	0.02
Weight (in kg)	72.82	19.97	69.16	11.04	0.23
Education (n, %)					<0.001
University		4 (12.1)	4	1 (54.6)	
High School		16 (48.5)	2	7 (36.0)	
Middle School		10 (30.3)		5 (6.7)	
Primary School		3 (9.1)		2 (2.7)	
Marital Status (n, %)					< 0.01
Single		22 (66.6)	4	8 (64.0)	
Cohabit		4 (12.1)		2 (2.7)	
Married		2 (6.1)	2	2 (29.3)	
Divorced		5 (15.2)		3 (4.0)	
Age at index offense (in year)	29.82	11.26			
Length of sentences (in year)	12.85	7.95			
Length of imprisonment (in year)	8.46	5.76			
Alcohol drinking (n, %)					<0.001
No drinking		11 (33.3)	5	0 (66.7)	
Low risk drinking		5 (15.2)	2	3 (30.6)	
Risky alcohol drinking (≥14 drinks/week)		17 (51.5)		2 (2.7)	
Overall self-rated health condition					0.04
Very poor		3 (9.1)			
Poor		3 (9.1)		2 (2.7)	
Equivocal		8 (24.2)	2	7 (36.0)	
Good		16 (48.5)	3	9 (52.0)	
Very good		3 (9.1)		7 (9.3)	
Cigarette smoking (n, %)		26 (78.8)		6 (8.0)	<0.001
Cigarette consumption (in pack per day)	0.64	0.52	0.02	0.09	< 0.001

TABLE 1 | Demographic characteristics of all participants.

Burlingame, California, USA) with an oxytocin detection range of 0–100 ng/mL. Each plasma sample was assayed twice, and the mean of the two measurements used for analysis; with intraand inter-assay coefficients of variation both being <5%. No significant cross-reactivity or interference between oxytocin and analogs was observed.

Statistical Analysis

All collected data were transcribed to SPSS Statistics version 25.0 (IBM Corporation New York, USA), for coding and analysis. Data ranges for each variable were checked to ensure they adhered to the prescribed range for each questionnaire manual. Descriptive statistics were applied to summarize the demographic characteristics and psychometric measurements of participants. Continuous variables were expressed as means with standard deviations, whereas categorical data were presented in numbers and percentages. The Kolmogorov–Smirnov test was performed to determine the normal distribution of participant age. Levene's test was used to determine the homogeneity of variances. For descriptive statistics and outcome measurements, an independent sample *t*-test was used to evaluate

continuous variables; whereas Pearson's chi-square test was used to evaluate categorical variables and compare demographic variables among two groups. To investigate our theory-based hypotheses, a bivariate Pearson correlation analysis was used to estimate correlations between outcome measurements. Outcome measurements were included in a mediation analysis if all their correlations were statistically significant. Age, height, body weight, and cigarette smoking, which may interact with plasma oxytocin levels, were included as covariates in the mediation analysis model. For mediation analysis, SPSS macro PROCESS v3.3 (model 4) was applied to analyze three significant outcome measurements. Mediation effects were reconfirmed using a structural equation model, which was analyzed using the SPSS Amos 26.0 software program. Regression (path) coefficients were all in unstandardized form, as standardized coefficients generally have no use in substantive interpretations (44). A positive regression coefficient implies that a unit increase in a variable leads to a direct increase in the variable it is projected to, proportional to the size of the coefficient; vice versa for a negative coefficient. Thus, the extent of change in a dependent variable (aggression), when one unit of the independent variable (childhood trauma) increases under the condition of an unaltered mediator variable (oxytocin), is considered to be due to a direct effect in mediation analysis. An indirect effect is the extent to which a dependent variable changes when the independent variable is held constant, and changes in the mediator variable are consistent with increases of one unit in the independent variable. In other words, an indirect effect is the extent of mediation. The total effect is the sum, or modified combination, of direct and indirect effects in this study. Bootstrapping, which is considered the most effective method to use with small samples and has the lowest susceptibility to type 1 error, was used to assess the mediation effect's stability (45). Both bias-corrected and percentile-method bootstrapping were conducted, with the data resampled 5,000 times. Statistical significance for all tests was represented by a *p*-value <0.05.

Models

As all measures of childhood trauma and aggression were collected retrospectively, in terms of causal relationships, we examined these variables in different models, to illustrate possible links between variables. In Model 1, as proposed according to our theoretical hypothesis, we examined the mediating role of oxytocin between childhood trauma and aggression. In Model 2, childhood trauma and oxytocin both contributed to aggression independently. In Model 3, childhood trauma was linked to both oxytocin and aggression independently. In Model 4, both childhood trauma and aggression contributed to changes in oxytocin, with childhood trauma also leading to aggression. In Model 5, childhood trauma was linked to aggression, with aggression subsequently promoting changes in oxytocin. In all tested models, model fit was examined using a goodness of fit index (GFI) \geq 0.90, and a root mean square error approximation (RMSEA) value of \leq 0.06 (46). The best-fit model was selected by considering all criteria in this study.

RESULTS

Demographic Characteristics

The proportion of graduates from higher education institutions was significantly lower in the homicide group than in the control (p < 0.001). The prevalence of alcohol drinking and cigarette smoking was higher in the homicide group than in the control group (p < 0.001). Notably, almost half of the participants in the homicide group had risky alcohol drinking problems. A higher proportion of participants in the homicide group rated their health condition as poor or very poor (p < 0.05) (see **Table 1**).

Childhood Trauma

The total scores of CTQ-SF among persons convicted for homicide were higher than those of participants in the control group (p < 0.001). Participants in the homicide group surpassed participants in the control group in terms of the prevalence of and the proportion screened positive for physical abuse, emotional abuse, physical neglect, and emotional neglect, except for sexual abuse. Both the prevalence of major childhood trauma (p < 0.01),

		Homicide group ($N = 33$)		Control group ($N = 75$)		p
		М	SD	М	SD	
Childhood trauma						
Positive for childhood trauma (n , %)	Physical abuse		13 (39.4)		6 (8.0)	<0.001
	Emotional abuse		6 (18.2)		2 (2.7)	< 0.01
	Sexual abuse		5 (15.2)		7 (9.3)	0.38
	Physical neglect		32 (97.0)	5	4 (72.0)	< 0.01
	Emotional neglect		13 (39.4)	ę	9 (12.0)	< 0.01
	\geq 1 type of major trauma	16 (48.5)		11 (14.7)		< 0.01
CTQ-SF	Total scores	58.85	14.67	46.87	9.89	<0.001
	Physical abuse	9.15	4.54	6.52	2.18	<0.001
	Emotional abuse	8.79	3.81	6.92	2.19	< 0.01
	Sexual abuse	6.12	2.43	5.48	1.13	0.06
	Physical neglect	13.91	2.71	11.16	2.06	<0.001
	Emotional neglect	12.15	4.50	9.37	3.06	< 0.01
Number of childhood trauma types		2.09	1.71	1.04	0.88	< 0.00
Aggression						
MOAS	Total scores	28.61	7.63	8.75	8.85	<0.001
	Physical aggression	4.00	0.00	1.03	1.24	<0.001
	Verbal aggression	3.00	1.12	1.15	1.20	<0.001
	Aggression against object	2.39	1.50	0.91	1.15	<0.001
	Auto-aggression	1.39	1.68	0.56	0.99	0.02

Childhood Trauma, Aggression, and Oxytocin

and the mean number of trauma types (p < 0.001), were higher in the homicide group than control (see **Table 2**).

Aggression

Participants in the homicide group had a higher total score for the history of incidents of aggression (measured by the MOAS; p < 0.001) and had more incidents of all four types of aggressive behaviors, than those in the control group (see **Table 2**).

Plasma Oxytocin Levels

The plasma oxytocin levels in participants of different groups are illustrated in **Figure 1**. Overall, plasma oxytocin levels were not correlated with age (r(107) = -0.15, p = 0.60). Participants in the homicide group (M = 10.74, SD = 4.19, 95% CIs [9.25, 12.22]) had lower levels of plasma oxytocin than those in the control group (M = 15.49, SD = 6.00, 95% CIs [14.11, 16.87]) (p < 0.001).

Interaction Between Variables in a Zero-Order Correlation

Childhood trauma was significantly associated with aggression, both in the homicide group [r(32) = 0.48, p < 0.01] and the control group [r(74) = 0.49, p < 0.001]. Plasma oxytocin levels were inversely correlated with childhood trauma in both the homicide group [r(32) = -0.45, p < 0.01], and the control group [r(74) = -0.30, p < 0.05]. Aggression was inversely associated with plasma oxytocin levels in participants of the homicide group [r(32) = -0.61, p < 0.001], but was non-significant in participants of the control group [r(73) = -0.01, p = 0.94].

Mediation Analysis

A mediation analysis was further performed for participants in the homicide group. The overall mediation analysis of plasma oxytocin levels is illustrated in Figure 2. After considering all criteria in this study, Model 1 was selected as the best-fit model (GFI = 0.974; RMSEA = 0.041). For participants in the homicide group, the regression coefficient between childhood trauma and plasma oxytocin levels was statistically significant (p < 0.01), as was the regression coefficient between plasma oxytocin levels and aggression (p < 0.01). The bootstrapped unstandardized indirect effect was non-significant ($\beta = 0.13$, SE = 0.06, 95% CIs [0.02, 0.25]). The effect of childhood trauma on aggression was fully mediated by plasma oxytocin levels among participants in the homicide group. All other covariates proposed in this study, including age (p = 0.76), height (p = 0.98), body weight (p =0.27), and cigarette smoking (p = 0.50), did not interfere with regression coefficients in the meditational model.

DISCUSSION

The results indicate that traumatic experiences in childhood were higher in the persons convicted for homicide than among those in the control group without criminal convictions. In particular, persons convicted for homicide had a higher prevalence of physical abuse during childhood, than control group participants in this study. Despite the widespread prevalence of childhood trauma, less is known about its biological import. Humans are irrevocably shaped by their developmental environment



FIGURE 1 | Scatter plot illustrating the plasma oxytocin levels of participants in homicide groups and healthy groups. Each color dot represents the plasma level of oxytocin of each participant.

through the biological imprinting of early experiences (47). The current study demonstrated a positive correlation between childhood trauma and aggression, with plasma oxytocin levels inversely correlated with both factors. Although a history of childhood trauma appears to contribute to the use of violence, few studies have explored the nature of this relationship and



Frontiers in Psychiatry | www.frontiersin.org

(Continued)

FIGURE 2 | oxytocin both contributed to aggression independently, (Model 3) childhood trauma was linked to both oxytocin and aggression independently, (Model 4) both childhood trauma and aggression contributed to changes in oxytocin and the childhood trauma also leading to aggression, and (Model 5) childhood trauma was linked to aggression while aggression subsequently promoting changes in oxytocin. The numbers above the arrows indicate the unstandardized regression coefficients of the path in the model. Fitness of the model was examined using a goodness of fit index (GFI) \geq 0.90, and a root mean square error approximation (RMSEA) value of \leq 0.06. The Model 1, as the best-fit model (GFI = 0.974; RMSEA = 0.041), shows that the effect of childhood trauma on aggression was mediated by plasma oxytocin levels among participants in the homicide group.

its association with hormonal changes. Reduced endogenous oxytocin levels in people with childhood trauma were also observed in previous meta-analyses, supporting the hypothesis that early adversity persistently alters oxytocin production and release in adulthood (48).

The role of oxytocin in the mediation model is notable. Several mediation models have been postulated and the main differences between the five models are the path directions between plasma oxytocin levels and aggression. In Model 1 and Model 2, plasma oxytocin levels are proposed to have contributed to the later aggression. In Model 4 and Model 5, aggression is proposed to promote the changes in plasma oxytocin. Model 1, as the best-fit model, shows that the effect of childhood trauma on aggression was mediated by plasma oxytocin levels among participants in the homicide group. The bidirectional interaction between aggression and oxytocin that is demonstrated in different mediation models may add to the ongoing debate questioning the unidirectional prosocial role of oxytocin (36). However, in this study, the models other than Model 1 are rather satisfied to examine their mediation path, yet, still too early to draw any conclusion for the other models. In this study, the mediation analysis demonstrated that those with higher childhood trauma scores had lower plasma oxytocin levels, which may have led to them having higher aggression levels. Oxytocin lowers the cortisol levels that increased in the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis for stress response. Dysregulation of oxytocin inhibition process caused by a failure to exhibit high oxytocin receptor levels in the amygdala of individuals who have experienced trauma allowing stress responses to escalate to unproportionally high levels (13). By reducing the amygdala activation with supplementation of exogenous oxytocin has been shown to reduce danger signaling, promote trust, increase sociability, decrease social fear, and possibly attenuate aggression (22).

In this study, the effect of childhood trauma on aggression was mediated by plasma oxytocin levels in persons convicted for homicide; however, the mediation effect could not be verified among participants in the control group. Differences between these two groups of participants may imply some hidden factors contributing to, or preventing, the occurrence of aggressive behaviors. In other words, the proposed hypothesis regarding the association between oxytocin level and the attachment of individuals with experiences of childhood trauma, did not fully explain the results found in this study. One possible explanation is the oxytocin's dose-dependent variability in aggression. Acute administration of oxytocin produces dose-dependent changes in reducing aggression in rats (49). The degree of oxytocin deprivation has to exceed the threshold to become violent is a probable factor that resulted in this disparity across participants. The concept of resilience may also explain the discrepancy between different sequela faced by individuals with experiences of childhood trauma. The timing of exposure to childhood trauma may result in different developmental sequelae (50). For example, earlier exposure to maltreatment was associated with a blunted amygdala response and failure to centrally upregulate oxytocin receptors, reducing sensitivity to adaptational fight-or-flight reactions that promote survival (51). Besides, several studies have focused on adaptive coping styles and personal attributes, such as ego strength, tenacity, self-efficacy, and cognitive flexibility, related to resilience, that appear to mitigate negative sequelae in response to childhood trauma (52, 53). In addition to coping styles and personal attributes, resilience may be predicted by "gene \times environment" interactions with childhood trauma. Studies showed that only individuals surrounded by a positive family environment during childhood (54) and higher school connectedness (55) were found to have increased resilience in adulthood, likely as a result of a heightened sense of belonging (56). Although they have lower resilient functioning than those without childhood trauma, traumatized children nonetheless strive to be resilient. A strong moderating effect from having a positive social environment was identified in adults with a specific allele of the oxytocin receptor gene, OXTR, who had been exposed to early childhood trauma (9). Childhood trauma has been shown to consistently exert strong and adverse effects on the resilience of those who experience it; indicating that the path to aggression is mediated by oxytocin.

Limitations and Future Research Directions

The strength of this study lies in providing relevant findings which further illustrate the role of oxytocin in linking childhood trauma to aggression. As with any study, the findings should be interpreted with consideration to recognized limitations. First, the validity and reliability of the retrospective self-reporting of childhood trauma carry their own caveats as, due to potential recall bias, possible under-reporting may lead to substantial measurement errors (57). Albeit the simple forgetting, nonawareness, and non-disclosure (19), retrospective reports of childhood trauma are still valuable for examining its association with adulthood adversities, such as psychiatric problems (58). In this study, participants were asked to provide in-depth clarification about their experiences of childhood trauma during interviews, for cross-validation, to minimize any aforementioned reporting biases. A prospective study design, with follow-up from baseline experiences of childhood trauma and oxytocin level changes, is necessary to confirm correlations more definitively among these factors.

Oxytocin is determined not only by childhood trauma, but also from other stressful events (59), inflammation (60),

nicotine use (61), and the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal axis (62). Perhaps not only oxytocin but aggression is explained by the aforementioned factors besides childhood trauma. In interpreting the positive correlation between childhood trauma and plasma oxytocin levels, these unmeasured factors should be taken into account. Although it is impractical to sample the cerebrospinal fluid, using the peripheral plasma oxytocin level as a surrogate for central oxytocin function may raise questions about the accuracy of oxytocin measurement and its implications. The previous study had demonstrated a positive association does exist between central and peripheral oxytocin levels (63). Agerelated patterns of oxytocin concentration are influenced by reproductive status, and plasma oxytocin levels are significantly higher in women than in men (64). Therefore, the enrollment of participants in this study was limited to men who had not undergone hormone therapy, to avoid the confounding effects of gender on the findings. This design restriction means that the results cannot be generalized to women.

Finally, given the study's cross-sectional design, this study could not isolate the effects of trauma exposure timing. This is an inherent design obstacle, as obtaining self-reports prospectively from young children is ethically inappropriate. As with most cross-sectional studies, a causal relationship cannot be determined unless assumptions are made. We tried to examine the possible links between childhood trauma, oxytocin, and aggression, by performing different structural equation models to establish the best fit. After careful modification and validation through statistical analysis, with the assumption that oxytocin concentration remained relatively stable across adulthood, this study sought to determine a path between childhood trauma and aggression and reveal the interaction of oxytocin within. Owing to limitations inherent in this cross-sectional design, it is recommended that in any future study, longitudinal relationships be examined to confirm causality more definitively over time.

CONCLUSIONS

This study explored the pathway of oxytocin through which childhood trauma leads to later aggression in persons convicted for homicide. Fully elucidating the factors leading to homicide is difficult as crime involves a complex interplay between an individual and the society in which they grow up. Childhood trauma is correlated with aggression, whereas plasma oxytocin level is inversely correlated with childhood trauma. A theoretical framework has been postulated to explain this possible pathway, as experiencing childhood trauma decreases plasma oxytocin levels and subsequently contributes to higher aggression in persons convicted for homicide. Prevention and

REFERENCES

 Altintas M, Bilici M. Evaluation of childhood trauma with respect to criminal behavior, dissociative experiences, adverse family experiences and psychiatric backgrounds among prison inmates. *Compr Psychiatry.* (2018) 82:100–7. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2017.1 2.006 early identification of childhood trauma are crucial for reducing aggression in adulthood. A decrease in incidents of childhood trauma could decrease the risk of alterations in oxytocin gene expression and secretion. For those with severe childhood trauma experiences, efforts to activate secure attachment should be made promptly. We hope that the results of this study will lead to further theoretical consideration of how best to explain the interaction between childhood trauma and aggression, thus assisting to develop further preventive strategies.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Joint Institutional Review Board of Taipei Medical University. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KKG provided the ideation, collected and analyzed the data, and wrote the manuscript. M-LL had made a critical review of the manuscript. SJ assisted in interpreting the data and contributed to the writing of the manuscript. All authors have approved the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from Wan-Fang Hospital, Taipei Medical University (108-wf-eva-19, 109-wf-eva-15, and 110-wf-eva-13), and the Ministry of Science and Technology (MOST109-2314-B-038-023-MY2), Taiwan.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to the Ministry of Justice and probation officers in Taipei, Shihlin, Taoyuan, and Hsinchu for referring the participants. The authors gratefully acknowledge Dr. Ming-Chyi Huang and Dr. Kao-Chin Chen for providing the Chinese version of psychometric measures. The author thanks Mdm. Pei-Wen Kao, Mdm. Jia-Ru Chen, and Mdm. Yu-Hua Chen for their assistance in blood sampling and laboratory analysis.

Baglivio MT, Epps N, Swartz K, Sayedul Huq M, Sheer A, Hardt NS. The prevalence of Adverse Childhood Experiences in the lives of juvenile offenders. J Juvenile Justice. (2014) 3:1–23. doi: 10.1177/1541204014566286

Kessler RC, McLaughlin KA, Green JG, Gruber MJ, Sampson NA, Zaslavsky AM, et al. Childhood adversities and adult psychopathology in the WHO World Mental Health Surveys. Br J Psychiatry. (2010) 197:378– 85. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.110.080499

- Keyes KM, Eaton NR, Krueger RF, McLaughlin KA, Wall MM, Grant BF, et al. Childhood maltreatment and the structure of common psychiatric disorders. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2012) 200:107–15. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.111.093062
- Craparo G, Schimmenti A, Caretti V. Traumatic experiences in childhood and psychopathy: a study on a sample of violent offenders from Italy. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2013) 4:21471. doi: 10.3402/ejpt.v4i0.21471
- Fitton L, Yu R, Fazel S. Childhood maltreatment and violent outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Trauma Violence Abuse*. (2018) 21:754–68. doi: 10.1177/1524838018795269
- Marco S, Vladimir C, Chiara C, Marco M, Alec R. Association between childhood trauma and aggression in male prisoners. *Psychiatry Res.* (2009) 165:187–92. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2008.04.026
- Rosell DR, Siever LJ. The neurobiology of aggression and violence. CNS Spectr. (2015) 20:254–79. doi: 10.1017/S109285291500019X
- De Bellis MD, Zisk A. The biological effects of childhood trauma. *Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin North Am.* (2014) 23:185. doi: 10.1016/j.chc.2014.01.002
- Heide KM, Solomon EP. Biology, childhood trauma, and murder: rethinking justice. Int J Law Psychiatry. (2006) 29:220–33. doi: 10.1016/j.ijlp.2005.10.001
- Caldwell HK, Aulino EA, Freeman AR, Miller TV, Witchey SK. Oxytocin and behavior: lessons from knockout mice. *Dev Neurobiol.* (2017) 77:190– 201. doi: 10.1002/dneu.22431
- 12. Olff M, Frijling JL, Kubzansky LD, Bradley B, Ellenbogen MA, Cardoso C, et al. The role of oxytocin in social bonding, stress regulation and mental health: an update on the moderating effects of context and interindividual differences. *Psychoneuroendocrinology.* (2013) 38:1883–94. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2013.06.019
- Chambers J. The neurobiology of attachment: from infancy to clinical outcomes. *Psychodyn Psychiatry.* (2017) 45:542– 63. doi: 10.1521/pdps.2017.45.4.542
- Lee R, Ferris C, Van de Kar LD, Coccaro EF. Cerebrospinal fluid oxytocin, life history of aggression, personality disorder. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2009) 34:1567–73. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2009.06.002
- Buchheim A, Heinrichs M, George C, Pokorny D, Koops E, Henningsen P, et al. Oxytocin enhances the experience of attachment security. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2009) 34:1417– 22. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2009.04.002
- Zak PJ, Kurzban R, Matzner WT. Oxytocin is associated with human trustworthiness. *Horm Behav.* (2005) 48:522– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2005.07.009
- Seltzer LJ, Ziegler T, Connolly MJ, Prososki AR, Pollak SD. Stress-induced elevation of oxytocin in maltreated children: evolution, neurodevelopment, social behavior. *Child Dev.* (2014) 85:501–12. doi: 10.1111/cdev. 12136
- Opacka-Juffry J, Mohiyeddini C. Experience of stress in childhood negatively correlates with plasma oxytocin concentration in adult men. *Stress.* (2012) 15:1–10. doi: 10.3109/10253890.2011.560309
- Heim C, Young LJ, Newport DJ, Mletzko T, Miller AH, Nemeroff CB. Lower CSF oxytocin concentrations in women with a history of childhood abuse. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2008) 14:954. doi: 10.1038/mp.2008.112
- Mizuki R, Fujiwara T. Association of oxytocin level and less severe forms of childhood maltreatment history among healthy Japanese adults involved with child care. *Front Behav Neurosci.* (2015) 9:138. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00138
- Mielke EL, Neukel C, Bertsch K, Reck C, Möhler E, Herpertz SC. Alterations of brain volumes in women with early life maltreatment and their associations with oxytocin. *Horm Behav.* (2018) 97:128– 36. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2017.11.005
- Kirsch P, Esslinger C, Chen Q, Mier D, Lis S, Siddhanti S, et al. Oxytocin modulates neural circuitry for social cognition and fear in humans. *J Neurosci.* (2005) 25:11489. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3984-05.2005
- Suzuki S, Fujisawa TX, Sakakibara N, Fujioka T, Takiguchi S, Tomoda A. Development of social attention and oxytocin levels in maltreated children. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:7407. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-64 297-6
- 24. Ebbert AM, Infurna FJ, Luthar SS, Lemery-Chalfant K, Corbin WR. Examining the link between emotional childhood abuse and social relationships in midlife: the moderating role of the oxytocin receptor gene. *Child Abuse Neglect.* (2019) 98:104151. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.104151

- Dhakar MB, Rich ME, Reno EL, Lee H-J, Caldwell HK. Heightened aggressive behavior in mice with lifelong versus postweaning knockout of the oxytocin receptor. *Horm Behav.* (2012) 62:86–92. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2012.05.007
- Hovey D, Lindstedt M, Zettergren A, Jonsson L, Johansson A, Melke J, et al. Antisocial behavior and polymorphisms in the oxytocin receptor gene: findings in two independent samples. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2016) 21:983– 8. doi: 10.1038/mp.2015.144
- Butovskaya M, Rostovtseva V, Butovskaya P, Burkova V, Dronova D, Filatova V, et al. Oxytocin receptor gene polymorphism (rs53576) and digit ratio associates with aggression: comparison in seven ethnic groups. *J Physiol Anthropol.* (2020) 39:20. doi: 10.1186/s40101-020-00232-y
- Domes G, Heinrichs M, Gläscher J, Büchel C, Braus DF, Herpertz SC. Oxytocin attenuates amygdala responses to emotional faces regardless of valence. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2007) 62:1187–90. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2007.03.025
- Heinrichs M, von Dawans B, Domes G. Oxytocin, vasopressin, and human social behavior. *Front Neuroendocrinol.* (2009) 30:5. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2009.05.005
- Bartz JA, Zaki J, Bolger N, Ochsner KN. Social effects of oxytocin in humans: context and person matter. *Trends Cogn Sci.* (2011) 15:301– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2011.05.002
- Bertsch K, Gamer M, Schmidt B, Schmidinger I, Walther S, Kästel T, et al. Oxytocin and reduction of social threat hypersensitivity in women with borderline personality disorder. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2013) 170:1169– 77. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2013.13020263
- Berends YR, Tulen JHM, Wierdsma AI, van Pelt J, Feldman R, Zagoory-Sharon O, et al. Intranasal administration of oxytocin decreases task-related aggressive responses in healthy young males. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2019) 106:147–54. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.03.027
- Romney C, Hahn-Holbrook J, Norman GJ, Moore A, Holt-Lunstad J. Where is the love? A double-blind, randomized study of the effects of intranasal oxytocin on stress regulation and aggression. *Int J Psychophysiology*. (2018) 136:15–21. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2018.08.010
- Ne'eman R, Perach-Barzilay N, Fischer-Shofty M, Atias A, Shamay-Tsoory SG. Intranasal administration of oxytocin increases human aggressive behavior. *Horm Behav.* (2016) 80:125–31. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2016.01.015
- Alcorn JL, III, Green CE, Schmitz J, Lane SD. Effects of oxytocin on aggressive responding in healthy adult men. *Behav Pharmacol.* (2015) 26:798– 804. doi: 10.1097/FBP.00000000000173
- de Jong TR, Neumann ID. Oxytocin and aggression. In: Hurlemann R, Grinevich V, editors. *Behavioral Pharmacology of Neuropeptides: Oxytocin.* Cham: Springer International Publishing (2018). p. 175–92. doi: 10.1007/7854_2017_13
- Runyan D, Wattam C, Ikeda R, Hassan F, Ramiro L. Child abuse and neglect by parents and other caregivers. In: Krug EG, Mercy JA, Dahlberg LL, Zwi AB, editors. World Report on Violence and Health. Geneva: World Health Organization (2002). p. 57–81.
- Bernstein DP, Stein JA, Newcomb MD, Walker E, Pogge D, Ahluvalia T, et al. Development and validation of a brief screening version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire. *Child Abuse Neglect.* (2003) 27:169– 90. doi: 10.1016/S0145-2134(02)00541-0
- Cheng Y-C, Chen C-H, Chou K-R, Kuo P-H, Huang M-C. Reliability and factor structure of the Chinese version of childhood trauma questionnaireshort form in patients with substance use disorder. *Taiwanese J Psychiatry*. (2018) 32:52–62. Available online at: http://www.sop.org.tw/sop_journal/ pastIssues/index.asp?/kd/1/2161.html
- Huang M-C, Chen L-Y, Chang H-M, Liang X-Y, Chen C-K, Cheng W-J, et al. Decreased blood levels of oxytocin in ketamine-dependent patients during early abstinence. *Front Psychiatry*. (2018) 9:633. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00633
- Allen JJ, Anderson CA. Aggression and violence: definitions and distinctions. In: Sturmey P, editor. *The Wiley Handbook of Violence and Aggression*. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley (2017). p. 1–14. doi: 10.1002/9781119057574.whbva001
- Yudofsky SC, Silver JM, Jackson W, Endicott J, Williams D. The Overt Aggression Scale for the objective rating of verbal and physical aggression. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1986) 143:35–9. doi: 10.1176/ajp.143.1.35
- Huang HC, Wang Y-T, Chen KC, Yeh TL, Lee IH, et al. The reliability and validity of the Chinese version of the Modified Overt Aggression Scale. Int J Psychiatry Clin Pract. (2009) 13:303–6. doi: 10.3109/13651500903056533

- Hayes AF. Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis: A Regression-Based Approach. New York, NY: Guilford Publications (2017).
- Preacher KJ, Hayes AF. Asymptotic and resampling strategies for assessing and comparing indirect effects in multiple mediator models. *Behav Res Methods*. (2008) 40:879–91. doi: 10.3758/BRM.40.3.879
- Hu Lt, Bentler PM. Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Struct Equat Model*. (1999) 6:1–55. doi: 10.1080/10705519909540118
- 47. Fonzo GA. Childhood maltreatment and amygdala threat reactivity in young adults—timing is everythingchildhood maltreatment and amygdala threat reactivity in young adultseditorial. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2019) 76:781– 2. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.0432
- Donadon MF, Martin-Santos R, Osório FdL. The associations between oxytocin and trauma in humans: a systematic review. *Front Pharmacol.* (2018) 9:154. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2018.00154
- Calcagnoli F, de Boer SF, Althaus M, den Boer JA, Koolhaas JM. Antiaggressive activity of central oxytocin in male rats. *Psychopharmacology*. (2013) 229:639– 51. doi: 10.1007/s00213-013-3124-7
- Teicher MH, Samson JA, Anderson CM, Ohashi K. The effects of childhood maltreatment on brain structure, function and connectivity. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2016) 17:652. doi: 10.1038/nrn.2016.111
- Zhu J, Lowen SB, Anderson CM, Ohashi K, Khan A, Teicher MH. Association of prepubertal and postpubertal exposure to childhood maltreatment with adult amygdala function. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2019) 76:843– 53. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.0931
- 52. Feder A, Nestler EJ, Charney DS. Psychobiology and molecular genetics of resilience. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2009) 10:446–57. doi: 10.1038/nrn2649
- McGloin JM, Widom CS. Resilience among abused and neglected children grown up. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2001) 13:1021– 38. doi: 10.1017/S095457940100414X
- Bradley B, Davis TA, Wingo AP, Mercer KB, Ressler KJ. Family environment and adult resilience: contributions of positive parenting and the oxytocin receptor gene. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2013) 4:21659. doi: 10.3402/ejpt.v4i0.21659
- Clements-Nolle K, Waddington R. Adverse childhood experiences and psychological distress in juvenile offenders: the protective influence of resilience and youth assets. J Adolesc Health. (2019) 64:49–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2018.09.025
- Torgerson CN, Love HA, Vennum A. The buffering effect of belonging on the negative association of childhood trauma with adult mental health and risky alcohol use. J Subst Abuse Treat. (2018) 88:44– 50. doi: 10.1016/j.jsat.2018.02.005
- Baldwin JR, Reuben A, Newbury JB, Danese A. Agreement between prospective and retrospective measures of childhood maltreatment: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Psychiatry.* (2019) 76:584– 93. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.0097

- Newbury JB, Arseneault L, Moffitt TE, Caspi A, Danese A, Baldwin JR, et al. Measuring childhood maltreatment to predict early-adult psychopathology: comparison of prospective informant-reports and retrospective selfreports. J Psychiatr Res. (2018) 96:57–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2017.0 9.020
- Emeny RT, Huber D, Bidlingmaier M, Reincke M, Klug G, Ladwig K-H. Oxytocin-induced coping with stressful life events in old age depends on attachment: findings from the cross-sectional KORA Age study. *Psychoneuroendocrinology.* (2015) 56:132–42. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2015.0 3.014
- Bordt EA, Smith CJ, Demarest TG, Bilbo SD, Kingsbury MA. Mitochondria, oxytocin, and vasopressin: unfolding the inflammatory protein response. *Neurotox Res.* (2019) 36:239–56. doi: 10.1007/s12640-018-9962-7
- Zanos P, Georgiou P, Metaxas A, Kitchen I, Winsky-Sommerer R, Bailey A. Region-specific up-regulation of oxytocin receptor binding in the brain of mice following chronic nicotine administration. *Neurosci Lett.* (2015) 600:33–7. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2015.05.054
- Cox EQ, Stuebe A, Pearson B, Grewen K, Rubinow D, Meltzer-Brody S. Oxytocin and HPA stress axis reactivity in postpartum women. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2015) 55:164– 72. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2015.02.009
- Valstad M, Alvares GA, Egknud M, Matziorinis AM, Andreassen OA, Westlye LT, et al. The correlation between central and peripheral oxytocin concentrations: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2017) 78:117–24. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.04.017
- Marazziti D, Baroni S, Mucci F, Piccinni A, Moroni I, Giannaccini G, et al. Sexrelated differences in plasma oxytocin levels in humans. *Clin Pract Epidemiol Mental Health.* (2019) 15:58–63. doi: 10.2174/1745017901915010058

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Goh, Lu and Jou. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A Clinical Rationale for Assessing the Impact of Childhood Sexual Abuse on Adjunctive Subcutaneous Esketamine for Treatment-Resistant Depression

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Marijn Lijffijt, Baylor College of Medicine, United States

Reviewed by:

Brittany O'Brien, Baylor College of Medicine, United States Mariusz Stanisław Wiglusz, Medical University of Gdansk, Poland

*Correspondence:

Andrea Feijo Mello aafeijomello@icloud.com

> [†]These authors share senior authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopharmacology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 20 September 2020 Accepted: 12 July 2021 Published: 17 August 2021

Citation:

Magalhães EJ, Sarin LM, Del Sant LC, Lucchese AC, Nakahira C, Tuena MA, Puertas CB, Rodovalho Fava VA, Delfino RS, Surjan J, Steglich MS, Barbosa MG, Abdo G, Del Porto JA, Nemeroff CB, Cogo-Moreira H, Lacerda ALT and Mello AF (2021) A Clinical Rationale for Assessing the Impact of Childhood Sexual Abuse on Adjunctive Subcutaneous Esketamine for Treatment-Resistant Depression. Front. Psychiatry 12:608499. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.608499 Eduardo Jorge Muniz Magalhães¹, Luciana Maria Sarin¹, Lorena Catarina Del Sant¹, Ana Cecília Lucchese¹, Carolina Nakahira¹, Marco Aurélio Tuena¹, Camila Brito Puertas¹, Victor Augusto Rodovalho Fava¹, Rodrigo Simonini Delfino^{1,2}, Juliana Surjan^{1,2}, Matheus Souza Steglich^{1,2}, Matheus Ghossain Barbosa¹, Guilherme Abdo¹, José Alberto Del Porto^{1,2}, Charles B. Nemeroff³, Hugo Cogo-Moreira^{1,4}, Acioly Luiz Tavares Lacerda^{1,2,5,6†} and Andrea Feijo Mello^{1,7*†}

¹ Department of Psychiatry, Federal University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, ² Program for Care on Affective Disorders, Department of Psychiatry, Federal University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, ³ Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, Institute of Early Life Adversity Research, Dell Medical School, University of Texas at Austin, Austin, TX, United States, ⁴ Department of Education, ICT and Learning, Faculty of Teacher Education and Languages, Østfold University College, Halden, Norway, ⁵ Laboratory of Integrative Neuroscience, Department of Psychiatry, Federal University of São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil, ⁶ CNS Unit, BR Trials, São Paulo, Brazil, ⁷ Program for Research and Care on Violence and Post-traumatic Stress Disorder, Department of Psychiatry, Federal University of São Paulo, São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil

Background: A history of child sexual abuse (CSA) is related to higher suicide rates and poor treatment outcomes in depressed adult patients. Twenty years after the first study investigating the effects of ketamine/esketamine on depression and suicide, there is a lack of data on the CSA effects on this emerging treatment. Here, we assess the impact of CSA on adjunctive subcutaneous (SC) esketamine for treatment-resistant depression (TRD).

Methods: A directed acyclic graphic (DAG) was designed to identify clinical confounders between CSA and esketamine predictors of response. The confounders were applied in a statistical model to predict depression symptom trajectory in a sample of 67 TRD outpatients.

Results: The patient sample had a relatively high prevalence rate of CSA (35.82%). Positive family history of first-degree relatives with alcohol use disorder and sex were clinical mediators of the effects of esketamine in a CSA adult population. Overall, the presence of at least one CSA event was unrelated to esketamine symptom reduction.

Conclusions: Unlike responses to conventional antidepressants and psychotherapy, CSA does not appear to predict poor response to esketamine.

Keywords: child sex abuse, treatment-resistant depression, esketamine, sex, directed acyclic graph

INTRODUCTION

The adverse effects of childhood abuse on health are substantial and well-documented. The WHO estimated in 2002 that 150 million girls and 73 million boys under the age of 18 had suffered various forms of sexual violence (1). Females have a two- or threefold higher risk compared with males to be sexually abused during childhood (2), resulting in a worldwide prevalence of 15–19.7% for women and 7.6–8% for men (3). Regrettably, most studies solely include reports from children's protection services, detecting only a small fraction of cases (4). This type of trauma can be considered as "toxic" and causes a prolonged activation of the body's stress response system (5). It impairs and affects regulation, impulse control, sense of self, socialization (6), and the brain changes have enduring consequences throughout life, mediating a negative trajectory to mood disorders in this population (7).

Depression is a disorder long known to be associated with CSA (8); poorer outcomes are related to CSA severity (9). Metaanalytic reviews have found evidence of associations between CSA and adult depression (10, 11). Despite the significant correlations between childhood abuse and adult depression, little is known about its specific effects on treatment (12), although, it is associated with reduced responsiveness to antidepressant pharmacotherapy and psychotherapy (13).

In view of the need for more effective treatments for individuals with TRD and CSA history, we sought to determine whether a subpopulation of patients with CSA and a current TRD episode would benefit from an investigational protocol with multiple subcutaneous (SC) esketamine injections. The subcutaneous route of administration is a reasonable alternative that leads to similar plasma concentrations and more feasible procedure for many clinics (14). A recent study outlined the cardiovascular safety of multiple SC esketamine injections in TRD (15).

To answer our research question, the relationship between exposure and outcome can be clarified using information from previous studies on CSA and predictors of response to ketamine. We can encode these evidences, and the links thereof, in an illustrative way, applying a directed acyclic graph (DAG). It is a useful method to identify and exemplify the concepts of exposure, outcome, causation, and confounding (16), especially when considering the complexities of CSA. DAG graphically sheds light on presumed relationships among variables, allowing bias adjustments in a standardized manner.

METHODS

Participants

Our sample consisted of 70 outpatients (men and women, aged 15 to 66 years) experiencing TRD episode (unipolar and bipolar) referred by psychiatrists to the esketamine clinic in the Department of Psychiatry of the Federal University of São Paulo, Brazil, between April 2017 to December 2018. Eligibility criteria included: (a) TRD defined as the absence of response (<50% symptomatology reduction) in the current episode to at least two medication trials over an adequate period of time

and with a minimal dose approved for the treatment; (b) the *Montgomery-Åsberg Depression Rating Scale* (MADRS) (17) severity score ≥ 25 ; and (c) stable physical health assessed by medical history. Exclusionary criteria were as follows: (a) history of hypersensitivity and/or allergy to esketamine; (b) diagnosis of esketamine abuse or dependence; (c) uncontrolled hypertension; or (d) pregnancy or breastfeeding.

Measures

Each patient had one baseline assessment in which a certified psychiatrist conducted a structured clinical interview. This survey included socio-demographical questions and inquired about the medical history from the patients and their first-degree relatives, including the presence of alcohol and substances use disorders. A current major depressive episode diagnosis was confirmed applying the *Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI)*-plus 5.0 (18), and patient's history of childhood sexual trauma was assessed using the *Early Trauma Inventory Self Report-Short Form (ETISR-SF)* (19).

The ETISR-SF comprises six dichotomous (yes/no) questions about CSA posed in a steadily increasing emotional intensity whereby favoring its assessment (19). For this study, CSA is defined as yes responses to any of these six items. The scoring strategy is the simple method of counting the number of events that had occurred. The version translated and validated on Brazilian–Portuguese was applied. It was used in this study for being a brief (about 15 min) and feasible screening tool for quantitative and Qualitative childhood trauma in clinical practice. The Brazilian–Portuguese version has been shown to be suitable in terms of both validity and internal consistency for assessing traumatic experiences (alpha value for the total scale = 0.83 and alpha value for sexual events = 0.73; test–retest reliability = 0.78-0.90) (20).

The MADRS measured depression symptom severity at baseline and throughout the treatment.

Subcutaneous Esketamine Protocol

A titrating dose protocol with SC esketamine injection once a week for up to 4 weeks was conducted (**Figure 1**) (22). This protocol was administered by a certified psychiatrist with ACLS training and a nurse. Each patient had the same weekly schedule. Pre-injection ratings included the MADRS and vital signs (measurement of blood pressure, heart rate, and digital pulse oximetry). In the first session, all patients received 0.5 mg/kg of ketamine (ideal body weight) injected SC in the abdomen. We monitored vital signs at 15-min intervals for 120 min. A clinical assessment was performed before the patient was discharged, and they were accompanied by a close acquaintance.

Participants remained on their prescribed psychotropic medications, and all subjects provided written informed consent after a complete description of the protocol. This study was approved by the Federal University of São Paulo ethics committee.



Statistical Analysis

Confounders Selection

Given the observational study design (i.e., non-experimental design), the relationship between exposure and outcome and potential confounders can be clarified using information from previous studies on the health consequences of CSA and predictors of response to depressive symptoms following treatments using ketamine; therefore, we conducted a search in the literature for retrieving those predictors. Then, we constructed a first DAG linking these predictors using the DAGitty graphical interface (23), in which the users promptly check changes in the diagram assessing the modifications of causal and biasing effects (24).

The main advantage in using this template is to select the confounders needed to adjust for (condition on) in the latent growth model to the extent that it would be possible to make valid inferences, answering the research question (25) based on findings that had been replicated in studies with greater samples. Finally, we removed the variables that were not in the path for confounding (i.e., covariates, which are not confounders *per se*), and created a summarized DAG for a clearer depiction. The medications currently prescribed for the participating patients (SSRI, SNRI, other classes of antidepressants, mood stabilizers, drugs for anxiety and insomnia, antipsychotics, and stimulants) were not employed as confounders.

Latent Growth Model Assessment

To estimate the effect of CSA, we fitted a latent growth model (26) using Mplus version 8.3 (27), where a latent intercept and a latent slope were estimated common to all individuals. The intercept is the systematic part of the variation in the outcome variable at baseline (i.e., time point zero) and slope growth factor is the trend, the growth rate, being the systematic part of the decrease

(or increasing) in the outcome variable for a time score increase of one unit.

Latent growth model does not require complete data to estimate latent variables because under the assumption of missing at random mechanism, missingness is estimated unbiased via full-information maximum likelihood. Consequently, even when few patients had not responded to all evaluations, they were still considered in the analysis in an intention-to-treat approach given the maximum likelihood estimator.

Model fit was evaluated using the comparative fit index (CFI), root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA), and the standardized root mean square residual (SRMR). CFI values >0.95, RMSEA values of <0.06, and SRMR values >0.06, and a non-significant $\chi 2$ statistic were considered a good model fit (28).

RESULTS

Sample Characteristics

Three patients were excluded from the initial sample (n = 70) because of missing 24-h post-injection data. The demographic and clinical characteristics of the 67 patients included are presented in **Table 1**.

The prevalence of CSA among the 67 patients was 35.82%, with a sexual trauma load of 1 or higher (mean 1; SD: 1.45). Among patients reporting a CSA history, the proportions within the six ETISR-SF items were as follows: 31.3% disclosed a history of uncomfortable touching in intimate parts; 17.9% for having someone rubbing their genitals; 10.5% for being forced to touch genital parts; 7.5% for forced kiss; 7.5% for forced genital sex, and 4.5% for being forced to perform oral sex.

TABLE 1 | Clinical and demographic characteristics of patients (total n = 67) at the enrollment.

			Unipolar	depression	Bipolar o	depression
	<i>n</i> = 67 (100%)		n = 37	′ (55.2%)	n = 30 (44.8%)	
	N/mean	(%/SD)	N/mean	(%/SD)	N/mean	(%/SD)
CSA history	24	(35.8)	11	(29.7)	13	(43.3)
No-CSA history	43	(64.2)	26	(70.3)	17	(56.7)
Age of first episode (years)	21	(8.72)	22.76	(9.50)	19.00	(7.27)
BMI	29	(7.66)	27.26	(7.35)	31.19	(7.60)
Family history- SUD	22	(32.8)	11	(29.7)	11	(36.7)
MADRS baseline	30	(6.95)	33.19	(5.34)	34.00	(7.05)
Sex (female)	44	(65.7)	25	(67.6)	19	(63.3)
Age (years)	40	(12.93)	41.24	(13.23)	39.47	(12.70)
Educational level (college)	40	(59.70)	20	(54.1)	20	(66.7)
Employed	40	(59.70)	18	(48.6)	22	(73.3)

CSA, child sexual abuse; N, number of patients; SD, standard deviation; BMI, body mass index; SUD, substance-use disorder.



FIGURE 2 | Summarized directed acyclic graphic (DAG). Previous studies were used to rule out the design process, during which the dagitty platform automatically generates red paths and nodes (sex and +FH of AUD), indicating which variables should be controlled in the statistical analysis; whereas green paths and blue nodes do not disrupt the interaction between exposure (**>**) and outcome (**■**). Sex and +FH of AUD should be considered key moderating factors when investigating the effects of CSA on esketamine treatment. Personality traits, previous suicide attempts, hospitalizations, cognition, anhedonia, and BMI are predictors of treatment response, yet they do not disturb the relationship between the variables of interest. CSA, child sexual abuse; + FH AUD, positive family history of a first-degree relative with alcohol use disorder; BMI, body mass index.

First-Degree Relatives With Alcohol Use Disorder (+FH) and Sex as Confounders

The summarized DAG (**Figure 2**) showed that the presence of first-degree relatives with alcohol use disorder (+FH) and sex is a minimum set for adjustment (i.e., confounders) when analyzing the effects of esketamine in adults with CSA. These confounders were included in the latent growth model to minimize bias.

Effect of Child Sex Abuse on Symptom Trajectory

For our main hypothesis, we observed that the overall presence of at least one CSA event was not a statistically significant predictor of the trajectory of symptom reduction [β (csa) = 0.386; p = 0.225; 95% CI = -0.137:0.909].

Table 2 displays mean MADRS scores according to thepresence of CSA and depression subtype.

TABLE 2 | Mean Montgomery-Åsberg depression rating scale (MADRS) score according to CSA history and depression subtype.

	CSA history						No-CSA history							
	-	Unipolar		Bipolar			Unipolar			Bipolar				
	Mean	N	(SD)	Mean	Ν	(SD)	р	Mean	N	(SD)	Mean	N	(SD)	р
Day 0	32.8	11	(1.5)	28.8	13	(2.5)	0.190	29.7	26	(1.2)	31.3	17	(1.7)	0.453
Day 1	17.8	9	(2.5)	20.9	13	(3.0)	0.435	19.6	23	(2.1)	23.3	16	(2.1)	0.239
Day 7	22.4	11	(2.8)	26.7	13	(2.5)	0.265	23.2	26	(1.8)	24.3	17	(2.6)	0.200
Day 8	16.8	10	(3.1)	20.6	12	(2.7)	0.372	18.2	22	(1.8)	22.8	17	(2.8)	0.156
Day 14	18.3	11	(3.1)	23.4	13	(3.7)	0.318	20.8	24	(1.7)	25.1	15	(2.9)	0.180
Day 15	14.7	9	(1.6)	19.9	11	(4.1)	0.258	17.7	22	(2.0)	17.2	12	(2.4)	0.885
Day21	23.1	11	(2.9)	20.7	12	(2.9)	0.578	19	25	(2.1)	22.8	17	(2.8)	0.288
Day22	16.4	8	(2.8)	15.2	8	(4.0)	0.822	14.3	24	(1.9)	18.2	16	(3.0)	0.259

N, number of patients; SD, standard deviation. The italic values indicate the "p value".

DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this is the first protocol investigating CSA as a clinical predictor of response of multiple subcutaneous esketamine injections in treatment-resistant depression.

In our model, +FH of alcohol use disorder and sex were highlighted as sources of bias between CSA and symptoms trajectory. Being raised by an alcohol-abusing parent increases the likelihood of sexual abuse exposure (29), and esketamine has been reported to be more effective in treatment-resistant depressed patients with a first-degree relative with alcohol use disorder (30). Child sexual abuse and +FH of alcohol use disorder are related to long-lasting neurodevelopmental or genetic/epigenetic variations (30) that predispose to depression in later life.

Female sex has a robust link to childhood sexual trauma and suicidal behaviors (2, 31). CSA is associated with a 2fold increased risk for suicidal ideation, 3-fold risk for suicide attempts, and an 18-fold higher risk for dying by suicide (32). Conversely, esketamine has demonstrated rapid reductions in suicidal ideation (33). According to the diagrammed DAG, a way for clarifying the path among sex, suicidal ideation, and treatment outcome was controlling for sex as a confounder.

We hypothesized a negative effect of CSA on MADRS scores after repeated esketamine SC injections. However, even after adjustments for confounding factors (+FH of alcohol use disorder and sex), there was a lack of evidence of the effect of CSA and the esketamine response.

When investigating the effect of CSA on treatment response, it is essential to consider that abused patients have an increased probability of having suffered additional untoward experiences that may modify treatment response, disrupting data analysis. An advantageous method to avoid this not-randomizable limitation is by using a schematic representation for recognizing confounders. To this end, we first gathered knowledge from previous investigations, not constrained to our measured variables, thereby identifying common associations between CSA and outcome. Then, these relations were standardized in a DAG. This alternative approach allows a clearer perception of bias while measuring multiple potential confounders without creating other sources of distortions. It focuses on the understanding of prior empirical evidence between exposure and outcome, managing the selection of variables needed to be controlled in the statistical analysis (34). Hence, we could use a clear theoretical rationale to elect appropriate confounders, reducing bias and improving statistical data interpretation (35).

The outcomes from this naturalistic study suggests that, in contrast to the poorer response to conventional antidepressants, we have a lack of evidence that childhood sexual trauma results in a poorer response of depression symptoms to SC esketamine in the sample of patients participating in this study. Thus, the practical relevance of these findings is the need to screen for childhood trauma, detect patients that may not benefit from standard first-line antidepressants, and utilize adjunctive interventions, such as esketamine, especially for those with high suicide risk. Therefore, mental health providers should be conscious of the cumulative effect of CSA, assess child abuse not only as a hallmark of treatment-resistance but rather as a chronic treatment-resistant depression subtype.

Our study has several limitations, including the characteristics inherent to real-world analysis such as broad inclusion criteria, absence of a placebo-treated group, lack of randomization, small sample size, short length of follow-up, concomitant administration of different classes of psychotropic medications, and the usual scoring method of retrospective assessment of reported CSA in which detailed features of severity are not considered. Another limitation was the employment of the same protocol to unipolar and bipolar depression. However, Lucchese et al. (36) reported that there were no statistical associations between diagnosis and response to SC esketamine in this same sample (36). The results should be cautiously interpreted, and replication is essential.

The follow-up period of 4 weeks may have been too brief. As previously reported in an open-label trial of algorithm-guided pharmacotherapy, the rate of symptom improvement increases more slowly in patients with a history of childhood adversity. The difference in remission was more significant by the end of 12 weeks (32% compared with 44% of patients without abuse history) (13). The lack of early improvement at 2 to 4 weeks may be a predictor of later antidepressant non-response/nonremission (37). Therefore, we might theorize that the presence of CSA could slow even the rapid antidepressant response of esketamine, adding a potential need for treatment maintenance and more complexity in the care of this population.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics committee of the Federal University of São Paulo. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EM, LS, LD, ACL, CN, MT, CP, VR, RD, JS, MS, MB, GA, and AM: substantial contributions to the conception of the

REFERENCES

- Pinheiro P. The World Report on Violence against Children. Geneva: United Nations Secretary-General's Study on Violence against Children (2006).
- Barth J, Bermetz L, Heim E, Trelle S, Tonia T. The current prevalence of child sexual abuse worldwide: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Public Health.* (2013) 58:469–83. doi: 10.1007/s00038-012-0426-1
- Sanjeevi J, Houlihan D, Bergstrom KA, Langley MM, Judkins J. A review of child sexual abuse: impact, risk, and resilience in the context of culture. *J Child Sex Abus.* (2018) 27:622–41. doi: 10.1080/10538712.2018.1486934
- Stoltenborgh M, Bakermans-Kranenburg MJ, Alink LRA, van Ijzendoorn MH. The prevalence of child maltreatment across the globe: review of a series of meta-analyses. *Child Abuse Rev.* (2015) 24:37–50. doi: 10.1002/car.2353
- Shonkoff JP, Garner AS. The lifelong effects of early childhood adversity and toxic stress. *Pediatrics*. (2012) 129:e232–46. doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-2663
- De Bellis MD, Keshavan MS, Clark DB, Casey BJ, Giedd JN, Boring AM, et al. AE bennett research award. Developmental traumatology. Part II: brain development. *Biol Psychiatry.* (1999) 45:1271–84. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(99)00045-1
- Molnar BE, Buka SL, Kessler RC. Child sexual abuse and subsequent psychopathology: results from the national comorbidity survey. *Am J Public Health*. (2001) 91:753–60. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.91.5.753
- Putnam FW. Ten-year research update review: child sexual abuse. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2003) 42:269– 78. doi: 10.1097/00004583-200303000-00006
- Varese F, Smeets F, Drukker M, Lieverse R, Lataster T, Viechtbauer W, et al. Childhood adversities increase the risk of psychosis: a meta-analysis of patient-control, prospective- and cross-sectional cohort studies. *Schizophr Bull.* (2012) 38:661–71. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbs050
- Infurna MR, Reichl C, Parzer P, Schimmenti A, Bifulco A, Kaess M. Associations between depression and specific childhood experiences of abuse and neglect: a meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. (2016) 190:47– 55. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.09.006
- Mandelli L, Petrelli C, Serretti A. The role of specific early trauma in adult depression: a meta-analysis of published literature. Childhood trauma and adult depression. *Eur Psychiatry.* (2015) 30:665–80. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2015.04.007

study and data acquisition. EM, LS, HC-M, and AM: analysis, or interpretation of data for the work. EM: drafting of the manuscript. LS, CBN, HC-M, JD, ALTL, and AM: critical review for important intellectual content. EM, LS, LD, ACL, CN, MT, CP, VR, RD, JS, MS, MB, GA, HC-M, JD, ALTL, and AM: final approval of the version to be published. All authors involved in this manuscript agree to be accountable for all aspects of the work, ensuring that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work are appropriately investigated and resolved.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was supported by the Coordination of Improvement of Higher Education Personnel-Brazil (CAPES)-Financing Code 001. Roseli Cursio, Conceição Tavares, and Renata Oliveira Alves contributed to patient care during the protocol sessions.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2021.608499/full#supplementary-material

- Pandina G, Turkoz I, Bossie C. Impact of self-reported juvenile abuse on treatment outcome in patients with major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord. (2013) 151:384–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2013.01.053
- Klein DN, Arnow BA, Barkin JL, Dowling F, Kocsis JH, Leon AC, et al. Early adversity in chronic depression: clinical correlates and response to pharmacotherapy. *Depress Anxiety*. (2009) 26:701–10. doi: 10.1002/da.20577
- Loo CK, Galvez V, O'Keefe E, Mitchell PB, Hadzi-Pavlovic D, Leyden J, et al. Placebo-controlled pilot trial testing dose titration and intravenous, intramuscular and subcutaneous routes for ketamine in depression. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2016) 134:48–56. doi: 10.1111/acps.12572
- Del Sant LC, Sarin LM, Magalhães EJ, Lucchese AC, Tuena MA, Nakahira C, et al. Effects of subcutaneous esketamine on blood pressure and heart rate in treatment-resistant depression. J Psychopharmacol. (2020) 34:1155– 62. doi: 10.1177/0269881120922955
- Greenland S, Pearl J, Robins JM. Causal diagrams for epidemiologic research. Epidemiology. (1999) 10:37–48. doi: 10.1097/00001648-199901000-00008
- Montgomery SA, Smeyatsky N, de Ruiter M, Montgomery DB. Profiles of antidepressant activity with the montgomery-asberg depression rating scale. *Acta Psychiatr Scand Suppl.* (1985) 320:38–42. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.1985.tb08073.x
- Sheehan D V, Lecrubier Y, Sheehan KH, Amorim P, Janavs J, Weiller E, et al. The mini-international neuropsychiatric interview (MINI): the development and validation of a structured diagnostic psychiatric interview for DSM-IV and ICD-10. J Clin Psychiatry. (1998) 59(Suppl. 2):22–57.
- Bremner JD, Bolus R, Mayer EA. Psychometric properties of the early trauma inventory-self report. J Nerv Ment Dis. (2007) 195:211–8. doi: 10.1097/01.nmd.0000243824.84651.6c
- Osorio FL, Salum GA, Donadon MF, Forni-Dos-Santos L, Loureiro SR, Crippa JAS. Psychometrics properties of early trauma inventory self-report - short form (ETISR-SR) for the brazilian context. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e76337. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0076337
- Schneeweiss S, Rassen JA, Brown JS, Rothman KJ, Happe L, Arlett P, et al. Graphical depiction of longitudinal study designs in health care databases. *Ann Intern Med.* (2019) 170:398–406. doi: 10.7326/M18-3079
- DAGitty Online Browser. Available online at: http://www.dagitty.net/dags. html (accessed May 17, 2019).

- Textor J, Hardt J, Knuppel S. DAGitty: a graphical tool for analyzing causal diagrams. *Epidemiology*. (2011) 22:745. doi: 10.1097/EDE.0b013e318225c2be
- Suttorp MM, Siegerink B, Jager KJ, Zoccali C, Dekker FW. Graphical presentation of confounding in directed acyclic graphs. *Nephrol Dial Transplant.* (2015) 30:1418–23. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfu325
- Barbosa MG, Sarin LM, Tuena MA, Del Sant LC, Nakahira C, Magalhães EJ, et al. Heterogeneous trajectory of depressive symptoms after repeated subcutaneous esketamine injections. J Affect Disord Rep. (2021) 3:100053. doi: 10.1016/j.jadr.2020.100053
- Muthén LK, Muthén BO. Mplus User's Guide. 8th ed. Los Angeles, CA: Muthén & Muthén: (2017).
- Hu LT, Bentler PM. Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Struct Equ Model*. (1999) 6:1–55. doi: 10.1080/10705519909540118
- Dube SR, Anda RF, Felitti VJ, Croft JB, Edwards VJ, Giles WH. Growing up with parental alcohol abuse: exposure to childhood abuse, neglect, and household dysfunction. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2001) 25:1627– 40. doi: 10.1016/S0145-2134(01)00293-9
- Romeo B, Choucha W, Fossati P, Rotge J-Y. Facteurs prédictifs de la réponse antidépressive à la kétamine dans les épisodes dépressifs majeurs résistants: revue de la littérature. *Encephale*. (2017) 43:354–62. doi: 10.1016/j.encep.2016.06.005
- Comstock SM, Vaidya JG, Niciu MJ. Neurophysiological correlates and differential drug response in subjects with a family history of an alcohol use disorder. *Chronic Stress.* (2019) 3:1–13. doi: 10.1177/2470547019865267
- Turecki G BD. Suicide and suicidal behaviour. Lancet. (2017) 387:1227– 39. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00234-2
- Angelakis I, Gillespie EL, Panagioti M. Childhood maltreatment and adult suicidality: a comprehensive systematic review with meta-analysis. *Psychol Med.* (2019) 49:1057–78. doi: 10.1017/S0033291718003823
- 33. Canuso CM, Singh JB, Fedgchin M, Alphs L, Lane R, Lim P, et al. Efficacy and safety of intranasal esketamine for the rapid reduction of symptoms of depression and suicidality in patients at imminent risk for suicide: results of a double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled study. *Focus.* (2019) 17:55– 65. doi: 10.1176/appi.focus.17105
- Evans D, Chaix B, Lobbedez T, Verger C, Flahault A. Combining directed acyclic graphs and the change-in-estimate procedure as a novel approach to adjustment-variable selection in epidemiology. *BMC Med Res Methodol.* (2012) 12:156. doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-12-156
- 35. Sauer B, VanderWeele TJ. Use of directed acyclic graphs. In: Velentgas P, Dreyer NA, Nourjah P, et al., editors. *Developing a Protocol for Observational Comparative Effectiveness Research: A User's Guide*. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (2013). Available online at: https://www. ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK126189/ (accessed November 15, 2020).
- Lucchese AC, Sarin LM, Magalhães EJ, Del Sant LC, B Puertas C, Tuena MA, et al. Repeated subcutaneous esketamine for treatment-resistant depression: impact of the degree of treatment resistance and anxiety comorbidity. J Psychopharmacol. (2021) 35:142–9. doi: 10.1177/0269881120978398
- 37. Kennedy SH, Lam RW, McIntyre RS, Tourjman SV, Bhat V, Blier P, et al. Canadian Network for Mood and Anxiety Treatments (CANMAT) 2016 clinical guidelines for the management of adults with major depressive disorder: Section 3. Pharmacological Treatments. *Can J Psychiatry.* (2016) 61:540–60. doi: 10.1177/0706743716659417

Conflict of Interest: EM reports non-financial support from Torrent Pharma and non-financial support from Hypera Pharma, outside of the submitted work.

LS reports personal fees from Daiichi Sankyo Brasil, Lundbeck Brasil, Pfizer, and Janssen, and non-financial support from Takeda Brasil, Moksha8 Brasil, Torrent Pharma, outside of the submitted work. CN reports non-financial support from Eurofarma, Cristália, and Sanofi, outside of the submitted work. Dr. Oliveira reports personal fees from Janssen outside of the submitted work. CBN research is supported by the NIMH grant MH-117293 and the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism grant AA-024933. CBN has served as a consultant for Acadia Pharmaceuticals, Axsome, Compass Pathways, EMA Wellness, Epiodyne, Gerson Lehrman Group, Intra-Cellular Therapies, Janssen Research and Development, Magnolia CNS, Magstim, Navitor Pharmaceuticals, Signant Health, Sophos, Sunovion Pharmaceuticals, Taisho Pharmaceutical, Takeda, TC MSO, and Xhale, he is a stockholder in AbbVie, Antares, BI Gen Holdings, Celgene, Corcept Therapeutics Pharmaceuticals Company, EMA Wellness, OPKO Health, Seattle Genetics, TC MSO, Trends in Pharma Development, and Xhale, he has served on scientific advisory boards for the American Foundation for Suicide Prevention, the Anxiety Disorders Association of America (ADAA), the Brain and Behavior Research Foundation, the Laureate Institute for Brain Research, Magnolia CNS, Signant Health, Skyland Trail, and Xhale, he has served on boards of directors for ADAA, Gratitude America, and Xhale Smart, he has income sources or equity of \$10,000 or more from American Psychiatric Association Publishing, CME Outfitters, EMA Wellness, Intra-Cellular Therapies, Magstim, Signant Health, and Xhale, and he has patents on a method and devices for transdermal delivery of lithium (US 6,375,990B1), on a method of assessing antidepressant drug therapy via transport inhibition of monoamine neurotransmitters by ex vivo assay (US 7,148,027B2), and on compounds, compositions, methods of synthesis, and methods of treatment (CRF receptor-binding ligand) (US 8,551,996B2). ALTL has received consulting fees from Janssen Pharmaceutical, Daiichi Sankyo Brasil, Cristalia Produtos Químicos e Farmacêuticos, Pfizer, Mantecorp Indústria Química e Farmacêutica, Libbs Farmacêutica, and Sanofi-Aventis over the last 24 months, and has received research fees from Janssen Pharmaceutical, Eli Lilly, H. Lundbeck A/S, Servier Laboratories, Hoffman-La Roche, and Forum Pharmaceuticals, not related to the submitted manuscript. AM has received non-financial support from Lundbeck not related to the present research.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Magalhães, Sarin, Del Sant, Lucchese, Nakahira, Tuena, Puertas, Rodovalho Fava, Delfino, Surjan, Steglich, Barbosa, Abdo, Del Porto, Nemeroff, Cogo-Moreira, Lacerda and Mello. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



The Role of Qi-Stagnation Constitution and Emotion Regulation in the Association Between Childhood Maltreatment and Depression in Chinese College Students

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Shauna Ledean Rohner, University of Zurich, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Pek Yee Tang, Tunku Abdul Rahman University, Malaysia Jianxin Chen, Beijing University of Chinese Medicine, China Haoqiang He, China Academy of Chinese Medical Sciences, China Kai-Shuen Pheh, Tunku Abdul Rahman University, Malaysia

*Correspondence:

Yafei Shi shiyafei@gzucm.edu.cn Huafeng Pan gzphf@126.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mood Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 04 December 2021 Accepted: 28 March 2022 Published: 04 May 2022

Citation:

Huang H, Song Q, Chen J, Zeng Y, Wang W, Jiao B, Lin J, Li Y, Zhang R, Ma L, Pan H and Shi Y (2022) The Role of Qi-Stagnation Constitution and Emotion Regulation in the Association Between Childhood Maltreatment and Depression in Chinese College Students. Front. Psychiatry 13:825198. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.825198 Huiyuan Huang^{1†}, Quanwu Song^{2†}, Jiawen Chen¹, Ying Zeng¹, Wenqi Wang¹, Bingqing Jiao¹, Jiabao Lin¹, Yan Li³, Rong Zhang⁴, Lijun Ma¹, Huafeng Pan^{5*} and Yafei Shi^{2*}

¹ School of Public Health and Management, Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine, Guangzhou, China, ² School of Fundamental Medical Science, Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine, Guangzhou, China, ³ Guangdong Provincial Hospital of Chinese Medicine, Guangdong Provincial Academy of Chinese Medical Sciences, The Second Clinical School of Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine, Guangzhou, China, ⁴ Institute of Clinical Pharmacology, Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine, Guangzhou, China, ⁵ Science and Technology Innovation Center, Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine, Guangzhou, China

Background: Childhood maltreatment is known as a significant risk factor for later depression. However, there remains a lack of understanding about the mechanisms through which childhood maltreatment confers risk for depression. This study explores how Qi-stagnation constitution (QSC) and emotion regulation affect the link between childhood maltreatment and depressive symptoms in Chinese college students.

Methods: We recruited 2,108 college students aged 18–25 years between November 2020 and December 2021. Participants were required to complete four self-report questionnaires, including the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form (CTQ-SF), Qi-Stagnation Constitution (QSC) subscale of the simplified Chinese Medicine Constitution Questionnaire, Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale (DERS), and the Beck Depression Inventory-II (BDI-II). Moderated mediation analyses were conducted.

Results: There was a positive correlation between childhood maltreatment and QSC, while the QSC partially mediated the effect of childhood maltreatment on depressive scores in college students. In addition, emotion dysregulation moderated the association between QSC and depressive scores.

Conclusion: These results enhance understanding of key factors influencing the link between childhood maltreatment and depressive symptoms among college students by combining the theory of TCM constitution with psychological processes. The development of strategies to prevent biased Qi-stagnation constitution and emotion dysregulation may help to improve college students' mental health and strengthen the resilience of individuals to depression.

Keywords: childhood maltreatment, depression, Qi-stagnation constitution, emotion dysregulation, moderated mediation model

54

INTRODUCTION

Depression is an important public health issue. The World Health Organization (WHO) predicts that depression will be the leading cause of global burden of disease by 2030 (1). Over 20 percent of Chinese college students suffered from depression and this proportion has been on the increase over the past decade (2-5). Patients with depression manifest heterogeneous symptom profiles, including persistently depressed mood, loss of interest, low self-esteem and energy level, weight loss, insomnia or hypersomnia, disturbed appetite, and disturbance in cognitive functions such as attention and memory (6). These symptoms can cause impairment to daily life and increase the risk of suicide and mortality (7). Apart from severely affecting the health of people, depression is associated with substantial financial burden (8, 9). It is essential to treat and prevent depression from various perspectives depending on the exact etiological factors due to its heterogeneous symptoms as well as the resulting difficulty in diagnosis and treatment.

There is ample evidence suggesting that childhood maltreatment is a significant risk factor for the development of depression in adulthood. Almost half of depression sufferers experienced maltreatment during their childhood (10). Childhood maltreatment, including physical and emotional neglect as well as physical, emotional and sexual abuse, is the most common psychological stressor that exerts negative effects on the healthy development among adolescents and even in adults (11). The high prevalence of childhood maltreatment has been reported both in Western countries and in China. Half of the Americans and Europeans experienced at least one childhood maltreatment (12). Meanwhile, in China, up to 64.7% of college students encountered adversity in their early life (13). Childhood maltreatment causes not only physical wounds, but also severe psychological trauma to individuals, and predisposes the sufferers to psychiatric conditions, especially for depression (14). As suggested by meta-analytic evidence (10, 15, 16), individuals subjected to prolonged and severe neglect or abuse during their childhood were put at a significantly higher risk of depression, earlier depression onset, greater disease severity and were more likely to develop chronic or treatment-resistant depression compared to those who did not experience childhood maltreatment. Although childhood maltreatment is a powerful predictor of depression, this association is not deterministic. Instead of developing depression, some individuals who have encountered severe childhood adversity demonstrate resilience (17, 18), which suggests a potentially higher complexity in the association between childhood maltreatment and depression. It is possible that childhood maltreatment is associated with depression through other variables in indirect ways. As depression remains a major public health concern among those suffering from childhood maltreatment, especially college students, research needs to focus on revealing the specific mechanism underlying the association between childhood maltreatment and later heterogeneous depression. That is, it appears necessary to gain a better understanding of the potential influencing factors or pathways between childhood maltreatment and depression,

which may provide viable intervention targets for the treatment or prevention of depression.

According to Response Styles Theory (RST), depression is caused by personality and idiosyncratic tendencies of early experience (19). Similarly, Traditional Chinese medicine (TCM) believes that biased constitution is among the contributors to diseases, playing a major role in the occurrence, development, and outcome of diseases (20, 21). As a relatively stable and comprehensive natural characteristic, TCM constitution reflects a combination of various factors including physiologic function, morphology and structure, and psychological state (22, 23), which affect how you feel and behave, and how your body responds to pathogenic factors (24, 25). TCM constitution contributes to a better understanding of an individual's overall physical and mental conditions and lays the foundation for disease prediction, prevention and treatment (26). TCM constitution can be categorized into nine types: balanced constitution, Qi-deficiency quality, Yang-deficiency quality, Yin-deficiency quality, blood stasis quality, phlegmdampness quality, damp-heat quality, Qi-stagnation quality, and special constitution (27). Different types of constitution can predispose individuals to different disease susceptibilities and pathological processes (24, 25).

Notably, Qi-stagnation constitution (QSC) is most closely associated with depression (28). QSC is an unbalanced constitution due to long-term emotional dysfunction and stagnation of Qi movement (29). From the perspective of TCM, Qi represents the fundamental substance required for life-sustaining activities and will have an impact on individual's mental health (30). Qi is the equivalent of "energy" or "signaling" in Western medicine. Qi stagnation is regarded as a condition in which energy metabolism or signal transduction is stagnant in the living body, which may lead to the occurrence of various diseases (31). Distinct from the neuroticism of personality psychology, Qi stagnation covers more than the category of psychology. Qi-stagnation constitution is assessed based on the shape, physiological function, psychological, and other characteristics of the human body. Qi stagnation can be manifested as pain and swelling, sentimentality, chest tightness, and taut pulse (27). Besides, the abnormality of emotional and psychological distress is also regarded as the signs of Qi stagnation. Individuals with QSC are not good at social intercourse, rather, they are quiet, introverted, fragile, sentimental, stressed, depressed, and prone to insomnia (27). A considerable number of studies have been conducted to explore the relationship between QSC and depression. For example, Liu et al. (32) revealed a positive association between QSC and depression in 1,200 female college students, and showed that the QSC could be used to significantly predict depression in women after 1 year (33). According to a review of 1,639 clinical studies (34), different types of biased constitution predisposes individuals to different disease susceptibilities. Among them, QSC accounted for the highest proportion among patients with depression. A survey of 250 patients with depression found that the proportion of patients with QSC was significantly higher than that of patients with other TCM constitutions (28). Another cross-sectional study of college students found that individuals with QSC had a significantly increased risk of major depression compared to those with balanced constitution (35). These studies are consistent in demonstrating that QSC is a risk factor for depression. Besides, TCM holds that TCM constitution is not only the result of the congenital hereditary factors, but also some acquired factors (36). The acquired factors influencing QSC development mainly include lifestyles, social and growth environment, such as unhealthy family environment and negative parenting styles (37, 38). The psychological trauma caused by the adverse environment will leave the individual emotionally distressed for a long time and gradually build up to QSC (27). Research has indicated that current life stress is associated with QSC which is a risk factor for psychological disorders such as depression (32). However, it remains unclear whether early life stress, such as childhood maltreatment is associated with QSC.

In addition, emotion regulation is suspected to be another significant factor influencing the association between childhood maltreatment and depression (39, 40). Emotion regulation refers to a variety of processes through which individuals attempt to control and manage their spontaneous flow of emotions in order to accomplish their needs and goals (41, 42). Several cross-sectional (43, 44), longitudinal (45, 46), and treatment outcome (47, 48) studies have indicated that deficits in emotion regulation contribute to the development and maintenance of depression. Other studies have provided empirical evidence that dysfunctional emotion regulation originating from childhood trauma can contribute to the development, maintenance, and treatment of depression. These studies have revealed that emotion regulation played a moderating (49) or mediating role (39, 40, 50, 51) in the association between childhood maltreatment and depression. However, evidence is inconsistent in the conclusions about the role that emotion regulation could play in the association between childhood maltreatment and depression. One possible reason for this inconsistency may be the different samples with various age ranges and gender distributions included in different studies. Another reason worth considering is that there may be other influencing factors affecting the role of emotion regulation in the pathway between childhood maltreatment and depression. Notably, among the nine types of TCM constitution, QSC is most closely related to negative emotions, emotion processing and regulation, which are known as the internal causes of psychosomatic diseases (37). TCM experts suggest that Qi stagnation often causes emotional abnormalities (52). Individuals with QSC may manifest symptoms of neurosis, showing unstable emotions and appearing depressive, thus increasing the risk of depression (53, 54). To sum up, these findings indicate the interaction effect of QSC and emotion regulation on the association between childhood maltreatment and depression, which deserves further investigation.

In this study, we aim to explore the relationships among childhood maltreatment, QSC, emotion regulation and depression among college students by assuming a conceptual model as displayed in **Figure 1**. Specifically, we will first ascertain whether childhood maltreatment is associated with QSC. If the relationship holds, we will then examine whether QSC plays a mediating role between childhood maltreatment and depression. Finally, we will examine whether emotion regulation would moderate this mediation effect. From the perspective of TCM, adverse living environment and psychological barriers are the influencing factors for the formation and change of constitution and unhealthy constitution is the soil of disease. Thus, it is hypothesized that childhood maltreatment may be associated with QSC, and that QSC may mediate the effect of childhood maltreatment on the severity of depression. Furthermore, we assumed that emotion regulation would moderate the indirect association between childhood trauma and depressive scores *via* QSC.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

We recruited 2,500 Chinese college students from Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine to participate in this study between November 2020 and December 2021. All participants were invited to complete four self-report questionnaires (listed in the next section) in the classrooms with the guidance of well-trained investigators. Participants were excluded if they were unwilling or unable to complete the questionnaires and/or there were missing/multiple selections or obvious fictions (logical contradiction). In total, 2108 questionnaires were valid and included for analysis with an effective recovery rate of 84.32%. Informed consent was obtained from each participant before the survey. This study was approved by the local Research Ethics Committee.

Measures

Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form

Severity of childhood maltreatment was assessed using the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form (CTQ-SF), an easily administered, retrospective, self-report questionnaire (55). The 28-item CTQ-SF is a brief version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire and showed excellent reliability and validity (55, 56). The Chinese version of CTQ-SF adopted in the present study was translated into Chinese by Zhao et al. (56) and showed a good internal consistency. The CTQ-SF involves five sub-scales intended to assess five dimensions of childhood maltreatment (physical abuse, emotional abuse, sexual abuse, physical neglect, and emotional neglect), with each sub-scale consisting of five items. The CTQ-SF also involves three additional validity items assessing minimization/denial. The CTQ-SF uses a 5-point Likert scale to characterize the frequency of maltreatment experiences ranging from never true (score 1) to very often true (score 5). Individual was scored on each of the five items in each sub-scale with higher scores representing higher levels of being abused or neglected. The total score ranges from 25 to 125. The Cronbach's alpha coefficient for CTQ was 0.82 in this study.

Qi-Stagnation Constitution Scale

Level of Qi-Stagnation Constitution (QSC) was evaluated using the Qi-stagnation Constitution Scale, a subscale of the simplified Chinese Medicine Constitution Questionnaire (57). The subscale includes four items to assess individual constitutional differences based on characteristics such as bodily sensations and psychological characteristics (e.g., Do you get



anxious and worried easily? Did you feel sensitive, vulnerable, or emotionally upset? Do you have pain in your ribs or breasts? Do you have chest tightness or abdominal fullness?). Items are rated on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from "hardly any" (score = 1) to "nearly all the time" (score = 5). The total score (i.e., original score) of QSC was obtained by summing the score of all items and then convert them into one grand total (i.e., conversion score). The conversion score = (total score - lowest possible score) divided by (highest possible score - lowest possible score). The score indicates the tendency of the Qi-stagnation constitution type. This subscale has been widely used to measure the QSC in China and was found to have good validity and reliability in Chinese (58). The Cronbach's alpha coefficient for QSC was 0.794 in this study.

Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale

The Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale [DERS (59)] is a 36-item self-assessment questionnaire measuring several facets of emotion regulation. The questionnaire involves difficulties relevant to an individual's (a) emotional perception, (b) emotional understanding, (c) acceptance of emotional response, (d) control of emotional impulses, (e) difficulty in target orientation, and (f) difficulty in effective use of emotion regulation strategies. Participants rate how frequent each item applies to them on a 5-point Likert scale ranging from 1 ("almost never"; 0–10% of the time) to 5 ("almost always"; 91–100% of the time). In case of a higher score, it indicates the worse capability of emotion regulation. The Chinese version of the DERS was demonstrated to be a reliable and valid measurement (60). The Cronbach's alpha coefficient for DERS was 0.922 in this study.

Beck Depression Inventory-II

Beck Depression Inventory-II (BDI-II) is a widely used selfreported scale for assessing the severity of depressive symptoms of participants during the past 2 weeks based on DSM-IV criteria (61). It involves 21 items, each with a 0–3 rating (e.g., from 0 = "I have not lost interest in other people or activities" to 3 = "It's hard to get interested in anything"). The total score of the BDI-II ranges from 0 to 63 with higher scores indicating higher levels of depression. It has demonstrated excellent validity and reliability in samples of Chinese adults (62). The Cronbach's alpha coefficient for BDI-II was 0.954 in this study.

Data Analysis

The data was analyzed using SPSS 25.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, United States). Univariate descriptive statistics were performed to examine the distributions of age, childhood trauma (CTQ), Qi-stagnation constitution (QSC), difficulties in emotion regulation (DERS), and depressive symptoms (BDI) of the study participants. Pearson's correlation analyses were conducted to examine the association between age, CTQ, QSC, DERS, and BDI. Point-biserial correlations were calculated to test the relationships between gender and the studied variables. We also calculated the Pearson's correlation coefficient between QSC and the scores of the five subscales (physical abuse, emotional abuse, sexual abuse, physical neglect, and emotional neglect) of the CTQ-SF to further explore whether QSC was associated with different types of childhood maltreatment. Multiple linear regression analyses and a PROCESS macro program (63) were used to examine the mediating effect of QSC and the moderating effect of DERS between childhood maltreatment (CTQ) and depression scores (BDI), taking gender and age as control variables. When evaluating the moderating effect of DERS, all of the independent variables were mean-centered before the interaction terms were constructed to avoid the influence of multi-collinearity (64). Additionally, simple slope analyses were carried out to demonstrate the significant interaction at 1 Standard Deviation (SD) below the mean and 1 SD above the mean of DERS. The 95% confidence interval (CI) was calculated based on 5,000 bootstrap samplings and the significance of the point estimate (p < 0.05) was determined by the absence of zero within the 95% CI.

In addition, in order to examine whether gender has an effect on our model, we divided the participants into male and female groups, and repeated the data analyses above in each group, respectively, with age as a covariate.

RESULTS

Demographics Characteristics and Preliminary Statistics

Among the 2,108 college students, 670 (31.8%) were males and 1,438 (68.2%) were females. The gender ratio was imbalanced but was comparable to those of previous studies of medical universities (65–68). The sample was aged 18–25 years (Mean = 18.51 years old, SD = 0.77). **Table 1** shows the descriptive statistics of the studied variables and the percentages of different types of childhood maltreatment exposures.

Childhood Maltreatment

The average CTQ-SF total score within our sample was 34.15 (SD = 9.96). A total of 1,150 participants (54.6%) reported having experienced at least one type of maltreatment during childhood. The prevalence rate was comparable to those of previous findings in the university population (13). Specifically, 17.8% endorsed having experienced some degree of emotional abuse; 11.7% endorsed having experienced some degree of physical abuse; 14.3% endorsed having experienced some degree of sexual abuse; 39.1% endorsed having experienced some degree of emotional

TABLE 1 | Descriptive statistics of the studied variables.

Variables	Mean	SD	Range	n/N (%)
Age (years old)	18.51	0.77	18–25	
CTQ				
Total score	34.15	9.96	25–92	
Emotional abuse	6.79	2.66	5–23	17.8%
Physical abuse	5.91	2.03	5–22	11.7%
Sexual abuse	5.44	1.53	5–21	14.3%
Emotional neglect	9.06	4.34	5–25	39.1%
Physical neglect	6.95	2.54	5–21	29.3%
Single exposure	N/A	N/A	N/A	21.9%
Multiple exposures	N/A	N/A	N/A	32.6%
QSC	27.28	19.48	0-100	
DERS	84.78	21.19	36–153	
BDI	7.26	6.82	0–47	

N = 2108. SD, standard deviation; CTQ, Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form (CTQ-SF); QSC, conversion score of the Qi-Stagnation Constitution Scale; DERS, total score of the Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale; BDI, depressive sore using Beck Depression Inventory-II; n/N (%), percentage of different type of childhood maltreatment exposures.

neglect, and 29.3% endorsed having experienced some degree of physical neglect. 21.9% endorsed having experienced one type of maltreatment while 32.6% endorsed having experienced two or more types of maltreatment.

Symptoms of Depression

The average score on the BDI-II within our sample was 7.26 (SD = 6.82). 15% reported having mild to severe depressive scores. The prevalence rate was comparable to those of previous findings in Chinese university population (3–5). Specifically, 9.7% had depressive symptoms within the mild range (score of 14–19), 4.5% within the moderate range (score of 20–28), and 0.8% within the severe range (score of 29–63) based on cut-offs defined by Beck, Steer, and Brown (61).

Table 2 shows the results of bivariate correlation analyses of demographic variable (gender, age) and the four studied variables (CTQ, DERS, QSC, and BDI). The results were in line with the hypothesis that CTQ (r = 0.325, p < 0.001), QSC (r = 0.556, p < 0.001) and DERS (r = 0.532, p < 0.001) were positively correlated with depressive scores using BDI in college students. Additionally, DERS was positively correlated with both CTQ (r = 0.397, p < 0.001) and QSC (r = 0.619, p < 0.001). Moreover, there was a significant positive correlation between CTQ and QSC (r = 0.323, p < 0.001). In addition, we found a significant gender effect in QSC (r = 0.100, p < 0.01).

The Correlations Between Qi-Stagnation Constitution and Different Types of Childhood Maltreatment

We further examined whether QSC was correlated with different types of childhood maltreatment. **Table 3** shows the correlation between QSC and CTQ-SF total score as well as scores of the five subscales of CTQ-SF. Bivariate correlation analyses indicated that QSC was significantly positively associated with CTQ-SF total score (r = 0.323, p < 0.001), emotional abuse (r = 0.352, p < 0.001), physical abuse (r = 0.215, p < 0.001), sexual abuse

TABLE 2 | Intercorrelations between the studied variables.

Variables	1	2	3	4	5
1. Gender ^a					
2. Age (years old)	0.034				
3. CTQ	0.019	0.016			
4. QSC	0.100**	0.006	0.323***		
5. DERS	0.019	0.015	0.397***	0.619***	
6. BDI	0.031	0.072	0.325***	0.556***	0.532***

N = 2,108. Pearson's correlation analyses were performed to investigate the association between age, CTQ, QSC, DERS, and BDI.

^aPoint-biserial correlations were performed to test the association between "gender" variable and other variables.

SD, standard deviation; CTQ, total score of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form (CTQ-SF); QSC, conversion score of the Qi-Stagnation Constitution Scale; DERS, total score of the Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale; BDI, depressive sore using Beck Depression Inventory-II. **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001.

(r = 0.181, p < 0.001), emotional neglect (r = 0.251, p < 0.001), and physical neglect (r = 0.189, p < 0.001).

The Mediation Effect of Qi-Stagnation Constitution on the Association Between Childhood Maltreatment and Depression

The results of the mediation effect of QSC on the association between CTQ and BDI was depicted in **Table 4**. First, Model 1 showed a positive association between CTQ and QSC (B = 0.323, p < 0.001). Second, Model 2 showed a positive association between CTQ and BDI (B = 0.321, p < 0.001). Third, after controlling for CTQ, QCS was positively associated with BDI (B = 0.508, p < 0.001) as shown in Model 3. Although CTQ was still significantly associated with depressive scores (B = 0.158, p < 0.001), its effect on depressive scores was reduced in Model 3 after controlling for QSC compared to Model 2.

To revalidate the mediating role of QSC between CTQ and BDI, Hayes' (63) Model 4 of SPSS Process macro was used to calculate the 95% confidence interval (CI) of the indirect effect based on 5,000 bootstrap samplings. In the calculation, gender and age were included as covariates. It was found that the indirect effects of CTQ on BDI through QSC were significant (95% CI = [0.138, 0.191]), which further confirmed that QSC mediated the association between childhood maltreatment and depressive scores in college students.

The Moderation Effect of Emotion Regulation on the Mediation Model

First, our results showed that the interaction between CTQ and DERS cannot predict QSC (B = 0.015, p = 0.426), indicating that DERS had no significant moderating effect on the association between CTQ and QSC. But our results showed that the interaction between QSC and DERS can predict the level of depression to a significant level (B = 0.166, p < 0.001), indicating that DERS had a moderating effect on the association between QSC and BDI as shown in **Figure 2** and **Table 4**-Model 4. **Figure 3** shows the results of the simple slope analyses used to demonstrate the significant interaction at 1 SD below the mean and 1 SD above the mean of DERS. We found that for

	СТQ	EA	PA	SA	EN	PN
$\text{Mean} \pm \text{SD}$	34.15 ± 9.96	6.79 ± 2.66	5.91 ± 2.03	5.44 ± 1.53	9.06 ± 4.34	6.95 ± 2.54
QSC	0.323***	0.352***	0.215***	0.181***	0.251***	0.189***

The values in the second row of the table represent the Pearson's correlation coefficients between Qi-stagnation constitution (QSC) and different types of childhood maltreatment. SD, standard deviations; CTQ, total score of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form (CTQ-SF); EA, emotional abuse; PA, physical abuse; SA, sexual abuse; EN, emotional neglect; PN, physical neglect; QCS, conversion score of Qi-stagnation constitution Scale. ***p < 0.001.

individuals with no matter how low or high DERS, higher levels of QSC were associated with higher depressive scores (Low DERS: $B_{simple} = 0.143$, t = 4.788, p < 0.001; High DERS: $B_{simple} = 0.475$, t = 19.574, p < 0.001). Nevertheless, the relationship between QSC and depressive scores was stronger when DERS was high (1 SD above the mean) and weaker when DERS was low (1 SD below the mean).

We also use Hayes' (63) Model 14 of SPSS Process macro to revalidate the moderated mediation effect, controlling for gender and age. The 95% confidence interval (CI) was calculated based on 5,000 bootstrap samplings. The results showed that DERS did moderate the effect of CTQ on BDI through QSC (indirect effect = 0.100, SE = 0.010, 95% CI = [0.081, 0.120]). The conditional indirect effects of CTQ on BDI under different levels of DERS and pairwise contrasts between conditional indirect effects were depicted in **Table 5**. Pairwise contrasts between conditional indirect effects of CTQ on BDI under different levels of DERS found that the indirect effect for high DERS college students (indirect effect = 0.153, SE = 0.014, 95% CI = [0.127, 0.183]) was significantly stronger than that of low DERS college students (indirect effect = 0.046, SE = 0.010, 95% CI = [0.028, 0.067]), as zero was not contained in the 95% CI

TABLE 4 Results of moderated mediation analyses.
--

Predictor variable	QSC	BDI					
	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4			
Intercept	0.065	-1.323	-1.356	-1.655			
Control variables							
Gender	-0.203***	0.050	-0.053	-0.009			
Age (years old)	-0.022	0.067	0.078	0.085			
Independent variable							
CTQ	0.323***	0.321***	0.158***	0.100***			
Mediator							
QSC			0.508***	0.309***			
Moderator							
DERS				0.297***			
Interaction term							
$QSC \times DERS$				0.166***			
R^2	0.114	0.109	0.337	0.410			
F	89.94***	85.58***	267.23***	243.22***			

N = 2,108. Unstandardized regression coefficients are reported. CTQ, total score of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form (CTQ-SF); QCS, conversion score of the Qi-Stagnation Constitution Scale; DERS, total score of the Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale; BDI, depressive sore using Beck Depression Inventory-II. ***p < 0.001. presented in **Table 5**. That is, for individuals with higher DERS, higher childhood trauma was associated with higher depressive scores through QSC.

Testing for Gender Effects on the Moderated Mediation Model

The results on investigating the gender effects on the moderated mediation model are presented in the **Supplementary Material**. In brief, the same pattern of results derived from all samples was found in both male and female groups.







FIGURE 3 Difficulties in emotion regulation moderates the effect of Qi-Stagnation Constitution on depressive scores. QSC, conversion score of the Qi-Stagnation Constitution Scale; DERS, total score of the Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale; BDI, depressive sore using Beck Depression Inventory-II.

TABLE 5 Conditional indirect effects of CTQ on BDI under different levels of
DERS and pairwise contrasts between conditional indirect effects.

DERS	Effect	BootSE	BootLLCI	BootULCI
Effect 1 (M-1 SD)	0.046	0.010	0.028	0.067
Effect 2 (M)	0.100	0.010	0.081	0.120
Effect 3 (M + 1 SD)	0.153	0.014	0.127	0.183
Effect 2 – effect 1 Effect 3 – effect 1 Effect 3 – effect 2	0.054 0.107	0.007 0.014	0.040 0.080	0.068 0.137 0.068
	Effect 1 (M-1 SD) Effect 2 (M) Effect 3 (M + 1 SD) Effect 2 – effect 1	Effect 1 (M-1 SD) 0.046 Effect 2 (M) 0.100 Effect 3 (M + 1 SD) 0.153 Effect 2 - effect 1 0.054 Effect 3 - effect 1 0.107	Effect 1 (M-1 SD) 0.046 0.010 Effect 2 (M) 0.100 0.010 Effect 3 (M + 1 SD) 0.153 0.014 Effect 2 - effect 1 0.054 0.007 Effect 3 - effect 1 0.107 0.014	Effect 1 (M-1 SD) 0.046 0.010 0.028 Effect 2 (M) 0.100 0.010 0.081 Effect 3 (M + 1 SD) 0.153 0.014 0.127 Effect 2 - effect 1 0.054 0.007 0.040 Effect 3 - effect 1 0.107 0.014 0.080

CTQ, total score of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire-Short Form (CTQ-SF); BDI, depressive sore using Beck Depression Inventory-II; DERS, total score of the Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale; M, mean; SD, standard deviation; BootSE, standard error of bootstrap; BootLLCI, lower limit of 95% confidence interval; BootULCI, upper limit of 95% confidence interval.

DISCUSSION

The current study investigated the potential pathway between childhood maltreatment and depressive symptoms in a sample of college students by assuming a moderated mediation model as shown in **Figure 1**. Consistent with our hypotheses, we first found a positive correlation between childhood maltreatment and QSC (Hypothesis 1). We then confirmed the mediating effect of QSC on the association between childhood maltreatment and depressive symptoms (Hypothesis 2), and the moderating effect of emotion regulation on the association between QSC and depressive symptoms (Hypothesis 3). These results contribute to a better understanding of the pathways by which childhood maltreatment impacts on individual depressive symptoms in college students. Implications for depression prevention and intervention are discussed.

Consistent with our hypotheses, we found a positive correlation between childhood maltreatment and QSC, while QSC partially mediated the association between childhood maltreatment and depressive score. First, consistent with prior studies (10, 15, 69-72), our results showed that childhood maltreatment was positively associated with depressive scores in college students (Table 2). This may suggest that those who experienced more neglect or abuse during childhood had a significantly increased risk of depression and more depressive symptoms in their adulthood. Furthermore, similar to previous studies (28, 32, 34, 35), we found a significantly positive correlation between QSC and depressive scores (Table 2), confirming that QSC is a predispositional and susceptible constitution of depression. Intriguingly, we found a significant gender effect on QSC as shown in Table 2. This result is consistent with the gender differences in the studied variables using independent-samples *t*-test (see **Supplementary Table 2**), which show that the level of QSC of female participants were significantly higher than those of male participants. These results are in line with previous epidemiological investigation of TCM constitution, which indicated that females were more likely to develop QSC compared to males (73-75). From the perspective of the psychological characteristics, females are more introverted, fragile, sentimental and possibly more vulnerable to negative emotions, thus increasing the likelihood of Qi stagnation (73). Importantly, we found consistently positive correlations between the five types of childhood maltreatment and QSC (Table 3). One possible explanation by TCM is that the liver is capable of regulating Qi movement and balancing emotions. However, the liver functions can be affected by stress (32, 76-81). For example, animal studies have revealed that responses following psychosocial challenges involve transcriptional alterations in liver tissue (76); psychological stress preferentially induces a pro-inflammatory response in the liver (81). Moreover, acute stress made an immediate impact on liver lipid metabolism for rats (77). In addition, the growing evidence obtained from human studies has suggested that psychological stress can affect liver functions (78-80). A previous review (78) suggested that psychosocial stress might influence the initiation, course and outcome of liver diseases. Fukudo et al. (79) suggested that psychosocial stress may have an impact on exacerbation of alcoholic liver injury. Early clinical reports revealed that psychosocial stress significantly decreased hepatic blood flow (80). Stress (e.g., early life stress) is known as one of the most common contributors to liver Qi stagnation in TCM (52). According to the theory of TCM constitution, TCM constitution is largely determined by the congenital endowments including ethnicity and inheritance, which contribute to the specificity and relative stability of constitution. Nevertheless, this relatively stable specificity is not necessarily static. Instead, it could be dynamically changed with the effects of acquired factors, such as social and growth environment, lifestyles, emotion, diseases, and received treatments (82-84). Prof. Qi Wang, the founder of the TCM constitution, suggested that individuals with QSC may be more sensitive to stress and more easily enter into emotional frustration when they encounter more adverse life events (27). In fact, the relationships between QSC and adverse life events in childhood have already been observed by other theorists. For example, a review by Fu et al. (82) suggested that the formation of QSC was related to the adverse experiences in childhood, such as early deprivation, parental divorce, premature death of relatives, community violence and peer bullying. Providing a further empirical support for these theories, our study suggests that level of QSC tended to be higher among the individuals reporting severer childhood maltreatment. However, all the correlations were weak in nature, although QSC was significantly correlated with various types of childhood maltreatment. The correlation coefficients between QSC and various types of childhood maltreatment ranged between 0.181 and 0.352, representing small to moderate correlation between these two variables. Given more of the variability left unexplained, there must be one or more other relevant factors linked to QSC. Therefore, clinical practitioners must interpret cautiously whether these statistically significant relationships are of clinical significance in practical terms. Future studies shall pay more attention to the factors influencing the association between childhood maltreatment and QSC. This study takes a first step to explore the potential association between childhood maltreatment and level of QSC. Given childhood maltreatment may be a risk factor for biased QSC in young adulthood, it is important to develop early intervention

against childhood maltreatment to minimize the level of QSC.

More importantly, our results indicated that QSC played a mediating role between childhood maltreatment and depressive scores in college students (Table 4-Model 3). The significant mediating effect of QSC revealed that those who were subjected to severer childhood maltreatment raised their level of QSC, which, in turn, might lead to higher depressive scores. It shows that QSC acts as a risk-enhancing factor in depression among people with childhood maltreatment. Individuals with high levels of QSC show characteristics of emotional fragility and poor tolerance to mental stimulation, which may increase the vulnerability to depression (37). According to TCM theory, compared with those who do not experience an adverse life event, people who experience more adverse life events can suffer from more severe Qi stagnation in their liver, thus leading to worsened depression (32, 52). Although no research has directly shown the role of QSC in shaping the relationship between adverse childhood experiences and depression, a study by Liu et al. (32) indicated that current life stress could worsen the level of QSC thus leading to depression. As mentioned above, acquired factors may cause dynamic changes in constitution, leading to disease or health. The adjustability of constitution makes it possible to adjust and correct biased QSC, which facilitates early detection, prevention, and treatment of depression. In recent years, the theory of TCM constitution has been widely applied in clinical research and public health practices, establishing the prevention and treatment route of constitution-disease-intervention (85). TCM advocates the concept of early prevention, through reducing the level of individual QSC to prevent the development of depression. Mainstream approaches to clinical intervention for QSC include prescription, acupuncture, lifestyle modification and physical exercise, to name but a few (86). Integration of TCM constitution with western medicine is a potential alternative option toward health maintenance as well as depression prevention and alleviation (87). In general, our results may suggest childhood maltreatment as a risk factor for biased Qi-stagnation constitution, which is a potential mechanism underlying the negative effect of childhood maltreatment on depression in adulthood. This finding highlights the combined needs to strengthen family health education and carry out care interventions for maltreated individuals with high QSC to reduce risk of depression.

In addition, this study further investigated at what stage the DERS assessing emotion regulation worked regarding its moderating effect within the model. Our results revealed that DERS exerted no significant moderating effect on the association between childhood maltreatment and QSC, which may be attributed to the relatively stable TCM constitution as determined by the congenital genetic factors (27, 88). Formed in the process of individual growth and development, TCM constitution may not be easily affected by emotion regulation. However, our results indicated that the indirect effect of childhood maltreatment on depressive scores through QSC relied on the level of DERS (**Table 4**-Model 4). The result corresponded to previous studies showing that emotion regulation could predict depression severity (45, 89, 90) and that emotion dysregulation was an underlying factor affecting depressive symptoms in individuals with adverse childhood experiences (39, 40, 50, 51). The capability of emotion regulation is developed early in life within the context of interpersonal emotional exchanges between the caregiver and child (91). A considerable body of studies have indicated that growing up with experiences of maltreatment may adversely affect a child's later ability to regulate emotions (92, 93). Emotion dysregulation linked to early life adversity appears to be relevant to the onset, maintenance, and treatment of depression (94). Our results extend these previous findings by showing that the association between QSC and depression symptoms relied on the level of DERS. According to the results of simple slope analyses, compared to those with lower emotion dysregulation, individuals with childhood maltreatment who tended to have QSC under higher emotion dysregulation were more likely to be scored high on depression (Figure 3 and Table 5). It seems that emotion dysregulation may serve to strengthen the disadvantages associated with QSC, thus, causing the individuals with childhood maltreatment to suffer from depression. A plausible explanation by TCM is that Qi (vital energy), which is believed to be capable of vitalizing, propelling, and warming the body, depends on the regulation of the liver, which balances emotions (52, 95, 96). If the liver malfunctions, Qi gets blocked and induces emotional abnormalities and dysregulation, thus increasing the risk of depression (52). Our results are congruent with a prior study (32) demonstrating that rumination (a maladaptive emotion regulation strategy) may affect the relationship between QSC and depression in women. Researchers (32, 97) have proposed that maladaptive emotion regulation (e.g., rumination) will make individuals focus on their own negative emotions and negative events, reduce the efficiency of solving problems, and finally cause depression. Therefore, the level of depression is not only dependent on childhood adversity and QSC, but also on emotion regulation. Effective emotion regulation or low emotion dysregulation may serve as a protective factor against depression. The effective utilization of emotion regulation function as made possible through psychological counseling, can reduce the probability of depression in individuals with adverse childhood experiences and high QSC levels. Appropriate emotion regulation skills may mitigate the effect of QSC on depression from the perspective of clinical practice.

Limitations

Several limitations should be born in mind in this study. First, caution should be given to the interpretation of our results as the study population is restricted to general college students, which may limit the replicability of our findings to other depressive patients. The associations between childhood maltreatment, QSC, emotion regulation and depression in diverse samples such as clinically depressed patients should undergo further examinations in the future. Second, similar to previous studies (65–68), there was a gender imbalance in our sample as females outnumbered males. The skewed gender ratio toward female may be due to the fact that participants in the current study mainly came from medical universities in China, which have a gender ratio of men to women approaching 1:2. To remedy, we have controlled the effects of gender and age in our data analyses. In addition, we repeated the same analyses

with the male and female groups, respectively, to examine whether gender has an effect on our model. The results showed that the same pattern of results derived from all samples was found in both male and female groups (see Supplementary Material). Third, all variables were assessed with self-report questionnaires. Retrospective assessments rely on the accuracy of the participant's memory and may be prone to reporting bias. These could be improved in future studies through interviews with participants or using more accurate means of clinical assessment on childhood maltreatment, QSC, emotion regulation and depression instead of using self-report questionnaires. Fourth, this study only considered the overall severity of childhood maltreatment. We did not collect more detailed information about when and how long they were maltreated in childhood as well as the detailed demographic information of the participants, such as socioeconomic status (SES). Future research may benefit from collecting more comprehensive information about childhood maltreatment and demographic information to take into consideration potential confounding effects and to provide more specific conclusions about how different aspects of childhood maltreatment can contribute to depression. Fifth, this study did not consider the effects of different types of childhood maltreatment, which should be investigated in the future by recruiting more participants. Sixth, this study only examined the mediating role of QSC in the association between childhood maltreatment and depression. Since other TCM constitutions may also affect mental health, future studies should include other TCM constitutions and further analyze whether other TCM constitutions would mediate the link between childhood maltreatment and depression. Finally, the moderated mediation analyses conducted in this study are cross-sectional in nature, which limits any firm conclusions regarding causality or temporal onset of QSC, emotion dysregulation and depressive outcomes. While our results suggest the mediating role of QSC and the moderating effect of emotion regulation between childhood maltreatment and the level of depression, longitudinal prospective cohort studies and interventional studies assessing why and how childhood maltreatment can affect depression through QSC and emotion dysregulation would be informative to rule out alternative explanations of the observed effects. A longitudinal study with traumatized individuals would enable analyses of intraindividual and interindividual differences in the courses of the presumably affected variables.

CONCLUSION

This study provides empirical evidence for the mediating role of QSC between childhood maltreatment and depressive scores and the moderating effect of emotion regulation on the association between QSC and depressive scores among college students. These results contribute to a better understanding of the potential factors influencing the link between childhood maltreatment and depressive symptoms from interdisciplinary perspectives, which combined the theory of TCM constitution and psychological processes. The development of preventive strategies to ameliorate biased Qi-stagnation constitution and emotion dysregulation may help with the improvement of college students' mental health and to strengthen the resilience of individuals to depression. In consideration of the limitations of cross-sectional studies, it is essential to verify the moderated mediation model by conducting prospective cohort studies and interventional studies in the future.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets analyzed in this article are now not publicly available because the datasets are part of an unpublished database and the database is still being used for other manuscripts in preparation. Further enquires can be directed to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Research Ethics Committee of South China Normal University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HH, HP, and YS contributed to the conception and design of the study. YZ and WW collected and analyzed the data. HH and QS drafted the manuscript. HH, QS, JC, YZ, WW, BJ, JL, LM, YL, RZ, HP, and YS provided critical comments and revisions. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript for submission.

FUNDING

This work was supported in part by funding from the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant Nos. 82074219, 81873271, and 82174319), China Postdoctoral Science Foundation (Grant No. 2020M682682), Guangdong Province Philosophy and Social Science Foundation for Youths (Grant Nos. GD21YXL02 and GD20YXL01), Guangdong Basic and Applied Basic Research Foundation (Grant No. 2020A1515110737), Special Project for Research and Development in Key areas of Guangdong Province (2020B1111100011), and Guangdong Key Laboratory of TCM Pathogenesis and Prescriptions Related to Heart and Spleen (2022B1212010012).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all the participants, volunteers, teachers, and schools for their enthusiastic participation in this study. Special thanks also go to Keven Bermudez and Guanyang Zou for their help in editing and improving English language of this manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt.2022. 825198/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- World Health Organization [WHO]. The Global Burden of Disease: 2004 Update. Geneva: World Health Organization (2008).
- Liu XQ, Gao XH, Ping SQ. Post-1990s college students academic sustainability: the role of negative emotions, achievement goals, and selfefficacy on academic performance. *Sustainability*. (2019) 11:775. doi: 10.3390/ su11030775
- Liu XQ, Ping SQ, Gao WJ. Changes in undergraduate students' psychological well-being as they experience university life. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2019) 16:2864. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16162864
- Sun XJ, Niu GF, You ZQ, Zhou ZK, Tang Y. Gender, negative life events and coping on different stages of depression severity: a cross-sectional study among Chinese university students. J Affect Disord. (2017) 209:177–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.11.025
- Wang MY, Liu J, Wu X, Li L, Hao XD, Shen Q, et al. The prevalence of depression among students in Chinese universities over the past decade: A meta-analysis. J Hainan Med Univ. (2020) 26:44–50.
- American Psychiatric Association [APA]. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. Virginia: American Psychiatric Association (2013). p.1000.
- Chesney E, Goodwin GM, Fazel S. Risks of all-cause and suicide mortality in mental disorders: a meta-review. *World Psychiatry*. (2014) 13:153–60. doi: 10.1002/wps.20128
- Nicholas J, Huckvale K, Larsen ME, Basu A, Batterham PJ, Shaw F, et al. Issues for eHealth in psychiatry: results of an expert survey. *J Med Internet Res.* (2017) 19:e55. doi: 10.2196/jmir.6957
- Sanmartín C, Plano D, Font M, Palop JA. Selenium and clinical trials: new therapeutic evidence for multiple diseases. *Curr Med Chem.* (2011) 18:4635– 50. doi: 10.2174/092986711797379249
- Nelson J, Klumparendt A, Doebler P, Ehring T. Childhood maltreatment and characteristics of adult depression: meta-analysis. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2017) 210:96–104. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.115.180752
- Gilbert R, Widom CS, Browne K, Fergusson D, Webb E, Janson S. Burden and consequences of child maltreatment in high-income countries. *Lancet.* (2009) 373:68–81. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61706-7
- Perez-Fuentes G, Olfson M, Villegas L, Morcillo C, Wang S, Blanco C. Prevalence and correlates of child sexual abuse: a national study. *Compr Psychiatry*. (2013) 54:16–27. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2012.05.010
- Fu H, Feng T, Qin J, Wang T, Wu X, Cai Y, et al. Reported prevalence of childhood maltreatment among Chinese college students: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One.* (2018) 13:e0205808. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0205808
- Takizawa R, Maughan B, Arseneault L. Adult health outcomes of childhood bullying victimization: evidence from a five-decade longitudinal British birth cohort. Am J Psychiatry. (2014) 171:777–84. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2014. 13101401
- Infurna MR, Reichl C, Parzer P, Schimmenti A, Bifulco A, Kaess M. Associations between depression and specific childhood experiences of abuse and neglect: a meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. (2016) 190:47–55. doi: 10.1016/j. jad.2015.09.006
- Nanni V, Uher R, Danese A. Childhood maltreatment predicts unfavorable course of illness and treatment outcome in depression: a meta-analysis. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2012) 169:141–51. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.1102 0335
- Barnes AJ, Lafavor TL, Cutuli JJ, Zhang L, Oberg CN, Masten AS. Health and self-regulation among school-age children experiencing family homelessness. *Children*. (2017) 4:70. doi: 10.3390/children4080070
- Cicchetti D, Rogosch FA, Lynch M, Holt KD. Resilience in maltreated children: processes leading to adaptive outcome. *Dev Psychopathol.* (1993) 5:629–47. doi: 10.1017/s0954579400006209
- Roberts H, Watkins ER, Wills AJ. Cueing an unresolved personal goal causes persistent ruminative self-focus: an experimental evaluation of control theories of rumination. *J Behav Ther Exp Psychiatry*. (2013) 44:449–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jbtep.2013.05.004
- Chen SL, Liu YT, Hsueh KC, Tang PL. Body constitution of traditional Chinese medicine caused a significant effect on depression in adult women. *Complement Ther Clin Pract.* (2021) 42:101288. doi: 10.1016/j.ctcp.2020. 101288

- You H, Zhang T, Feng W, Gai Y. Association of TCM body constitution with insulin resistance and risk of diabetes in impaired glucose regulation patients. BMC Complement Altern Med. (2017) 17:459. doi: 10.1186/s12906-017-1964-0
- Sun YZ, Zhao Y, Xue SA, Chen JP. The theory development of traditional Chinese medicine constitution: a review. J Tradit Chin Med Sci. (2018) 5:16– 28. doi: 10.1016/j.jtcms.2018.02.007
- Wang J, Li Y, Ni C, Zhang H, Li L, Wang Q. Cognition research and constitutional classification in Chinese medicine. *Am J Chin Med.* (2011) 39:651–60. doi: 10.1142/S0192415X11009093
- Hou SJ, Zhang J, Li P, Han JW, Yao HQ, Sun RR, et al. Research on TCM constitution classification based on facial color and texture features. *Biomed Res India*. (2017) 28:4645–50.
- Yu W, Ma M, Chen X, Min J, Li L, Zheng Y, et al. Traditional Chinese medicine and constitutional medicine in China, Japan and Korea: a comparative study. *Am J Chin Med.* (2017) 45:1–12. doi: 10.1142/S0192415X1750001X
- Wang J, Li YS, Wang Q. Identification of Chinese medicine constitution in public health services. *Chin J Integr Med.* (2019) 25:550–3. doi: 10.1007/ s11655-016-2740-6
- 27. Wang Q. Classification and diagnosis basis of nine basic constitutions in Chinese medicine. J Beijing Univ Tradit Chin Med. (2005) 28:1–7.
- Yang HX, Yu YH, Qiao MQ. Relationship between depression and nine kinds of constitution of traditional Chinese medicine. *China J Tradit Chin Med Pharm.* (2016) 31:2048–50.
- 29. Wang Q. On the discovery of nine types of constitution of Chinese people, In: Wang Q editor. Proceedings of the 8th Chinese Medicine Constitution Seminar of Chinese Medicine Association and the Symposium of Chinese Medicine Health State Cognition and Constitution Identification; 2010 July 1, Qingdao. Shandong: China Association of Chinese Medicine (2010). p. 1–9.
- Lin F, Guo LL, Wang J. Expounding the functions Qi in TCM based on the effect of mitochondria. *Chin J Integr Tradit West Med.* (2014) 34:903–6. doi: 10.7661/CJIM.2014.08.0903
- Okitsu R, Iwasaki K, Monma Y, Takayama S, Kaneko S, Shen G, et al. Development of a questionnaire for the diagnosis of Qi stagnation. *Complement Ther Med.* (2012) 20:207–17. doi: 10.1016/j.ctim.2011.12.005
- 32. Liu M, Jiang Y, Wang X, Liu Q, Wu H. The role of rumination and stressful life events in the relationship between the qi stagnation constitution and depression in women: a moderated mediation model. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med.* (2017) 2017:7605893. doi: 10.1155/2017/7605893
- Liu MF, Xu YT, Peng DD, Wu H. Qi stagnation constitution and depression among women: a longitudinal moderated mediation. *Psychol. Explor.* (2020) 40:472–8.
- Liang X, Wang Q, Jiang Z, Li Z, Zhang M, Yang P, et al. Clinical research linking Traditional Chinese Medicine constitution types with diseases: a literature review of 1639 observational studies. *J Tradit Chin Med.* (2020) 40:690–702. doi: 10.19852/j.cnki.jtcm.2020.04.019
- 35. Chen LL, Zhu YB, Wang Q, Tang F, Shi HM, Zhang XM, et al. Relationship between personality characteristics, constitutions of traditional chinese medicine and depression in undergraduate. *Chin Gen Pract.* (2016) 19:4124–9. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1007-9572.2016. 33.021
- Yao H, Mo S, Wang J, Li Y, Wang CZ, Wan JY, et al. Genome-Wide DNA Methylation Profiles of Phlegm-Dampness Constitution. *Cell Physiol Biochem*. (2018) 45:1999–2008. doi: 10.1159/000487976
- Sun PC, Hu Y, Fang YN, Li QR, Li ZQ, Wang J. Clinical thinking by TCM master WANG Qi to treat diseases through identifying constitution of qi stagnation. *China J Tradit Chin Med Pharm.* (2020) 35:5633–5.
- Sun Y, Liu P, Zhao Y, Jia L, He Y, Xue SA, et al. Characteristics of TCM constitutions of adult Chinese women in Hong Kong and identification of related influencing factors: a cross-sectional survey. J Transl Med. (2014) 12:140. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-12-140
- Crow T, Cross D, Powers A, Bradley B. Emotion dysregulation as a mediator between childhood emotional abuse and current depression in a low-income African-American sample. *Child Abus Negl.* (2014) 38:1590–8. doi: 10.1016/j. chiabu.2014.05.015
- Hopfinger L, Berking M, Bockting CL, Ebert DD. Emotion regulation mediates the effect of childhood trauma on depression. J Affect Disord. (2016) 198:189– 97. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.03.050

- Cole PM, Michel MK, Teti LO. The development of emotion regulation and dysregulation: a clinical perspective. *Monogr Soc Res Child Dev.* (1994) 59:73–100. doi: 10.2307/1166139
- Koole SL. The psychology of emotion regulation: an integrative review. Cogn Emot. (2009) 23:4–41. doi: 10.1080/02699930802619031
- Brockmeyer T, Bents H, Holtforth MG, Pfeiffer N, Herzog W, Friederich HC. Specific emotion regulation impairments in major depression and anorexia nervosa. *Psychiat Res.* (2012) 200:550–3. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2012.07.009
- 44. Salehi A. The role of cognitive emotion regulation strategies in the prediction of depression. *Knowl. Res. Appl. Psychol.* (2017) 16:108–17.
- Berking M, Wirtz CM, Svaldi J, Hofmann SG. Emotion regulation predicts symptoms of depression over five years. *Behav Res Ther.* (2014) 57:13–20. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2014.03.003
- Larsen JK, Vermulst AA, Geenen R, van Middendorp H, English T, Gross JJ, et al. Emotion regulation in adolescence:a prospective study of expressive suppression and depressive symptoms. J Early Adolesc. (2013) 33:184–200. doi: 10.1177/0272431611432712
- Ebert DD, Hopfinger L, Bockting CLH, Berking M. Emotion regulation protects against recurrence of depressive symptoms following inpatient care for major depressive disorder. *Behav Ther.* (2017) 48:739–49. doi: 10.1016/j. beth.2017.03.003
- Radkovsky A, McArdle JJ, Bockting CL, Berking M. Successful emotion regulation skills application predicts subsequent reduction of symptom severity during treatment of major depressive disorder. J Consult Clin Psychol. (2014) 82:248–62. doi: 10.1037/a0035828
- McLaughlin K, Rodman A, Pine D. Neurobiological markers of resilience to depression and anxiety following childhood maltreatment: the role of neural circuits supporting the cognitive control of emotion. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2019) 86:464–73. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2019.04.033
- Demir Z, Boge K, Fan Y, Hartling C, Harb MR, Hahn E, et al. The role of emotion regulation as a mediator between early life stress and posttraumatic stress disorder, depression and anxiety in Syrian refugees. *Transl Psychiatry*. (2020) 10:371. doi: 10.1038/s41398-020-01062-3
- Huh HJ, Kim KH, Lee HK, Chae JH. The relationship between childhood trauma and the severity of adulthood depression and anxiety symptoms in a clinical sample: the mediating role of cognitive emotion regulation strategies. *J Affect Disord*. (2017) 213:44–50. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.02.009
- 52. Liu ZW. Essentials of Chinese Medicine. London: Springer (2009).
- Su LY, Dai HF, Zhang WY, Zhao W, Dong MQ. Analysis of autonomic nerve function of qi-stagnation constitution in traditional Chinese medicine. *Mod J Integr Tradit Chin West Med.* (2013) 22:2084–7.
- Su LY, Dai HF, Zhang WY, Zou JC, Zhao W, Huang Y, et al. Study on correlation of qi-stagnation constitution respectively with autonomic-nerve function and anxiety /depression. *Chin Arch Tradit Chin Med.* (2014) 32:553– 5.
- Bernstein DP, Stein JA, Newcomb MD, Walker E, Pogge D, Ahluvalia T, et al. Development and validation of a brief screening version of the childhood trauma questionnaire. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2003) 27:169–90. doi: 10.1016/ s0145-2134(02)00541-0
- Zhao XF, Zhang YL, Li LF, Zhou YF, Li HZ, Yang SC. Reliability and validity of the Chinese version of childhood trauma questionnaire. *Chin J Clin Rehabil.* (2005) 9:105–7.
- Zhu YB, Wang Q, Shi HM, Yu XH. Formulation and evaluation on short version of Chinese medical constitution questionnaire with 30 items. *J Tradit Chin Med.* (2018) 59:1554–9. doi: 10.13288/j.11-2166/r.2018.18.006
- Zhu YB, Shi HM, Yu XH. Comparison of the performance of three versions of constitution of Chinese medicine questionnaire for healthy populations. *Chin Gen Pract.* (2019) 22:4381–7. doi: 10.12114/j.issn.1007-9572.2018.00.320
- Gratz KL, Roemer L. Multidimensional assessment of emotion regulation and dysregulation: development, factor structure, and initial validation of the difficulties in emotion regulation scale. *J Psychopathol Behav.* (2004) 26:41–54. doi: 10.1023/b:joba.0000007455.08539.94
- Li J, Han ZR, Gao MM, Sun X, Ahemaitijiang N. Psychometric properties of the Chinese version of the Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale (DERS): factor structure, reliability, and validity. *Psychol Assess.* (2018) 30:e1–9. doi: 10.1037/pas0000582
- 61. Beck AT, Steer RA, Brown GK. *Manual For the Beck depression inventory-II*. San Antonio: Psychol Corp (1996).

- Sun XY, Li YX, Yu CQ, Li LM. Reliability and validity of depression scales of Chinese version: a systematic review. *Zhong Hua Liu Xing Bing Xue Za Zhi*. (2017) 38:110–6. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0254-6450.2017.01.021
- Hayes AF. PROCESS: A Versatile Computational Tool for Observed Variable Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Modeling. White Paper. Columbus, OH: The Ohio State University (2012).
- Holmbeck GN. Toward terminological, conceptual, and statistical clarity in the study of mediators and moderators: examples from the child-clinical and pediatric psychology literatures. J Consult Clin Psychol. (1997) 65:599–610. doi: 10.1037//0022-006x.65.4.599
- Dahlin M, Joneborg N, Runeson B. Stress and depression among medical students: a cross-sectional study. *Med Educ.* (2005) 39:594–604. doi: 10.1111/ j.1365-2929.2005.02176.x
- 66. Bert F, Lo Moro G, Corradi A, Acampora A, Agodi A, Brunelli L, et al. Prevalence of depressive symptoms among Italian medical students: the multicentre cross-sectional "PRIMES" study. *PLoS One.* (2020) 15:e0231845. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0231845
- Mostafa A, Hoque R, Mostafa M, Rana MM, Mostafa F. Empathy in undergraduate medical students of bangladesh: psychometric analysis and differences by gender, academic year, and specialty preferences. *ISRN Psychiatry*. (2014) 2014:375439. doi: 10.1155/2014/375439
- Wen DL, Ma XD, Li HH, Liu ZF, Xian BS, Liu Y. Empathy in Chinese medical students: psychometric characteristics and differences by gender and year of medical education. *BMC Med. Educ.* (2013) 13:130. doi: 10.1186/1472-6920-13-130
- Lee MA, Song R. Childhood abuse, personality traits, and depressive symptoms in adulthood. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2017) 65:194–203. doi: 10.1016/ j.chiabu.2017.02.009
- Poole JC, Dobson KS, Pusch D. Childhood adversity and adult depression: the protective role of psychological resilience. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2017) 64:89–100. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2016.12.012
- Stern KR, Thayer ZM. Adversity in childhood and young adulthood predicts young adult depression. *Int J Public Health.* (2019) 64:1069–74. doi: 10.1007/ s00038-019-01273-6
- Wang JJ, He XL, Chen YS, Lin CW. Association between childhood trauma and depression: a moderated mediation analysis among normative Chinese college students. *J Affect Disord.* (2020) 276:519–24. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.07. 051
- Wang Q, Zhu YB. Epidemiological investigation of constitutional types of Chinese medicine in general population: base on 21,948 epidemiological investigation data of nine provinces in China. *China J Tradit Chin Med Pharm.* (2009) 24:7–12.
- Wen C, Collelo J. The Epidemiological Investigation of Constitution in Chinese Medicine in 2168 People in regions of Jiangxi Province. J. Sichuan Tradit Chin Med. (2009) 27:61–3.
- Chen RD, Yang ZM, Lin YZ, Yang XB, Wei FN, Li XY, et al. Investigation and analysis on TCM constitutional types of 6525 cases. *J Nanjing TCM Univ.* (2009) 25:104–6.
- Oster M, Murani E, Ponsuksili S, D'Eath RB, Turner SP, Evans G, et al. Hepatic expression patterns in psychosocially high-stressed pigs suggest mechanisms following allostatic principles. *Physiol Behav.* (2014) 128:159–65. doi: 10.1016/ j.physbeh.2014.02.014
- 77. Gao XL, Zeng YE, Liu SQ, Wang SL. Acute stress show great influences on liver function and the expression of hepatic genes associated with lipid metabolism in rats. *Lipids Health Dis.* (2013) 12:118. doi: 10.1186/1476-511x-12-118
- Chida Y, Sudo N, Kubo C. Does stress exacerbate liver diseases? J Gastroenterol Hepatol. (2006) 21:202–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2006.0 4110.x
- Fukudo S, Suzuki J, Tanaka Y, Iwahashi S, Nomura T. Impact of stress on alcoholic liver injury; a histopathological study. J Psychosom Res. (1989) 33:515–21. doi: 10.1016/0022-3999(89)90013-5
- Hirose S, Hirayama C, Ikemi Y. The influence of emotional stress on the liver blood flow. *Kyushu J Med Sci.* (1961) 12:319–23.
- Spiers JG, Steiger N, Khadka A, Juliani J, Hill AF, Lavidis NA, et al. Repeated acute stress modulates hepatic inflammation and markers of macrophage polarisation in the rat. *Biochimie.* (2021) 180:30–42. doi: 10.1016/j.biochi.2020. 10.014

- Fu JY. Health preserving of constitution in traditional Chinese medicine health preserving of Qi stagnation. *Fam. Tradit. Chin. Med.* (2012) 19:5–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jgg.2017.01.001
- Ding RG, Zhang XP. Discussing the specificity of traditional Chinese medicine constitution. *Hebei Tradit Chin Med Pharmacol.* (1995) 10:13–4.
- Wang Q. Traditional Chinese Medicine Constitutionology. Beijing: China Medical Science Press (1995).
- Wang J, Wang T, Li YS, Zheng YF, Li LR, Wang Q. Research on constitution of Chinese medicine and implementation of translational medicine. *Chin J Integr Med.* (2015) 21:389–93. doi: 10.1007/s11655-014-2019-8
- Li Q, Wang J, Bai M, Li Z, Wang Q. Research progress on qi-stagnation of traditional Chinese medicine. *Glob Tradit Chin Med.* (2020) 13: 157–62.
- Li LR, Yao HQ, Wang J, Li YS, Wang Q. The role of chinese medicine in health maintenance and disease prevention: application of constitution theory. *Am J Chin Med.* (2019) 47:495–506. doi: 10.1142/S0192415x1950 0253
- Li L, Feng J, Yao H, Xie L, Chen Y, Yang L, et al. Gene expression signatures for phlegm-dampness constitution of Chinese medicine. *Sci China Life Sci.* (2017) 60:105–7. doi: 10.1007/s11427-016-0212-9
- Wang YP, Yi JY, He JC, Chen GN, Li LY, Yang YL, et al. Cognitive emotion regulation strategies as predictors of depressive symptoms in women newly diagnosed with breast cancer. *Psycho Oncol.* (2014) 23:93–9. doi: 10.1002/pon. 3376
- Dong LD, Li YY, Bai MH, Cheng JJ, Zhang Y, Bai F, et al. Analysis and regulation network research of lncRNA and mRNA expression profiles in subjects with the qi-stagnation constitution. *China J Tradit Chin Med Pharm.* (2021) 36:763–7.
- Feldman R, Greenbaum CW. Affect regulation and synchrony in mother infant play as precursors to the development of symbolic competence. *Infant Ment Health J.* (1997) 18:4–23. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-0355(199721)18:13.0. CO;2-R
- 92. Cole PM, Martin SE, Dennis TA. Emotion regulation as a scientific construct: methodological challenges and directions for child development

research. *Child Dev.* (2004) 75:317–33. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2004.00 673.x

- Alink LR, Cicchetti D, Kim J, Rogosch FA. Mediating and moderating processes in the relation between maltreatment and psychopathology: motherchild relationship quality and emotion regulation. J Abnorm Child Psych. (2009) 37:831–43. doi: 10.1007/s10802-009-9314-4
- Berking M, Wupperman P. Emotion regulation and mental health: recent findings, current challenges, and future directions. *Curr Opin Psychiatry*. (2012) 25:128–34. doi: 10.1097/YCO.0b013e3283503669
- Scheid V. Depression, constraint, and the liver: (Dis)assembling the treatment of emotion-related disorders in Chinese medicine. *Cult Med Psychiatry*. (2013) 37:30–58. doi: 10.1007/s11013-012-9290-y
- Chen TS, Chen PS. The liver in traditional Chinese medicine. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. (2010) 13:437–42. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.1998.tb00662.x
- Nolen-Hoeksema S, Wisco BE, Lyubomirsky S. Rethinking Rumination. Perspect Psychol Sci. (2008) 3:400–24. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-6924.2008.00088.x

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Huang, Song, Chen, Zeng, Wang, Jiao, Lin, Li, Zhang, Ma, Pan and Shi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



The Italian Version of the International Trauma Questionnaire: Symptom and Network Structure of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder in a Sample of Late Adolescents Exposed to a Natural Disaster

Rodolfo Rossi¹, Valentina Socci²*, Francesca Pacitti², Claudia Carmassi³, Alessandro Rossi², Giorgio Di Lorenzo^{1,4} and Philip Hyland⁵

¹ Department of Systems Medicine, Tor Vergata University of Rome, Rome, Italy, ² Department of Biotechnological and Applied Clinical Sciences, University of L'Aquila, L'Aquila, Italy, ³ Department of Clinical and Experimental Medicine, University of Pisa, Pisa, Italy, ⁴ IRCCS Fondazione Santa Lucia, Rome, Italy, ⁵ Department of Psychology, Maynooth University, Maynooth, Ireland

The 11th revision of the International Classification of Diseases has endorsed substantial changes in Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) and has introduced Complex PTSD (cPTSD). The objective of this study was to assess the symptom and network structure of PTSD and cPTSD using the International Trauma Questionnaire- Italian version (ITQ) and the prevalence of PTSD and cPTSD in a community sample of late adolescents enriched with exposure to a destructive earthquake. A 1,010 high school students participated to the study. Confirmatory Factor Analysis supports that a six first-order correlated factors was the best fitting model of ICD-11 PTSD/cPTSD. The network analysis supports a clear separation between core PTSD symptoms and disturbances in self-organization (DSO) symptoms, avoidance, and negative self-concept were the most central items. The prevalence of PTSD and cPTSD was 9.11 and 4.06%, respectively. Female participants reported higher rates of both PTSD and cPTSD. This is the first study to report on ICD-11 PTSD and cPTSD rates on an Italian adolescence community sample. Consistent with other community samples, we found higher rates of PTSD compared to cPTSD. The results confirmed the factorial validity of the ITQ. The network structure highlights the importance of negative self-concept in cPTSD and avoidance in PTSD.

Keywords: PTSD, ICD-11 cPTSD, International Trauma Questionnaire, factor structure, network analysis

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Myriam Verena Thoma, University of Zurich, Switzerland

Reviewed by:

Laura Muzi, University of Perugia, Italy Seth Davin Norrholm, Wayne State University, United States

*Correspondence:

Valentina Socci valentinasocci@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

> Received: 21 January 2022 Accepted: 06 May 2022 Published: 25 May 2022

Citation:

Rossi R, Socci V, Pacitti F, Carmassi C, Rossi A, Di Lorenzo G and Hyland P (2022) The Italian Version of the International Trauma Questionnaire: Symptom and Network Structure of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder in a Sample of Late Adolescents Exposed to a Natural Disaster. Front. Psychiatry 13:859877. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.859877

INTRODUCTION

Exposure to traumatic experiences (TE) is common in the general population with 70% of people globally reporting at least one potential TE in their lifetime, and 30% reporting four or more TEs (1). The prevalence of different types of TE varies across regions of the world, and across other sociodemographic variables. In developed countries, the most frequent TEs are the sudden death of a loved one, technological accidents (in particular, motor vehicle accidents), and crime-related TE such as being robbed (1). Exposure to TE is associated with a wide range of adverse mental health outcomes, and it is a criterion for a diagnosis of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD). Interpersonal TEs, particularly those that are repeated and/or occur early in life are especially harmful TEs and are associated with a plethora of serious adverse mental health and functional outcomes.

The 11th revision of the World Health Organization's (WHO) International Classification of Diseases (ICD-11) included substantial changes to the "Disorders Specifically Associated with Stress" section, including a revised definition of PTSD and the introduction of Complex PTSD (cPTSD; (2)). In the ICD-11, PTSD is focused on a small set of core trauma symptoms grouped into three clusters (re-experiencing in the here and now, avoidance of traumatic reminders, and a sense of threat) (3). cPTSD includes the three symptom clusters of PTSD, plus three symptom clusters of Affective Dysregulation, Negative Self-Concept, and Disturbances in Relationships. Collectively, these three clusters are termed Disturbance in Self-Organization (DSO; (4)). DSO symptoms were selected to capture the pervasive disturbances that commonly arise from enduring interpersonal TEs from which escape or avoidance is difficult or impossible (5). In this respect, the Psychodynamic Diagnostic Manual (PMD-2; (6)) conceptualizes Complex PTSD as a developmental trauma disorder, emphasizing how traumatic events between birth and adulthood might compromise the optimal development of the individual's identity, self-worth, personality, emotional regulation and self-regulation. While the type of TE is not used to make a differential diagnosis, PTSD and cPTSD typically differ in the types of TE that precipitate their development. TD more often associated with interpersonal traumas and early life traumas, whereas PTSD is more often associated with non-interpersonal and later life traumas (7, 8). One key feature of a TE that could inform on the pathogenetic potential is the presence of the intention to harm. Interpersonal TEs such as abuse, violence, neglect, or aggression are, by definition, deliberate acts aiming to harm an individual. On the other hand, TEs such as natural disasters or accidents are events that occur either without any input from other person or any deliberate motive to cause of harm. An interesting feature of TEs that include an intention to cause harm is that they tend to be inter-related and are therefore likely to co-occur over an extended period of time (9).

The International Trauma Questionnaire (ITQ) (10) is a selfreport measure developed to capture all elements of the ICD-11 diagnoses of PTSD and cPTSD. The psychometric properties of the ITQ have been extensively investigated in community (10–12) and clinical (13, 14) samples. Despite the widespread use and support for the psychometric properties of the ITQ (for a review see Redican et al. (15)), most of this empirical support comes from the original English version of the ITQ. An explicit goal of the revisions to the ICD-11 was to maximize the global applicability of these diagnoses. Thus, it is essential that research be conducted to assess the psychometric properties of the translations of the ITQ.

This study has two main objectives. The first aim is to assess the factor and symptom structure model of the Italian version of the ITQ using a factor and network analysis. In recent years a number of studies have addressed the network structure of DSM-IV- and DSM-5-defined PTSD (16). Evidence regarding ICD-11 PTSD and cPTSD is more limited; however, converging evidence supports a clear separation between the core PTSD and the DSO symptoms (17), and negative self-concept items as central nodes in cPTSD (18, 19). Results regarding centrality in PTSD is more mixed, with hyperarousal (20) and re-experiencing (21) being reported more frequently as central nodes. Our aim is to extend these findings on a non-clinical sample of late adolescents. Our first hypothesis is that a clear factorial separation between core PTSD symptoms and DSO symptoms will be found in our sample, consistent with previous works.

The second purpose is to assess the prevalence of PTSD and cPTSD in a sample of Italian late adolescents exposed 10 years earlier to a destructive earthquake together with any gender differences. This population is characterized by collective exposure to an unintentional traumatic event in the form of a natural disaster during a critical developmental period. In this respect, we sought to extend upon current knowledge about the type of traumatic events that are associated with meeting the diagnostic criteria for PTSD and cPTSD by assessing the association between intentional and unintentional TEs with PTSD and cPTSD. In particular, the secondary hypothesis that intentional TEs would be more strongly associated with meeting criteria for cPTSD compared to unintentional TEs, which include the exposure to a natural disaster. Our expected results are that intentional TEs would exert a more relevant impact on PTSD and DSO symptoms, compared to unintentional TE.

METHODS

Participants and Procedure

The participants in the present study were enrolled in the first time point of the Dual Trauma study at the University of L'Aquila. Dual trauma is a longitudinal study started in 2019 that focused on a target population comprising all of the late adolescents and young adults attending the last year of high school in the province of L'Aquila, central Italy, during the academic year 2019–2020. The estimated target population size is 2000. This population is of particular interest as virtually all of the population from L'Aquila and its surroundings, estimated half of the total target population, were directly exposed to the 2009 earthquake when they were between 7 and 10 years old. Most of the remaining target population coming from the surroundings of Avezzano and Sulmona were not directly exposed to this event. Inclusion criteria were attending the last year of high school and being > 18 years old at the time of the enrollment. Enrollment was limited to students > 18 who were chosen in order to not introduce any selection bias deriving from parental consensus. Exclusion criteria included being on supported teaching as a proxy of mild to severe cognitive impairment.

A clustered sampling was conducted based on geographical area (L'Aquila, Avezzano and Sulmona), school and class. In the area, 12 out of 14 high schools were identified and invited to participate; two schools did not provide consent to participate. In the remaining ten schools, 50 to 100% of the last-year classes were allowed to participate by the headmasters. Individual written consent was provided by the participants. Questionnaires were collected in paper and pencil form by the University staff.

The local ethics committee at the University of L'Aquila provided approval to the study (research number 49, 26/09/2019). This study adheres to the declaration of Helsinki.

Recruitment and data collection took place between November 2019 and January 2020. A total of 1010 adolescents participated in the study, 506 (50.15%) males, mean age 18.7 (sd = 0.65). Geographical area was distributed as follows: 418 (41.39%) from L'Aquila surroundings, 306 (30.30%) from Avezzano surroundings and 286 (28.32%) from Sulmona surroundings. 694 (68.71%) participants reported being directly exposed to the 2009 central Italy earthquake.

Of the 1,010 initial sample, eighteen participants had complete missing data on the ITQ and were thus excluded. The final analysis was performed on 992 subjects.

Measures

The International Trauma Exposure Measure (ITEM)

The ITEM (22) is a 21-items checklist capturing traumatic life events, and their associated features, in a manner consistent with the ICD-11 description of a TE. The ITEM measures exposure to TEs across three developmental periods (childhood, adolescence, adulthood). The ITEM is freely available at https: //www.traumameasuresglobal.com to the research and clinical communities and may be used without permission. For the purpose of this study, the following modifications were introduced: for each TE, the respondent was asked to rate whether the TE had occurred during childhood, adolescence, or in the last 6 months. Each TE was classified as intentional or unintentional by two independent psychiatrists with expertise in trauma-related research that were blind to all the study objectives and variables. The results were checked and discussed with the original authors of the ITEM. During the classification process, three TE were excluded because deemed not pertinent as intentional nor unintentional TE. Full ITEM questions, their lifetime endorsement by participants, and their classification as intentional or unintentional are reported in **Table 1**.

The Italian Version of the International Trauma Questionnaire

The ITQ (10) is a self-report questionnaire measuring all aspects of the ICD-11 diagnostic criteria for PTSD and cPTSD. The ITQ first asks a participant to identify their most distressing traumatic event and how long ago this event occurred. Participants are then instructed to answer all questions in relation to that event. The ITQ includes six items to measure each of the PTSD symptoms across the clusters of Re-experiencing in the Here and Now, Avoidance of internal and external reminders, and Sense of Current Threat (Hyperarousal). Participants report how bothered they have been by each symptom over the past month. Additionally, participants indicated how much these symptoms have interfered with their ability to function in life in the past month across three items. These are six items measuring each of the DSO symptoms across the clusters of Affective Dysregulation, Negative Self-Concept, and Disturbances in Relationships (Relational problems). Participants answer these questions in terms of how they typically feel, think about

TABLE 1 Mean scores of ITQ items.												
Factor	Variable	0 = Not at all	1 = A little	2 = Moderately	3 = Quite a lot	4 = Very much	Total mean	Std.				
PTSD												
Re- experiencing	Re1 – Dreams	463 (47.1%)	266 (27.0%)	138 (14.0%)	79 (8.0%)	38 (3.9%)	0.99	1.15				
	Re2 – Nightmares	338 (34.3%)	248 (25.2%)	176 (17.9%)	152 (15.4%)	71 (7.2%)	1.40	1.28				
Avoidance	Av1 – Avoidance – internal	372 (37.8%)	233 (23.7%)	186 (18.9%)	118 (12.0%)	74 (7.5%)	1.34	1.29				
	Av2 – Avoidance – external	427 (43.4%)	205 (20.8%)	157 (15.9%)	119 (12.1%)	77 (7.8%)	1.28	1.33				
Hyperarousal	Hyp1 – Hyperarousal	463 (47.1%)	250 (25.4%)	127 (12.9%)	94 (9.6%)	50 (5.1%)	1.05	1.21				
	Hyp2 – Easily startled	504 (51.3%)	209 (21.3%)	139 (14.2%)	80 (8.1%)	50 (5.1%)	1.00	1.21				
DSO												
Emotional Dysregulation	Dys1 – Difficult calm down	156 (15.8%)	284 (28.7%)	263 (26.6%)	201 (20.3%)	85 (8.6%)	1.83	1.18				
	Dys2 – Numbing	519 (52.5%)	216 (21.8%)	126 (12.7%)	82 (8.3%)	46 (4.7%)	0.97	1.20				
Negative Self Concept	Nsc1 – Feel like a failure	723 (73.1%)	132 (13.3%)	66 (6.7%)	38 (3.8%)	30 (3.0%)	0.54	1.01				
	Nsc2 – Worthlessness	729 (73.7%)	139 (14.1%)	58 (5.9%)	39 (3.9%)	24 (2.4%)	0.51	0.98				
Relational problems	Rel1 – Feel cut from others	678 (68.6%)	190 (19.2%)	56 (5.7%)	46 (4.7%)	18 (1.8%)	0.55	0.95				
	Rel2 - Difficult stay close to others	577 (58.3%)	238 (24.1%)	104 (10.5%)	53 (5.4%)	17 (1.7%)	0.72	1.00				

themselves, and relate to others. There are also three items used to measure the extent to which these symptoms impair functioning in life over the last month. All items are based on a five-point Likert scale that ranges from 0 (Not at all) to 4 (Extremely).

A diagnosis of PTSD requires that a person was trauma exposed, the endorsement (defined as a score ≥ 2 on the Likert scale) of at least one of two symptoms in each one of the three symptoms cluster plus endorsement (defined as a score ≥ 2) of at least one indicator of functional impairment. A diagnosis of cPTSD requires the endorsement of one of two symptoms from each of the three PTSD symptoms clusters and one of two symptoms from each of the three Disturbances in Self-Organization (DSO) clusters. The functional impairment must be identified where at least one indicator of functional impairment is endorsed related to the PTSD symptoms, and one indicator of functional impairment is endorsed related to the DSO symptoms. An individual can receive either a diagnosis of PTSD or cPTSD, not both. In our sample, reliability was $\alpha = 0.88$ for the PTSD subscale.

The translation process followed standard back-translation procedures, with two psychiatrists providing a draft English-to-Italian translation, a third psychiatrist produced a joint version of the two drafts, and a native English speaker provided a backtranslated version that was approved by the authors. The English and Italian versions of the ITQ are freely downloadable at https: //www.traumameasuresglobal.com/itq.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The weighted least squares (WLS) Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA) was conducted to evaluate the fit of four different models already presented in the literature. WLS provides accurate parameter estimates, standard error and test statistics for ordinal indicators. Based on previous findings (10, 11, 23-29), we specified four different models of PTSD and cPTSD factor structure. Model 1 is a one-factor model where all of the ITO items loaded onto a single cPTSD factor. Model 2 is a correlated six-factor (i.e., Re-experiencing in the Here and Now, Avoidance, Sense of Current Threat, Affective Dysregulation, Negative Self-Concept, and Disturbances in Relationships) model. Model 3 is a second-order model with six first-order factors and one second-order factor of cPTSD. Model 4 is a two factor secondorder model with a second-order PTSD factor and a secondorder DSO factor. Model fit for the CFA was evaluated using: a non-significant chi-square result indicates good model fit; Comparative Fit Index (CFI) and Tucker Lewis Index (TLI) values \geq 0.90 and \geq 0.95 indicate adequate and excellent fit, respectively (30); and Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA) values \leq 0.08 and \leq 0.06 indicate adequate and excellent fit. CFA analysis was performed using STATA® v.16 (StataCorp (31)).

A network analysis on the 12 ITQ symptoms items was conducted using an Extended Bayesian Information Criterion Graphical Least Absolute Shrinkage and Selection Operator (EBICglasso) estimator. EBICglasso (32) is a partial correlation regularized estimation method that estimates partial correlations among all variables in the network, which use penalized maximum likelihood estimation to shrink parameters to zero, potentially removing them from the network. EBICglasso tuning parameter was set to 0.5. Centrality measures estimated included Betweenness (i.e., the number of shortest paths that pass through the node of interest), Closeness (i.e., the inverse of the sum of all shortest paths from the node of interest to all other nodes), and Strength (i.e., the sum of the absolute input weights of that node).

Finally, prevalence estimates for PTSD and cPTSD were estimated, together with gender differences. Association with traumatic experiences and a screened diagnosis of PTSD or cPTSD was assessed using multinomial logistic regression models, with ITQ categorical results (no diagnosis, PTSD and cPTSD) modeled as dependent variable, and intentional and unintentional TEs experienced during childhood, adolescence or during the last 6 months were jointly modeled as independent variables in order to correct their effects for each other. Afterward, analyses were adjusted by gender, parental education, and nationality.

All of the statistical analyses were conducted using Stata 16[®], except for the network analysis that was conducted using JASP[®].

RESULTS

Sample

A total of 1,010 subjects participated to the study, 999 of which provided complete data – 498 (49.85%) female and 501 (50.15%) males. Mean age was 18.7 (sd = 0.63). 418 (41.39%), 306 (30.30%), and 286 (28.32%) were, respectively, from the L'Aquila, Avezzano and Sulmona areas.

Confirmatory Factor Analysis

Confirmatory Factor Analysis goodness-of-fit statistics for the four models are presented in **Table 1**. Model 1 ($\chi^2 = 1903.43$, RMSEA = 0.188, CFI = 0.619, TLI = 0.535, SRMR = 0.109, CD = 0.868, BIC = 32985.043) and 3 ($\chi^2 = 517.447$, RMSEA = 0.101, CFI = 0.903, TLI = 0.867, SRMR = 0.076, CD = 0.942, BIC = 31640.318) showed poor fit indices, while Model 2 ($\chi^2 = 175.18$, RMSEA = 0.06, CFI = 0.972, TLI = 0.953, SRMR = 0.036, CD = 0.999, BIC = 31359.942) and 4 ($\chi^2 = 256.186$, RMSEA = 0.068, CFI = 0.957, TLI = 0.94, SRMR = 0.055, CD = 1, BIC = 31385.933) showed good fit indices, although the χ^2 statistic was significant due to the large sample size (33). Models 2 and 4 had very similar fit indices, with a DBIC = 25.99. Model 2 should be preferred to Model 4 as it had lower BIC and Δ BIC > 10, which is considered as a threshold for a significant difference.

Network Analysis

Network analysis and centrality plot are reported in **Figure 1**. From the visual inspection of the network structure, it appears that PTSD and DSO symptoms are organized in two separate clusters, and that the two nodes of each subdomain are strongly connected. The network was moderately sparse, with 46/60 non-zero edges and a sparsity of 0.31. Among the core PTSD symptoms, item Av1- "Avoidance of internal

reminders" had the highest betweenness and strength (betweenness = 1.294, closeness = 0.517, strength = 1.175). Centrality measures for the remaining core PTSD items were: Av2- "Avoidance – external" (betweenness = -0.904, closeness = -0.1, strength = 0.23); Reexperiencing, Re1-"Dreams" (betweenness = -1.042, closeness = -1.544, strength = -0.751) and Re²⁻ "Nightmares" (betweenness = 0.469, closeness = -0.359, strength = 0.134); Hyp1- "Hyperarousal" (betweenness = -0.63, closeness = 0.519, strength = -0.602) and Hyp2- "Easily startled" (betweenness = 0.195, closeness = 1.1, strength = 0.677). Among the DSO symptoms, Dys2-"Numbing" had the highest betweenness and closeness (betweenness = 2.393, closeness = 1.604, strength = 0.853), and Nsc2 - "Worthlessness" had the highest strength (betweenness = -0.767, closeness = -1.161, strength = 1.532). For the remaining DSO items, centrality measures were: Dys1- "Difficult calm down" (betweenness = -0.08, closeness = 1.125, strength = -1.663); Nsc1- "Feel like a failure" (betweenness = -0.08, closeness = -0.919, strength = 1.255); Rel1- "Feel cut from others" (betweenness = -0.63, closeness = -0.834, strength = -0.335); Rel2- "Difficulty" stay close to others" (betweenness = -0.218, closeness = 0.052, strength = -0.797). Items with the highest expected influence were both "negative self-concept" Nsc1- "feel like a failure" and Nsc2- "worthlessness" items, Av1- Avoidance of internal reminders and hyperarousal item Hyp2-easily startled. In the whole network, the most influential nodes were Dys2 -"Numbing" with the highest betweenness and closeness, and the two Nsc items.

Prevalence of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Complex Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder and Association With Traumatic Experiences (TEs)

Detailed rates of traumatic experiences and psychopathology separated by gender are reported in **Table 2**. Overall, 914 (90.5%) of participants reported at least one lifetime traumatic experience, the most frequent being exposure to a natural disaster (597; 60.49%), and the least represented frequent being exposed to war or combat (2; 0.2%). No participant reported sexual abuse from a parent, while 32 participants (3.21%) reported a sexual assault by someone other than a parent. Females were more exposed to intentional TE compared to male participants ($\chi^2 = 19.847$, p < 0.001), while no gender differences were reported for unintentional TE. In particular, female participants reported higher rates of sexual assault and harassment, bullying, humiliation and neglect. Male participants reported higher rates of being threatened with a weapon and being physically assaulted by a non-parent.

International Trauma Questionnaire prevalence rates are reported in **Table 1**, while detailed descriptive statistics are reported in **Table 2**. According to the diagnostic algorithm, the prevalence of PTSD and cPTSD was 9.11% [7.54, 11.25] and 4.06% [2.98, 5.56], respectively. There was a significant gender effect, with female participants having higher rates of both PTSD and cPTSD (respectively, $\chi^2 = 15.712$, p < 0.001 and $\chi^2 = 10.897$, p < 0.001).

Logistic regression analyses are reported in **Table 3**. Unintentional TEs, independently of the age of occurrence, were not associated with a PTSD or a cPTSD diagnosis. Intentional TE, irrespectively of the age of occurrence, were associated with both PTSD and cPTSD. Association between childhood and recent intentional TE and PTSD did not hold after adjustment.

DISCUSSION

The present study is the first to report on prevalence rates of ICD-11 PTSD and cPTSD within an Italian late adolescent sample primarily exposed to trauma in the form of a natural disaster, and their association with different types of TEs. Additionally, this study adds to the existing literature on the factorial and network structure of the ICD-11 PTSD and cPTSD on an Italian late adolescent/young adult population.

The ITQ is a brief, highly reproducible instrument that allows to jointly screen for PTSD and cPTSD according to the ICD-11 criteria. In our sample, PTSD was nearly twice as frequent as cPTSD, and both diagnoses were more frequent among female participants. This finding is in line with previous reports from a nationally representative Israeli sample of a higher prevalence of PTSD compared to cPTSD (11). Other studies found opposite results, with cPTSD being more frequent than PTSD (3, 7, 10, 24, 34). However, these studies, except for the Chinese validation study and the United Kingdom general population study (10), focused on clinical populations rather than a general population, suggesting that cPTSD may be a more common issues among help-seeking populations compared to the general population (27). Concerning the Chinese validation study (34), PTSD and cPTSD prevalence were estimated only on the general population subsample that reported at least one adverse childhood experience (ACE), excluding those subjects that may have been exposed to unintentional or noninterpersonal TEs that may not qualify as an ACE that may endorse PTSD but not DSO criteria. The United Kingdom study focused on both a clinical and a community sample. However, in this case the community sample was an adult nationally representative one, while the present study reports on a late adolescence sample.

In the present study, regression analyses support that both intentional and unintentional TEs are associated with a diagnosis of cPTSD, although intentional TEs show a stronger association with cPTSD. Conversely, we failed to demonstrate an association between unintentional TE and a diagnosis of PTSD. These results could be explained by the fact that a TE screener such as the ITEM may effectively screen for the presence of any TE, but it may fail to separate those TE that had a relevant psychological impact from those that didn't. In our sample, which is enriched with youngsters that experienced a massively destructive earthquake during childhood, unintentional TE had a lifetime prevalence of 82% and a 6-months prevalence of 15.35%, compared to a PTSD prevalence of 9.11%. It follows that the vast majority of those experiencing unintentional TEs do not develop PTSD or, in other words, the vast majority of unintentional TE is not inherently



TABLE 2 | Lifetime traumatic experiences, psychopathology and gender differences in the sample.

Variable		Male		Female		Total		Statistics
		N/Mean	%/sd	N/Mean	%/sd	N/Mean	%/sd	χ^2 or t
Lifetime victimization								
1. Life-threatening illness	Unint.	10	2.00%	16	3.22%	26	2.61%	1.471
2. Someone close died in an awful manner	Unint.	91	18.20%	154	30.99%	245	24.57%	21.983***
3. Someone close had a life-threatening illness or accident	Unint.	217	43.49%	247	49.70%	464	46.59%	3.860*
4. Threatened with a weapon	Int.	37	7.39%	17	3.41%	54	5.41%	7.704**
5. Physically assaulted by a parent or guardian	Int.	37	7.41%	41	8.23%	78	7.82%	0.231
6. Physically assaulted by non-parent or guardian	Int.	84	16.80%	45	9.05%	129	12.94%	13.274***
7. Sexually assaulted by a parent or guardian	Int.	0	0%	0	0%	0	0%	-
8. Sexually assaulted by non-parent or guardian	Int.	10	2.00%	22	4.42%	32	3.21%	4.698*
9. Sexually harassed	Int.	14	2.80%	66	13.25%	80	8.02%	36.972***
10. War or combat	Int.	2	0.40%	0	0.00%	2	0.20%	1.996
11. Held captive and/or tortured	Int.	2	0.40%	1	0.20%	3	0.30%	0.330
12. Caused extreme suffering or death to another person.	Excl.	7	1.40%	3	0.60%	10	1.00%	1.608
13. Witnessed another person experiencing suffering or death	Excl.	55	11.02%	80	16.06%	135	13.54%	5.412*
14. Technological accident	Unint.	89	17.84%	58	11.67%	147	14.76%	7.524**
15. Natural disaster	Unint.	288	57.95%	309	63.06%	597	60.49%	2.699
16. Man-made disaster	Unint.	30	6.02%	19	3.89%	49	4.96%	2.391
17. Stalked	Int.	35	7.06%	50	10.06%	85	8.56%	2.861
18. Bullied (online or offline)	Int.	60	12.07%	88	17.71%	148	14.89%	6.224*
19. Humiliated, put down, or insulted by another person	Int.	142	28.63%	194	39.03%	336	33.84%	12.005***
20. Made to feel unloved, unwelcome, or worthless	Int.	162	32.60%	249	50.20%	411	41.39%	31.720***
21. Neglected, ignored, rejected, or isolated	Int.	141	28.54%	199	40.28%	340	34.41%	15.085***
Lifetime Unintentional TE		404	80.64%	421	84.54%	825	82.58%	2.640
Lifetime Intentional TE		269	53.69%	336	67.47%	605	60.56%	19.847***
Lifetime TE		444	88.62%	461	92.57%	905	90.59%	4.5657*
Prevalence								
PTSD		28	5.63%	63	12.96%	91	9.26%	15.712***
cPTSD		10	2.01%	30	6.17%	40	4.07%	10.897***

*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.
	PTSD ^a	cPTSD ^a	PTSD ^b	cPTSD ^b
	OR [95% CI]	OR [95% CI]	OR [95% CI]	OR [95% CI]
Intentional TE				
Childhood	1.75* [1.10, 2.76]	2.49* [1.20, 5.15]	1.57 [0.98, 2.51]	2.63* [1.23, 5.59]
Adolescence	2.43*** [1.51, 3.89]	3.53*** [1.67, 7.49]	2.36*** [1.45, 3.84]	3.48** [1.61, 7.52]
6 months	2.25** [1.36, 3.72]	4.46*** [2.25, 8.85]	2.19** [1.31, 3.66]	4.36*** [2.15, 8.83]
Unintentional TE				
Childhood	1.34 [0.79, 2.28]	0.65 [0.32, 1.31]	1.19 [0.69, 2.05]	0.77 [0.36, 1.63]
Adolescence	0.95 [0.60, 1.51]	1.34 [0.69, 2.61]	1.01 [0.62, 1.64]	1.38 [0.68, 2.78]
6 months	1.06 [0.59, 1.90]	1.17 [0.53, 2.60]	1.17 [0.65, 2.12]	1.41 [0.62, 3.19]

TABLE 3 | Association between PTSD, cPTSD and traumatic experiences (multinomial logistic regression).

*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.01. TE, traumatic experiences; OR, odds ratio; Cl, confidence interval. ^aUnadjusted logistic regression; ^badjusted by gender, non-Italian nationality, parental education.

associated with a relevant psychological burden sufficient for a diagnosis of PTSD.

As opposite, intentional TEs were strongly associated with both PTSD and cPTSD.

The present CFA results support a latent structure representative of six first-order correlated factors. The second best-fitting model was a two-factor second-order model. According to a recent systematic review (15), these two models are those most often identified as the best fitting ones. The correlated six first-order factor model was supported in five community sample studies (26, 34-37), in which also the twofactor second-order model showed good fit. Two more studies found that the two models had equivalent fit (25, 38). Evidence from the literature seem to converge on the six first-order factor model as the best fitting model in community samples, while the two-factor second-order model being the best model in clinical samples (15). Furthermore, prevalence rates of PTSD and cPTSD are substantially lower in community samples, which may explain why the separation between PTSD and cPTSD is not so clear-cut in these samples.

Finally, using a network analysis approach, we replicated the network structure of ICD-11 PTSD and cPTSD previously presented in other studies with the ITQ (17, 19). Given the contrasting findings on the factor structure of ICD-11 PTSD and cPTSD, the not clear-cut separation of the two disorders, and their shared risk factors, a network approach gains a central importance in clarifying the mutual relationships among stress-related symptoms. A network approach is based on the idea that mental disorders are constituted by causal networks of functionally interconnected symptoms, as opposite to a "latent variable" representing the putative disorder that generates downstream symptoms (39). The network approach to PTSD and cPTSD is particularly useful as it allows to think of the effects of causal factors (i.e., traumatic events) as spreading throughout a network of interacting and mutually influencing symptoms. In the network structure presented in this study, the pairs of symptoms forming a factor according to the ICD-11 were strongly associated each other. Core PTSD symptoms and DSO form two broader clusters, reflecting the ICD-11 proposed criteria that separates core PTSD and DSO, consistently with previous literature evidence (17). Avoidance, numbing and both

negative self-concept (Nsc) were the most central items in the network. The centrality of Nsc items in ICD-11 cPTSD and DSM-5 PTSD has been found also in other network studies (19, 40, 41). Nsc can be thought both as negative moderators of the effect of a TE, and as a cognitive maintaining factor of the disorder. Furthermore, Nsc are among the strongest negative predictors of treatment outcomes (42). Concerning core PTSD symptoms, having internal avoidance as the most central item seems counterintuitive, as avoidance is generally considered a coping mechanism to anxiety. Its central position in this network may highlight its role as a maintaining factor.

This study has several limitations. First, one third of this sample consists of late adolescents that were exposed to a natural disaster during childhood, making the generalizability of these findings limited. Second, this study relies on self-report measures that could be affected by different biases. In particular, despite a TEs screener was available, too little is known about the putative TEs subsiding the self-report measures of post-traumatic symptoms, in terms of subjective emotional impact and relative importance of the TEs. It is difficult to imagine how to overcome these issues connected with self-report measures. However, the ITEM checklist is a useful tool to separate childhood, adolescence and recent TEs and to classify them into different types (i.e., intentional/unintentional).

CONCLUSION

The present study reports a prevalence rate Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) and Complex PTSD (cPTSD) of 9.11 and 4.06%, respectively, in a sample of Italian adolescents exposed 10 years earlier to a destructive earthquake. The factor and network structure of the Italian version of the International Trauma Questionnaire (ITQ) confirmed the factorial validity of the questionnaire, highlighting the importance of avoidance in PTSD and negative self-concept in cPTSD.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Internal Review Board of the University of L'Aquila. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RR: conceptualization, methodology, software, validation, formal analysis, investigation, data curation, and writing – original draft.

REFERENCES

- Benjet C, Bromet E, Karam EG, Kessler RC, McLaughlin KA, Ruscio AM, et al. The epidemiology of traumatic event exposure worldwide: results from the world mental health survey consortium. *Psychol Med.* (2016) 46:327–43. doi: 10.1017/S0033291715001981
- Brewin CR, Cloitre M, Hyland P, Shevlin M, Maercker A, Bryant RA, et al. A review of current evidence regarding the ICD-11 proposals for diagnosing PTSD and complex PTSD. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2017) 58:1–15. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr. 2017.09.001
- Møller L, Augsburger M, Elklit A, Søgaard U, Simonsen E. Traumatic experiences, ICD-11 PTSD, ICD-11 complex PTSD, and the overlap with ICD-10 diagnoses. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2020) 141:421–31. doi: 10.1111/acps. 13161
- Maercker A, Brewin CR, Bryant RA, Cloitre M, Van Ommeren M, Jones LM, et al. Diagnosis and classification of disorders specifically associated with stress: proposals for ICD-11. World Psychiatry. (2013) 12:198–206. doi: 10. 1002/wps.20057
- Eidhof MB, Djelantik AMJ, Klaassens ER, Kantor V, Rittmansberger D, Sleijpen M, et al. Complex posttraumatic stress disorder in patients exposed to emotional neglect and traumatic events: latent class analysis. *J Trauma Stress*. (2019) 32:23–31. doi: 10.1002/jts.22363
- 6. Lingiardi V, McWilliams N. *Psychodynamic Diagnostic Manual: PDM-2.* 2nd ed. New York, NY: The Guilford Press (2017).
- Karatzias T, Hyland P, Bradley A, Cloitre M, Roberts NP, Bisson JI, et al. Risk factors and comorbidity of ICD-11 PTSD and complex PTSD: findings from a trauma-exposed population based sample of adults in the United Kingdom. *Depress Anxiety.* (2019) 36:887–94. doi: 10.1002/da.22934
- Frost R, Hyland P, McCarthy A, Halpin R, Shevlin M, Murphy J. The complexity of trauma exposure and response: profiling PTSD and CPTSD among a refugee sample. *Psychol Trauma Theory Res Pract Policy*. (2019) 11:165–75. doi: 10.1037/tra0000408
- Turner HA, Finkelhor D, Ormrod R. Poly-victimization in a national sample of children and youth. *Am J Prev Med.* (2010) 38:323–30. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre. 2009.11.012
- Cloitre M, Shevlin M, Brewin CR, Bisson JI, Roberts NP, Maercker A, et al. The international trauma questionnaire: development of a self-report measure of ICD-11 PTSD and complex PTSD. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2018) 138:536–46. doi: 10.1111/acps.12956
- Ben-Ezra M, Karatzias T, Hyland P, Brewin CR, Cloitre M, Bisson JI, et al. Posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and complex PTSD (CPTSD) as per ICD-11 proposals: a population study in Israel. *Depress Anxiety.* (2018) 35:264–74. doi: 10.1002/da.22723
- Owczarek M, Ben-Ezra M, Karatzias T, Hyland P, Vallieres F, Shevlin M. Testing the factor structure of the international trauma questionnaire (ITQ) in African community samples from Kenya, Ghana, and Nigeria. *J Loss Trauma*. (2020) 25:348–63. doi: 10.1080/15325024.2019.1689718
- Hyland P, Shevlin M, Fyvie C, Karatzias T. Posttraumatic stress disorder and complex posttraumatic stress disorder in DSM-5 and ICD-11: clinical and behavioral correlates. *J Trauma Stress.* (2018) 31:174–80. doi: 10.1002/jts. 22272

VS: data curation, writing, editing, and review. FP, CC, AR, and PH: writing, editing, and review. GD: conceptualization and supervision. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the Territori Aperti, a project funded by the Fondo Territori Lavoro e Conoscenza of the Confederazione Generale Italiana del Lavoro, the Confederazione Italiana Sindacati Lavoratori, and the Unione Italiana del Lavoro.

- Karatzias T, Shevlin M, Fyvie C, Hyland P, Efthymiadou E, Wilson D, et al. An initial psychometric assessment of an ICD-11 based measure of PTSD and complex PTSD (ICD-TQ): evidence of construct validity. *J Anxiety Disord*. (2016) 44:73–9. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2016.10.009
- Redican E, Nolan E, Hyland P, Cloitre M, McBride O, Karatzias T, et al. A systematic literature review of factor analytic and mixture models of ICD-11 PTSD and CPTSD using the international trauma questionnaire. *J Anxiety Disord*. (2021) 79:102381. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2021.102381
- Birkeland MS, Greene T, Spiller TR. The network approach to posttraumatic stress disorder: a systematic review. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2020) 11:1700614. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2019.1700614
- McElroy E, Shevlin M, Murphy S, Roberts B, Makhashvili N, Javakhishvili J, et al. ICD-11 PTSD and complex PTSD: structural validation using network analysis. *World Psychiatry*. (2019) 18:236–7. doi: 10.1002/wps.20638
- Knefel M, Lueger-Schuster B, Bisson J, Karatzias T, Kazlauskas E, Roberts NPA. Cross-cultural comparison of ICD-11 complex posttraumatic stress disorder symptom networks in Austria, the United Kingdom, and Lithuania. J Trauma Stress. (2020) 33:41–51. doi: 10.1002/jts.22361
- Knefel M, Tran US, Lueger-Schuster B. The association of posttraumatic stress disorder, complex posttraumatic stress disorder, and borderline personality disorder from a network analytical perspective. J Anxiety Disord. (2016) 43:70–8. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2016.09.002
- Gilbar O. Examining the boundaries between ICD-11 PTSD/CPTSD and depression and anxiety symptoms: a network analysis perspective. J Affect Disord. (2020) 262:429–39. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.11.060
- Cero I, Kilpatrick DG. Network analysis of posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms in a national sample of U.S. adults: implications for the phenotype and the ICD-11 model of PTSD. J Trauma Stress. (2020) 33:52–63. doi: 10. 1002/jts.22481
- Hyland P, Karatzias T, Shevlin M, McElroy E, Ben-Ezra M, Cloitre M, et al. Does requiring trauma exposure affect rates of ICD-11 PTSD and complex PTSD? Implications for DSM-5. *Psychol Trauma Theory Res Pract Policy*. (2020) 13:133–41. doi: 10.1037/tra0000908
- Haselgruber A, Sölva K, Lueger-Schuster B. Symptom structure of ICD-11 complex posttraumatic stress disorder (CPTSD) in trauma-exposed foster children: examining the international trauma questionnaire-child and adolescent version (ITQ-CA). *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2020) 11:1818974. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2020.1818974
- Sele P, Hoffart A, Bækkelund H, Øktedalen T. Psychometric properties of the international trauma questionnaire (ITQ) examined in a Norwegian traumaexposed clinical sample. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2020) 11:1796187. doi: 10. 1080/20008198.2020.1796187
- Shevlin M, Hyland P, Roberts NP, Bisson JI, Brewin CR, Cloitre M. A psychometric assessment of disturbances in self-organization symptom indicators for ICD-11 complex PTSD using the international trauma questionnaire. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2018) 9:1419749. doi: 10.1080/ 20008198.2017.1419749
- Kazlauskas E, Zelviene P, Daniunaite I, Hyland P, Kvedaraite M, Shevlin M, et al. The structure of ICD-11 PTSD and complex PTSD in adolescents exposed to potentially traumatic experiences. J Affect Disord. (2020) 265:169– 74. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.01.061

- Karatzias T, Cloitre M, Maercker A, Kazlauskas E, Shevlin M, Hyland P, et al. PTSD and complex PTSD: ICD-11 updates on concept and measurement in the UK, USA, Germany and Lithuania. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2017) 8:1418103. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2017.1418103
- Karatzias T, Shevlin M, Hyland P, Fyvie C, Grandison G, Ben-Ezra M. ICD-11 posttraumatic stress disorder, complex PTSD and adjustment disorder: the importance of stressors and traumatic life events. *Anxiety Stress Coping.* (2020) 34:191–202. doi: 10.1080/10615806.2020.1803006
- Hansen M, Hyland P, Karstoft K-I, Vaegter HB, Bramsen RH, Nielsen ABS, et al. Does size really matter? A multisite study assessing the latent structure of the proposed ICD-11 and DSM-5 diagnostic criteria for PTSD. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2017) 8:1398002. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2017.139 8002
- Xia Y, Yang Y. RMSEA, CFI, and TLI in structural equation modeling with ordered categorical data: the story they tell depends on the estimation methods. *Behav Res.* (2019) 51:409–28. doi: 10.3758/s13428-018-1055-2
- StataCorp. Stata Statistical Software: Release 16. College Station, TX: StataCorp LLC (2019).
- Epskamp S, Borsboom D, Fried EI. Estimating psychological networks and their accuracy: a tutorial paper. *Behav Res.* (2018) 50:195–212. doi: 10.3758/ s13428-017-0862-1
- Tanaka JS. "How big is big enough?": sample size and goodness of fit in structural equation models with latent variables. *Child Dev.* (1987) 58:134–46. doi: 10.2307/1130296
- 34. Ho GWK, Karatzias T, Cloitre M, Chan ACY, Bressington D, Chien WT, et al. Translation and validation of the Chinese ICD-11 international trauma questionnaire (ITQ) for the assessment of posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and complex PTSD (CPTSD). *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2019) 10:1608718. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2019.1608718
- 35. Choi H, Lee W, Hyland P. Factor structure and symptom classes of ICD-11 complex posttraumatic stress disorder in a South Korean general population sample with adverse childhood experiences. *Child Abus Negl.* (2021) 114:104982. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2021.104982
- 36. Ho GWK, Hyland P, Shevlin M, Chien WT, Inoue S, Yang PJ, et al. The validity of ICD-11 PTSD and complex PTSD in East Asian cultures: findings with young adults from China, Hong Kong, Japan, and Taiwan. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2020) 11:1717826. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2020.171 7826

- Mordeno IG, Nalipay MJN, Mordeno ER. The factor structure of complex PTSD in combat-exposed Filipino soldiers. *Psychiatry Res.* (2019) 278:65–9. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2019.05.035
- Haselgruber A, Sölva K, Lueger-Schuster B. Validation of ICD-11 PTSD and complex PTSD in foster children using the International Trauma Questionnaire. Acta Psychiatrica Scand. (2020) 141:60–73. doi: 10.1111/acps. 13100
- Borsboom D, Cramer AOJ. Network analysis: an integrative approach to the structure of psychopathology. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol.* (2013) 9:91–121. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050212-185608
- Knefel M, Karatzias T, Ben-Ezra M, Cloitre M, Lueger-Schuster B, Maercker A. The replicability of ICD-11 complex post-traumatic stress disorder symptom networks in adults. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2019) 214:361–8. doi: 10.1192/bjp.2018. 286
- McBride O, Hyland P, Murphy J, Elklit A. Network analysis of posttraumatic stress experiences of adults seeking psychological treatment for childhood sexual abuse. J Trauma Stress. (2020) 33:10–8. doi: 10.1002/jts.22381
- Galatzer-Levy IR, Karstoft KI, Statnikov A, Shalev AY. Quantitative forecasting of PTSD from early trauma responses: a machine learning application. J Psychiatr Res. (2014) 59:68–76. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.08.017

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Rossi, Socci, Pacitti, Carmassi, Rossi, Di Lorenzo and Hyland. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Associations of Childhood Maltreatment With Suicidal Behavior Among Chinese Adolescents: Does It Differ Based on Gender and Biological Rhythm?

Yang Xie^{1,2,3,4}, Huiqiong Xu^{1,2,3,4}, Baolin Wang^{1,2,3,4}, Xiaoyan Wu^{1,2,3,4}, Shuman Tao⁵, Yuhui Wan^{1,2,3,4*} and Fangbiao Tao^{1,2,3,4*}

¹ Department of Maternal, Child & Adolescent Health, School of Public Health, Anhui Medical University, Hefei, China, ² Anhui Provincial Key Laboratory of Population Health & Aristogenics, Anhui Medical University, Hefei, China, ³ Moe Key Laboratory of Population Health Across Life Cycle, Anhui Medical University, Hefei, China, ⁴ NHC Key Laboratory of Study on Abnormal Gametes and Reproductive Tract, Hefei, China, ⁵ Department of Nephrology, The Second Hospital of Anhui Medical University, Hefei, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jan Höltge, University of Hawaii at Manoa, United States

Reviewed by:

Gianluca Serafini, San Martino Hospital (IRCCS), Italy Srinivas Dannaram, Banner - University Medical Center Phoenix, United States

*Correspondence:

Fangbiao Tao taofangbiao@126.com Yuhui Wan wyhayd@163.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Psychopathology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 28 February 2022 Accepted: 10 June 2022 Published: 08 July 2022

Citation:

Xie Y, Xu H, Wang B, Wu X, Tao S, Wan Y and Tao F (2022) Associations of Childhood Maltreatment With Suicidal Behavior Among Chinese Adolescents: Does It Differ Based on Gender and Biological Rhythm? Front. Psychiatry 13:885713. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.885713 **Background:** The impact of biological rhythm disorder (BRD) on the association of childhood maltreatment (CM) and suicidal behavior in adolescents remains unclear. CM increases the risk of suicidal ideation (SI), suicidal planning (SP), and suicidal attempts (SAs). There is less investigation on gender differences in CM's effects on suicidal behavior. It is unknown whether the impacts vary with different levels of BRD.

Aims: To identify gender differences in CM's effects on suicidal behavior and to investigate these impacts at different levels of BRD.

Method: The analysis is based on data from 7,986 adolescents recruited from three cities in China between October and December 2019. All participants, aged 14.7 \pm 2 years, filled out standard questionnaires involving CM, BRD, and suicidal behavior.

Results: A total of 22.9, 10.8, and 4.7% of the adolescents reported SI/SP/SAs in the past year. Girls are more likely to engage in SI and SP when exposed to the highest level of CM; boys are more likely to engage in SAs than girls. A significant relationship between moderate levels of CM and SI/SP/SAs was only observed in girls exposed to low BRD. Moderate CM is only significantly associated with SI in boys exposed to low BRD. The percentage of low-BRD adolescents who experienced high CM was 31.4%, whereas 58% of high-BRD adolescents experienced high CM in SI. Adolescents with high BRD were more likely to experience high levels of CM in SP and SAs.

Conclusions: Adolescents at high risk of suicidal behavior in relation to CM should be targeted accordingly. Improving biological rhythm in adolescents who experience CM could help prevent them from engaging in suicidal behavior.

Keywords: childhood maltreatment, adolescents, biological rhythm, suicidal planning, suicidal ideation, suicidal attempts

INTRODUCTION

Suicidal behavior-including suicidal ideation (SI), suicidal planning (SP), and suicide attempts (SAs)-is a leading cause of death and disability worldwide and a serious global public health issue. More than 800,000 people die from suicide each year around the world, which indicates that one person dies by suicide every 40 seconds (1). Suicidal behavior is prevalent among adolescents across the globe; the prevalence of SI and SAs in American adolescents was 15.8 and 8.9%, respectively, in 2019 (2), and the rates of SI/SP/SAs among adolescents in China were 17.2, 13.6, and 7.4%, respectively (3). Suicidal behavior is associated with significant disability and psychosocial impairment among adolescents. They may seek information about suicide through prolonged exposure to the Internet and electronic media, which may lead to impaired clinical outcomes (4). Therefore, it is crucial to explore the potential risk factors for suicidal behavior. The underlying factors of suicidal behavior in adolescents are complex, and identifying risk factors for suicidal behavior will help advance effective prevention and early intervention. A substantial body of research has demonstrated the impact of childhood maltreatment (CM) on suicidal behavior. For instance, a prospective cohort study with 660 street adolescents aged 14 to 26 from Canada found that CM was a robust predictor of SA (5). A 3-year longitudinal study of adolescents aged 11.83 \pm 2.42 in the US suggests that emotional maltreatment contributes uniquely to the prospective prediction of SI (6). A cross-sectional study with a representative sample of 21,019 high school students from China revealed that physical neglect, emotional neglect, physical abuse, emotional abuse, and sexual abuse were all associated with an increased risk of SI and SAs (7). A meta-analysis based on 79 individual studies found that younger participants with experiences of sexual abuse had higher rates of SAs, and younger age was linked more strongly with SI (8). Studies on multifactorial etiological models have shown that biological and social risk factors may be responsible for suicidal behavior by moderating the relationship between the latter and CM (9).

Meanwhile, we found that the reported rate of suicidal behavior among girls was higher than that of boys (10). Biological sex may be a vital factor in the examination of suicidal behavior. Evidence suggests that gender is a potential moderator that impacts the relationship between CM and suicidal behavior, and CM in girls may be more consistently linked to suicidal behavior than in boys (11, 12). However, previous studies show inconsistent results of the association between CM and suicidal behavior among boys. Martin found that self-reported sexual abuse was strongly and independently linked with suicidal thoughts, plans, and SAs only in boys (13). Other studies have found no sex differences (14). In response to these inconsistent findings, more research is necessary to verify whether the association between CM and suicidal behavior varies based on gender.

Biological rhythm disorder (BRD) is a new risk factor for suicidal behavior that is not fully understood. Research on biological rhythms and suicide dates back to 1959, when Dreyer first reported seasonal variations in suicide (15). Since then,

researchers have found that vigorous circadian rhythm type appeared independently associated with SAs in individuals with bipolar disorder (16), and evening-type participants with major depressive disorder exhibited higher suicidal behavior (17). In addition, BRD promotes suicidal behavior in adolescents. A cross-sectional study with 1,667 adolescents (mean age: 14.8 \pm 1.6 years old) in Hong Kong provides evidence that circadian issues are associated with SI (18). A substantial amount of literature has found a link between BRD and suicidal behavior, and current knowledge surrounding the association of BRD with suicidal behavior is predominantly derived from specific groups of people with various diseases and in Western countries. Although there are few international studies on the association between CM and BRD at present, existing research has reported that people who experience CM have an increased risk of circadian rhythm anomalies, which may be exhibited by abnormal cortisol secretion; CM may be associated with disturbances in cortisol secretion (19, 20). Despite a wellestablished link between CM and suicidal behavior, it is unknown whether the role of CM in this risk occurs through diverse and specific mechanisms (such as BRD).

Therefore, we hypothesized that gender and biological rhythm influence the association between CM and suicidal behavior. Our aims were to explore the impact of gender and biological rhythm on the relationship between CM and suicidal behavior through large-scale health survey data (n = 8,082) from typically developing adolescents in the Chinese cities of Shenzhen, Nanchang, and Shenyang.

METHODS

Study Design and Participants

We derived the study population from a health survey. We chose three cities-Shenzhen, Nanchang, and Shenyang located in southern, central, and northern China, respectively-as our field sites for data collection based on economic development and geographic distribution. These cities are broadly representative of the well-developed economies in southern, central, and northern China, and average population in China in terms of economic level and demographic composition. These cities cooperated well with us, thereby facilitating data collection. In each city, we randomly selected 4 large middle schools, from which we recruited participants using stratified cluster sampling. First, in each school, we stratified students by grade. Thereafter, in different grades, we selected multiple classes and took all students in the classes as participants. In China, there are approximately 45 students in a class. Consequently, we chose 5 classes in each grade for the survey. Exclusion criteria included a family history of mental illness, the inability to complete the questionnaire, and unwillingness to participate in the investigation.

In total, 8,082 middle school students were given anonymous paper-based questionnaires in the classroom setting. There were 96 invalid questionnaires due to incomplete data because of adolescents' unwillingness to fill them out. The effective response rate was 98.8%. After excluding invalid questionnaires, a representative sample of 7,986 adolescents completed the standardized questionnaire, including 3,866 (48.4%) boys and 4,120 (51.6%) girls. Both the design and data collection were approved and reviewed by the Ethics Committee of Anhui Medical University. We gathered our survey data from October to December 2019, and all adolescents and their parents signed informed consent forms before the survey was administered.

Measures

Sociodemographic Data

We collected sociodemographic data on each participant, including gender (boys or girls), age, registered residence (rural or urban), only child (yes or no), paternal and maternal education (<12 years or \geq 12 years), and self-reported family economic status (high-income, middle-class, or low-income). In China, less than 12 years of schooling means that a person has not graduated from high school.

Childhood Maltreatment Experiences

We assessed CM with the Child Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ-SF), which is a standardized questionnaire for evaluating the history and frequency of CM in adolescents (21, 22). The CTQ-SF comprises 28 items (e.g., "My parents wish I had never been born," "My family has said hurtful things to me," "I have been hit hard enough to develop bruises," and "I have worn dirty clothes") and covers five categories, including emotional abuse, emotional neglect, physical abuse, physical neglect, and sexual abuse, three of which are calibration marks. Participants respond using a 5-point Likert scale (never true, rarely true, sometimes true, often true, and very often true). We classified the participants into tertiles of CTQ scores to identify individuals with severe exposure. The total scores ranged from 25 to 125, based on which we divided the participants into three groups according to the 67th and 33rd percentiles: a high level of CM, a moderate level of CM, and a low level of CM. The Cronbach's α coefficient of the CTQ-SF in this study was 0.867.

Biological Rhythm Disorder

We used the Self-Rating of Biological Rhythm Disorder for Adolescents (SBRDA) (23) to assess BRD in the participants. The SBRDA comprises 29 items (e.g., "I need an alarm clock or someone else to wake me up in the morning," "I skip breakfast one or two days a week," and "I stay up late to use digital media") that include four dimensions: sleep, digital media use, eating habits, and activity. Participants respond using a 5-point Likert scale (completely inconsistent, basically inconsistent, somewhat consistent, basically consistent, and completely consistent). We used the 90th percentile of total scores as the cut-off point to measure adolescents' BRD as the Chinese norm. The Cronbach's α coefficient of SBRDA in this study was 0.950.

Suicidal Behavior

The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention used three questions to evaluate SI, SP, and SAs for the framework of the Youth Risk Behavior Survey System (YRBSS) (24):

- "During the past year, have you ever considered suicide?"
- "Have you made any plans about how to commit suicide in the last year?"
- "Did you actually attempt suicide in the last year?"

All response options are coded as "yes" or "no."

Confounding Variables

We included multiple variables based on their potential association with suicidal behavior, including gender, registered residence (rural or urban), only child (yes or no), paternal and maternal education (<12 years or \geq 12 years), self-reported family economic status (high-income, middle-class, or low-income), and city (Nanchang, Shenyang, or Shenzhen).

Statistical Analysis

We performed all statistical analyses using SPSS version 23.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA). We conducted a chi-square test for categorical variables to compare the differences among behaviors. We employed binomial logistic regression models to assess the associations of the various behaviors with CM and adjusted for confounding variables. We fitted the adjusted logistic regression to identify determinants of suicidal behavior as the level of CM by BRD group and gender. We analyzed the interaction effects between CM with BRD and gender on suicidal behavior. We set statistical significance at p < 0.05 (two-tailed).

RESULTS

Characteristics of the Participants

Of the 7,986 adolescents, the mean age and standard deviation were 14.7 \pm 2 years. The prevalence of suicidal behavior is detailed in Table 1. In total, 22.9, 10.8, and 4.7% of the adolescents reported SI/SP/SAs. A total of 31.9% of the participants' registered residence was rural, and there were differences in SI and SP (p < 0.05). Participants who reported being only children showed a significantly higher rate of SAs (p < 0.05). Self-reported family economic status fell into the following groups: 12.9% were low-income, 66.2% were middleclass, and 20.9% were high-income. Compared with adolescents from high-income and middle-class families, those from lowincome families had significantly more suicidal behavior (p < p0.001 for each, Table 1). Participants reported lower CM scores, a lower level of BRD, and fewer suicidal behavior (including SI, SP, and SAs) (*p* < 0.001). The rates of SI (25.7%), SP (12.4%) and SA (6.3%) among adolescents in Shenyang were significantly higher than those in the other two cities (Table 1). In addition, suicidal behavior revealed no statistically significant differences based on parents' education level.

Association of Suicidal Behaviors With CM

There was a gradient association of CM with suicidal behavior (**Supplementary Table S1**). Adolescents with high CM had a greater risk of SI/SP/SAs. After adjusting for gender, registered residence, self-reported family economic status, and city, the odds ratios (ORs) for adolescents with moderate CM vs. low CM in SI and SP were 1.8, 95% CIs: 1.6–2.1, p < 0.001 and 1.7, 95% CIs: 1.3–2.1, respectively. We noted a greater risk of SI and SP in adolescents with high CM (4.2, 95% CIs: 3.6–4.8, p < 0.001; 5.6, 95% CIs: 4.1–6.2, respectively) vs. low CM. After adjusting for gender, only child, self-reported family economic status, and city, compared to low CM, the ORs for adolescents with moderate and

TABLE 1 | Descriptive statistics for variables.

Variables	Total	SI		SI	P	SAs	6
	N = 7,986(%)	<i>n</i> = 1,82	25(%)	n = 85	59(%)	n = 378	B(%)
		n (%)	P Value	n (%)	P Value	n (%)	P Value
Gender			<0.001		<0.001		<0.001
Воу	3,866 (48.4)	686 (17.7)		315 (8.1)		118 (3.1)	
Girl	4,120 (51.6)	1,139 (27.6)		544 (13.2)		260 (6.3)	
Registered residence			<0.05		<0.05		0.572
Rural	2,547 (31.9)	529 (20.8)		247 (9.7)		115 (4.5)	
Urban	5,439 (68.1)	1,296 (23.8)		612 (11.3)		263 (4.8)	
City			< 0.001		< 0.05		< 0.001
Nanchang	3,085 (38.6)	671 (21.8)		324 (10.5)		124 (4.0)	
Shenyang	2,563 (32.1)	659 (25.7)		317 (12.4)		161 (6.3)	
Shenzhen	2,338 (29.3)	495 (21.2)		218 (9.3)		93 (4.0)	
Only child			0.614		0.225		< 0.05
Yes	2,769 (34.7)	642 (23.2)		314 (11.3)		156 (5.6)	
No	5,217 (65.3)	1,183 (22.7)		545 (10.4)		222 (4.3)	
Paternal education			0.095		0.535		0.832
<12 years	3,427 (42.9)	752 (21.9)		360 (10.5)		160 (4.7)	
\geq 12 years	4,559 (57.1)	1,073 (23.5)		499 (10.9)		218 (4.8)	
Maternal education			0.365		0.367		0.114
<12 years	3,891 (48.7)	872 (22.4)		406 (10.4)		169 (4.3)	
\geq 12 years	4,095 (51.3)	953 (23.3)		453 (11.1)		209 (5.1)	
Self-reported family economy			< 0.001		<0.001		<0.001
Bad	1,030 (12.9)	335 (32.5)		162 (15.7)		73 (7.1)	
General	5,284 (66.2)	1,137 (21.5)		523 (9.9)		205 (3.9)	
Good	1,672 (20.9)	353 (21.1)		174 (10.4)		100 (6.0)	
CM			< 0.001		<0.001		<0.001
Low	2,727 (34.1)	338 (12.4)		130 (4.8)		45 (1.7)	
Moderate	2,468 (30.9)	489 (19.8)		184 (7.5)		86 (3.5)	
High	2,791 (34.9)	998 (35.8)		545 (19.5)		247 (8.8)	
BRD			< 0.001		<0.001		<0.001
Low	7,174 (89.8)	1 419 (19.8)		646 (9.0)		257 (3.6)	
High	812 (10.2)	406 (50.0)		213 (26.2)		121 (14.9)	

SI, suicidal ideation; SP, suicidal planning; SAs, suicidal attempts; CM, childhood maltreatment; BRD, biological rhythm disorder. Statistical methods: Chi-square test.

high levels of CM in SAs were 2.4 (1.6–3.4) and 6.5 (4.7–9.0), p < 0.001, respectively. After further adjusting for BRD, the gradient associations remained; a moderate level of CM in SI involved ORs of 1.8 (1.5–2.1), p < 0.001, and for high CM the ORs were 3.7 (3.2–4.3), p < 0.001. In SP, the ORs were 1.2 (1.3–2.0), p < 0.001, and for high CM, they were 4.5 (3.7–5.5), p < 0.001. In SAs, the ORs were 2.3 (1.6–3.3), p < 0.001, and 5.5 (3.9–7.6), p < 0.001.

Interaction Effects Between CM With BRD and Gender on Suicidal Behavior

In the models, we tested the interaction effects between CM with BRD and gender on suicidal behavior. We observed significant interaction effects (see **Supplementary Tables S2, S3**). Compared to the reference group (low CM and low BRD), the interaction term of CM and BRD had an impact on suicidal behavior (p < 0.001). The higher the levels of CM and BRD, the greater the risk

of suicidal behavior (see **Supplementary Table S2**). Compared to the reference group (low CM and girls), girls who experienced both moderate and high levels of CM had an increased risk of suicidal behavior. Boys with moderate CM had no significant risk of suicidal behavior compared to girls with moderate CM. Compared to girls who experienced high CM, boys who experienced high CM had a lower risk of suicidal behavior (see **Supplementary Table S3**).

Association of Suicidal Behavior With CM in Boys and Girls

We further stratified the association between CM and suicidal behavior by gender and found that the higher risk of suicidal behavior in girls was upregulated with high CM (**Table 2**). Both moderate and high levels of CM in boys increased the risk of SI, whereas only high CM increased the risk in SP and SAs (**Table 2**).

Variable	•	Yes n (%)	NO n (%)	P Value	Model 1 OR (95%Cl) ^a	Model 2 OR (95%Cl) ^b	Model 3 OR (95%Cl)°
SI	CM (tertile score)						
	Boys			<0.001			
	Low	113 (9.3)	1,098 (90.7)		1.0	1.0	1.0
	Moderate	171 (14.1)	1,042 (85.9)		1.6 (1.2~2.1)**	1.6 (1.2~2.0)*	1.5 (1.2~2.0)*
	High	402 (27.9)	1,040 (72.1)		3.8 (3.0~4.7)**	3.6 (2.9~4.5)**	3.3 (2.6~4.1)**
	Girls			<0.001			
	Low	225 (14.8)	1,291 (85.2)		1.0	1.0	1.0
	Moderate	318 (25.3)	937 (74.7)		1.9 (1.6~2.4)**	2.0 (1.7~2.4)**	2.0 (1.6~2.4)**
	High	596 (44.2)	753 (55.8)		4.5 (3.8~5.4)**	4.5 (3.8~5.4)**	4.0 (3.3~4.8)**
SP	CM (tertile score)						
	Boys			< 0.001			
	Low	44 (3.6)	1,167 (96.4)		1.0	1.0	1.0
	Moderate	59 (4.9)	1,154 (95.1)		1.4 (0.9~2.0)	1.3 (0.9~2.0)	1.3 (0.9~1.9)
	High	212 (14.7)	1,230 (85.3)		4.6 (3.3~6.4)**	4.4 (3.1~6.1)**	4.0 (2.8~5.6)**
	Girls			< 0.001			
	Low	86 (5.7)	1,430 (94.3)		1.0	1.0	1.0
	Moderate	125 (10.0)	1,130 (90.0)		1.8 (1.4~2.4)**	1.9 (1.4~2.5)**	1.8 (1.4~2.4)**
	High	333 (24.7)	1,016 (75.3)		5.5 (4.2~7.0)**	5.4 (4.2~7.0)**	4.8 (3.7~6.2)**
SAs	CM (tertile score)						
	Boys			< 0.001			
	Low	12 (1.0)	1,199 (99.0)		1.0	1.0	1.0
	Moderate	21 (1.7)	1,192 (98.3)		1.8 (0.9~3.6)	1.8 (0.9~3.8)	1.7 (0.8~3.5)
	High	85 (5.9)	1,357 (94.1)		6.3	6.3	5.4
					(3.4~11.5)**	(3.4~11.7)**	(2.9~10.0)**
	Girls			<0.001			
	Low	33 (2.2)	1,483 (97.8)		1.0	1.0	1.0
	Moderate	65 (5.2)	1,190 (94.8)		2.5 (1.6~3.8)**	2.6 (1.7~4.0)**	2.5 (1.7~3.9)**
	High	162 (12.0)	1,187 (88.0)		6.1 (4.2~9.0)**	6.4 (4.3~9.5)**	5.4 (3.7~8.1)**

TABLE 2 | Number, % and OR of suicidal behaviors by level of CM in boys and girls.

*p < 0.05, **p < 0.001; SI, suicidal ideation; SP, suicidal planning; SAs, suicidal attempts; In SI and SP, a for crude model; ^bAdjusted for registered residence, self-reported family economy, cities; ^cAdjusted for registered residence, self-reported family economy, cities, and BRD. In SAs, a for crude model; b Adjusted for Only child, self-reported family economy, cities; c adjusted for Only child, self-reported family economy, cities; c adjusted for Only child, self-reported family economy, cities; c adjusted for Only child, self-reported family economy, cities; c adjusted for Only child, self-reported family economy, cities; c adjusted for Only child, self-reported family economy, cities; c adjusted for Only child, self-reported family economy, cities; c adjusted for Only child, self-reported family economy, cities; c adjusted for Only child, self-reported family economy, cities; c adjusted for Only child, self-reported family economy, cities; c adjusted for Only child, self-reported family economy, cities; c adjusted for Only child, self-reported family economy, cities; c adjusted for Only child, self-reported family economy, cities; c adjusted for Only child, self-reported family economy, cities; c adjusted for Only child, self-reported family economy, cities; c adjusted for Only child, self-reported family economy, cities; c adjusted for Only child, self-reported family economy, cities; c adjusted for Only child, self-reported family economy, cities; c adjusted for Only child, self-reported family economy, cities; c adjusted for Only child, self-reported family economy, cities; c adjusted for Only child, self-reported family economy, cities; c adjusted for Only child, self-reported family economy, c adjusted family econom

Association of Suicidal Behavior With CM and BRD

Supplementary Table S4 shows stratified data analysis by BRD group in a crude model. According to Supplementary Table S4, there was a significant association of SI/SP/SAs with high CM in the low-BRD and high-BRD groups, but the relationship between high CM and suicidal behavior appeared stronger in these adolescents than in adolescents with low CM (all p <0.05). As seen in Table 3, the results did not change significantly after further controlling for confounding factors. In SI and SP, adjusted for registered residence, self-reported family economic status, and city, we observed a significant association of high CM with suicidal behavior in low-BRD and high-BRD adolescents. In SAs, adjusted for only child, self-reported family economic status, and city, we witnessed the same positive association in high levels of CM and SA in the low-BRD and high-BRD groups. In both the crude and adjusted models, a moderate level of CM was positively correlated with SI/SP/SAs in the low-BRD group. In the high-BRD group, moderate CM was not associated with SI/SP/SAs. The percentage of low-BRD adolescents who experienced high CM was 31.4%, whereas 58% of high-BRD adolescents experienced high CM in SI. Adolescents with high BRD were more likely to experience high levels of CM in SP and SAs. Detailed values can also be found in **Supplementary Table S4** and **Table 3**.

DISCUSSION

We drew upon data from a large school-based survey in China to illuminate the association of suicidal behavior with CM in girls and boys and its variation with the levels of BRD. To our knowledge, this is the first study to explore the association between CM and BRD with suicidal behavior in adolescents. A key and novel contribution of this study is that it illustrates the influence of BRD on the relationship between CM and SI, SP, and SAs. Our results indicate that both moderate and high CM

CM (tertile score)	L	.BRD ^a	H	BRD ^b
	n (%)	OR (95%CI)	n (%)	OR (95%CI)
SI				
Low	280 (10.9)	1.0	58 (37.9)	1.0
Moderate	406 (17.9)	1.8 (1.5~2.1)**	83 (41.1)	1.2 (0.8~1.8)
High	733 (31.4)	3.7 (3.1~4.3)**	265 (58.0)	2.3 (1.6~3.4)**
SP				
Low	109 (4.2)	1.0	21 (13.7)	1.0
Moderate	149 (6.6)	1.6 (1.2~2.0)**	35 (17.3)	1.4 (0.8~2.5)
High	388 (16.6)	4.4 (3.5~5.5)**	157 (34.4)	3.4 (2.0~5.6)**
SAs				
Low	31 (1.2)	1.0	14 (9.2)	1.0
Moderate	70 (3.1)	2.7 (1.8~4.2)**	16 (7.9)	0.9 (0.4~2.0)
High	156 (6.7)	6.0 (4.1~9.0)**	91 (19.9)	2.7 (1.5~5.0)*

TABLE 3 | Number, % and adjusted OR of suicidal behaviors by level of CM and BR.

*p < 0.05, **p < 0.001; SI, suicidal ideation; SP, suicidal planning; SAs, suicidal attempts; LBRD, low biological rhythm disorder; HBRD, high biological rhythm disorder. In SI and SP, ^aAdjusted for registered residence, self-reported family economy, cities; In SAs, ^bAdjusted for Only child, self-reported family economy, cities.

levels were associated with suicidal behavior in adolescents with low BRD, whereas only high CM was associated with suicidal behavior in adolescents with high BRD. Furthermore, adolescents with high BRD were more likely to experience high CM, and adolescents with low BRD were less likely to experience CM. According to the stratification analyses, our data clarify that both male and female adolescents with high CM may have a higher risk of suicidal behavior (SI/SP/SAs). Compared to boys, girls are generally more likely to engage in SI and SP when exposed to the highest level of CM; however, boys are more likely to engage in SAs than girls. Moreover, CM, as a critical lifetime event, had a stronger effect on SI/SP/SAs among adolescents with low BRD than among adolescents with high BRD. We only observed a significant relationship between moderate levels of CM and SI/SP/SAs in girls exposed to low BRD. Moderate CM was only significantly associated with SI in boys exposed to low BRD.

Previous research has found that individuals with high CM have a greater risk of engaging in suicidal behavior, which is consistent with our results (25, 26). Data from a total of 10,148 US adolescents revealed that those who were exposed to either physical or sexual abuse had an increased risk of reporting SI/SP/SAs (27). A cross-sectional survey in South India among 13- to 14-year-old girls found that SI was independently linked to sexual abuse and low parental emotional support (28). Emotional neglect, physical abuse, and physical neglect increased the risk of SAs among adolescents and young adults (29). Our results of vulnerability among girls, especially those with the highest CM, are similar to those in former studies. There is a stronger positive relationship between physical abuse and SI among girls (30). Young girls with more adverse childhood experiences have a higher risk of SI and SP (31). Gallo asserted that girls are vulnerable to low self-esteem due to childhood abuse (32) and are therefore prone to mental health problems that can lead to SI and SP. Our findings suggest that boys who experience CM are more likely to engage in SAs, although the ORs were similar to those of girls, possibly because adolescent boys are more likely to engage in impulsive behavior (33). A considerable proportion of SAs are made on impulse (34).

Overall, these findings offer cogent evidence of the relationship between CM and SI/SP/SAs across BRD groups in adolescents. Our study has advanced the literature by making three unique contributions. First, with a total of 7,986 adolescents, this is a representative large sample from three regions in China that exhibits ORs for the association between CM and SI/SP/SAs. Second, this study is the first, to our knowledge, to offer evidence of the strong link between CM and suicidal behavior among boys and girls. A third important contribution is the identification of a new perspective that moderates the association between CM and suicidal behavior in adolescents. In particular, we found that adolescents with high BRD were more likely to experience high CM, and CM was associated with suicidal behavior in girls who had high BRD and low BRD. This outcome has vital implications; in that, it highlights an urgent need to improve BRD as part of suicide behavior prevention and intervention strategies among adolescents who have experienced CM.

LIMITATIONS

There are several limitations to our study. First, the study had a cross-sectional design and we could not determine the priority of CM, BR, and suicidal behavior. Follow-up studies should be carried out to strengthen the validity of causal associations. Second, we did not analyze CM by category, but instead used comprehensive indicators of CM to explore the risk of suicide in different BRD groups. It may not be possible to tell which specific types of childhood abuse have a greater effect on suicidal behavior. Meanwhile, we used self-reported data, which has certain information bias. Third, the risk factors for suicidal behavior are complex. Although we fully considered gender

and biological rhythm, more comprehensive attention should be given to psychosocial factors, such as affective temperament (35), and further studies should be conducted on the impact of the interaction between psychosocial factors and biological rhythm on suicidal behavior. Despite these limitations, the large sample size deepens our understanding of the impact of gender and biological rhythm on the relationship between CM and suicidal behavior.

CONCLUSION

As a public health problem, suicidal behavior in adolescents merits discussion. Our results highlight the need to incorporate amelioration of CM's influence and the improvement of biological rhythm into suicidal behavior prevention strategies, and in efforts to raise public awareness. These findings have implications for the multifactorial etiological model in which biological and social risk factors, such gender and biological rhythm, can moderate the relationship between CM and suicidal behavior. Thus, both male and female adolescents with BRD should be considered in the implementation of effective intervention programs related to suicide. It is crucial that public health policy in China encompasses planned intervention programs to reduce the rate of suicidal behavior.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

REFERENCES

- World Health Organization. Suicide in the world: Global Health Estimates [EB/OL]. (2019). Available online at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/suicide-in-the-world (accessed November 1, 2021).
- Xiao Y, Cerel J, Mann JJ. Temporal trends in suicidal ideation and attempts among us adolescents by sex and race/ethnicity, 1991-2019. *JAMA Netw Open*. (2021) 4:e2113513. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.13513
- Zhang P, Roberts RE, Liu Z, Meng X, Tang J, Sun L, et al. Hostility, physical aggression and trait anger as predictors for suicidal behavior in Chinese adolescents: a school-based study. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e31044. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0031044
- Solano P, Ustulin M, Pizzorno E, Vichi M, Pompili M, Serafini G, et al. Google-based approach for monitoring suicide risk. *Psychiatry Res.* (2016) 246:581–6. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2016.10.030
- Hadland SE, Wood E, Dong H, MarshallBD, Kerr T, Montaner JS, et al. Suicide attempts and childhood maltreatment among street youth: a prospective cohort study. *Pediatrics*. (2015) 136:440–9. doi: 10.1542/peds.2015-1108
- Oppenheimer CW, Gottleib AL, Young JF, Hankin BL. Childhood emotional maltreatment as a robust predictor of suicidal ideation: a 3-year multiwave, Prospective Investigation. J Abnorm Child Psychol. (2017) 45:105– 16. doi: 10.1007/s10802-016-0150-z
- Gong M, Zhang S, Li W, Wang W, Wu R, Guo L, et al. Association between childhood maltreatment and suicidal ideation and suicide attempts among chinese adolescents: the moderating role of depressive symptoms. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2020) 17:6025. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17176025

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Anhui Medical University. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YX, HX, and BW: conceptualization and formal analysis. YX, YW, and FT: writing original draft. YX, XW, YW, ST, and FT: investigation. YX and YW: methodology. FT: supervision, funding acquisition, and writing review and editing. All authors checked interpreted results and approved the final version.

FUNDING

The study was funded by National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant number: 82073578).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to appreciate our cooperators for assistance in data collection, including Shenzhen, Nanchang and Shenyang action teams, and all staff and participants on the scene.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2022.885713/full#supplementary-material

- Angelakis I, Austin JL, Gooding P. Association of childhood maltreatment with suicide behaviors among young people: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA network open.* (2020) 3:e2012563. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.12563
- Maniglio R. The role of child sexual abuse in the etiology of suicide and non-suicidal self-injury. Acta Psychiatr Scand. (2011) 124:30–41. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2010.01612.x
- Nock MK, Green JG, Hwang I, McLaughlin KA, Sampson NA, Zaslavsky AM, et al. Prevalence, correlates, and treatment of lifetime suicidal behavior among adolescents: results from the national comorbidity survey replication adolescent supplement. *JAMA Psychiatry.* (2013) 70:300– 10. doi: 10.1001/2013.jamapsychiatry.55
- Ammerman BA, Serang S, Jacobucci R, Burke TA, Alloy LB, McCloskey MS. Exploratory analysis of mediators of the relationship between childhood maltreatment and suicidal behavior. J Adolesc. (2018) 69:103– 12. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2018.09.004
- Anteghini M, Fonseca H, Ireland M, Blum RW. Health risk behaviors and associated risk and protective factors among Brazilian adolescents in Santos, Brazil. J Adolesc Health. (2001) 28:295–302. doi: 10.1016/S1054-139X(00)00197-X
- Martin G, Bergen HA, Richardson AS, Roeger L, Allison S. Sexual abuse and suicidality: gender differences in a large community sample of adolescents. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2004) 28:491–503. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2003.08.006
- Boroujerdi FG, Kimiaee SA, Yazdi S, Safa M. Attachment style and history of childhood abuse in suicide attempters. *Psychiatry Res.* (2019) 271:1– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.11.006

- DREYER K. Comparative suicide statistics. ii. death rates from suicide in denmark since 1921, and seasonal variations since 1835. *Dan Med Bull*. (1959) 6: 75–81.
- Benard V, Etain B, Vaiva G, Boudebesse C, Yeim S, et al. Sleep and circadian rhythms as possible trait markers of suicide attempt in bipolar disorders: an actigraphy study. J Affect Disord. (2019) 244:1– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.09.054
- Bahk YC, Han E, Lee SH. Biological rhythm differences and suicidal ideation in patients with major depressive disorder. J Affect Disord. (2014) 168:294– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2014.07.001
- Chan NY, Zhang J, Tsang CC, Li AM, Chan J, Wing YK, et al. The associations of insomnia symptoms and chronotype with daytime sleepiness, mood symptoms and suicide risk in adolescents. *Sleep Med.* (2020) 74:124– 31. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2020.05.035
- Bronsard G, Auquier P, Boyer L. Links between early child maltreatment, mental disorders, and cortisol secretion anomalies. *J Physiol Paris*. (2016) 110:448–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jphysparis.2017.06.003
- Stephens JE, Kessler CL, Buss C, MillerGE, Grobman WA, Keenan-Devlin L, et al. Early and current life adversity: past and present influences on maternal diurnal cortisol rhythms during pregnancy. *Dev Psychobiol.* (2021) 63:305–19. doi: 10.1002/dev.22000
- Bernstein DP, Ahluvalia T, Pogge D, Handelsman L. Validity of the childhood trauma questionnaire in an adolescent psychiatric population. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (1997) 36:340– 8. doi: 10.1097/00004583-199703000-00012
- Zhao XF, Zhang YL, Li LF, Zhou YF, Li HZ, Yang SC. Reliability and validity of the chinese version of childhood trauma questionnaire. *Chin J Clin Rehabil.* (2005) 9:105107.
- Xie Y, Wu X, Tao S, Wan Y, Tao F. Development and validation of the selfrating of biological rhythm disorder for Chinese adolescents. *Chronobiol Int.* (2022) 39:198–204. doi: 10.1080/07420528.2021.1989450
- Kann L, McManus T, Harris WA, Shanklin SL, Flint KH, HawkinsJ, et al. Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance - United States 2015. *MMWR Surveill Summ*. (2016) 65:1–174. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.ss6506a1
- Reigstad B, Kvernmo S. Concurrent adversities and suicide attempts among sami and non-sami adolescents: the norwegian arctic adolescent study (naahs). Nord J Psychiatry. (2017) 71:425–32. doi: 10.1080/08039488.2017.1315175
- Yoon Y, Cederbaum JA, Schwartz A. Childhood sexual abuse and current suicidal ideation among adolescents: problemfocused and emotion-focused coping skills. J Adolesc. (2018) 67:120–8. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2018.06.009
- Gomez SH, Tse J, Wang Y, Turner B, Millner AJ, Nock MK, et al. Are there sensitive periods when child maltreatment substantially elevates suicide risk? results from a nationally representative sample of adolescents. *Depress Anxiety*. (2017) 34:734–41. doi: 10.1002/da.22650
- 28. Beattie TS, Prakash R, Mazzuca A, Kelly L, Javalkar P, Raghavendra T, et al. Prevalence and correlates of psychological distress among 13-14 year old

adolescent girls in North Karnataka, South India: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health.* (2019) 19:48. doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-6355-z

- Raleva M, Jordanova Peshevska D, Filov I, Sethi D, Novotni A, Bonevski D, et al. Childhood abuse, household dysfunction and the risk of attempting suicide in a national sample of secondary school and university students. *Open Access Maced J Med Sci.* (2014) 2:379–83. doi: 10.3889/oamjms. 2014.065
- Kwok SY, Yeung JW, Low AY, Lo HH, Tam CH. The roles of emotional competence and social problem-solving in the relationship between physical abuse and adolescent suicidal ideation in China. *Child Abuse Neg.* (2015) 144:117–29. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2015. 03.020
- Polanco-Roman L, Alvarez K, Corbeil T, Scorza P, Wall M, Gould MS, et al. Association of childhood adversities with suicide ideation and attempts in puerto rican young adults. *JAMA psychiatry*. (2021) 78:896– 902. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2021.0480
- 32. Gallo E, Munhoz TN, Loret de Mola C, Murray J. Gender differences in the effects of childhood maltreatment on adult depression and anxiety: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2018) 79:107– 14. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2018.01.003
- Weafer J, de Wit H. Sex differences in impulsive action and impulsive choice. *Addict Behav.* (2014) 39:1573–9. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2013.10.033
- Wyder M, De Leo D. Behind impulsive suicide attempts: indications from a community study. J Affect Disord. (2007) 104:167–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2007.02.015
- Baldessarini RJ, Innamorati M, Erbuto D, Serafini G, Fiorillo A, Amore M, et al. Differential associations of affective temperaments and diagnosis of major affective disorders with suicidal behavior. J Affect Disord. (2017) 210:19–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.12.003

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Xie, Xu, Wang, Wu, Tao, Wan and Tao. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Myriam Verena Thoma, University of Zurich, Switzerland

REVIEWED BY Emily Belleau, McLean Hospital, United States Julian D. Ford, University of Connecticut, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Daniel Cruz psychdr.cruz@gmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 02 November 2021 ACCEPTED 27 June 2022 PUBLISHED 22 July 2022

CITATION

Cruz D, Lichten M, Berg K and George P (2022) Developmental trauma: Conceptual framework, associated risks and comorbidities, and evaluation and treatment. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:800687. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.800687

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Cruz, Lichten, Berg and George. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Developmental trauma: Conceptual framework, associated risks and comorbidities, and evaluation and treatment

Daniel Cruz^{1*}, Matthew Lichten², Kevin Berg¹ and Preethi George¹

¹Hackensack Meridian Health Mountainside Medical Center, Montclair, NJ, United States, ²Independent Private Practice, Clifton, NJ, United States

Children exposed to adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) and pervasive interpersonal traumas may go on to develop PTSD and, in most cases, will further undergo a significant shift in their developmental trajectory. This paper examines contemporary research on Developmental Trauma (DT), which is inextricably linked to disruptions in social cognition, physiological and behavioral regulation, and parent-child attachments. Developmental trauma associated with early experiences of abuse or neglect leads to multi-faceted and longstanding consequences and underscores critical periods of development, complex stress-mediated adaptations, and multilevel, trans-theoretical influences in the diagnostic formulation and treatment of traumatized children, adolescents, and adults. Psychological and medical correlates of Developmental Trauma Disorder are considered, and directions for future research are discussed.

KEYWORDS

developmental trauma disorder, complex trauma, adverse childhood experiences, PTSD, Bronfenbrenner's

There has been much interest in understanding the prevalence and impact of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs), which refer to potentially traumatic events that occur in childhood and adolescence (e.g., abuse, rejection, and abandonment by caregivers; loss of a caregiver; interpersonal violence exposure). Recent developments suggest that multiple, repeated experiences of ACEs and interpersonal traumas have broad, cumulative, and lasting effects [e.g., (1, 2)]. Children are more likely than adults to lack the cognitive and behavioral capacities to understand and respond to traumatic circumstances effectively. Children affected by interpersonal trauma often experience more global and profound changes than adults who conceivably have more developed adaptations to stress and more cognitive resources to mitigate risks and promote resiliency. The current article provides discussion of how early, repeated interpersonal traumas can interrupt the development of secure attachment and precipitate the emergence of chronic and severe traumatic adaptations, followed by an analysis of contemporary research, conceptual and diagnostic issues, and assessment and treatment. The paper concludes with a discussion about future directions for research and practice.

Trauma and PTSD

Children and adults who have experienced trauma and developed measurable mental health symptoms associated with the trauma may present with indications of posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) that warrant careful diagnostic evaluation. PTSD is a psychiatric disorder brought on by exposure to a highly stressful and potentially life-threatening event such as a natural disaster, motor vehicle accident, witnessing family or community violence, experiencing abuse and neglect, or losing a loved one. The symptoms of PTSD, as defined by the fifth version of the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5) criteria, are characterized by persistent and intrusive thoughts, hyperarousal (i.e., heightened startle in response to unexpected sounds or movements), deliberate avoidance of trauma reminders, and alterations to conscious awareness (i.e., dissociation, derealization, and depersonalization). Persistent trauma symptoms (i.e., that last longer than a month after the traumatic event(s) and are accompanied by social, behavioral, and academic impairments) indicate the presence of PTSD and differentiate it from other psychiatric disturbances [e.g., (3)]. Healthcare providers widely use the DSM-5 to determine whether a person's symptoms are severe enough to warrant a diagnosis of PTSD.

However, individuals exposed to ACEs, pervasive interpersonal traumas, and polyvictimization [multiple, repeated ACEs; (4-8)] may not only go on to develop PTSD, but may also undergo significant shifts in their developmental trajectories. The changes are often widespread, adversely affecting their biological, social, cognitive, emotional, and spiritual/existential development (1, 9-11). Moreover, these experiences tend to threaten core beliefs and assumptions, including their self-esteem as well as their sense of lovability, vulnerability, and faith in family, friendships, and a higher power. Trauma survivors often face lifelong challenges in developing and maintaining trusting relationships; building and utilizing healthy coping strategies; and adjusting to school and, eventually, the workplace (12-14). For example, ACEs positively predict PTSD, recurrent depression, and repeated suicide attempts (15-17), and findings from several meta-analyses consistently link ACEs to enduring and debilitating psychiatric and physical health disorders (1, 18). It has been suggested that individuals who have experienced ACEs often view the world as unfair and to blame for their circumstances, resulting in reoccurring helplessness and hopelessness about life and relationships, including their ability to make a positive and meaningful impact. Indeed, retrospective studies with adults reveal that 50-60% of adults have a history of childhood abuse or neglect that has impacted their emotional development, their core assumptions about themselves and their worlds, and their functioning as adults (19, 20).

Children and PTSD

Research suggests that children and adolescents who experienced significant early interpersonal trauma often receive inaccurate or incomplete diagnoses later in life [thereby leading to various treatments for co-occurring psychiatric disorders that may not be effective; (21, 22)]. Scholars spanning a broad range of scientific disciplines have asserted that this is due to significant limitations in the DSM's PTSD classification system (23-28). Repeatedly traumatized children and adolescents share overlapping symptoms of PTSD; however, experiences of prolonged trauma during sensitive periods of development are more detrimental to children, given their age, limited cognitive capacities, and dependency on caregivers. A new conceptualization of trauma-specifically the construct of complex trauma-was developed for repeatedly traumatized children and adolescents who often have high comorbidities between trauma and other disorders, which are underestimated by PTSD diagnostic criteria (29-31).

From this perspective, the diagnosis of PTSD only accounts for a limited portion of the symptoms experienced by individuals who have experienced childhood trauma. These individuals often demonstrate broader and more severe health problems, social and economic adversity (including poverty and homelessness, psychiatric hospitalization, incarceration), and medical and psychiatric comorbidities as well as persistent negative views of themselves, others, and their life circumstances (32–34). In addition, they may re-enact their traumas through defensive (protective) expressions of anger and aggression (because they fear emotional vulnerability and experiencing additional traumas) and by coping with alcohol, drugs, and selfinflicted injuries to numb their emotional pain and suffering (35).

The differing presentations of trauma-related disorders that span a wide range of medical and psychological comorbidities frequently go unnoticed with classical PTSD diagnostic approaches, and, therefore, are often underreported and, in turn, untreated (36). Individuals who have experienced prolonged, repeated interpersonal traumas often present with overlapping symptoms of PTSD and a multiplicity of mental health conditions such as attention deficit hyperactive disorder (ADHD, including late-onset in adulthood), autism spectrum disorders (ASD, including social-communication disturbances), psychosis, and mood and personality disorders (37–42).

Complex post-traumatic stress disorder

The conceptualization of complex trauma emphasizes prolonged and unavoidable circumstances, regardless of one's age. Compared to those with PTSD, patients with complex PTSD (c-PTSD) consistently report cumulative traumas, including interpersonal violence exposure and sexual abuse (30, 43–50). c-PTSD has been studied extensively in diverse samples, including racial and sexual minorities as well as human trafficking victims who have experienced repeated physical and sexual assault (51-54). Nevertheless, more studies of children with c-PTSD are needed [i.e., (55)].

Adolescents and adults who have experienced trauma and developed measurable mental health symptoms, as a result, may present with indications of c-PTSD that warrant careful diagnostic evaluation. As defined by ICD-11 criteria, the symptoms of c-PTSD are characterized by three PTSD symptom clusters: (1) persistent and intrusive thoughts, (2) hyperarousal (i.e., heightened startle in response to unexpected sounds or movements), and (3) deliberate avoidance of trauma reminders. c-PTSD is differentiated by a second higher-order measurement factor, characterized by disturbances in self-organization (DSO), which encompasses affective dysregulation, negative selfconcept, and pervasive disturbances in relationships (56–58).

DSO is also highly prevalent in patients with borderline personality disorder [BPD; (59)]. More specifically, c-PTSD and BPD have overlapping symptoms of anxiety sensitivity, low psychological distress tolerance, dissociation, and relational problems originating from attachment insecurities and, in clinical contexts, parataxic distortions whereby patients reenact interpersonal behaviors with healthcare providers that mirror past relationships (60–63). However, empirical findings suggest that BPD only accounts for a limited portion of the symptoms reported by individuals who have experienced childhood trauma and that characteristics of c-PTSD and BPD correlate with, and are distinct from, several other psychiatric disorders such as unipolar and bipolar depression, substance abuse, and functional neurological disorders [e.g., (59, 64–68)].

Developmental trauma: An overview

Developmental Trauma (DT) refers to the complex and pervasive exposure to life-threatening events that (1) occurs through sensitive periods of infant and child development, (2) disrupts interpersonal attachments, (3) compromises an individual's safety and security operations, (4) alters foundational capacities for cognitive, behavioral, and emotional control, and (5) often contributes to the development of complex PTSD in adulthood (69-74). DTD emerges from prolonged and cumulative interpersonal trauma that disrupts the development of secure attachments to caregivers and dramatically alters core assumptions and beliefs about one's vulnerability to danger in the world. DTD is theorized to develop from early interpersonal trauma. However, DTD may also result from the lack of a secure attachment relationship, which would have protected the developing individual during early trauma events. For example, a child who, within the context of a securely attached relationship with their caregiver, is exposed to abuse is likely to fare more positively than one

who is exposed to the same abuse, yet lacks a secure attachment. The diagnosis of DTD was proposed for inclusion in the DSM-5 as an alternative to PTSD to better address the timing in which traumatic events occur (e.g., during sensitive periods of brain development) and the impacts on children's self-regulation skills and relational capacities (75). DTD attempts to provide this differentiation by underscoring experiences of pervasive, complex traumas that occurred early in life for children, and for adults whose physical, psychological, social and emotional disturbances originated from these experiences, which may be repeatedly interfering with their relationships, quality of life, self-identity, and life satisfaction.

DT has been postulated to result in symptoms that extend beyond those of PTSD and that often occur when traumatized children and adolescents are exposed to developmental trauma(s). These symptoms may complicate or, in some cases, account for the mental health problems that lead to the diagnosis of several childhood/adolescent psychiatric disorders. This has been confirmed in a number of large-scale field trials, cross-sectional and longitudinal investigations, and comparative studies spanning diverse psychiatric groups (24, 31, 76, 77). It has been suggested that DTD is set apart from PTSD in that the former is precipitated by toxic stress, referring to prolonged activation of the stress response system, particularly the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, in the absence of treatments and supportive peers and adults (78, 79). In addition, attachment disturbances associated with DTD originate at the beginning of an individual's lifespan development (e.g., parental neglect and abandonment, parents addicted to alcohol and drugs, separation from caregivers. By comparison, the causal events that lead to PTSD can occur at any point (or points) in one's life cycle.

Investigations of individuals with DTD suggest that developmental trauma is often characterized by (1) poor self-identity development, (2) interpersonal sensitivity and consistent problems in relationships, including with peers, adults, and primary caregivers, (3) high rates of exposure to family and community violence, (4) high rates of psychiatric comorbidities, and (5) chronic and debilitating medical/neurological illnesses (24, 28, 34, 36, 80-82). Indeed, several studies have confirmed high comorbidities between PTSD and other disorders including depression, anxiety and panic/agoraphobia, psychotic disorders, and functional medical syndromes that might warrant differentiated assessment procedures and treatments (83-85). Studies of children living in pervasively abusive and neglectful circumstances indicate that children with characteristics of DTD commonly (often exclusively) rely on behavioral inhibition and cognitive dissociation; these responses are mediated by conditioned fear and physiological hypoarousal [i.e., the freezing adaptation of the stress response system; (86)].

Numerous studies suggest that individuals with complex traumas and DTD tend to cope with their traumas by

deliberately evading reminders of the original trauma and by denying that such events occurred, including on self-report trauma symptom measures (87, 88), thereby conferring additive risks (i.e., dissociation and traumatic amnesia, undermining mental health needs). These traumatic stress adaptations, in turn, can contribute to experiences of emotional numbing and low frustration tolerance and precipitate behavioral outbursts that result in refractory (treatment-resistant) mood disturbances, long-term psychiatric hospitalizations (and rehospitalizations), removal from school, and placement in foster care and juvenile justice treatment centers (89–93).

The DSM-5 indicates that the sequelae of "prolonged, repeated, and severe traumatic events (e.g., child abuse)" include symptoms that are consistent with DTD: "difficulties in regulating emotions or maintaining stable interpersonal relationships, or dissociative symptoms" (p. 276). However, there is vigorous debate regarding the viability of this alternative designation, given that the criteria for other specified trauma and stress-related disorders are broad, lack specificity, include interpersonal and non-interpersonal antecedents, and require that providers first consider alternative-mainstream taxonomies. For example, DTD must be differentiated from PTSD, reactive and disinhibited attachment disturbances, and borderline personality disorder, the latter of which is marked by pervasive mood instability, impaired self-identity, dissociation, and provocative and confrontational interpersonal behaviors [often at extremes of the idealization and devaluation continuum; (60, 66, 68, 94)]. As such, several different approaches are used to diagnose persons who have experienced early, recurring stressors and are displaying indications of developmental trauma disorder.

Developmental trauma: Diagnostic issues

Researchers have developed objective procedures to diagnose children with indications of DTD (e.g., standardized interviews and psychometric instruments specifically designed to assess for trauma-mediated interpersonal and attachment disturbances). The Developmental Trauma Disorder Semi-structured Interview (DTD-SI) is one such tool. DTD expert consensus guidelines and psychometric studies on the validity and reliability of the DTD criteria and the DTD-SI suggest that three factors differentiate DTD from other psychiatric disorders, including PTSD (24, 28, 34, 95, 96). These factors include emotion and physiological dysregulation (e.g., alexithymia, sensitivity to touch, functional neurological disorders), cognitive processing and behavioral problems (e.g., traumatic re-enactments, self-mutilation, dissociation, impaired attention, learning, memory), and poor self-other awareness (characterized by low self-esteem and self-hatred, insecure

attachment, experiences of interpersonal betrayal and persistent states of anger, resentment, and revenge).

PTSD preschool adaptation

Another approach to diagnosing children with trauma, especially for those who fail to meet the criteria for PTSD, is to revise the requirements of the DSM so that it is more developmentally sensitive to children. The American Psychiatric Association conferred a preschool subtype PTSD diagnosis for children between the ages of 0-6, as an alternative to the standard PTSD classification that originated from work with adults (3). The alternative set of criteria used for the preschool subtype PTSD includes several changes to the standard DSM PTSD criteria, ranging from adjustments to clinical thresholds (e.g., lowered from three to one avoidance symptom) to the removal of items deemed inappropriate for children (e.g., expression of immediate distress following the trauma; nightmares that necessarily include traumatic content; a sense of a foreshortened future, which requires complex cognitive skills). DSM-5 criteria for the preschool PTSD subtype require that the "duration of the disturbance [referring to trauma symptoms] is more than 1 month" (3, p. 273). The DSM preschool subtype is also more developmentally sensitive to children in that it emphasizes symptoms of trauma that are unique to younger individuals (e.g., traumatic reenactments in interactions with peers during playtime) and focuses more on trauma that is particularly relevant for children, such as harm to the wellbeing of caregivers or disruptions to the quality of the parent-child relationship (e.g., having a caregiver who is medically ill and unable to care for the child, foster care placement, loss of a primary caregiver). These revised criteria were designed with both assessment and treatment in mind, underscoring the recognition that symptoms of PTSD may naturally present themselves in children's play behaviors and not necessarily in their verbal responses to the myriad of questions posed by assessors in standard clinical interviews. This revised DSM-5 taxonomy conceptualizes children with trauma as a single (or homogenous) group. In other words, it implies that children with trauma differ from adults with trauma and, at the same time, that they reliably differ from children who have not experienced trauma (or do not present with clinical symptoms as a result of trauma). Studies suggest that providers can identify and treat traumatized children more effectively using this revised classification (97-99).

The development of DTD: Bronfenbrenner's multiple levels of analysis framework

As a multifactorial neurobehavioral disturbance, developmental trauma causes significant alterations to children's

cognitive, emotional, physiological, and relational capacities, and as a result, they experience widespread disruptions to their academic, social, and occupational functioning (100–102). At the same time, mental health disturbances linked to the development of trauma are mediated and/or moderated by a broad range of factors, all of which have the potential to mitigate the longitudinal course of developmental trauma, associated psychiatric comorbidities, and functional impairments. This notion is supported by Bronfenbrenner's Socio-Ecological Model [SEM; (103)], which asserts that multiple levels of influence, specifically individual, interpersonal, organizational, community, and public policies, are needed to understand the diverse range of adaptations associated with interpersonal trauma, in that they can confer additive risks or, conversely, potentiate positive and resilient transformations in response to

The physiological, attachment, and meta-cognitive disturbances seen in traumatized children intersect at multiple levels of Bronfenbrenner's model. More specifically, children and adolescents who have experienced severe trauma and ACEs experience high rates of poverty, legal problems, and violence exposure (89, 104–106). Abusive parents often have experienced their own traumas and attachment disturbances (107–109), which are often compounded by high rates of substance abuse, depression, financial stress, and unemployment (12, 110–113). Racial, ethnic, sexual, and neurodiverse minorities are affected by developmental trauma at very high rates (114, 115), suggesting that systemic factors such as state and national policies, allocation of resources for prevention and intervention, discrimination, and stigma exert influence over, and significantly impact responses to, trauma and recovery.

adverse childhood experiences.

Children with trauma live in persistent states of fear and terror, and recurring traumas become transformative developmental experiences that alter their global appraisals and future responses to stress (14, 49, 61, 116). This heightened fear propensity disrupts self-awareness, information processing, interpersonal communication, and mastery of ageappropriate developmental competencies [e.g., establishing healthy relationship parameters, identifying and expressing feelings appropriately, and tolerating ambiguity; (43, 90)] and causes individuals to have problems learning, making friends at school, and appreciating their strengths and unique abilities, which are often overshadowed by their social and behavioral difficulties.

Researchers have described several adverse physiological alterations underlying cognitive disturbances in children who have experienced early traumas (13, 117–124). These include, for example, stress-mediated changes to the organization and functioning of the amygdala, hippocampus, and prefrontal cortex, which exert influence over fear processing, including automatic (impulsive) behavioral responses to perceived threats (125–130), learning and memory [fear memories override attention, concentration, and, in turn, inhibit

learning of new information; (72, 131, 132)], and higher-order (complex) cognitive operations [e.g., problem-solving and learning from experience, stress appraisal and reappraisal, perceived controllability; (133-135)]. As an illustration of this, reinforcement and contingency learning studies indicate that children who had experienced severe adversity or developmental trauma are not able to adjust their behavior effectively to shifting environments or demands, regardless of threatening and nonthreatening circumstances (136, 137). These findings suggest that individuals who have endured significant stress in their lives, especially during early childhood or adolescence, are at increased risk of experiencing avoidance, anger, frustration, and anxiety as primary ways of being in the world, regardless of their circumstances (138-140). These types of responses can be damaging to an individual's development and ability to function, particularly if their safety needs are undermined. Repeatedly traumatized children and adolescents become habituated to evaluating their surroundings for indications of threat that might render them vulnerable to additional traumas, given that they had limited opportunities to recover from the early and repeated abuse and neglect.

Researchers speculate that the mechanisms involved in the development of traumatic stress adaptations correlate with diverse, interrelated psychiatric symptoms and comorbidities often reported in studies of individuals who have experienced repeated abuse and neglect. This notion is consistent with a socio-ecological framework, the developmental trauma diagnosis, and trans-theoretical models that focus on farreaching (cross-diagnostic) effects from critical and sensitive periods, attachment and social cognition (e.g., mentalizing and perspective taking), sleep, physiological stress, systemic inflammation, and mood and personality (141–143).

The role of attachment

Prolonged and cumulative interpersonal trauma disrupts the development of secure attachments to caregivers. According to attachment theorists, securely attached infants seek proximity to their caregivers to minimize anxiety and to form goaldirected partnerships, and/or interactional synchrony, where they mirror each other's communication patterns and learn to anticipate, express, and meet each other's needs. Through these interactions, children develop internal working models, which encompass individuals' core beliefs about their selfworth and lovability as well as their general expectations of others in relationships (144). Insecure attachment styles (e.g., anxious, avoidant, and disorganized) are frequently associated with interpersonal trauma (145-147). Studies have consistently linked attachment disturbances to the emergence (and maintenance) of developmental trauma symptoms, which may remain latent until interpersonal interactions later in life (e.g., peer conflicts, inadequate institutional responses to

trauma, workplace challenges) give rise to memories of early trauma (148). The combination of repeated childhood trauma and the absence of parental nurturing, support, and protection (e.g., parents who are addicted to alcohol and/or drugs, are homeless, or are living in severe poverty; family violence; parental incarceration) can be particularly devastating and can potentiate DT (34, 145, 149, 150).

Social cognition

Cognitive science researchers have expanded upon attachment concepts to include the construct of mentalizing, which is defined as the capacity to consider the mental states of others (e.g., inferring their needs, goals, interests, and intersubjective experiences) as distinct from one's own. Mentalizing has been described in the literature as reflective functioning, theory of mind, metacognition, insight, and perspective-taking (151). Mentalizing deficits have been reported in several clinical populations, including individuals diagnosed with borderline personality disorder, schizophrenia, autism, and more recently, developmental traumas (152–155).

Children and adolescents with DT demonstrate impaired mentalizing (i.e., reflecting functioning), referring to the capacity to effectively understand oneself (needs, strengths, and limitations) and others (e.g., that others may have worldviews that differ from one's own). Early interpersonal trauma and insecure attachment correlate with low reflective functioning (154, 156–158).

Scholars have surmised that these children are likely dissociating (and therefore undermining their intra/interpersonal awareness), fearful and anxious, and preoccupied with maintaining compulsive and highly ritualistic behaviors (41, 159). For example, in response to sexual trauma, victims often report experiencing contamination anxiety such as body shame and disgust and overwhelming fear, that being near others will result in contact contamination (160–162). These individuals, in turn, engage in social avoidance, excessive cleansing, handwashing, and relentless reassurance-seeking to make sure they don't increase the likelihood of illness or misfortune in others.

Executive functions and self-regulation capacities

Executive functions refer to diverse cognitive abilities including working memory, mental flexibility, and information processing that regulate attention, mood, and behavior; enable adaptive, goal-focused actions; and are instrumental to effective coping, problem solving, and success in school, work, and relationships (163). Traumatic stress is known to cause measurable adverse effects on executive functions (121, 134, 164). For example, recent studies, including several meta-analyses, have found that trauma negatively correlates with working memory, inhibition, and mental flexibility; the adverse effects are often higher for children exposed to multiple traumas compared to those reporting isolated events (93, 165, 166). These executive functioning challenges often result in significant shifts in mood and energy that interfere with concentration, decision-making, and socialinterpersonal functioning. Children and adolescents with symptoms consistent with DTD whose symptoms include reckless, disinhibited, and destructive behaviors are likely to have multiple and intersecting psychiatric disturbances, such as conduct disorder and antisocial personality traits, which are known to predict high incarceration rates and recidivism. In turn, these children may grow up feeling stigmatized, unprotected, and personally flawed, which further perpetuates their depression, anger, low self-esteem, and existential despair as well as their increased risk of learning disorders, vocational problems, and criminal records (12, 13, 167, 168).

Clinical assessment

Patients with DT present with signs of mood disturbances (e.g., poor frustration tolerance, emotional numbing, anger, rage), behavior disturbances (e.g., inflexible routines, selfinjurious behaviors, impulsivity), and cognitive disturbances (e.g., inattention, disorganized thinking, poor problem solving), as well as sensory processing problems such as sensitivity to sound and touch as well as limited time and body awareness (169, 170). They often show signs of a heightened startle reflex, dissociation, fear, and anxiety and are often unable to be soothed by others (171–173). For example, studies of children who have experienced trauma and polyvictimization suggest that these children display greater physiological reactivity to threats such as traumatic reminders than children who have not experienced trauma (174–177).

Clinical signs and symptoms of DTD

Children and adolescents with DTD may react with either over-modulated or under-modulated behaviors. Overmodulated children appear hyperactive and aggressive, whereas under-modulated children appear depressed, withdrawn, and possibly dissociative. Children and adolescents with DTD may be highly reactive to their environment (e.g., hypersensitive to sounds, touch, lights) or appear to be relatively indifferent to their immediate surroundings (80, 178). They may react to perceived threats with avoidance, tantrums, or anger, especially when they feel emotionally vulnerable or disempowered.

When children or adolescents with symptoms consistent with DTD appear distractible, impulsive, and/or highly

aggressive, these children are likely to be classified with ADHD (hyperactive and impulsive or combined subtype), conduct disorder, bipolar disorder, and/or oppositional defiant disorder (179–182). These individuals may indeed meet diagnostic criteria for several of these psychiatric disorders, however, they may be secondary to DTD, and, as such, require different clinical evaluation and treatment approaches.

On the other hand, individuals with DTD who are anxious, withdrawn, dissociative, and rigid (adhering to strict behavioral routines) are more likely to be diagnosed (and sometimes misdiagnosed) with neurodevelopmental conditions such as autism spectrum disorders (ASD) because trauma symptoms such as emotional numbing, difficulty socializing with others, obsessive-compulsive behaviors, poor mentalizing (perspective taking), and poor verbal expression mirror characteristics of children with ASD (39, 41). Likewise, studies suggest that, when controlling for comorbid PTSD, individuals with DTD have higher rates of ADHD, social and separation anxiety disorders, panic disorders, severe mood and behavior disturbances, depression, and suicide (28, 183).

Children and adolescents with indications of DTD, such as those with multiple ACEs (i.e., polyvictimization), are more likely to display suicidal behaviors and make suicide attempts than individuals without early interpersonal traumas (16). Likewise, these children may have higher rates of school absenteeism and learning disorders due to DTD (184, 185). Children with DTD are affected across cognitive (e.g., learning, attention, and information processing), physiological (e.g., fight-or-flight, susceptibility to infections including from common colds and flu), emotional (e.g., depression and suicide, anger), and behavioral domains that span the continuum of internalizing and externalizing disturbances. Behavioral displays (or traumatic reenactments) that signal fear, emotional dysregulation, and vulnerability interfere with children's academic achievement, self-efficacy, and classroom behaviors.

When individuals with DTD move into young adulthood, they may struggle to manage independently and experience difficulty adjusting to new settings. If they attend college or university, they may find it hard to self-regulate and map out the steps needed to complete assignments and tasks successfully. They may question the value of education, learning, or effort, given persistent feelings of sadness, hopelessness, and existential despair. Some may drop out of school, experience inconsistent employment, or hold employment positions that are not satisfying (167, 186), likely because their vocational identity development was interrupted by chronic depression and anxiety (16, 187, 188) resulting from reoccurring abuse and neglect. Their lack of confidence and low self-esteem, along with high rates of addiction (189-191), can also lead to further increased anxiety, anger and hostility, and job instability (192, 193). They may feel worried about retraumatization or being stigmatized because of their challenges. As a result, some will choose not to disclose personal

information to others who might help them, believing that the vulnerability could put them at a disadvantage for recruitment or advancement.

Clinicians and care supporters working with individuals who have experienced significant childhood trauma should be aware that DTD symptoms differ depending on the specific traumas experienced, the characteristics of the individuals involved, and the level of discordance between the individuals and their environments. Symptoms will also vary depending on each individual's degree of environmental support, perceived controllability of the stressful events, access to socioeconomic resources, and effective evaluations and treatments (194). Medical problems and somatic complaints may actually be the result of childhood trauma and a sign of DTD. In fact, a number of chronic, non-specific, or unexplained medical illnesses are associated with DTD (13, 56). In addition, lowered immunity, cardiac symptoms, and neurological disorders such as migraines and chronic fatigue are also signs to look for in patients who could potentially have DTD (195).

Clinicians working with early trauma survivors should also consider relational patterns corresponding to substantive behavioral changes, particularly personality disturbances. Individuals exposed to severe abuse, neglect, and violence may go on to develop long-lasting negative schemas about themselves and the world, including deep feelings of inferiority, fear, selfhatred, and distrust, all of which can give rise to maladaptive personality styles and, in some cases, clinically significant characterological disturbances (196). As adults, individuals with DTD may develop a broad range of personality and emotional disorders (60, 68, 197), which are associated with high rates of emergency room visits and inpatient hospitalizations (17, 198).

Treatment

Empirically validated treatments for children and adolescents with DTD are limited in scope. However, there is growing evidence for integrative treatment approaches and relationally focused interventions as effective treatments for DTD [e.g., (4, 199)]. Two such approaches include the Attachment, Regulation, and Competency (ARC) model and dyadic-developmental psychotherapy, which include individual and family counseling sessions designed to enhance interpersonal communication, attachment security, and emotion regulation, and co-regulation between the parent and child; (200, 201).

Concerning adolescents and adults with trauma, findings from recent systematic investigations and meta-analyses (202– 204) suggest that a combination of psychotherapy (e.g., Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavior Therapy) and antidepressant medication (205) are beneficial. However, more studies are needed as treatment effects were heterogeneous. Likewise, more studies are required to establish the long-term efficacy and risk-to-benefit tradeoff for the use of antipsychotic agents (risperidone, quetiapine), especially for children and adolescents, as well as anticonvulsant drugs (206), which are limited in use due to their side effects.

Conclusions and future directions

While developmental trauma is commonly linked to PTSD, the DTD diagnosis captures a more chronic and pervasive form of trauma represented by a constellation of complex and interacting cognitive, emotional, and behavioral symptoms beyond that of PTSD alone. Several studies suggest that children, adolescents, and adults with DTD display a broad range of mental health symptom profiles [e.g., (30, 31, 178, 207, 208)]. These individuals demonstrate significant problems in many areas of their lives, but without accurate assessment, advocacy, and treatment, they may live in mental anguish, vacillating between self-injury, suicidal and antisocial behaviors, and a significant inability to cope with reality and enhance their strengths and resiliencies. The DTD diagnosis offers clinicians the opportunity to more comprehensively account for the multitude of what might otherwise be viewed as divergent symptoms and discrete mental health disorders.

The DTD diagnosis offers an all-encompassing conceptualization, within a single diagnostic, developmental syndrome, of the many different symptoms that may be experienced as a result of early trauma. The diagnosis may help limit the over-pathologizing of these individuals (i.e., they would receive a single diagnosis to capture their broad array of symptoms as opposed to three or more disparate diagnoses). More importantly, utilization of the DTD framework may increase the likelihood of more accurate assessment; appropriate symptom management; well-aligned, effective treatments; and better short- and long-term outcomes. Recognition of complex trauma may provide insights that could enhance the evaluation, treatment, and prognosis for these individuals and, at the same time, build or enhance their strengths (which are likely to be undermined if a positive psychology framework does not balance a traditional, deficit-driven approach). Application of the DTD diagnosis may help decrease inappropriate and inadequate treatment approaches by using multi-system and multidisciplinary approaches when working with individuals who have suffered repeated and severe early abuse.

Consistent with Bronfenbrenner's theoretical model, an appreciation of the pervasiveness and range of opportunities to reverse the adverse effects of DTD would allow for additional, coordinated efforts among educational, legal, medical, and political leaders and stakeholders. This type of understanding will be required for substantive change to occur for individuals diagnosed with this disorder. At the organizational level, systems must promote formal policies that acknowledge, respect, and de-stigmatize DTD. According to the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration's Trauma-Informed Approach, this can be accomplished by engendering principles of neurodiversity, implementing social justice frameworks, and acknowledging the multiplicity of trauma associated with various minority statuses (209). Recommended system-wide policies and procedures include enhanced and coordinated evaluation protocols, formal response training, long-term care initiatives, and community engagement aimed at recognizing, supporting, and treating those with DTD (210–212).

In sum, research studies have established that developmental trauma confers significant risks to the health and wellbeing of those who have experienced early, repeated interpersonal traumas. Disturbances in attachment, emotion regulation, self-perception, and worldview assumptions are precipitated by trauma and cause a broad range of correlated psychological and medical disorders. Future studies are needed to reconcile several outstanding questions related to ACEs. For example, psychometric investigations of individuals who have experienced ACEs raise the possibility that additional typologies may be present [e.g., borderline personality and resilient subgroupings; (66, 213)]. Another avenue for research concerns the possibility that complex trauma is correlated with multiple sensitive periods, particularly for individuals who have been subjected to prolonged violence exposure. Lastly, although ACEs have been widely studied and consistently predict traumatic responses in adults, the construct encompasses a broad range of adversities, such as parent divorce, sexual assault, and neglect, which may confer different traumatic adaptations.

Author contributions

DC was responsible for the conceptualization, organization, and final draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the literature review, writing of the manuscript, project management, and approved the final manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Hughes K, Bellis MA, Hardcastle KA, Sethi D, Butchart A, Mikton C, et al. The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Public Health*. (2017) 2:e356–66. doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(17)30118-4

2. Liming KW, Grube WA. Wellbeing outcomes for children exposed to multiple adverse experiences in early childhood: A systematic review. *Child Adolesc Soc Work J.* (2018) 35:317–35. doi: 10.1007/s10560-018-0532-x

3. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. (2013). APA. doi: 10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596

4. Ford JD. Polyvictimization and developmental trauma in childhood. Eur J Psychotraumatol. (2021) 12:1866394. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2020.1866394

5. Ford JD. Why we need a developmentally appropriate trauma diagnosis for children: a 10-year update on developmental trauma disorder. *J Child Adolesc Trauma*. (2021) 2021:1–16. doi: 10.1007/s40653-021-00415-4

6. Haahr-Pedersen I, Ershadi AE, Hyland P, Hansen M, Perera C, Sheaf G, et al. Polyvictimization and psychopathology among children and adolescents: A systematic review of studies using the Juvenile Victimization Questionnaire. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2020) 107:104589. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104589

7. Lee N, Pigott TD, Watson A, Reuben K, O'Hara K, Massetti G, et al. Childhood polyvictimization and associated health outcomes: A systematic scoping review. *Trauma Violence Abuse.* (2022) 2022:15248380211073847. doi: 10.1177/15248380211073847

8. Wojciechowski TW. Early life poly-victimization and differential development of anxiety as risk factors for the continuity of substance dependence in adulthood. *Subst Use Misuse*. (2020) 55:1347–55. doi: 10.1080/10826084.2020.1741637

9. Hunt TKA, Slack KS, Berger LM. Adverse childhood experiences and behavioral problems in middle childhood. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2017) 67:391–402. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2016.11.005

10. Le MTH, Holton S, Romero L, Fisher J. Polyvictimization among children and adolescents in low- and lower-middle-income countries: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Trauma Violence Abuse*. (2018) 19:323–42. doi: 10.1177/1524838016659489

11. Scott JC, Matt GE, Wrocklage KM, Crnich C, Jordan J, Southwick SM, et al. A quantitative meta-analysis of neurocognitive functioning in posttraumatic stress disorder. *Psychol Bull*. (2015) 141:105–40. doi: 10.1037/a0038039

12. Copeland WE, Shanahan L, Hinesley J, Chan RF, Aberg KA, Fairbank JA, et al. Association of childhood trauma exposure with adult psychiatric disorders and functional outcomes. *JAMA Network Open.* (2018) 1:e184493. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2018.4493

13. Herzog JI, Schmahl C. Adverse childhood experiences and the consequences on neurobiological, psychosocial, and somatic conditions across the lifespan. *Front Psychiatry.* (2018) 9:420. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00420

14. VanMeter F, Handley ED, Cicchetti D. The role of coping strategies in the pathway between child maltreatment and internalizing and externalizing behaviors. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2020) 101:104323. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.104323

15. Chang X, Jiang X, Mkandarwire T, Shen M. Associations between adverse childhood experiences and health outcomes in adults aged 18-59 years. *PLoS One.* (2019) 14:e0211850. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0211850

16. Choi NG, DiNitto DM, Marti CN, Segal SP. Adverse childhood experiences and suicide attempts among those with mental and substance use disorders. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2017) 69:252–62. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.04.024

17. Gloger S, Martínez P, Behn A, Chacón MV, Cottin M, Diez de Medina D, et al. Population-attributable risk of adverse childhood experiences for high suicide risk, psychiatric admissions, recurrent depression in depressed outpatients. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2021) 12:1874600. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2021.1874600

18. Petruccelli K, Davis J, Berman T. Adverse childhood experiences and associated health outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2019) 97:104127. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.104127

19. Merrick MT, Ford DC, Ports KA, Guinn AS. Prevalence of adverse childhood experiences from the 2011-2014 behavioral risk factor surveillance system in 23 states. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2018) 172:1038–44. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2018.2537

20. Sacks V, Murphey D. The prevalence of adverse childhood experiences, nationally, by state, and by race or ethnicity. *Child Trends*. (2018). Available online at: https://www.childtrends.org/publications/prevalence-adverse-childhood-experiences-nationally-state-race-ethnicity

21. Choi KR, Ford JD, Briggs EC, Munro-Kramer ML, Graham-Bermann SA, Seng JS. Relationships between maltreatment, posttraumatic symptomatology, and

the dissociative subtype of PTSD among adolescents. J Trauma Dissoc. (2019) 20:212-27. doi: 10.1080/15299732.2019.1572043

22. Cogan CM, Paquet CB, Lee JY, Miller KE, Crowley MD, Davis JL. Differentiating the symptoms of posttraumatic stress disorder and bipolar disorders in adults: Utilizing a trauma-informed assessment approach. *Clin Psychol Psychother*. (2021) 28:251–60. doi: 10.1002/cpp.2504

23. D'Andrea W, Ford J, Stolbach B, Spinazzola J, van der Kolk BA. Understanding interpersonal trauma in children: why we need a developmentally appropriate trauma diagnosis. *Am J Orthopsychiatry.* (2012) 82:187–200. doi: 10.1111/j.1939-0025.2012.01154.x

24. Ford JD, Spinazzola J, van der Kolk B, Grasso DJ. Toward an empirically based developmental trauma disorder diagnosis for children: Factor structure, item characteristics, reliability, and validity of the developmental trauma disorder semi-structured interview. *J Clin Psychiatry.* (2018) 79:17m11675. doi: 10.4088/JCP.17m11675

25. Greene T. Blame, PTSD and DSM-5: an urgent need for clarification. Eur J Psychotraumatol. (2018) 9:1468709. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2018.1468709

26. Morelli NM, Villodas MT. A systematic review of the validity, reliability, and clinical utility of Developmental Trauma Disorder (DTD) symptom criteria. *Clin Child Family Psychol Rev.* (2021) 25:376–94. doi: 10.1007/s10567-021-00374-0

27. Stover CS, Keeshin B. Research domain criteria and the study of trauma in children: Implications for assessment and treatment research. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2018) 64:77–86. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2016.11.002

28. van der Kolk B, Ford JD, Spinazzola J. Comorbidity of developmental trauma disorder (DTD) and post-traumatic stress disorder: Findings from the DTD field trial. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2019) 10:1562841. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2018.1562841

29. Herman JL. Complex PTSD: A syndrome in survivors of prolonged and repeated trauma. J Trauma Stress. (1992) 5:377-91. doi: 10.1002/jts.2490050305

30. Hyland P, Murphy J, Shevlin M, Vallières F, McElroy E, Elklit A, et al. Variation in post-traumatic response: the role of trauma type in predicting ICD-11 PTSD and CPTSD symptoms. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* (2017) 52:727–36. doi: 10.1007/s00127-017-1350-8

31. DePierro J, D'Andrea W, Spinazzola J, Stafford E, van Der Kolk B, Saxe G, et al. Beyond PTSD: Client presentations of developmental trauma disorder from a national survey of clinicians. *Psychol Trauma*. (2019). doi: 10.1037/tra0000532

32. Grusnick JM, Garacci E, Eiler C, Williams JS, Egede LE. The association between adverse childhood experiences and personality, emotions and affect: Does number and type of experiences matter? *J Res Pers.* (2020) 85:103908. doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2019.103908

33. Simon N, Roberts NP, Lewis CE, van Gelderen MJ, Bisson JI. Associations between perceived social support, posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and complex PTSD (CPTSD): Implications for treatment. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2019) 10:1573129. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2019.1573129

34. Spinazzola J, van der Kolk B, Ford JD. When nowhere is safe: Interpersonal trauma and attachment adversity as antecedents of posttraumatic stress disorder and developmental trauma disorder. *J Trauma Stress.* (2018) 31:631–642. doi: 10.1002/jts.22320

35. Carliner H, Keyes KM, McLaughlin KA, Meyers JL, Dunn EC, Martins SS. Childhood trauma and illicit drug use in adolescence: A population-based national comorbidity survey replication-adolescent supplement study. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. (2016) 55:701–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2016.05.010

36. Ford JD. Complex trauma and developmental trauma disorder in adolescence. *Adolesc Psychiatry.* (2017) 7:220–35. doi: 10.2174/2210676608666180112160419

37. Bernhard A, Martinelli A, Ackermann K, Saure D, Freitag CM. Association of trauma, posttraumatic stress disorder and conduct disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2018) 91:153–69. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2016.12.019

38. Craig SG, Bondi BC, O'Donnell KA, Pepler DJ, Weiss MD. ADHD and exposure to maltreatment in children and youth: A systematic review of the past 10 years. *Curr Psychiatry Rep.* (2020) 22:79. doi: 10.1007/s11920-020-01193-w

39. Dodds RL. An exploratory review of the associations between adverse experiences and autism. *J Aggression Maltreatment Trauma*. (2020) 30:1093–112. doi: 10.1080/10926771.2020.1783736

40. Grattan RE, Lara N, Botello RM, Tryon VL, Maguire AM, Carter CS, et al. A History of trauma is associated with aggression, depression, non-suicidal

self-injury behavior, and suicide ideation in first-episode psychosis. J Clin Med. (2019) 8:1082. doi: 10.3390/jcm8071082

41. Haruvi-Lamdan N, Horesh D, Golan O. PTSD and autism spectrum disorder: Co-morbidity, gaps in research, and potential shared mechanisms. *Psychol Trauma*. (2018) 10:290–9. doi: 10.1037/tra0000298

42. Oakley C, Harris S, Fahy T, Murphy D, Picchioni M. Childhood adversity and conduct disorder: A developmental pathway to violence in schizophrenia. *Schizophr Res.* (2016) 172:54–9. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016. 01.047

43. Beal SJ, Wingrove T, Mara CA, Lutz N, Noll JG, Greiner MV. Childhood adversity and associated psychosocial function in adolescents with complex trauma. *Child Youth Care Forum.* (2019) 48:305–22. doi: 10.1007/s10566-018-9479-5

44. Dokkedahl S, Kristensen TR, Murphy S, Ask E. The complex trauma of psychological violence: cross-sectional findings from a Cohort of four Danish Women Shelters. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2021) 12:1863580. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2020.1863580

45. Elliott R, McKinnon A, Dixon C, Boyle A, Murphy F, Dahm T, et al. Prevalence and predictive value of ICD-11 post-traumatic stress disorder and Complex PTSD diagnoses in children and adolescents exposed to a single-event trauma. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. (2021) 62:270–6. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.13240

46. Haselgruber A, Sölva K, Lueger-Schuster B. Symptom structure of ICD-11 Complex Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (CPTSD) in traumaexposed foster children: examining the International Trauma Questionnaire - Child and Adolescent Version (ITQ-CA). Eur J Psychotraumatol. (2020) 11:1818974. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2020.1818974

47. Haselgruber A, Sölva K, Lueger-Schuster B. Validation of ICD-11 PTSD and complex PTSD in foster children using the international trauma questionnaire. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2020) 141:60–73. doi: 10.1111/acps.13100

48. Haselgruber A, Knefel M, Sölva K, Lueger-Schuster B. Foster children's complex psychopathology in the context of cumulative childhood trauma: The interplay of ICD-11 complex PTSD dissociation, depression, emotion regulation. *J Affect Disord.* (2021) 282:372–80. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.12.116

49. Wamser-Nanney R, Campbell CL. Children's coping following sexual abuse: The roles of abuse characteristics, abuse stress, maternal support. *J Child Fam Stud.* (2020) 29:514–25. doi: 10.1007/s10826-019-01540-3

50. Wong CF, Clark LF, Marlotte L. The impact of specific and complex trauma on the mental health of homeless youth. *J Interpers Violence*. (2016) 31:831–54. doi: 10.1177/0886260514556770

51. Ben-Ezra M, Karatzias T, Hyland P, Brewin CR, Cloitre M, Bisson JI, et al. Posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and complex PTSD (CPTSD) as per ICD-11 proposals: A population study in Israel. *Depress Anxiety*. (2018) 35:264–74. doi: 10.1002/da.22723

52. Facer-Irwin E, Karatzias T, Bird A, Blackwood N, MacManus D. PTSD and complex PTSD in sentenced male prisoners in the UK: prevalence, trauma antecedents, psychiatric comorbidities. *Psychol Med.* (2021) 2021:1–11. doi: 10.1017/S003329172000 4936

53. Moore JL, Houck C, Hirway P, Barron CE, Goldberg AP. Trafficking experiences and psychosocial features of domestic minor sex trafficking victims. *J Interpers Violence*. (2020) 35:3148–63. doi: 10.1177/0886260517703373

54. Wamser-Nanney R, Cherry KE, Campbell C, Trombetta E. Racial differences in children's trauma symptoms following complex trauma exposure. *J Interpers Violence*. (2021) 36:2498–520. doi: 10.1177/0886260518760019

55. Cloitre M, Brewin CR, Kazlauskas E, Lueger-Schuster B, Karatzias T, Hyland P, et al. Commentary: The need for research on PTSD in children adolescents— A commentary on Elliot et al. (2020). *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. (2021) 62:277–9. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.13361

56. Kuhar M, Zager Kocjan G. Adverse childhood experiences and somatic symptoms in adulthood: A moderated mediation effects of disturbed self-organization and resilient coping. *Psychol Trauma*. (2021). doi: 10.1037/tra0001040

57. Shevlin M, Hyland P, Roberts NP, Bisson JI, Brewin CR, Cloitre M. A psychometric assessment of Disturbances in Self-Organization symptom indicators for ICD-11 Complex PTSD using the International Trauma Questionnaire. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2018) 9:1419749. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2017.1419749

58. Villalta L, Khadr S, Chua KC, Kramer T, Clarke V, Viner RM, et al. Complex post-traumatic stress symptoms in female adolescents: the role of emotion dysregulation in impairment and trauma exposure after an acute sexual assault. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2020) 11:1710400. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2019.17 10400

59. Hyland P, Karatzias T, Shevlin M, Cloitre M. Examining the discriminant validity of complex posttraumatic stress disorder and borderline personality

disorder symptoms: Results from a United Kingdom population sample. J Trauma Stress. (2019) 32:855-63. doi: 10.1002/jts.22444

60. Ehrenthal JC, Levy KN, Scott LN, Granger DA. Attachment-related regulatory processes moderate the impact of adverse childhood experiences on stress reaction in borderline personality disorder. *J Pers Disord.* (2018) 32:93–114. doi: 10.1521/pedi.2018.32.supp.93

61. Karatzias T, Jowett S, Begley A, Deas S. Early maladaptive schemas in adult survivors of interpersonal trauma: Foundations for a cognitive theory of psychopathology. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2016) 7:30713. doi: 10.3402/ejpt.v7.30713

62. Niemantsverdriet M, Slotema CW, Blom JD, Franken IH, Hoek HW, Sommer I, et al. Hallucinations in borderline personality disorder: Prevalence, characteristics and associations with comorbid symptoms and disorders. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:13920. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-13108-6

63. Wilde JL, Dozois DJA. A dyadic partner-schema model of relationship distress and depression: Conceptual integration of interpersonal theory and cognitive-behavioral models. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2019) 70:13–25. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2019.03.003

64. Ford JD, Courtois CA. Complex PTSD and borderline personality disorder. *Borderline Personality Disord Emotion Dysregul.* (2021) 8:16. doi: 10.1186/s40479-021-00155-9

65. Gekker M, Coutinho E, Berger W, Luz M, Araújo A, Pagotto L, et al. Early scars are forever: Childhood abuse in patients with adult-onset PTSD is associated with increased prevalence and severity of psychiatric comorbidity. *Psychiatry Res.* (2018) 267:1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.05.042

66. Jowett S, Karatzias T, Shevlin M, Albert I. Differentiating symptom profiles of ICD-11 PTSD complex PTSD, and borderline personality disorder: A latent class analysis in a multiply traumatized sample. *Personal Disord.* (2020) 11:36–45. doi: 10.1037/per0000346

67. Karatzias T, Hyland P, Bradley A, Cloitre M, Roberts NP, Bisson JI, et al. Risk factors and comorbidity of ICD-11 PTSD and complex PTSD: Findings from a trauma-exposed population based sample of adults in the United Kingdom. *Depress Anxiety.* (2019) 36:887–94. doi: 10.1002/da.22934

68. van Dijke A, Hopman J, Ford JD. Affect dysregulation, psychoform dissociation, and adult relational fears mediate the relationship between childhood trauma and complex posttraumatic stress disorder independent of the symptoms of borderline personality disorder. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2018) 9:1400878. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2017.1400878

69. Cooke JE, Racine N, Plamondon A, Tough S, Madigan S. Maternal adverse childhood experiences, attachment style, and mental health: Pathways of transmission to child behavior problems. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2019) 93:27–37. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.04.011

70. Jowett S, Karatzias T, Shevlin M, Hyland P. Psychological trauma at different developmental stages and ICD-11 CPTSD: The role of dissociation. *J Trauma Dissoc.* (2021) 2021:1–16. doi: 10.1080/15299732.2021. 1934936

71. Karatzias T, Shevlin M, Ford JD, Fyvie C, Grandison G, Hyland P, et al. Childhood trauma, attachment orientation, and complex PTSD (CPTSD) symptoms in a clinical sample: Implications for treatment. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2021) 2021:1–6. doi: 10.1017/S0954579420001509

72. Lewis SJ, Koenen KC, Ambler A, Arseneault L, Caspi A, Fisher HL, et al. Unravelling the contribution of complex trauma to psychopathology and cognitive deficits: a cohort study. *Br J Psychiatry.* (2021) 219:448–55. doi: 10.1192/bjp. 2021.57

73. van der Kolk BA, Roth S, Pelcovitz D, Sunday S, Spinazzola J. Disorders of extreme stress: The empirical foundation of a complex adaptation to trauma. *J Trauma Stress.* (2005) 18:389–99. doi: 10.1002/jts.20047

74. Zhang Y, Zhang J, Ding C. Investigating the association between parental absence and developmental trauma disorder symptoms. *J Trauma Stress.* (2019) 32:733–41. doi: 10.1002/jts.22446

75. van der Kolk B, Pynoos R, Cicchetti D, Cloitre M, D'Andrea W, Ford J, et al. Proposal to Include a Developmental Trauma Disorder Diagnosis for Children and Adolescents in DSM-V. (2009). Available online at: http://www.traumacenter.org/ announcements/dtd_papers_oct_09.pdf

76. Rogel A, Loomis AM, Hamlin E, Hodgdon H, Spinazzola J, van der Kolk B. The impact of neurofeedback training on children with developmental trauma: A randomized controlled study. *Psychol Trauma.* (2020) 12:918–29. doi: 10.1037/tra0000648

77. Trabsa A, Llimona A, Vargas L, Casanovas F, Martín M, Valiente A, et al. Comparison of developmental trauma between immigrant and non-immigrant psychotic patients. *Eur Psychiatry.* (2021) 64:S733-4. doi: 10.1192/j.eurpsy.2021.1943

78. Joos CM, McDonald A, Wadsworth ME. Extending the toxic stress model into adolescence: Profiles of cortisol reactivity. *Psychoneuroendocrinology.* (2019) 107:46–58. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.05.002

79. Shonkoff JP, Slopen N, Williams DR. Early childhood adversity, toxic stress, and the impacts of racism on the foundations of health. *Annu Rev Public Health.* (2021) 42:115–34. doi: 10.1146/annurev-publhealth-090419-101940

80. Darnell D, Flaster A, Hendricks K, Kerbrat A, Comtois KA. Adolescent clinical populations and associations between trauma and behavioral and emotional problems. *Psychol Trauma*. (2019) 11:266–73. doi: 10.1037/tra0000371

81. Schimmenti A, Caretti V. Linking the overwhelming with the unbearable: Developmental trauma, dissociation, and the disconnected self. *Psychoanal Psychol.* (2016) 33:106–28. doi: 10.1037/a0038019

82. Storvestre GB, Jensen A, Bjerke E, Tesli N, Rosaeg C, Friestad C, et al. Childhood trauma in persons with schizophrenia and a history of interpersonal violence. *Front Psychiatry*. (2020) 11:383. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00383

83. Blacker CJ, Frye MA, Morava E, Kozicz T, Veldic M. A review of epigenetics of PTSD in comorbid psychiatric conditions. *Genes.* (2019) 10:140. doi: 10.3390/genes10020140

84. Ford JD, Grasso D, Greene C, Levine J, Spinazzola J, van der Kolk B. Clinical significance of a proposed developmental trauma disorder diagnosis: results of an international survey of clinicians. *J Clin Psychiatry*. (2013) 74:841–9. doi: 10.4088/JCP.12m08030

85. Messman-Moore TL, Bhuptani PH. A review of the long-term impact of child maltreatment on posttraumatic stress disorder and its comorbidities: An emotion dysregulation perspective. *Clin Psychol: Sci Pract.* (2017) 24:154– 69. doi: 10.1111/cpsp.12193

86. Bryant RA. A critical review of mechanisms of adaptation to trauma: Implications for early interventions for posttraumatic stress disorder. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2021) 85:101981. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2021.101981

87. Church C, Andreassen OA, Lorentzen S, Melle I, Aas M. Childhood trauma and minimization/denial in people with and without a severe mental disorder. *Front Psychol.* (2017) 8:1276. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01276

88. MacDonald K, Thomas ML, Sciolla AF, Schneider B, Pappas K, Bleijenberg G, et al. Minimization of childhood maltreatment is common and consequential: Results from a large, multinational sample using the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0146058. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0146058

89. Altintas M, Bilici M. Evaluation of childhood trauma with respect to criminal behavior, dissociative experiences, adverse family experiences and psychiatric backgrounds among prison inmates. *Compr Psychiatry.* (2018) 82:100–7. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2017.12.006

90. Hébert M, Langevin R, Oussaïd E. Cumulative childhood trauma, emotion regulation, dissociation, and behavior problems in school-aged sexual abuse victims. J Affect Disord. (2018) 225:306–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.08.044

91. Heleniak C, Jenness JL, Stoep AV, McCauley E, McLaughlin KA. Childhood maltreatment exposure and disruptions in emotion regulation: A transdiagnostic pathway to adolescent internalizing and externalizing psychopathology. *Cognit Ther Res.* (2016) 40:394–415. doi: 10.1007/s10608-015-9735-z

92. Parsaik AK, Abdelgawad N, Chotalia JK, Lane SD, Pigott TA. Early-life trauma in hospitalized patients with mood disorders and its association with clinical outcomes. *J Psychiatr Pract.* (2017) 23:36–43. doi: 10.1097/PRA.00000000000202

93. Yoder J, Grady MD, Precht M. Relationships between early life victimization, antisocial traits, and sexual violence: Executive functioning as a mediator. *J Child Sex Abus.* (2019) 28:667–89. doi: 10.1080/10538712.2019. 1588819

94. Parker G, McCraw S, Bayes A. Borderline personality disorder: does its clinical features show specificity to differing developmental risk factors? *Austr Psychiatry.* (2018) 26:410–3. doi: 10.1177/10398562187 60732

95. Ford JD, Spinazzola J, van der Kolk B, Chan G. Toward an empirically based Developmental Trauma Disorder diagnosis and semi-structured interview for children: The DTD field trial replication. *Acta Psychiatrica Scand.* (2022) 2022:13424. doi: 10.1111/acps.13424

96. Foster AL, D'Andrea W, Fehertoi N, Healy CJ, Miller A. Assessing the validity and clinical utility of a developmental trauma diagnosis in ethnic minority adolescents. *J Child Adolesc Trauma.* (2019) 12:479–88. doi: 10.1007/s40653-019-00272-2

97. Danzi BA, La Greca AM. Optimizing clinical thresholds for PTSD: Extending the DSM-5 preschool criteria to school-age children. *Int J Clin Health Psychol.* (2017) 17:234–41. doi: 10.1016/j.ijchp.2017.07.001

98. De Young AC, Landolt MA. PTSD in children below the age of 6 years. *Curr Psychiatry Rep.* (2018) 20:97. doi: 10.1007/s11920-018-0966-z

99. Woolgar F, Garfield H, Dalgleish T, Meiser-Stedman R. Systematic review and meta-analysis: Prevalence of posttraumatic stress disorder in trauma-exposed preschool-aged children. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry.* (2021) 61:366–77. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2021.05.026

100. Boyraz G, Granda R, Baker CN, Tidwell LL, Waits JB. Posttraumatic stress, effort regulation, and academic outcomes among college students: A longitudinal study. *J Couns Psychol.* (2016) 63:475–86. doi: 10.1037/cou0000102

101. Cotter J, Lin A, Drake RJ, Thompson A, Nelson B, McGorry P, et al. Longterm employment among people at ultra-high risk for psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2017) 184:26–31. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2016.11.033

102. Topitzes J, Pate DJ, Berman ND, Medina-Kirchner C. Adverse childhood experiences, health, and employment: A study of men seeking job services. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2016) 61:23–34. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2016.09.012

103. Kelley AN, Curtis MG, Wieling E. Expanding the traumatic stress framework to incorporate a socioecological family systems perspective. *Family Process.* (2021) 61:476–89. doi: 10.1111/famp.12682

104. Choi JK, Wang D, Jackson AP. Adverse experiences in early childhood and their longitudinal impact on later behavioral problems of children living in poverty. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2019) 98:104181. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.104181

105. Wolff KT, Baglivio MT, Piquero AR. The relationship between adverse childhood experiences and recidivism in a sample of juvenile offenders in community-based treatment. *Int J Offender Ther Comp Criminol.* (2017) 61:1210–42. doi: 10.1177/0306624X15613992

106. Yoder JR, Hodge AI, Ruch D, Dillard R. Effects of childhood polyvictimization on victimization in juvenile correctional facilities: The mediating role of trauma symptomatology. *Youth Violence Juv Justice*. (2019) 17:129–53. doi: 10.1177/1541204018757038

107. Greene CA, Haisley L, Wallace C, Ford JD. Intergenerational effects of childhood maltreatment: A systematic review of the parenting practices of adult survivors of childhood abuse, neglect, and violence. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2020) 80:101891. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2020.101891

108. Meulewaeter F, De Pauw S, Vanderplasschen W. Mothering, substance use disorders and intergenerational trauma transmission: An attachment-based perspective. *Front Psychiatry*. (2019) 10:728. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00728

109. Montgomery E, Just-Østergaard E, Jervelund SS. Transmitting trauma: a systematic review of the risk of child abuse perpetrated by parents exposed to traumatic events. *Int J Public Health.* (2019) 64:241–51. doi: 10.1007/s00038-018-1185-4

110. Crouch E, Radcliff E, Brown M, Hung P. Exploring the association between parenting stress and a child's exposure to adverse childhood experiences (ACEs). *Child Youth Serv Rev.* (2019) 102:186–92. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2019.05.019

111. Jensen SK, Sezibera V, Murray SM, Brennan RT, Betancourt TS. Intergenerational impacts of trauma and hardship through parenting. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. (2021) 62:989–99. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.13359

112. Liu Y, Merritt DH. Familial financial stress and child internalizing behaviors: The roles of caregivers' maltreating behaviors and social services. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2018) 86:324–35. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2018.09.002

113. Vanderminden J, Hamby S, David-Ferdon C, Kacha-Ochana A, Merrick M, Simon TR, et al. Rates of neglect in a national sample: Child and family characteristics and psychological impact. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2019) 88:256–65. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2018.11.014

114. Lehavot K, Beckman KL, Chen JA, Simpson TL, Williams EC. Race/ethnicity and sexual orientation disparities in mental health, sexism, and social support among women veterans. *Psychol Sex Orientation Gender Diversity.* (2019) 6:347–58. doi: 10.1037/sgd0000333

115. López CM, Andrews AR, Chisolm AM, de Arellano MA, Saunders B, Kilpatrick DG. Racial/ethnic differences in trauma exposure and mental health disorders in adolescents. *Cult Diversity Ethnic Minority Psychol.* (2017) 23:382–7. doi: 10.1037/cdp0000126

116. Herta D, Nemes B, Cozman D. Cognitive appraisal of exposure to specific types of trauma - a study of gender differences. *BMC Women's Health.* (2017) 17:111. doi: 10.1186/s12905-017-0468-x

117. Cisler JM. Childhood trauma and functional connectivity between amygdala and medial prefrontal cortex: A dynamic functional connectivity and large-scale network perspective. *Front Syst Neurosci.* (2017) 11:29. doi: 10.3389/fnsys.2017.00029

118. Cross D, Fani N, Powers A, Bradley B. Neurobiological development in the context of childhood trauma. *Clin Psychol: Sci Pract.* (2017) 24:111-124. doi: 10.1111/cpsp.12198

119. Danese A, Baldwin JR. Hidden wounds? Inflammatory links between childhood trauma and psychopathology. *Ann Rev Psychol.* (2017) 68:517-44. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-010416-044208

120. Kavanaugh BC, Dupont-Frechette JA, Jerskey BA, Holler KA. Neurocognitive deficits in children and adolescents following maltreatment: Neurodevelopmental consequences and neuropsychological implications of traumatic stress. *Appl Neuropsychol Child.* (2017) 6:64–78. doi: 10.1080/21622965.2015.1079712

121. Kira IA, Shuweikh H, Al-Huwailiah A, El-Wakeel SA, Waheep NN, Ebada EE, et al. The direct and indirect impact of trauma types and cumulative stressors and traumas on executive functions. *Appl Neuropsychol.* (2020) 2020:1–17. doi: 10.1080/23279095.2020.1848835

122. Lu S, Xu R, Cao J, Yin Y, Gao W, Wang D, et al. The left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex volume is reduced in adults reporting childhood trauma independent of depression diagnosis. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2019) 112:12–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2019.02.014

123. Luby JL, Tillman R, Barch DM. Association of timing of adverse childhood experiences and caregiver support with regionally specific brain development in adolescents. *JAMA Network Open.* (2019) 2:e1911426. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.11426

124. van Rooij SJH, Cross D, Stevens JS, Vance LA, Kim YJ, Bradley B, et al. Maternal buffering of fear-potentiated startle in children and adolescents with trauma exposure. *Soc Neurosci.* (2017) 12:22–31. doi: 10.1080/17470919.2016.1164244

125. Cisler JM, Privratsky A, Smitherman S, Herringa RJ, Kilts CD. Largescale brain organization during facial emotion processing as a function of early life trauma among adolescent girls. *NeuroImage Clin.* (2017) 17:778– 85. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2017.12.001

126. Frijling JL. Preventing PTSD with oxytocin: Effects of oxytocin administration on fear neurocircuitry and PTSD symptom development in recently trauma-exposed individuals. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2017) 8:1302652. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2017.1302652

127. Hambrick EP, Brawner TW, Perry BD. Timing of early-life stress and the development of brain-related capacities. *Front Behav Neurosci.* (2019) 13:183. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2019.00183

128. Norrholm SD, Jovanovic T. Fear processing, psychophysiology, and PTSD. Harv Rev Psychiatry. (2018) 26:129-41. doi: 10.1097/HRP.000000000000189

129. Oh SJ, Nam KR, Lee N, Kang KJ, Lee KC, Lee YJ, et al. Developmental complex trauma induces the dysfunction of the amygdala-mPFC circuit in the serotonergic and dopaminergic systems. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2022) 605:104–10. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2022.03.069

130. Thomason ME, Marusak HA. Toward understanding the impact of trauma on the early developing human brain. *Neuroscience.* (2017) 342:55-67. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.02.022

131. Kaczmarczyk M, Wingenfeld K, Kuehl LK, Otte C, Hinkelmann K. Childhood trauma and diagnosis of major depression: Association with memory and executive function. *Psychiatry Res.* (2018) 270:880–6. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.10.071

132. Vargas T, Lam PH, Azis M, Osborne KJ, Lieberman A, Mittal VA. Childhood trauma and neurocognition in adults with psychotic disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Schizophr Bull.* (2019) 45:1195–208. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sby150

133. Motsan S, Yirmiya K, Feldman R. Chronic early trauma impairs emotion recognition and executive functions in youth; specifying biobehavioral precursors of risk and resilience. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2021) 2021:1–14. doi: 10.1017/S0954579421000067

134. Peters AT, Ren X, Bessette KL, Goldstein BI, West AE, Langenecker SA, et al. Interplay between pro-inflammatory cytokines, childhood trauma, and executive function in depressed adolescents. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2019) 114:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2019.03.030

135. Philip NS, Sweet LH, Tyrka AR, Carpenter SL, Albright SE, Price LH, et al. Exposure to childhood trauma is associated with altered nback activation and performance in healthy adults: Implications for a commonly used working memory task. *Brain Imaging Behav.* (2016) 10:124– 35. doi: 10.1007/s11682-015-9373-9

136. McLaughlin KA, DeCross SN, Jovanovic T, Tottenham N. Mechanisms linking childhood adversity with psychopathology: Learning as an intervention target. *Behav Res Ther.* (2019) 118:101–9. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2019.04.008

137. Rezaie R, Modaffar M, Jung P, Hindocha C, Bisby JA, Bloomfield MAP. The effects of developmental trauma on reinforcement learning and its relationship to psychotic experiences: A behavioural study. *bioRxiv*. (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.11.18.20234112

138. Herzog S, DePierro J, D'Andrea W. Driven to distraction: Childhood trauma and dissociation, but not PTSD symptoms, are related to threat avoidance. *Eur J Trauma Dissoc.* (2018) 2:179–87. doi: 10.1016/j.ejtd.2018. 03.001

139. Hosseini Ramaghani NA, Rezaei F, Sepahvandi MA, Gholamrezaei S, Mirderikvand F. The mediating role of the metacognition, time perspectives and experiential avoidance on the relationship between childhood trauma and post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2019) 10:1648173. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2019.1648173

140. Win E, Zainal NH, Newman MG. Trait anger expression mediates childhood trauma predicting for adulthood anxiety, depressive, and alcohol use disorders. J Affect Disord. (2021) 288:114–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2021.03.086

141. McLaughlin KA, Colich NL, Rodman AM, Weismann DG. Mechanisms linking childhood trauma exposure and psychopathology: A transdiagnostic model of risk and resilience. *BMC Med.* (2020) 18:96. doi: 10.1186/s12916-020-01561-6

142. Andorko ND, Millman ZB, Klingaman E, Medoff D, Kline E, DeVylder J, et al. Association between sleep, childhood trauma and psychosis-like experiences. *Schizophr Res.* (2018) 199:333–40. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2018.02.052

143. Pedrotti Moreira F, Wiener CD, Jansen K, Portela LV, Lara DR, Souza L, et al. Childhood trauma and increased peripheral cytokines in young adults with major depressive: Population-based study. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2018) 319:112–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2018.02.018

144. Bryant RA, Creamer M, O'Donnell M, Forbes D, Felmingham KL, Silove D, et al. Separation from parents during childhood trauma predicts adult attachment security and post-traumatic stress disorder. *Psychol Med.* (2017) 47:2028–35. doi: 10.1017/S0033291717000472

145. Giovanardi G, Vitelli R, Maggiora Vergano C, Fortunato A, Chianura L, Lingiardi V, et al. Attachment patterns and complex trauma in a sample of adults diagnosed with gender dysphoria. *Front Psychol.* (2018) 9:60. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00060

146. Kong SS, Kang DR, Oh MJ, Kim NH. Attachment insecurity as a mediator of the relationship between childhood trauma and adult dissociation. *J Trauma Dissoc.* (2018) 19:214–31. doi: 10.1080/15299732.2017.1329772

147. Lin HC, Yang Y, Elliott L, Green E. Individual differences in attachment anxiety shape the association between adverse childhood experiences and adult somatic symptoms. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2020) 101:104325. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.104325

148. Poole JC, Dobson KS, Pusch D. Do adverse childhood experiences predict adult interpersonal difficulties? The role of emotion dysregulation. *Child Abuse Neglect.* (2018) 80:123–33. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2018.03.006

149. Charak R, Ford JD, Modrowski CA, Kerig PK. Polyvictimization, emotion dysregulation, symptoms of posttraumatic stress disorder, and behavioral health problems among justice-involved youth: a latent class analysis. *J Abnorm Child Psychol.* (2019) 47:287–98. doi: 10.1007/s10802-018-0431-9

150. Choi KR, Stewart T, Fein E, McCreary M, Kenan KN, Davies JD, et al. The impact of attachment-disrupting adverse childhood experiences on child behavioral health. *J Pediatr.* (2020) 221:224–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2020.03.006

151. Luyten P, Campbell C, Allison E, Fonagy P. The mentalizing approach to psychopathology: State of the art and future directions. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol.* (2020) 16:297–325. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-071919-015355

152. Berthelot N, Lemieux R, Garon-Bissonnette J, Lacharit, C, Muzik M. The protective role of mentalizing: Reflective functioning as a mediator between child maltreatment, psychopathology and parental attitude in expecting parents. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2019) 95:104065. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2019.104065

153. Euler S, Nolte T, Constantinou M, Griem J, Montague PR, Fonagy P. Interpersonal problems in borderline personality disorder: Associations with mentalizing, emotion regulation, and impulsiveness. *J Pers Disord*. (2021) 35:177–93. doi: 10.1521/pedi_2019_33_427

154. Huang YL, Fonagy P, Feigenbaum J, Montague PR, Nolte T. Multidirectional pathways between attachment, mentalizing, and posttraumatic stress symptomatology in the context of childhood trauma. *Psychopathology.* (2020) 53:48–58. doi: 10.1159/000506406

155. Hyatt CJ, Calhoun VD, Pittman B, Corbera S, Bell MD, Rabany L, et al. Default mode network modulation by mentalizing in young adults with autism spectrum disorder or schizophrenia. *NeuroImage Clin.* (2020) 27:102343. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2020.102343

156. Kristiansen VR, Handeland TB, Lau B, Søderstrøm K, Håkansson U, Øie MG. Trauma in childhood and adolescence and impaired executive functions are associated with uncertain reflective functioning in mothers with substance use disorder. *Add Behav Rep.* (2019) 11:100245. doi: 10.1016/j.abrep.2019. 100245

157. Penner F, Gambin M, Sharp C. Childhood maltreatment and identity diffusion among inpatient adolescents: The role of reflective function. *J Adolesc.* (2019) 76:65–74. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2019.08.002

158. Protic S, Wittmann L, Taubner S, Dimitrijevic A. Differences in attachment dimensions and reflective functioning between traumatized juvenile offenders

and maltreated non-delinquent adolescents from care services. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2020) 103:104420. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104420

159. Sibley MH, Ortiz M, Graziano P, Dick A, Estrada E. Metacognitive and motivation deficits, exposure to trauma, and high parental demands characterize adolescents with late-onset ADHD. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry.* (2020) 29:537–48. doi: 10.1007/s00787-019-01382-w

160. Brake CA, Jones AC, Wakefield JR, Badour CL. Mental contamination and trauma: Understanding posttraumatic stress, risky behaviors, help-seeking attitudes. *J Obsessive Compuls Relat Disord.* (2018) 17:31–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jocrd.2017.08.010

161. Ojserkis R, McKay D, Lebeaut A. Associations between mental contamination, disgust, and obsessive-compulsive symptoms in the context of trauma. *J Obsessive Compuls Relat Disord.* (2018) 17:23–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jocrd.2017.09.002

162. Sambuco N, Bradley M, Herring D, Hillbrandt K, Lang PJ. Transdiagnostic trauma severity in anxiety and mood disorders: Functional brain activity during emotional scene processing. *Psychophysiology.* (2020) 57:e13349. doi: 10.1111/psyp.13349

163. Snyder HR, Friedman NP, Hankin BL. Transdiagnostic mechanisms of psychopathology in youth: Executive functions, dependent stress, and rumination. *Cognit Ther Res.* (2019) 43:834–51. doi: 10.1007/s10608-019-10016-z

164. Lund JI, Toombs E, Radford A, Boles K, Mushquash C. Adverse childhood experiences and executive function difficulties in children: A systematic review. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2020) 106:104485. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104485

165. Carvalho JN, Renner AM, Donat JC, de Moura TC, Fonseca RP, Kristensen CH. Executive functions and clinical symptoms in children exposed to maltreatment. *Appl Neuropsychol Child.* (2020) 9:1-12. doi: 10.1080/21622965.2018.1497989

166. Op den Kelder R, Van den Akker AL, Geurts HM, Lindauer RJ, Overbeek G. Executive functions in trauma-exposed youth: A meta-analysis. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2018) 9:1450595. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2018.1450595

167. Blodgett C, Lanigan JD. The association between adverse childhood experience (ACE) and school success in elementary school children. *School Psychol Q*. (2018) 33:137–46. doi: 10.1037/spq0000256

168. Manyema M, Norris SA, Richter LM. Stress begets stress: the association of adverse childhood experiences with psychological distress in the presence of adult life stress. *BMC Public Health.* (2018) 18:835. doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-5767-0

169. John SG, Brandt TW, Secrist ME, Mesman GR, Sigel BA, Kramer TL. Empirically-guided assessment of complex trauma for children in foster care: A focus on appropriate diagnosis of attachment concerns. *Psychol Serv.* (2019) 16:120–133. doi: 10.1037/ser0000263

170. Spinazzola J, van der Kolk B, Ford JD. Developmental trauma disorder: a legacy of attachment trauma in victimized children. J Trauma Stress. (2021) 34:711–720. doi: 10.1002/jts.22697

171. Dackis MN, Rogosch FA, Cicchetti D. Child maltreatment, callousunemotional traits, and defensive responding in high-risk children: An investigation of emotion-modulated startle response. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2015) 27:1527–45. doi: 10.1017/S0954579415000929

172. Gorka SM. Interpersonal trauma exposure and startle reactivity to uncertain threat in individuals with alcohol use disorder. *Drug Alcohol Depend.* (2020) 206:107727. doi: 10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.107727

173. Wamser-Nanney R, Cherry KE. Children's trauma-related symptoms following complex trauma exposure: Evidence of gender differences. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2018) 77:188–97. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2018.01.009

174. Birkeland MS, Skar A-MS, Jensen TK. Understanding the relationships between trauma type and individual posttraumatic stress symptoms: a cross-sectional study of a clinical sample of children and adolescents. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. (2022). doi: 10.1111/jcpp.13602

175. Campbell AA, Wisco BE, Silvia PJ, Gay NG. Resting respiratory sinus arrhythmia and posttraumatic stress disorder: A meta-analysis. *Biol Psychol.* (2019) 144:125–35. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsycho.2019.02.005

176. Campbell AA, Wisco BE. Respiratory sinus arrhythmia reactivity in anxiety and posttraumatic stress disorder: A review of literature. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2021) 87:102034. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2021.102034

177. Gray S, Lipschutz RS, Scheeringa MS. Young children's physiological reactivity during memory recall: Associations with posttraumatic stress and parent physiological synchrony. *J Abnorm Child Psychol.* (2018) 46:871–80. doi: 10.1007/s10802-017-0326-1

178. Ford JD, Spinazzola J, van der Kolk B. Psychiatric comorbidity of developmental trauma disorder and posttraumatic stress disorder: findings from the DTD field trial replication (DTDFT-R). *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2021) 12:1929028. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2021.1929028

179. Post RM, Altshuler LL, Kupka R, McElroy SL, Frye MA, Rowe M, et al. Verbal abuse, like physical and sexual abuse, in childhood is associated with an earlier onset and more difficult course of bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disord.* (2015) 17:323–30. doi: 10.1111/bdi.12268

180. Siegfried CB, Blackshear K. National Child Traumatic Stress Network, with Assistance from the National Resource Center on ADHD: A Program of Children and Adults with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (CHADD) Is it ADHD or child traumatic stress? A Guide for Clinicians. Los Angeles, CA; Durham, NC: National Center for Child Traumatic Stress (2016).

181. Stern A, Agnew-Blais J, Danese A, Fisher HL, Jaffee SR, Matthews T, et al. Associations between abuse/neglect and ADHD from childhood to young adulthood: A prospective nationally-representative twin study. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2018) 81:274–85. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2018.04.025

182. Thompson R, Lewis T, Neilson EC, English DJ, Litrownik AJ, Margolis B, et al. Child maltreatment and risky sexual behavior: Indirect effects through trauma symptoms and substance use. *Child Maltreat.* (2017) 22:69–78. doi: 10.1177/1077559516674595

183. Castellini G, Lelli L, Cassioli E, Ciampi E, Zamponi F, Campone B, et al. Different outcomes, psychopathological features, and comorbidities in patients with eating disorders reporting childhood abuse: A 3-year follow-up study. *Eur Eating Disord Rev.* (2018) 26:217–29. doi: 10.1002/erv.2586

184. Crouch E, Radcliff E, Hung P, Bennett K. Challenges to school success and the role of adverse childhood experiences. *Acad Pediatr.* (2019) 19:899–907. doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2019.08.006

185. Stempel H, Cox-Martin M, Bronsert M, Dickinson LM, Allison MA. Chronic school absenteeism and the role of adverse childhood experiences. *Acad Pediatr.* (2017) 17:837–43. doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2017.09.013

186. Hardcastle K, Bellis MA, Ford K, Hughes K, Garner J, Ramos Rodriguez G. Measuring the relationships between adverse childhood experiences and educational and employment success in England and Wales: Findings from a retrospective study. *Public Health.* (2018) 165:106–16. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2018.09.014

187. Lee H, Kim Y, Terry J. Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) on mental disorders in young adulthood: Latent classes and community violence exposure. *Prevent Med.* (2020) 134:106039. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106039

188. Pournaghash-Tehrani SS, Zamanian H, Amini-Tehrani M. The impact of relational adverse childhood experiences on suicide outcomes during early and young adulthood. *J Interpers Violence.* (2021) 36:8627–51. doi: 10.1177/0886260519852160

189. Felitti VJ, Anda RF, Nordenberg D, Williamson DF, Spitz AM, Edwards V, et al. Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults: The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) study. *Am J Prev Med.* (2019) 56:774–86. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2019.04.001

190. Shin SH, McDonald SE, Conley D. Patterns of adverse childhood experiences and substance use among young adults: A latent class analysis. *Addict Behav.* (2018) 78:187–92. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2017.11.020

191. Wang L, An CX, Song M, Li N, Gao YY, Zhao XC, et al. Evaluation of childhood traumatic experience as a risk factor for alcohol use disorder in adulthood. *BMC Psychiatry.* (2020) 20:15. doi: 10.1186/s12888-020-2428-5

192. McRae EM, Stoppelbein L, O'Kelley SE, Fite P, Smith SB. An examination of post-traumatic stress symptoms and aggression among children with a history of adverse childhood experiences. *J Psychopathol Behav Assessment*. (2021) 43:657–70. doi: 10.1007/s10862-021-09884-1

193. Metzler M, Merrick MT, Klevens J, Ports KA, Ford DC. Adverse childhood experiences and life opportunities: Shifting the narrative. *Child Youth Serv Rev.* (2017) 72:141–9. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2016.10.021

194. Vaughn-Coaxum RA, Wang Y, Kiely J, Weisz JR, Dunn EC. Associations between trauma type, timing, and accumulation on current coping behaviors in adolescents: Results from a large, population-based sample. *J Youth Adolesc.* (2018) 47:842–58. doi: 10.1007/s10964-017-0693-5

195. Yirmiya K, Djalovski A, Motsan S, Zagoory-Sharon O, Feldman R. Stress and immune biomarkers interact with parenting behavior to shape anxiety symptoms in trauma-exposed youth. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2018) 98:153– 60. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2018.08.016

196. Crittenden PM, Heller MB. The roots of chronic posttraumatic stress disorder: Childhood trauma, information processing, self-protective strategies. *Chronic Stress.* (2017) 1:1–13. doi: 10.1177/2470547016682965

197. Ford JD. Understanding the intersection of borderline personality and somatoform disorders: A developmental trauma disorder framework. *Clin Psychol: Sci Pract.* (2018) 25:e12243. doi: 10.1111/cpsp.12243

198. Koball AM, Domoff SE, Klevan J, Olson-Dorff D, Borgert A, Rasmussen C. The impact of adverse childhood experiences on healthcare utilization

in children. Child Abuse Negl. (2021) 111:104797. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2020. 104797

199. Voorendonk EM, De Jongh A, Rozendaal L, Van Minnen A. Trauma-focused treatment outcome for complex PTSD patients: results of an intensive treatment programme. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2020) 11:1783955. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2020.1783955

200. Hughes D. Dyadic Developmental Psychotherapy (DDP): An attachment-focused family treatment for developmental trauma. *Austr New Zealand J Family Therapy*. (2017) 38:595–605. doi: 10.1002/anzf.1273

201. Karatzias T, Murphy P, Cloitre M, Bisson J, Roberts N, Shevlin M, et al. Psychological interventions for ICD-11 complex PTSD symptoms: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychol Med.* (2019) 49:1761–75. doi: 10.1017/S0033291719000436

202. Bloomfield M, Yusuf F, Srinivasan R, Kelleher I, Bell V, Pitman A. Trauma-informed care for adult survivors of developmental trauma with psychotic and dissociative symptoms: a systematic review of intervention studies. *Lancet Psychiatry.* (2020) 7:449–62. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)3 0041-9

203. Coventry PA, Meader N, Melton H, Temple M, Dale H, Wright K, et al. Psychological and pharmacological interventions for posttraumatic stress disorder and comorbid mental health problems following complex traumatic events: Systematic review and component network meta-analysis. *PLoS Med.* (2020) 17:e1003262. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1003262

204. McGuire A, Steele RG, Singh MN. Systematic review on the application of Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (TF-CBT) for preschool-aged children. *Clin Child Fam Psychol Rev.* (2021) 24:20–37. doi: 10.1007/s10567-020-00334-0

205. Cohen JA, Mannarino AP. Trauma-focused cognitive behavior therapy for traumatized children and families. *Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am.* (2015) 24:557–70. doi: 10.1016/j.chc.2015.02.005

206. Kameg BN, Fradkin D. Adverse childhood experiences in youth: Traumainformed assessment, diagnosis, and management. *J Nurse Practitioners*. (2021) 17:87–92. doi: 10.1016/j.nurpra.2020.04.026

207. Cloitre M, Hyland P, Bisson JI, Brewin CR, Roberts NP, Karatzias T, et al. ICD-11 posttraumatic stress disorder and complex posttraumatic stress disorder in the United States: A population-based study. *J Trauma Stress.* (2019) 32:833–42. doi: 10.1002/jts.22454

208. Russell JD, Keding TJ, He Q, Li JJ, Herringa RJ. Childhood exposure to interpersonal violence is associated with greater transdiagnostic integration of psychiatric symptoms. *Psychol Med.* (2020) 2020:1–9. doi: 10.1017/S0033291720003712

209. Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. *Trauma-Informed Care in Behavioral Health Services. Treatment Improvement Protocol (TIP) Series 57. HHS Publication No. (SMA) 13-4801.* Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (2014).

210. Berger E. Multi-tiered approaches to trauma-informed care in schools: A systematic review. *School Ment Health.* (2019) 11:650– 64. doi: 10.1007/s12310-019-09326-0

211. Branson CE, Baetz CL, Horwitz SM, Hoagwood KE. Traumainformed juvenile justice systems: A systematic review of definitions and core components. *Psychol Trauma*. (2017) 9:635–46. doi: 10.1037/tra00 00255

212. Matlin SL, Champine RB, Strambler MJ, O'Brien C, Hoffman E, Whitson M, et al. A community's response to adverse childhood experiences: Building a resilient, trauma-informed community. *Am J Community Psychol.* (2019) 64:451–66. doi: 10.1002/ajcp.12386

213. Achterhof R, Huntjens R, Meewisse ML, Kiers H. Assessing the application of latent class and latent profile analysis for evaluating the construct validity of complex posttraumatic stress disorder: cautions and limitations. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2019) 10:1698223. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2019.1698223

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Jean Marc Guile, University of Picardie Jules Verne, France

REVIEWED BY Pamela Schuetze, University at Buffalo, United States Srinivas Dannaram, Banner Health, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Yunfan Chen cyf@hunnu.edu.cn

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Adolescent and Young Adult Psychiatry,

a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 23 March 2022 ACCEPTED 20 July 2022 PUBLISHED 09 August 2022

CITATION

Chen Y (2022) Adverse childhood experiences and behavioral problems in early adolescence: An empirical study of chinese children. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:896379. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.896379

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Adverse childhood experiences and behavioral problems in early adolescence: An empirical study of chinese children

Yunfan Chen*

College of Marxism, Hunan Normal University, Changsha, China

The aim of the present study was to examine the relationships between ACEs and behavioral problems of children in their early adolescence in Chinese society. Results from bivariate analyses of 2,910 Chinese children in early adolescence indicated that children begin to exhibit behavioral problems being related to the exposure of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs). Compared to those with 0 ACEs, children with 4 or more ACEs were 4.45 times (p < 0.001), 4.44 times (p < 0.001), 7.80 times (p < 0.001), 4.49 times (p < 0.001) more likely to demonstrate hyperactivity, peer communication problems, pro-social problems, emotional problems and conduct problems, respectively. Rural children, children of mothers with low education, and boys were particularly likely to have been exposed to multiple categories of ACE. This study evidenced that there was a strong association between exposure to ACEs and behavioral problems in early adolescence in China.

KEYWORDS

adverse childhood experiences, children, behavioral problems, experience study, Chinese children

Introduction

Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) are potentially traumatic events that occur in childhood, such as experiencing violence, abuse, or neglect, witnessing violence at home and having a family member attempt to commit suicide (1). They also include aspects of a child's environment that can undermine their sense of safety, stability, and bonding, such as growing up in a household with substance abuse, mental health problems, or instability owing to parental separation, or the incarceration of a parent, sibling, or other member of a household (1). The current large-scale study on the relationship between ACEs and adult health was initiated based on the collaboration between the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the Kaiser Permanente Health Assessment Clinic in San Diego. According to the Center's original ACE questionnaire, 7 types of ACEs: 3 types of child abuse (psychological, physical, and sexual) and 4 types of family dysfunction (violent treatment of mother, living without family members, drug abuse, mental health patients or suicide, or imprisonment) were assessed. Subsequent ACE studies incorporated neglect and parental divorce or separation into the ACE index (2). A large number of studies have examined the relationship between ACEs and the risks of adult health issues. ACEs (such as child abuse and family dysfunction) that affect adult health problems (such as liver disease and depression) have been tested widely (3, 4). Numerous investigators have reported the link between ACE exposure and social and health problems, including cigarette smoking (5), autoimmune disease (6), depressive disorders (7), and use of psychotropic medications (8). Despite this growing body of literature, the proximal effects of ACEs on behavioral outcomes of early adolescence have been underestimated. The current study prospectively examine the relationships between ACEs and behavioral problems of nearly 3,000 children in their early adolescence in Chinese society.

ACEs and child behavior research

There is a significant positive correlation between childhood psychological abuse and adolescent aggressive behavior (9). The experience of child abuse is directly related to the aggression behavior in a university (10). Child emotional abuse, poor parent-child relationship patterns, and a father's strict parenting behaviors, all act as risk factors that provoke the augment against adolescent borderline personality disorder. ACEs can also cause Internet addiction and suicide among adolescents (11). The number of risk factors is closely related to the development outcome of children. The mental health disorder risks of individuals with two or four risk factors are 4-10 times that of individuals with no risk factors (12). The analysis of existing studies shows that ACEs has a certain correlation with adolescents' emotion, hyperactivity and aggressive behavior. Children with behavioral problems (including emotional symptoms, conduct problems, hyperactivity, peer communication, and pro-social factors) are more likely to encounter risks during adolescence, including smoking (13), substance abuse (14), and obesity (15), etc.

Differences exist in the risk of adversity in families across levels of socioeconomic advantage. Children are more likely to be victims of child maltreatment if they come from low-income or single-parent households (16). Children in socioeconomically disadvantaged families will have greater exposure to ACE categories compared to those of higher socioeconomic advantage (17).

Current research

Early adolescence can be described as a period of life, typically occurring between the ages of 10 and 15 years, in which the youth undergo rapid physical, cognitive, and social transformation (18). In recent years, children aged 12–14 are more likely to have behavioral problems in China. Chinese

experts in psychology, nursing, and other disciplines have drawn inspiration from the CDC-Kaiser ACE's link between ACE exposure and a wide range of physical and mental health outcomes to a certain extent. However, one weakness in these studies is the reliance on data in a certain school or a given area. This limited reliance is prone to a recall bias and a measurement error. Subgroup difference analyses are rare, so less is known about whether ACEs can have similar effects on more socially and economically diverse subgroups. These literatures that have linked childhood adversity to a wide range of health problems in adulthood overlooks the proximal effects of ACEs by primarily focusing on outcomes in adulthood. The research on the proximal relation can provide support for the precise intervention of youth social work in advance, so as to avoid further deterioration of adverse effects.

Methods

Data source and quality control

The data used in this study are from the survey data of the "high risk family child protection system research" in 2017. Entrusted by the National Social Science Fund, the project is jointly carried out by Policy Research Center of the Ministry of Civil Affairs of the People's Republic of China and Hunan Normal University. The total survey sample is 2,862 district and county junior high school students in the whole nation. The survey adopts multi-stage cluster random sampling method, based on the number of students in the district and county. First, 50 districts and counties were selected from all districts and counties in China by PPS method. Then a junior middle school was selected from each county according to the systematic random method. Furthermore, a class was randomly selected from each junior high school in Grade One, Grade Two and Grade Three of junior high school. Finally, we selected three rows according to the position of students' seats in the class (usually there are 5-6 rows in each class). The students with informed consent in this class were investigated. The final sample of the survey includes 57 classes of Grade one, 52 classes of Grade Two and 41 classes of Grade Three in 20 provinces and cities. A total of 3,000 questionnaires were distributed, and 2,950 were returned. After strict screening and elimination of invalid questionnaires (e.g., child abuse measurement scales with over three missing values in each indicator measurement), a total of 2,910 valid questionnaires were collected. The proportion of cases with missing data is 19%; therefore, multiple imputation is used to deal with the missing values in the analysis samples. In this study, all variables used in the statistical model were included in the multiple imputation calculation model, and 24 independent data sets were obtained after imputing missing values, than this data set was statistical analysis, and finally the analysis results were summarized. All the descriptive statistics

and model outputs in this paper are the results of missing value processing. The results of multiple interpolations are similar to those of direct deletion method.

To ensure the privacy of the respondents and to enhance the quality of investigation, the investigation team signed a confidentiality agreement with the schools and the respondents, and obtained the consent of the parents and children before collecting data. To ensure quality, the only those who were qualified to provide psychological consultation services were selected as investigators; the investigators underwent training on providing psychological and support services for children; the questionnaire was filled in the enclosed environment provided by the school in spare time and all completed questionnaires were collected by the investigators from the seat of the respondents with no interventions; and rigorous screenings were employed to remove questionnaires with missing values. The respondents are required to maintain a distance of 1 m between their positions when filling out the questionnaire. On the one hand, it is to protect the privacy of participants and prevent participants from being laughed at or labeled; On the other hand, it is also to obtain real data, so that the respondents can express their true situation and ideas in the context of respecting their privacy.

Measurement

After the CDC-Kaiser and domestic research in China, ACEs including 5 types of child abuse and 11 types of family dysfunction faced by children in early adolescence (12–14 years), were investigated in this study. Child abuse comprises emotional, physical, and sexual abuse, and emotional and physical neglect. Family dysfunction covers divorce, witnessing domestic violence, parental disability, parental alcohol abuse, parental drug abuse, parental suicidal intention, parents leaving home, poor living environment, scolding, parental gambling, and parental criminal records.

Child abuse

In this study, childhood trauma questionnaire (CTQ) was used to examine maltreatment (19). The Chinese version of the questionnaire has good reliability and validity, and is widely used to measure child abuse (20, 21). The CTQ was split into five factors (emotional, physical, and sexual abuse, and emotional and physical neglect). Each factor table covered five items. Each item adopted a 5-point Likert scale type score score (0 = "never," 1 = "occasionally," 2 = "sometimes," 3 = "often," and 4 = "always") (19). The five factor scores for each item were summed and then converted into dichotomous variables (if the total score is 0, variable value will be defined as 0; if the total score is 1 or more, variable value will be defined as 1). The statistical results showed that the reliability and validity of the scale were less affected by the re evaluation. Emotional abuse was measured using five items, such as "someone in the family calls me 'stupid guy' and 'I think my parents hate me' ($\alpha = 0.775$)". Physical abuse was measured using five items, such as "someone hits me at home heavily," and "I have to go to the hospital," etc. ($\alpha = 0.793$). Sexual abuse was measured using five items, such as "someone intimidates or tempts me to do sexual things with him/her" ($\alpha = 0.776$). Emotional neglect was measured using five items, such as "someone in the family makes me feel unimportant" ($\alpha = 0.802$). Physical neglect was measured using five items, such as "I am not eating enough," and "I often wear dirty clothes" ($\alpha = 0.708$). The scale can be used to measure the abuse that happened to the respondents before age 10.

Family dysfunction

Family dysfunction refers to the functional failure of family in the process of care and education of children, which mainly includes: absence of family role (such as divorce of parents), incompetence of role (such as drug abuse of parents), rejection of role (such as guardians who cannot fulfill their parenting obligations in reorganizing families) and role conflict (such as families in the conflict of employment and work) (22). According to the situation in China, there are 11 types of family dysfunction. A total of 11 problems in children's growth (0 = "yes" and 1 = "no") were measured. The questions focused on divorce, quarrels and fights (witnessing domestic violence), parental disability, parental alcohol abuse, parental drug abuse (narcotic drugs), parental suicidal intentions, parents leaving home with no news of their whereabouts, messy living environment, scolding, parental gambling, and parental criminal records. To ensure the validity and reliability of the measurement, On the one hand, the expert evaluation method is used to test the validity. Five experts were invited to judge the consistency between the questionnaire title and the original content scope. The five experts are Ling Hui (engaged in personality disorder research), Xiao Han Shi (engaged in child psychology research), Chen Dan (engaged in child abuse research), Ou Yang Yan Wen (engaged in domestic violence research) and Zhao Lan (engaged in drug addiction and abuse research). The results showed that the questionnaire had good content validity. On the other hand, using Alpha Reliability coefficient method to test reliability. Alpha Reliability coefficient is tested to be 0.682.

Behavioral problems

Behavioral problems in children were measured using the student version of the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) (23). The questionnaire has been used widely in China

and has good reliability and validity. Chinese scholars have tested the reliability and validity of the questionnaire and found that it satisfied the requirements of psychological measurement (24). The student version comprised five factors (including emotional symptoms, conduct problems, hyperactivity, peer communication, and pro-social factors). Each factor included 5 items, each of which adopted a level 3-level score (0 = "no compliance," 1 = "part compliance," and 2 = "full compliance"). There were 25 entries in all. Items 7, 11, 14, 21, and 25 had to be scored in reverse. The total score was converted into dichotomous variables. Whereas, 0 marked the normal level, 1 marked the abnormal level. The five factor calculation criteria included:

- (1) 5 measurement items for emotional symptom factors, such as "I am often worried, unhappy, and heavy-laden" ($\alpha = 0.703$), where 0–6 points represent the normal level (defined as 0) and 7–10 points indicate the abnormal level (defined as 1);
- (2) 5 measurement items for conduct problem factors (e.g., "I am often angry, lose my temper, often argue with others, and lie") ($\alpha = 0.683$), where 0-4 points represent the normal level (defined as 0) and 5-10 points indicate the abnormal level (defined as 1);
- (3) 5 measurement items for hyperactivity factors, such as "I cannot settle down," "I am often restless and uneasy" ($\alpha = 0.736$), where 0–6 points represent the normal level and 7–10 points indicate the abnormal level.
- (4) 5 measurement items for peer communication factors (e.g., "I often stay alone, usually play by myself") ($\alpha = 0.769$), where 0–5 points represent the normal level (defined as 0) and 6–10 points indicate the abnormal level (defined as 1).
- (5) 5 measurement items for pro-social factors (e.g., "I try to be friendly to others") ($\alpha = 0.701$), where 5–10 points represent the normal level (defined as 0), and 0–4 points indicate the abnormal level (defined as 1).

Behavioral problems measure the performance of respondents in the last week.

Analytical strategy

This study used SPSS 22.0 for statistical analysis. It first conducted a descriptive analysis which presented the results between behavioral problems in early adolescence and the ACE factors in the overall samples. We estimated the ordinary least squares, and linear and logistic regressions to investigate various components of the associations between ACEs and behavioral problems in early adolescence. In the first set of regression models, we examined whether there was a positive association between the quantity of adverse exposures experienced and behavioral problems. Next, we examined whether there were differential associations between ACE exposure and child behavioral outcomes across registered residence, gender, and maternal education subgroups. In each regression, we tested the statistical equivalence of the coefficients for each variable across equations. Finally, we investigated the relationship between ACE categories and behavioral problems.

Results

There are 1,083 students in the sample, accounting for 37.2%; 982 students in grade two, accounting for 33.7%; 845 students in grade three, accounting for 29.0%. There are 1,488 boys in the sample, accounting for 51.8%; 1,385 girls, accounting for 48.2%.Emotional neglect (39.76%) and abuse (35.36%), and physical abuse (26.38%) and neglect (25.37%) were the top four factors that influenced ACE incidence rates. Rural children had a higher ACE incidence than urban children. The incidence among children whose mothers had lower levels of education was higher than among children whose mothers had a higher level of education. Boys are more vulnerable to physical abuse, emotional and physical neglect. Girls are more vulnerable to emotional abuse, as seen in Table 1.

The results showed that 28.2% of children had not suffered any adverse experiences (including 5 types of child abuse and 11 types of family dysfunction); 71.8% had suffered adverse experiences, of which 23.4% faced 1 ACE, 18.4% faced 2 ACEs, 11.9% faced 3 ACEs, and 18.1% faced 4 to 16 ACEs. Except for physical and emotional abuse ($r = 0.573 \ p <$ 0.01), emotional and physical neglect (r = 0.618, p < 0.01), the correlation coefficients between each adversity factor were below 0.5, and there was only a weak correlation between the factors. The results of the total sample analysis revealed that ACEs were significantly associated with adolescent conduct, peer communication, and pro-social problems (Table 2). Compared to those with 0 ACEs (the reference group), children with 1 ACE had roughly 1.77 times the odds of demonstrating the level of child conduct problems (p < 0.05), children with 2 ACEs had 3.55 times the odds (p < 0.001), children with 3 ACEs had 6.04 times the odds (p < 0.001), and children with 4 or more ACEs had 6.63 times the odds (p < 0.001). Similarly, Children with 1 ACE had roughly 1.69 times the odds of demonstrating the level of peer communication problems (p < 0.05), children with 2 ACEs had 2.46 times the odds (p < 0.01), children with 3 ACEs had 1.80 times the odds (p < 0.05), and children with 4 or more ACEs had 4.44 times the odds (p < 0.001) when compared to children who had never faced any ACEs. Children with 1 ACE had roughly 2.64 times the odds of demonstrating the level of pro-social conduct problems (p < 0.01), children with 2 ACEs had 4.83 times the odds (p < 0.001), children with 3 ACEs had 6.33 times the odds (p < 0.001), and children with 4 or more ACEs had 7.80 times the odds (p < 0.001)

	Full sample (%)	Household	registration	Ger	nder	Mat	ternal educa	tion
		Urban (%)	Rural (%)	Boys (%)	Girls (%)	<hs (%)<="" th=""><th>HS(%)</th><th>>HS(%)</th></hs>	HS(%)	>HS(%)
Child abuse								
Emotional abuse	35.36 (0.009)	33.09 (0.013)	37.44 (0.013)	32.21 (0.012)	38.44 (0.013)	38.62 (0.013)	34.97 (0.020)	28.24 (0.017)
Physical abuse	26.38 (0.008)	23.27 (0.011)	28.89 (0.012)	29.69 (0.012)	22.62 (0.011)	28.8 (0.012)	24.96 (0.018)	21.3 (0.015)
Sexual abuse	14.06 (0.007)	11.87 (0.009)	16.13 (0.010)	16.3 (0.010)	11.45 (0.009)	15.44 (0.009)	12.26 (0.014)	11.34 (0.012)
Emotional neglect	39.76 (0.009)	35.51 (0.013)	43.79 (0.014)	40.17 (0.013)	38.83 (0.013)	44.14 (0.013)	36.88 (0.020)	32.23 (0.017)
Physical neglect	25.37 (0.008)	21.04 (0.011)	28.8 (0.012)	28.02 (0.012)	22.37 (0.011)	28.84 (0.012)	21.16 (0.017)	20.79 (0.015)
Family dysfunction								
Divorce	13.65 (0.006)	13.49 (0.009)	14.46 (0.010)	14.96 (0.009)	12.26 (0.009)	14.18 (0.009)	11.09 (0.013)	13.29 (0.013)
Witnessing of domestic violence	6.00 (0.005)	4.91 (0.006)	7.77 (0.007)	6.28 (0.006)	6.44 (0.007)	7.84 (0.007)	4.66 (0.009)	4.86 (0.008)
Parental disability	5.00 (0.004)	3.18 (0.005)	6.42 (0.007)	4.32 (0.005)	5.07 (0.006)	6.3 (0.006)	2.94 (0.007)	2.3 (0.006)
Parental alcohol abuse	7.00 (0.005)	4.19 (0.005)	9.25 (0.008)	7.83 (0.007)	5.35 (0.006)	8.96 (0.007)	4.33 (0.008)	3.92 (0.007)
Parental drug abuse	1.00 (0.002)	0.94 (0.003)	0.96 (0.003)	1.42 (0.003)	0.58 (0.002)	1.13 (0.003)	0.69 (0.003)	0.95 (0.004)
Parental suicidal intention	2.00 (0.003)	2.02 (0.004)	1.7 (0.004)	2.16 (0.004)	1.66 (0.003)	1.93 (0.004)	1.04 (0.004)	2.16 (0.005)
Leaving home for parents	1.00 (0.002)	1.23 (0.003)	1.41 (0.003)	1.28 (0.003)	1.45 (0.003)	1.46 (0.003)	1.21 (0.005)	1.08 (0.004)
Poor living environment	2.00 (0.002)	1.52 (0.003)	2.14 (0.004)	1.96 (0.004)	1.59 (0.003)	1.79 (0.003)	1.38 (0.005)	1.49 (0.004)
Scolding	11.00 (0.006)	7.51 (0.007)	13.28 (0.009)	12.54 (0.009)	8.24 (0.007)	13.92 (0.009)	8.12 (0.011)	5.41 (0.008)
Parental gambling	7.00 (0.005)	3.61 (0.005)	9.32 (0.008)	7.22 (0.007)	5.79 (0.006)	8.96 (0.007)	5.87 (0.010)	2.03 (0.005)
Parental criminal records	1.00 (0.002)	0.65 (0.002)	1.03 (0.003)	0.81 (0.002)	0.87 (0.002)	0.93 (0.002)	1.04 (0.004)	0.54 (0.003)
Behavior issues								
Emotional problems	4.71 (0.004)	4.78 (0.006)	4.59 (0.006)	3.55 (0.005)	5.84 (0.006)	4.98 (0.006)	3.83 (0.008)	4.63 (0.008)
Hyperactivity	5.05 (0.004)	4.71 (0.006)	5.25 (0.006)	6.1 (0.006)	3.84 (0.005)	5.65 (0.006)	5.66 (0.010)	3.57 (0.007)
Conduct problems	7.99 (0.005)	7.61 (0.007)	8.44 (0.008)	10.44 (0.008)	5.29 (0.006)	8.39 (0.007)	6.82 (0.011)	7.54 (0.010)
Peer communication problems	7.23 (0.005)	6.65 (0.007)	7.7 (0.007)	8.61 (0.007)	5.63 (0.006)	8.02 (0.007)	4.51 (0.009)	7.13 (0.010)
Pro-social problems	9.54 (0.005)	6.31 (0.007)	12.51 (0.009)	13.05 (0.009)	5.82 (0.006)	11.85 (0.008)	7.64 (0.011)	6.11 (0.009)

TABLE 1 Prevalence of adverse childhood experiences.

N = 2,910.

HS, High School Percentages and means (standard errors in parentheses) are presented.

when compared to children who had never faced any ACEs. The emotional problems and hyperactivity exhibit a similar positive and increasing association, although the influence of ACE exposure is not as strong. Compared to children with 0 ACEs, children with 3, and 4 or more ACEs had 2.75 times (p < 0.01) and 4.49 times (p < 0.001) the odds, respectively, of having emotional problems. Similarly, among children who faced 3, and 4 or more ACEs, the incidence probability of hyperactivity was 3.95 times (p < 0.001) and 4.45 times (p < 0.001), respectively, when compared to children who had never faced any ACEs.

These subsequent regression models investigate whether there were differences in the associations between ACE exposure and behavioral outcomes across children's area of residence gender, and level of maternal education. The results of the analysis suggested the following. First, the high exposure to ACE increases the probability of hyperactivity, and emotional, conduct, peer communication, and pro-social problems among children living in urban areas. Compared to those with 0 ACEs (the reference group), the odds of urban children with four or more ACEs demonstrating high levels of hyperactivity, and conduct, peer communication, and pro-social problems was 6.38 times (p < 0.001), 5.55 times (p < 0.001), 9.35 times (p< 0.001), and 9.22 times (p < 0.001), respectively. Compared with rural children who did not have ACEs, the probability of emotional problems among rural children with four or more ACEs was 3.28 times (p < 0.01), hyperactivity was 3.50 times (p < 0.001), conduct problems was 4.29 times (p < 0.001), peer communication problems was 2.46 times (p < 0.01), and prosocial problems was 5.34 times (p < 0.001). Second, the high exposure of ACE increases the probability of girls' hyperactivity and conduct, peer communication, and pro-social problems. Compared with girls without any adverse experiences, for girls with 4 or more ACE factors, the probability of hyperactivity was 8.30 times (p < 0.001), conduct problems was 8.47 times (p < 0.001), peer communication problems was 4.81 times (p < 0.001), and pro-social problems was 9.01 times (p < 0.001)0.001). Third, the high exposure to ACE increases the probability of emotional, conduct, peer communication, and pro-social problems among children whose mothers had a junior college or higher educational background. Compared with children

	Emotional problems	Hyperactivity	Conduct problems	Peer communication problems	Pro-social problem
	Odds ratio (95%CI)	Odds ratio (95%CI)	Odds ratio (95%CI)	Odds ratio (95%CI)	Odds ratio (95%CI
Panel 1: fu	ll sample				
(0)					
1	0.76 (0.00 , 1.57)	1.51 (0.79, 2.88)	1.77 (0.96, 3.26)*	1.69 (1.00, 2.87)*	2.64 (1.51, 4.61)**
2	1.22 (0.61, 2.43)	1.66 (0.85, 3.25)	3.55 (2.01, 6.29)***	2.46 (1.46, 4.13)**	4.83 (2.83, 8.26)***
3	2.75 (1.46, 5.19)**	3.95 (2.11, 7.38)***	6.04 (3.40, 10.72)***	2.80 (0.97,3.35)*	6.33 (3.63, 11.03)***
ł+	4.49 (2.61, 7.71)***	4.45 (2.51, 7.89)***	6.63 (3.89, 11.32)***	4.44 (2.75,7.18)***	7.80 (4.66, 13.05)***
Constant	0.03***	0.02***	0.03***	0.03***	0.03***
	ousehold registration				
	istered residence				
0)	/			/ //	
	0.80 (0.29, 2.23)	1.08 (0.42, 2.78)	1.97 (0.83, 4.67)*	2.82 (1.25, 6.35)*	3.23 (1.23, 8.49)*
	1.82 (0.75, 4.44)	1.65 (0.66, 4.12)	5.26 (2.40, 11.51)***	4.27 (1.91, 9.54)***	6.76 (2.69, 16.99)***
	3.68 (1.49, 9.05)**	4.16 (1.72, 10.05)**	6.51 (2.77, 15.28)***	1.19 (0.32, 4.46)	10.44 (3.99, 27.33)***
l+	6.38 (2.97, 13.72)***	5.55 (2.54, 12.12)***	9.35 (4.32, 20.23)***	9.03 (4.16, 19.59)***	9.22 (3.63, 23.38)***
Constant	0.02***	0.01***	0.02***	0.02***	0.01***
	stered residence				
0)	0 (5 (0.21, 2.00)	1 (4 (0 (2 4 20)	1 52 (0 64 2 64)	1 12 (0 54 2 20)	1.92 (0.00, 2.71)*
	0.65 (0.21, 2.00)	1.64 (0.63, 4.30)	1.53 (0.64, 3.64)	1.13 (0.54, 2.39)	1.83 (0.90, 3.71)*
	0.63 (0.19, 2.13)	1.28 (0.44, 3.71) 3.16 (1.23, 8.08)**	2.21 (0.95, 5.14)* 4.42 (1.99, 9.86)***	1.49 (0.71, 3.13)	2.93 (1.47, 5.83)** 3.45 (1.72, 6.95)***
8 ≜+	1.84 (0.70, 4.87) 3.28 (1.45, 7.44)**	3.50 (1.47, 8.34)**	4.42 (1.99, 9.86)***	1.68 (0.78, 3.63) 2.46 (1.28, 4.74)**	5.34 (2.84, 10.02)***
±+ Constant	0.03***	0.03***	0.03***	0.05***	0.05***
Panel 3: ge		0.05	0.05	0.05	0.05
Boys	inter				
0)					
l	1.06 (0.26, 4.27)	1.61 (0.71, 3.65)	1.67 (0.77, 3.63)	1.62 (0.82, 3.19)	2.60 (1.30, 5.20)**
2	2.35 (0.68, 8.12)	1.92 (0.84, 4.39)	3.82 (1.87, 7.80)***	2.24 (1.15, 4.37)*	4.22 (2.13, 8.33)***
;	1.92 (0.48, 7.79)	3.39 (1.50, 7.66)**	4.54 (2.16, 9.56)***	0.79 (0.30, 2.07)	6.60 (3.32, 13.14)***
l+	7.00 (2.36, 20.76)***	2.63 (1.20, 5.77)**	5.79 (2.92, 11.51)***	3.78 (2.03, 7.05)***	7.24 (3.78, 13.87)***
Constant	0.01***	0.03***	0.04***	0.05***	0.04***
Girls					
0)					
	0.77 (0.32, 1.87)	1.37 (0.44, 4.29)	1.82 (0.63, 5.31)	1.51 (0.63, 3.61)	2.80 (1.04, 7.55)*
	1.02 (0.42, 2.46)	1.18 (0.33, 4.24)	3.07 (1.10, 8.56)*	2.58 (1.13, 5.92)*	6.38 (2.52, 16.13)***
	3.82 (1.81, 8.06)***	5.37 (1.91, 15.06)***	9.31 (3.56, 24.34)***	3.56 (1.48, 8.59)**	5.45 (1.94, 15.29)***
l+	4.58 (2.37, 8.84)***	8.30 (3.32, 20.72)***	8.47 (3.40, 21.06)***	4.81 (2.24, 10.30)***	9.01 (3.63, 22.32)***
Constant	0.04***	0.02***	0.02***	0.03***	0.02***
Panel 4: m	aternal education				
<hk< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></hk<>					
0)					
-	0.92 (0.34, 2.50)	2.44 (0.86, 6.94)*	1.66 (0.69, 4.02)	1.10 (0.57, 2.15)	1.43 (0.71, 2.86)
2	0.97 (0.35, 2.71)	2.26 (0.76, 6.69)*	2.79 (1.20, 6.48)*	1.26 (0.64, 2.47)	3.22 (1.69, 6.11)***
5	1.75 (0.66, 4.61)	6.02 (2.20, 16.52)***	5.27 (2.32, 12.01)***	1.33 (0.64, 2.77)	3.51 (1.79, 6.86)***
1+	3.95 (1.78, 8.76)***	5.58 (2.11, 14.74)***	5.35 (2.45, 11.66)***	2.25 (1.23, 4.10)**	4.27 (2.31, 7.89)***
Constant	0.03***	0.02***	0.03***	0.06***	0.05***

TABLE 2 Logistic regression models estimating the association of ACEs on behavioral problems from 12 to 14 years old.

frontiersin.org

	Emotional problems	Hyperactivity	Conduct problems	Peer communication problems	Pro-social problems
	Odds ratio (95%CI)	Odds ratio (95%CI)	Odds ratio (95%CI)	Odds ratio (95%CI)	Odds ratio (95%CI)
нк					
(0)					
1	0.36 (0.07, 1.76)	1.55 (0.46, 5.18)	1.82 (0.56, 5.85)	1.72 (0.38, 7.81)	3.35 (1.03, 10.94)*
2	0.27 (0.03, 2.25)	2.01 (0.57, 7.15)	2.46 (0.73, 8.30)	3.41 (0.80, 14.63)*	3.09 (0.85, 11.26)*
3	1.62 (0.40, 6.51)	4.13 (1.14, 14.94)*	4.05 (1.12, 14.65)*	1.26 (0.13, 12.40)	10.28 (3.00, 35.17)***
4+	2.37 (0.83, 6.77)*	3.86 (1.25, 11.89)**	3.78 (1.23, 11.66)*	4.90 (1.23, 19.43)*	7.99 (2.55, 25.10)***
Constant	0.04***	0.03***	0.03***	0.02***	0.02***
>HK					
(0)					
1	0.90 (0.16, 4.96)	0.26 (0.03, 2.10)	1.44 (0.38, 5.45)	3.48 (1.14, 10.59)*	15.10 (1.87, 121.92)**
2	3.95 (1.13, 13.73)**	0.94 (0.24, 3.70)	6.16 (2.15, 17.69)***	6.21 (2.16, 17.83)***	28.21 (3.63, 219.52)***
3	8.72 (2.54, 29.90)***	1.71 (0.43, 6.78)	8.92 (2.94, 27.05)***	1.58 (0.30, 8.33)	25.13 (2.97, 212.38)**
4+	11.67 (3.53, 38.51)***	5.18 (1.81, 14.86)**	15.47 (5.38, 44.46)***	18.02 (6.36, 51.08)***	41.59 (5.17, 334.67)***
Constant	0.02***	0.03***	0.02***	0.02***	0.01***

TABLE 2 Continued

*p < 0.05.

 $p^{**} < 0.01.$ $p^{***} < 0.001.$

without any adverse experiences whose mothers had a junior college or higher educational background, the probability of emotional problems among children with 4 or more ACE factors was 11.67 times (p < 0.001), conduct problems was 15.47 times (p < 0.001), peer communication problems was 18.01 times (p< 0.001), and pro-social problems was 41.59 times (p < 0.001).

Our final set of regressions examined the relative association of each specific type of adverse event with behavioral problems after controlling for covariates for the full sample (Table 3). All results were correlated with more than one ACE. Although particular ACEs were found to have larger associations with behavioral outcomes when compared to others, associations between each ACE and outcome were not nearly as large as the associations found between cumulative ACEs and behavioral problems.

Discussion

Several studies have focused on the relationship between ACEs and adult health issues, whereas very few ones have focused on ACEs and behavioral problems in early adolescence. Based on existing research, this study took 16 factors to build a measure of ACEs. Statistics have suggested that the incidence of ACE was high, and 71.8% of children have faced at least one ACE. In other studies in China, the proportion of children who faced at least one ACE was 66.22% (25). The CDC-Kaiser ACE study found that 64% of American children faced at least one ACE, by studying the retrospective data from adults (6). Some studies have also concluded that 75% of American children have faced at least one ACE based on children's 5-year-old sequence data (2). The top four common adverse experiences in this study are emotional neglect (39.76%), emotional abuse (35.36%), physical abuse (26.38%), and physical neglect (25.37%), which are consistent with the top three types of emotional neglect (26.65%), emotional abuse (24.25%), and physical neglect (21.52%) identified by Nie Junyan in China (25). The ACE factors and proportion of children in the current study are uniformed with those in the existing research. The main conclusions of this study are as follows.

We examined whether children exposed to ACEs in early adolescence were associated with behavioral problems. We found that there was a strong association between exposure to ACEs and behavioral problems in early adolescence. The accumulation of ACE factors has a "threshold effect" on early childhood problems (26). Studies have shown that after the accumulation of ACE factors, especially 3, 4, or more, the probability of early childhood behavioral problems will multiply. Compared with children who faced no ACEs, the probability of conduct problems in children with 4 or more factors was 6.04 times, of peer communication problems was 4.44 times, of pro-social problems was 6.33 times, of hyperactivity was 4.45 times, and of children's emotional problem was 4.49 times. The possibility of behavioral problems among children aged between 12 and 14 years with 4 or more ACE factors is 4-6 times that

TABLE 3 Logistic regression models estimating associations of specific types of ACEs experienced with behavioral problems from 12 to 14 years old.

	Emotional problems Odds ratio (95%CI)	Hyperactivity Odds ratio (95%CI)	Conduct problems Odds ratio (95%CI)	Peer communication problems Odds ratio (95%CI)	Pro-social problems Odds ratio (95%CI)
Emotional abuse	2.35 (1.50, 3.67)***	2.09 (1.38, 3.16)***	1.56 (1.09, 2.23)**	1.15 (0.79, 1.66)	1.02 (0.73, 1.41)
Physical abuse	0.94 (0.77, 1.16)	0.97 (0.80, 1.19)	1.14 (0.97, 1.34)*	1.08 (0.91, 1.28)	1.10 (0.95, 1.28)
Sexual abuse	1.32 (1.08, 1.61)**	0.93 (0.74, 1.18)	1.34 (1.14, 1.58)***	1.14 (0.95, 1.37)	0.98 (0.82, 1.17)
Emotional neglect	1.18 (0.77, 1.82)	1.41 (0.93, 2.12)*	1.20 (0.85, 1.70)	1.26 (0.89, 1.80)	2.41 (1.75, 3.31)***
Physical neglect	1.48 (0.95, 2.29)*	1.47 (0.97, 2.23)*	1.41 (0.99, 2.00)*	1.29 (0.89, 1.87)	1.90 (1.39, 2.60)***
Divorce	0.88 (0.49, 1.58)	0.93 (0.54, 1.61)	1.22 (0.80, 1.88)	1.13 (0.73, 1.76)	1.48 (1.02, 2.13)*
Witnessing of domestic violence	1.57 (0.84, 2.90)	0.99 (0.50, 1.96)	1.51 (0.90, 2.54)*	1.40 (0.80, 2.43)	1.35 (0.82, 2.23)
Parental disability	0.94 (0.42, 2.12)	1.03 (0.45, 2.33)	1.05 (0.54, 2.03)	1.35 (0.71, 2.56)	1.20 (0.66, 2.17)
Parental alcohol abuse	1.18 (0.61, 2.27)	1.46 (0.79, 2.67)	1.38 (0.82, 2.34)	1.06 (0.60, 1.88)	0.77 (0.44, 1.36)*
Parental drug abuse	0.32 (0.05, 2.10)	0.78 (0.13, 4.55)	0.52 (0.12, 2.14)	1.95 (0.61, 6.23)*	1.98 (0.65, 6.05)
Parental suicidal intention	2.09 (0.82, 5.34)*	1.45 (0.49, 4.35)	1.39 (0.59, 3.31)	1.25 (0.50, 3.13)	0.99 (0.41, 2.40)
Leaving home for parents	1.77 (0.57, 5.52)	0.52 (0.10, 2.80)	0.87 (0.29, 2.63)	1.19 (0.41, 3.43)	1.40 (0.54, 3.63)
Poor living environment	1.48 (0.53, 4.18)	0.49 (0.12, 1.98)	0.95 (0.37, 2.43)	1.37 (0.55, 3.40)	2.57 (1.17, 5.64)*
Scolding education	1.64 (0.97, 2.76)*	1.79 (1.08, 2.96)*	1.76 (1.15, 2.69)**	1.48 (0.94, 2.34)*	1.33 (0.88, 2.03)
Parental gambling	0.81 (0.40, 1.64)	1.18 (0.64, 2.19)	0.71 (0.40, 1.27)	1.14 (0.66, 1.98)	0.65 (0.37, 1.17)*
Parental criminal records	0.29 (0.03, 3.04)	3.00 (0.88, 10.22)*	1.30 (0.37, 4.60)	1.04 (0.28, 3.87)	2.22 (0.73, 6.73)
Constant	0.02***	0.03***	0.02***	0.04***	0.04***
Observations	2,910	2,910	2,910	2,910	2,910

Chen

of children without any adverse experiences. To the best of our knowledge, our study is the first to investigate the relationship between ACE factors and behavioral problems among children aged between 12 and 14 years.

Investigation of subgroup differences indicated that children living in urban areas are less likely to suffer from adversity than those living in rural areas. Children whose mothers have higher levels of education are less likely to suffer from adversity than those whose mothers have lower levels of education. Girls are less likely to suffer from adversity than boys. However, children living in urban areas, those whose mothers have higher education levels and girls with high exposure to ACEs have a higher probability of facing problems in their early youth, which keeps constant with the conclusion drawn by (author?) (2) that American children whose mothers have high school or higher levels of education are more likely to show behavioral problems after exposure to ACEs. According to the differential susceptibility hypothesis, Children have differential susceptibility to rearing environments' influence. Some children are not only more vulnerable than others to the negative effects of adversity, but also to the beneficial effects of a rich upbringing environment (27). The interaction between children and their surroundings is shaping individual susceptibility. Inferior environment may reduce individual susceptibility, while superior environment may also improve individual susceptibility. Children living in rural areas with less educated mothers may be at a greater social and economic disadvantage, but some of them can develop their resilience in adversity, making them less vulnerable to behavioral problems. Some people are is not only more vulnerable to the positive impact of the positive environment, but also more vulnerable to the negative impact of the adverse environment. Children who live in urban areas and whose mothers have a higher level of education have less social and economic disadvantages, but are more sensitive to problems and more vulnerable to impact. Once they are highly exposed, children living in urban areas and whose mothers have high levels of education will have a higher probability of behavioral deviation. Gender differences are associated with the learning environments of boys and girls. Boys' academic performance in school is usually worse than that of girls, creating what is known as the "boy crisis". Boys are growing up with less-involved fathers and are more likely to drop out of school, drink, be addicted to drugs, become delinquent, and end up in prison (28). Boys are more influenced by peer culture. When their peers do not agree with the academic performance, boys are more likely to get anti-school attitudes and behaviors (29). Girls generally have good academic performance, but they also face greater peer competition pressure. These growing environments make it easier for boys to become a low susceptibility group and girls to become a high susceptibility group. Girls are more sensitive than boys, and are more inclined to have problems when exposed. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to

investigate differences in the relation of ACEs across household registration subgroups.

Though an exploratory study was conducted on the proximal effects of ACEs in early adolescence, the following shortcomings remain. First, the retrospective research design was limited. Compared with the longitudinal study design, data reliability and validity obtained through retrospective research in this study were relatively insufficient. Although there was no significant difference in grade and age, the difference between parents (and their children) who chose to participate and not participate was not considered. Second, the independent variables were hardly exhausted. According to the existing research and domestic conditions, ACE factors are expanded to 16, and there may be unmeasured variables related to ACE behavior problems. Other adversities in the CDC-Kaiser study include personal victimization, financial hardship, and discrimination. Future research should examine a wider range of ACEs that are probably associated with different populations, leading to poor health or behaviors (30). Third, the existing studies provide limited explanations for the formation of stress resistance. This study focused on the interpretation of ACEs with respect to early childhood behavioral problems. The positive explanatory power for ACEs was limited. However, according to relevant research, in the tracking study of 698 cases of victims born in poverty, stress, abuse, and neglect conditions, 2/3 were found to be well-functioning adults (31).

Despite these shortcomings, this study has made a vital contribution to the existing literature on adverse situations faced by children. By analyzing the proximal effects of ACE exposure, this study has extended the range of ACE effects. The results indicated that children in early adolescence begin to show behavioral problems after exposure to ACEs. Finally, to understand how these groups are affected by ACEs in China, the observations of previous ACE studies were extended to populations in urban and rural areas, of different genders, and with different maternal educational backgrounds.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Biomedical Research Ethics Committee of Hunan Normal University. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s), and minor(s)' legal guardian/next of kin, for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

Author contributions

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

Funding

Research on Child Abuse Prevention System in High Risk Families was funded by the Youth Project of National Philosophy and Social Science Fund in China (Project No. 12CSH095).

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Felitti VJ, Anda RF, Nordenberg D, Williamson DF, Marks JS. Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults: the adverse childhood experiences (ACE) study. *Am J Prev Med.* (2019) 56:774–86. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2019. 04.001

2. Hunt TK, Berger LM, and Slack KS. Adverse childhood experiences and behavioral problems in middle childhood. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2016) 391–402. doi: 10.1017/S0954579400000651

3. Dube SR, Felitti VJ, Dong M, Chapman DP, Giles WH, Anda RF. Childhood abuse, neglect, and household dysfunction and the risk of illicit drug use: the adverse childhood experiences study. *Pediatrics.* (2003) 111:564–72. doi: 10.1542/peds.111.3.564

4. Larkin H, Beckos BA, Shields JJ. Mobilizing resilience and recovery in response to adverse childhood experiences (ACE): a restorative integral support (RIS) case study. *J Prev Interven Commun.* (2012) 40:335–46. doi: 10.1080/10852352.2012.707466

5. Weg M. Adverse childhood experiences and cigarette smoking: the 2009 Arkansas and Louisiana Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance Systems. *Nicotine Tobacco Res Off J Soc Res Nicotine Tobacco*. (2011) 13:616. doi: 10.1093/ntr/ ntr023

6. Dube SR, Fairweather D, Pearson WS, Felitti VJ, Anda RF, Croft JB. Cumulative childhood stress and autoimmune diseases in adults. *Psychosom Med.* (2009) 71:243–50. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e3181907888

7. Xie G, Han A, Chen L, Puyu SU, Maternal DO. Association between adverse childhood experiences and adolescent depression: a Meta-analysis. *Chin J School Health*. (2019) 8:1177–81.

8. Emma B, Anders H, Ellenor MR, Bo V, Johan H, Rickard L, et al. Multi-exposure and clustering of adverse childhood experiences, socioeconomic differences and psychotropic medication in young adults. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e53551. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053551

9. Lijun S, Shupeng H, Gengfeng N, Junyi L, Hongqin D, and Xiang'en H. Impacts of childhood psychological abuse on adolescent aggression: mediating effect of security and loneliness. *Chin J Clin Psychol.* (2017) 25:902–7. doi: 10.16128/j.cnki.1005-3611.2017.05.024

10. Chen C, Liyan G, Bing W. Abuse in childhood and college students' aggressive behavior. *Chin J Child Health Care.* (2015) 23:927–30. doi: 10.11852/zgetbjzz2015-23-09-10

11. Linsheng Y, Zhihua Z, Jiahu H, Yehuan S. The relationship between internet addiction and suicidal behavior among adolescents. *Chin J Epidemiol.* (2010) 31:1115–9. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0254-6450.2010.10.010

12. Naixue C, Fenglin C, Yang L, Zhouting L, Jie L, Fanghong D. Cumulative effects and aggressive behaviors of medical freshmen with adverse childhood experiences. *Chin Mental Health J.* (2013) 27:213–4. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1000-6729.2013.03.011

13. Yuhui W, Fangbiao T. Intergenerational effects of maternal adverse childhood experiences and ethnicity on high-risk smoking behavior. *Chin J Preven Med.* (2017) 51:842.

14. Shuangshuang M, Yuhui W. Adverse childhood experiences and lifelong health. *J Hygiene Res.* (2016) 45:857–61. doi: 10.19813/j.cnki.weishengyanjiu.2016.05.029

15. Siqi Z, Yuhui W, Shaojun X. Research progress in adverse childhood experiences and childhood obesity. *Chin J Child Health Care.* (2014) 22:833–5. doi: 10.11852/zgetbjzz2014-22-08-15

16. Jin C, Kun H, Suo W. Behavioral problems and integrated family determinants among the preschool left-behind children. *Chin J Sch Health.* (2018) 39:4. doi: 10.16835/j.cnki.1000-9817.2018.03.019

17. Xiaoshi L. Relationships between maternal educational attainment and adolescents' academic self-esteem: The mediating role of parenting style and the moderation role of gender. *Stud Physiol Behav.* (2021) 1:59–65. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1672-0628.2021.01.009

18. Participation P, Achievement A, and Relationship PC. *Tips to Help Your Child through Early Adolescence – Helping Your Child through Early Adolescence*. Washington, DC: Us Department of Education (2005).

19. Bernstein D, Fink L, Bernstein D. Childhood Trauma Questionnaire: A Retrospective Self-report Manual. San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation (1998).

20. Min Z. Reliability and validity evaluation of childhood abuse questionnaire (Chinese Version). *Chin J Public Health.* (2011) 27:669–70. doi: 10.11847/zgggws-2011-27-05-71

21. Xingfu Z, Yalin Z, Longfei L, Yunfei Z, Hezhan L, Shichang Y. Reliability and validity of childhood abuse questionnaire (Chinese Version). *J Clin Rehabilit Tissue Eng Res.* (2005) 9:105–7. doi: 10.3321/j.issn:1673-8225.2005.16.037

22. Chescheir MW. Social role discrepancies as clues to practice. Soc Work. (1979) 2:89–94. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9515.1979.tb00660.x

23. Goodman R. The strengths and difficulties questionnaire: a research note. J Child Psychol Psychiatry Allied Discip. (1997) 38:581–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.1997.tb01545.x

24. Yasong D, Jianhua K, Xiuling W, Liming X, Ruhao Z. Strengths and difficulties questionnaire research. *Psychol Sci.* (2006) 29:1419–21. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1671-6981.2006.06.032

25. Junyan N, Honghui Y, Zhiqiang W, and Leilei W. Association between adverse experiences in childhood and risk of chronic diseases in adulthood. *Chin J Epidemiol.* (2015) 9:953–7. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0254-6450.2015.09.010

26. Sameroff AJ, Bartko WT, Baldwin A, Baldwin C, Seifer R. Family and Social Influences on the Development of Child Competence. Families, Risk, and Competence (161–185). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers (1998). 27. Pluess M, Belsky J. Children's differential susceptibility to effects of parenting. *Fam Sci.* (2010) 1:14–25. doi: 10.1080/19424620903388554

28. Hopstock PJ, Pelczar MP. Technical Report and User's Guide for the Program for International Student Assessment (PISA): 2009 Data Files and Database with US Specific Variables. NCES 2011-025. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics 210 (2011).

29. Jin W, Xiaosi C. The gender difference between school environment and student achievement—an empirical study of seven junior high schools

in Guangzhou. Society. (2013) 33:159–80. doi: 10.15992/j.cnki.31-1123/c.2013. 05.010

30. Finkelhor D, Shattuck A, Turner H, Hamby S. A revised inventory of Adverse Childhood Experiences. *Child Abuse Neglect.* (2015) 48:13–21. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2015. 07.011

31. Lietz CA. Strengths-based group practice: three case studies. Soc Work Groups. (2007) 30:73–87. doi: 10.1300/J009v30n02_07
Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Myriam Verena Thoma, University of Zurich, Switzerland

REVIEWED BY

Bo Bach, Psychiatry Region Zealand, Denmark Omneya Ibrahim, Suez Canal University, Egypt

*CORRESPONDENCE Hanna Kampling hanna.kampling@psycho.med.unigiessen.de

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 13 April 2022 ACCEPTED 14 July 2022 PUBLISHED 10 August 2022

CITATION

Kampling H, Kruse J, Lampe A, Nolte T, Hettich N, Brähler E, Sachser C, Fegert JM, Gingelmaier S, Fonagy P, Krakau L, Zara S and Riedl D (2022) Epistemic trust and personality functioning mediate the association between adverse childhood experiences and posttraumatic stress disorder and complex posttraumatic stress disorder in adulthood. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:919191. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.919191

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Kampling, Kruse, Lampe, Nolte, Hettich, Brähler, Sachser, Fegert, Gingelmaier, Fonagy, Krakau, Zara and Riedl. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the **Creative Commons Attribution License** (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Epistemic trust and personality functioning mediate the association between adverse childhood experiences and posttraumatic stress disorder and complex posttraumatic stress disorder in adulthood

Hanna Kampling^{1*}, Johannes Kruse^{1,2}, Astrid Lampe^{3,4}, Tobias Nolte^{5,6}, Nora Hettich⁷, Elmar Brähler^{7,8}, Cedric Sachser⁹, Jörg M. Fegert⁹, Stephan Gingelmaier¹⁰, Peter Fonagy⁵, Lina Krakau⁷, Sandra Zara¹ and David Riedl^{3,11}

¹Department of Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy, Justus Liebig University Giessen, Giessen, Germany, ²Department for Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy, Medical Center of the Philipps University Marburg, Marburg, Germany, ³Ludwig Boltzmann Institute for Rehabilitation Research, Vienna, Austria, ⁴VAMED Rehabilitation Center, Schruns, Austria, ⁵Anna Freud National Centre for Children and Families, London, United Kingdom, ⁶Wellcome Trust Centre for Neuroimaging, Institute of Neurology, University College London, London, United Kingdom, ⁷Department of Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy, University Medical Center of the Johannes Gutenberg University Mainz, Mainz, Germany, ⁸Behavioral Medicine Research Unit, Integrated Research and Treatment Center for Adiposity Diseases, University Medical Center Leipzig, Leipzig, Germany, ⁹Department of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry/Psychotherapy, Ulm University, Ulm, Germany, ¹⁰Psychology and Diagnostics for Emotional and Social Development for the Emotionally Impaired, University of Education Ludwigsburg, Ludwigsburg, Germany, ¹¹Department of Psychiatry, Psychotherapy, Psychosomatics and Medical Psychology, Medical University of Innsbruck, Austria

Background: Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) are associated with posttraumatic and complex posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms in adulthood (PTSD/cPTSD), as well as reduced epistemic trust (trust in the authenticity and personal relevance of interpersonally transmitted information) and impaired personality functioning. The present work aims to investigate the predictive value of epistemic trust—the capacity for social learning—on the mediating effect of personality functioning in the association of ACEs and PTSD/cPTSD.

Methods: We conducted structural equation modeling (SEM) based on representative data of the German population (N = 2,004). Personality functioning (OPD-SQS) was applied as a mediator between ACEs and PTSD/cPTSD (ITQ), while epistemic trust (ETMCQ) was added as predictor for OPD-SQS. TLI, CFI, and RMSEA (95%-CI) determined the models' fit.

Results: N = 477 (23.8%) participants reported at least one ACE and n = 218 (10.9%) reported ≥ 4 ACEs. Fit indices were good for both PTSD (TLI = 0.96;

CFI = 0.99; RMSEA = 0.06; 95%CI: 0.041–0.078) and cPTSD (TLI = 0.96; CFI = 0.99; RMSEA = 0.06; 95%CI: 0.043–0.081). ACEs were significantly associated with cPTSD (β = 0.44, p < 0.001) and PTSD (β = 0.29, p < 0.001), explaining 20 and 8% of its variance. Adding personality functioning as a mediator increased the explained variance of cPTSD and PTSD to 47 and 19% while the direct association between ACEs and cPTSD/PTSD decreased (β = 0.21/ β = 0.17), thus, indicating a partial mediation. Including epistemic trust substantially increased the explained variance for personality functioning (41%) compared to ACEs as a single predictor (16%).

Conclusion: We add to previous research emphasizing the association between ACEs and PTSD/cPTSD symptoms. Offering insights on underlying mechanisms, we show that epistemic trust and personality functioning are relevant mediators. Since both are modifiable by psychotherapy, knowledge about the role of these constructs can inform research on psychotherapeutic interventions and prevention.

KEYWORDS

adverse childhood experiences, complex posttraumatic stress disorder, epistemic trust, mediator, personality functioning, posttraumatic stress disorder

Introduction

Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) including child maltreatment and household dysfunction are a worldwide phenomenon (1), estimated to affect over 55 million children in Europe alone (2), and more specifically in Germany, about 44% (3) of the general population, making ACEs a global and highly prevalent problem. ACEs are defined as "childhood events, varying in severity and often chronic, occurring in a child's family or social environment that cause harm or distress, thereby disrupting the child's physical or psychological health and development" (4). There is a large body of evidence suggesting a close association between adverse experiences as a child and the development of physical health problems (5–8) and mental disorders (including psychological distress) (8–12) in adulthood.

With regard to mental disorders, posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and borderline personality disorder (BPD) are most often associated with ACEs (13–17). However, specific symptoms often found in persons with PTSD and a history of ACEs led to significant conceptual changes. The ICD-11 considers different PTSD syndromes by adding a new diagnosis referred to as complex posttraumatic stress disorder (cPTSD), which is associated with repeated or prolonged experiences of traumatic events, resulting in specific additional symptoms such as impaired affect regulation, negative self-concept, and interpersonal problems (18, 19). The variety of PTSD symptoms (e.g., re-experiencing, avoidance, hyperarousal), additional

specific cPTSD symptoms (e.g., impaired affect regulation), as well as frequent comorbidities (e.g., depressive symptoms or substance abuse) result in a very heterogeneous population of patients with PTSD and cPTSD, causing intense individual distress and are closely linked to serious disability as well as increased morbidity and mortality (20–24).

The close association between ACEs and the development of PTSD and cPTSD during adolescence or in adulthood emphasizes the importance of broadening our understanding of the underlying pathways through which ACEs and mental health issues are linked. Research focusing on ACEs and how they increase the risk for adult psychopathology proposed various potential mechanisms including brain structure and function, epigenetic processes, gene expression to neuroendocrine, immune and neurotransmitter systems, as well as social cognition (25-27). Another focus has been on personality development which has gained much interest in recent empirical research. Patients with a history of ACEs often show e.g., impaired identity perception, interpersonal difficulties, or altered affect regulation (28). Given that experiences made in early childhood are essential for the development of personality functioning by shaping basic mental capacities or adaptive coping behaviors (29-32), personality functioning might be a pathway linking ACEs and adult psychopathology. Personality functioning (also referred to as "structure") describes a person's abilities directed toward the self (identity perception, self-regulation) and others (empathy, intimacy) in four domains related to capacities

of cognition/perception, regulation, communication, and attachment (33). Since personality disorders are closely linked to impaired personality functioning, the concept of personality functioning has been included as a dimensional measure of basic psychological capacities in both the DSM-5 (34) as well as the ICD-11 (35-37). The ICD-11 represents a radical change in the classification of personality disorders where former categorical descriptions are now replaced by a dimensional structure. Diagnoses of personality disorders are conducted in two stages by assessing (1) the severity level and (2) domain traits. Here, special regard has been given to the borderline concept that can be optionally assigned as a "borderline pattern" after severity levels have been determined (35). With regard to the also newly introduced diagnosis cPTSD, this becomes particularly interesting as both diagnoses show substantial overlaps, specifically in terms of self- and interpersonal problems (38). The ICD-11 allows for this by making it possible to assign both diagnoses at the same time. While both are strongly associated with ACEs, the diagnosis of cPTSD actually requires the presence of trauma and PTSD symptoms. Both diagnoses are to be distinguished by specific elements. While cPTSD "typically involves stable and persistent patterns of negative self-perception while emphasizing avoidant interpersonal patterns," the borderline pattern differs by allowing "an unstable or internally contradictory sense of self, which may involve both overly negative and overly positive self-views" (38).

Secure relationships and attachments alongside adequate emotional mirroring processes facilitate the development of personality functioning in early childhood (39). Given that personality functioning develops at a young age (29, 40, 41), it becomes obvious that ACEs (e.g., in form of maltreatment carried out by care-givers or attachment disruptions) might hamper and disrupt this developmental processes (42, 43), and thus, result in impaired personality functioning. Based on pioneering work by Sperber et al. (44) and Wilson and Sperber (45), Fonagy and Allison emphasize that secure attachment relationships are not only highly relevant for the development of personality functioning in infancy, but also for the development of the capacity of epistemic trust (46-48). Epistemic trust describes the "trust in the authenticity and personal relevance of interpersonally transmitted knowledge about how the social environment works and how best to navigate it" (49), or in other words, an "individual's willingness to consider new knowledge from another person as trustworthy, generalizable, and relevant to the self," in short: for social learning (47). In case of ACEs-especially if they occur in severe and regular form-a child's early environment is characterized by unreliable or even malevolent caregiving experiences causing disrupted learning about the social world, and thus, resulting in a breakdown or underdevelopment of epistemic trust. Epistemic mistrust can cause uncertainty and continued epistemic vigilance that can manifest as the overinterpretation of other people's motives (48, 49). In a state of epistemic hypervigilance, one will assume that the other's intentions are deviating from those declared, having them treat the source of the information as not deferential (48). Also, the content of the information may be rejected and its meaning confused or misinterpreted as being malignant. Such failings in social communication might originate from epistemic hypervigilance, epistemic mistrust, or even epistemic freezing, with the latter describing the inability to trust others as a source of information regarding the world and its workings (49). In short, "epistemic mistrust manifests as the misattribution of intention and the assumption of malevolent motives behind another person's actions, and therefore treating them with epistemic hypervigilance (or conversely, in some instances, excessive inappropriate epistemic trust or credulity)" (48). Fonagy and colleagues suggest that these might be characteristics of many patients with trauma and personality problems, and that many "types of psychopathology might be characterized by temporary or permanent disruption of epistemic trust and the social learning process it enables" (49).

Following this line of thinking, epistemic trust might have a relevant predictive influence on a person's level of personality functioning. However, to our knowledge there is no research assessing the role of epistemic trust in the association between ACEs, personality functioning and PTSD and cPTSD respectively. Therefore, the present work aims to investigate the predictive value of reduced epistemic trust on the mediating effect of impaired personality functioning in the association between ACEs and PTSD and cPTSD. We hypothesize, (I) that in line with previous research, experiences of ACEs relate to higher rates of PTSD and cPTSD in the general population, (II) that ACEs correspond to greater impairment in personality functioning and epistemic trust, and finally (III) that personality functioning is a mediator regarding the association between ACEs and PTSD as well as cPTSD, and that epistemic trust will be a relevant predictor for personality functioning.

Materials and methods

Sample and setting

The present study is based on data from a representative sample of the German population collected by the independent demography research institute USUMA Berlin. Face-to-face interviews and self-report questionnaires were administered by trained interviewers between December 2020 and March 2021, yielding a total of N = 2,519 participants. Households within 258 predefined regions were selected by a random route procedure. In households with multiple persons, one person was randomly selected using the Kish-Selection-Grid. Inclusion

criteria were sufficient German language skills, an age ≥ 16 and informed consent before taking part in the study (in the case of minors, informed consent was also obtained from a parent/legal guardian). The survey was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and fulfilled the ethical guidelines of the International Code of Marketing and Social Research Practice of the International Chamber of Commerce and the European Society of Opinion and Marketing Research. Regarding the beginning Covid-19-pandemic in Germany, all applicable hygiene regulations at that time were followed. Ethical approval was obtained by the Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of the University of Leipzig (no. 474/20-ek).

Measures

Adverse childhood experiences questionnaire

ACEs were assessed using the ACEs Questionnaire (50), which is a widely used self-report tool for retrospectively evaluating numerous early childhood adversities. It comprises 10 items regarding abuse (emotional, physical, and sexual), neglect (emotional and physical), separation of a parent, violence against the mother, as well as problems of a household member (substance use, mental disorder, and prison stay). Each item is answered with either yes (1) or no (0), resulting in a sum score between 0 and 10. The German version of the ACE has shown acceptable reliability, with Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.76$ (51). In our sample, a good internal consistency of the ACE items could be observed ($\alpha = 0.81$).

International trauma questionnaire

The ITQ is a brief self-report questionnaire to measure PTSD and cPTSD symptoms after a stressful life experience, also assessing whether diagnostic criteria of PTSD and cPTSD diagnoses according to ICD-11 are fulfilled (52). It comprises 18 items with response options ranging from 0 = "not at all" to 4 = "extremely." The three PTSD core symptom clusters (re-experiencing, avoidance, and sense of threat) and the additional three areas related to disturbances in selforganization (DSO) (affective dysregulation, negative selfconcept, and problematic relationships) are measured by two items each. For a dimensional assessment, the three items for the PTSD core symptom clusters and DSO, respectively, can be summed up resulting in an ITQ-PTSD sum score and an ITQcPTSD sum score, respectively, ranging from 0 to 24. To assess a probable PTSD diagnosis, functional impairment for the PTSD core symptoms are considered with additional three items. A probable PTSD diagnosis is met if at least one item in each core symptom cluster and one item of functional impairment for PTSD is answered with ≥ 2 ("moderately"). A probable cPTSD diagnosis is met, if PTSD criteria are satisfied and additionally at least one item in each DSO area is answered with ≥ 2 as well as and one item of functional impairment for DSO is answered with \geq 2. According to ICD-11 diagnostic guidelines, a person may receive a possible diagnosis for PTSD or cPTSD, but not both. For both scales, reliability was good with $\alpha = 0.84$ for the PTSD scale and $\alpha = 0.88$ for the cPTSD scale (53). The German version has been validated in a representative population-based sample and can be used for research and clinical practice (54). In our sample, good internal consistency was observed for both the PTSD ($\alpha = 0.89$) and cPTSD scale ($\alpha = 0.87$).

Operationalized psychodynamic diagnosis structure questionnaire-short form

The Operationalized Psychodynamic Diagnosis Structure Questionnaire-Short Form (OPD-SQS) (55) is a 12-item self-report questionnaire to assess the level of personality functioning. A total score ranging from 0 to 48 and a score for each of the three subscales (self-perception, interpersonal contact, and relationship model) ranging from 0 to 12 can be calculated. Higher values indicate more severe deficits in personality functioning. Good validity and reliability have been reported for the total scale, with Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.88$ (55). In our sample, good internal consistency was observed for the OPD-SQS total score ($\alpha = 0.91$).

Epistemic trust, mistrust and credulity questionnaire

The German Version of the Epistemic Trust, Mistrust and Credulity Questionnaire (ETMCQ) (56, 57) was used to assess the participants' levels of trust in communicated knowledge, i.e., epistemic trust. The ETMCQ consists of 15 items to measure the three independent subscales of the epistemic trust construct: epistemic trust, mistrust, and credulity. Examples for the respective scales are "I find information easier to trust and absorb when it comes from someone who knows me well" for epistemic trust, "If you put too much faith in what people tell you, you are likely to get hurt" for epistemic mistrust, and "When I speak to different people, I find myself easily persuaded even if it is not what I believed before" for epistemic credulity. Each item has a response option ranging from 1 = "strongly disagree" to 7 = "strongly agree," resulting in a sum score from 15 to 105. High trust reflects a persons' ability to be open to opportunities for social learning in relationships, while high mistrust indicates a tendency to treat information sources as unreliable and to rather avoid being influenced by communication from others. High credulity reflects a persons' lack of clarity about its own position, which can lead to high vulnerability to misinformation and exploitation by others. For the ETMCQ, good reliability and validity have been reported, with the internal consistency for the full scale ranging from Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.71$ to $\alpha = 0.78$. In our sample, good internal consistency was observed for the ETMCQ trust ($\alpha = 0.81$) and credulity ($\alpha = 0.80$) subscale, while the values for the mistrust subscale were somewhat questionable $(\alpha = 0.69).$

Statistical analyses

Demographics for the sample are presented with means and standard deviations (SD). Patients with >50% missing items in the ITQ, ACE scale, OPD-SQS or ETMCQ were excluded from the analysis. Sociodemographic and clinical data of the excluded sample was compared to the study sample using independent sample *t*-tests and χ^2 -tests. The effect of group differences was estimated using Hedges g' for metric and ϕ for nominal data. Values of g' = $0.2/\phi = 0.1$, g' = $0.5/\phi = 0.3$ and g' = $0.8/\phi = 0.5$ represent small, medium and large effect sizes, respectively.

The relationships between ACEs, epistemic trust, personality functioning, and PTSD/cPTSD symptoms were investigated with structural equation models (SEM; see Figure 1). Missing data (<50% missing items) was imputed using the full information maximum likelihood (FIML) estimation, which is the default approach in AMOS. In model A, the direct influence of ACEs on PTSD/cPTSD symptoms in adulthood was tested. In model B, personality functioning as measured by the OPD-SQS total score was added to the model as a mediator for this relationship and the epistemic trust subscales were added as predictors for personality functioning. For sensitivity analyses, the model was also tested (a) in the complete sample with the assumption that all missing values equal the lowest possible symptom score and (b) in all participants without missing data in the ITQ cPTSD scale with the assumption that missing values in the ITQ PTSD scale represent the lowest possible symptom score.

To account for non-normal distribution of data, bootstrapped confidence intervals [5,000 samples, 95% confidence interval (CI)] were calculated to evaluate the statistical significance of all included paths in the SEM. To determine the model's goodness of fit, Pearson's chi-squared test (χ^2) , the comparative fit index (CFI), Tucker-Lewis Index (TLI), and root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA) with lower and higher bounds of the 95%-CI were calculated. To evaluate whether the empirical data was closely fitting the theoretical model, the p-value of Close Fit (PCLOSE) was calculated based on the RMSEA values, with values of p > 0.05 indicating close fit and p < 0.05 indicating worse than close model fit. Acceptable goodness of fit was defined as RMSEA values of <0.08 and CFI/TLI values >0.90. p-values < 0.05 (two-sided) were considered statistically significant. Statistical analyses were performed with IBM SPSS (v22.0) and SPSS AMOS (v24.0).

Results

A total of 2,519 persons participated in the study. Of these, n = 515 participants (20.4%) were excluded because of missing data in the ITQ (mainly the PTSD symptom scale), the ACE questionnaire, the OPD-SQS, or the ETMCQ. The remaining n = 2,004 patients were included in the final analysis. Participants' mean age was 51.3 years. The majority was female (52.5%), married (45.5%), had an education ranging from 10 to 13 years of school (57.1%), and were employed full time (41.4%). Most participants earned a net monthly household income between 1,500 and 2,499 € (31.7%). For more details on sociodemographic characteristics see Table 1.



Structural equation models to test the mediation effect of personality functioning and epistemic trust on the relationship of ACEs with PTSD/cPTSD symptoms in adulthood. (A) Direct association of ACEs (X) and PTSD symptoms (Y). (B) Association of ACEs (X) and PTSD/cPTSD symptoms (Y), mediated by personality functioning (M), which was predicted by epistemic trust (P). Model A depicts the direct association of the independent variable ACEs (X) with the dependent variables PTSD and cPTSD respectively (Y). Model B depicts the model with personality functioning as a mediator (M) and the three epistemic trust subscales as predictors (P) for the mediator variable.

TABLE 1 Sociodemographic characteristics -N = 2,004.

	N	(%)
Sex		
Male	947	(47.3)
Female	1,053	(52.5)
Diverse	4	(0.2)
Age $(M = 51.3; SD = 18.1)$		
<30	325	(16.2)
30-39	245	(12.2)
40-49	307	(15.3)
50–59	418	(20.9)
60–69	348	(17.4)
>70	361	(18.0)
Education		
<10 years	605	(30.2)
10–13 years	1,145	(57.1)
>13 years	202	(10.1)
Other qualification	35	(1.7)
Missing	17	(0.8)
Relationship		
Married	911	(45.5)
Single	574	(28.6)
Divorced	291	(14.5)
Widowed	221	(11.0)
Missing	7	(0.3)
Employment status		
Full time	830	(41.4)
Part time	250	(12.5)
Unemployed	161	(8.0)
In training	112	(5.6)
Retired	626	(31.2)
Missing	25	(1.2)
Monthly net household income		
<1,500 €	471	(23.5)
1,500–2,499 €	636	(31.7)
2,500-3,499 €	457	(22.8)
>3,500 €	440	(22.0)

Excluded patients were significantly younger (46.3 vs. 51.3 years; p < 0.001; g' = 0.28), more often full time employed (51.0 vs. 41.6%) and less often retired (19.3 vs. 31.4%) ($\chi^2 = 33.35$, p < 0.001; $\phi = 0.12$), more often single (35.6 vs. 28.7%) and less often widowed (4.3 vs. 11.1%) ($\chi^2 = 26.08$, p < 0.001; $\phi = 0.10$), had been in school longer ($\chi^2 = 11.66$, p = 0.009; $\phi = 0.07$), and reported less ACEs (0.6 vs. 1.0; p < 0.001; g' = 0.24). However, all differences were of small effect size. No significant difference was observed for gender ($\chi^2 = 11.66$, p = 0.59; $\phi = 0.20$) and monthly net household income ($\chi^2 = 19.14$, p = 0.12; $\phi = 0.09$).

In addition, **Table 2** shows the mean number of ACEs experienced by the participants of the included sample as well mean values regarding personality functioning, epistemic trust, and PTSD and cPTSD symptoms.

TABLE 2 Mean numbers of ACEs as well as mean values of ITQ (symptoms of PTSD and cPTSD, respectively), OPD-SQS (personality functioning), and ETMCQ (epistemic trust)—N = 2,004.

	M	(<i>SD</i>)
ACE	1.0	(1.8)
ITQ		
PTSD	2.8	(4.2)
cPTSD	4.2	(5.7)
OPD-SQS		
total score	24.1	(9.4)
self-perception	6.3	(3.1)
interpersonal contact	7.9	(3.4)
relationship model	10.0	(4.3)
ETMCQ		
trust	24.7	(5.4)
mistrust	14.5	(4.5)
credulity	12.5	(5.1)

ACE, Adverse Childhood Experiences Questionnaire; ITQ, International Trauma Questionnaire; PTSD, posttraumatic stress disorder; cPTSD, complex posttraumatic stress disorder; OPD-SQS, Operationalized Psychodynamic Diagnosis Structure Questionnaire-Short Form; ETMCQ, Epistemic Trust, Mistrust and Credulity Questionnaire.

Prevalence and association of adverse childhood experiences and posttraumatic stress disorder as well as complex posttraumatic stress disorder in adulthood

A total of 1,309 (65.3%) participants reported no ACEs, while 477 (23.8%) had experienced 1–3 ACEs and the remaining 218 (10.9%) four or more ACEs [i.e., polytraumatized persons (58)]. The rates for PTSD and cPTSD symptoms above the cut-off were quite similar with a prevalence of 4.4% (n = 88) and 4.1% (n = 83), respectively.

A higher ACE score was significantly associated with higher scores for symptoms of PTSD (r = 0.31, p < 0.001) and cPTSD (r = 0.44, p < 0.001). Patients who were polytraumatized (i.e., four or more ACEs) in their childhood had 7.0-times increased likelihood to develop clinically relevant PTSD-symptoms (95%-CI: 4.0–12.1; p < 0.001) and a 14.8-times increased risk for clinically relevant cPTSD symptoms (95%-CI: 8.2–26.6; p < 0.001).

The association between personality functioning and epistemic trust with adverse childhood experiences and posttraumatic stress disorder as well as complex posttraumatic stress disorder in adulthood

In our sample, ACEs were significantly associated with lower personality functioning as well as higher scores for

epistemic mistrust and epistemic credulity as well as lower scores for epistemic trust. Additionally, participants with lower personality functioning reported higher PTSD and cPTSD scores. As for the epistemic trust subscales, higher epistemic credulity and mistrust were both significantly associated with higher PTSD and cPTSD symptoms. However, while lower epistemic trust was also associated with higher cPTSD symptoms, there was no significant association with PTSD symptoms (see also Table 3).

Personality functioning and epistemic trust as mediators of the relationship of adverse childhood experiences with posttraumatic stress disorder and complex posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms in adulthood

In the first step, the direct associations of ACEs with PTSD and cPTSD symptoms in adulthood were investigated by calculation of a SEM. ACEs significantly predicted PTSD (p < 0.001, $\beta = 0.31$, 95%-CI: 0.26–0.36) and cPTSD (p < 0.001, $\beta = 0.44$, 95%-CI: 0.39–0.49) symptoms and explained 8 and 20% of the variance, respectively. Since the number of distinct sample moments was equal to the number of distinct parameters to be estimated (i.e., resulting in zero degrees of freedom), no model fit indices could be calculated.

In the second step, the OPD-SQS total score was added as a mediator of the relationship between ACEs and PTSD/cPTSD symptoms, respectively, and the ETMCQ subscales were added as predictors for personality functioning. The overall explained variance substantially increased for PTSD (19%) and cPTSD (47%) and the direct association of ACEs with both PTSD (β = 0.17, 95%-CI: 0.12–0.23; p < 0.001) and cPTSD symptoms (β = 0.21, 95%-CI: 0.16–0.26; p < 0.001) was weakened. Epistemic mistrust (β = 0.23, 95%-CI: 0.18–0.28; p < 0.001) and epistemic

TABLE 3 Correlations between the ETMCQ, ACE, OPD-SQS, ITQ-PTSD, and ITQ-cPTSD scales.

ETMCQ: trust	-0.10***	-0.03	-0.16***
ETMCQ: mistrust	0.19***	0.14***	0.32***
ETMCQ: credulity	0.25***	0.24***	0.39***
OPD-SQS: total score	0.41**	0.40**	0.66**
OPD-SQS: self-perception	0.37***	0.45***	0.67***
OPD-SQS: interpersonal contact	0.37***	0.34***	0.61***
OPD-SQS: relationship model	0.34***	0.29***	0.49***

ACE ITQ-PTSD ITQ-cPTSD

 $^{**}p < 0.01; ^{***}p < 0.001. ETMCQ, Epistemic Trust, Mistrust and Credulity Questionnaire; OPD-SQS, Operationalized Psychodynamic Diagnosis Structure Questionnaire-Short Form; ACEs, Adverse Childhood Experiences Questionnaire; ITQ, International Trauma Questionnaire; PTSD, posttraumatic stress disorder; cPTSD, complex posttraumatic stress disorder.$

credulity (β = 0.33, 95%-CI: 0.29–0.38; *p* < 0.001) significantly predicted the OPD-SQS total score and explained 41% of the variance (for details, see **Figures 2**, 3).

A good model fit was found for the model with PTSD ($\chi^2 = 31.56$, p < 0.001; CMIN/DF = 7.89; CFI = 0.99; TLI = 0.96; RMSEA = 0.059, 95%-CI: 0.041-0.078; PCLOSE = 0.20) and cPTSD as dependent variables ($\chi^2 = 34.13$, p < 0.001; CMIN/DF = 8.53; CFI = 0.99; TLI = 0.96; RMSEA = 0.061, 95%-CI: 0.043-0.081; PCLOSE = 0.14).

For sensitivity analyses, both models were also calculated with (a) all missing items imputed as lowest possible score on the ITQ scales and (b) missing ITQ-PTSD items imputed as lowest possible scores for all participants with complete ITQ-cPTSD items. Since these calculations showed no difference in results, the initial analyses were considered reliable.

Discussion

Based on data of a representative survey of the German population, we examined the role of epistemic trust in the association between ACEs, personality functioning and PTSD as well as cPTSD, respectively.

Our results show that a third of our sample suffer from ACEs (about 24% had one to three and about 11% four or more ACEs), and about 4.1 and 4.4% fulfilled self-reported PTSD and cPTSD criteria, respectively. Higher ACE scores were significantly associated with higher scores for symptoms of PTSD and even more so for symptoms of cPTSD. In addition, multiple experiences of ACEs (>4 ACEs) were associated with a severely increased risk to develop PTSD (7.0-times) and cPTSD (14.8-times) in adulthood. We add to previous research demonstrating an association of ACEs and PTSD as well as cPTSD, emphasizing the importance of a persons' history of child maltreatment and adverse experiences for developing these psychopathologies (13, 15, 17, 59).

Consistent with our second hypothesis, we show that ACEs do indeed correspond to impairments in personality functioning but also higher epistemic mistrust and epistemic credulity, as well as reduced epistemic trust. Moreover, we demonstrate that impaired personality functioning as well as higher epistemic mistrust and epistemic credulity were significantly associated with increased PTSD and cPTSD scores, implying the possible importance of these constructs for the development of such psychopathology. With regard to personality functioning, this is in line with previous research demonstrating associations between personality functioning and PTSD and cPTSD that were also more pronounced for cPTSD than PTSD (60).

Following our initial line of thinking that the underlying pathway of the association between ACEs and PTSD as well as cPTSD might involve constructs such as personality functioning or epistemic trust, we included both variables in a SEM in order to explore the mediating and predictive characteristics of



FIGURE 2

Structural equation models for the mediation effect of personality functioning and epistemic trust on the relationship of ACEs with PTSD symptoms. Personality functioning was added as a mediator for the association between ACEs and PTSD and the three epistemic trust subscales as predictors of personality functioning. Rectangles represent variables (ACEs, Adverse Childhood Experiences measured by the ACE; personality functioning measured by the OPD-SQS; ET, epistemic trust measured by the ETMCQ; PTSD, posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms measured by the ITQ) and circles represent error terms (e). Numbers next to arrows in the model represent standardized estimates, numbers next to factors represent the R2, i.e. the explained variance.



FIGURE 3

Structural equation models for the mediation effect of personality functioning and epistemic trust on the relationship of ACEs with cPTSD symptoms. Personality functioning was added as mediator for the association between ACEs and cPTSD and the three epistemic trust subscales as predictors of personality functioning. Rectangles represent variables (ACEs, Adverse Childhood Experiences measured by the ACE; personality functioning measured by the OPD-SQS; ET, epistemic trust measured by the ETMCQ; cPTSD, complex posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms measured by the ITQ) and circles represent error terms (e). Numbers next to arrows in the model represent standardized estimates, numbers next to factors represent the R2, i.e. the explained variance.

these constructs. For PTSD, the explained variance increased notably from 8 to 19% when including personality functioning as a mediator in the direct association between ACEs and PTSD. For cPTSD, the relationship was even stronger with the explained variance increasing from 20 to 47%. To our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate this association. Whilst previous research has focused on isolated and specific mechanisms such as affect regulation (28) or attachment (61), we assessed different but intertwined psychological functions comprising self-regulation, self-perception, and interpersonal difficulties in the form of personality functioning. Scarce research already including personality functioning focused on different psychopathologies in adulthood. For example, a similar pathway was found for depression and anxiety where personality functioning (partially) mediated the association between child maltreatment and depression and anxiety symptoms, respectively (12, 25). Personality functioning appears to be a relevant underlying mechanism in adults with different psychopathologies including PTSD and especially cPTSD and a history of ACEs.

We also included epistemic trust in our SEM to empirically test the predictive value of this construct. In line with our third hypothesis, our results show that, compared to ACEs as a single predictor, the inclusion of epistemic trust substantially increased the explained variance of personality functioning from 16 to 41%. These results suggest that epistemic trust or rather disruptions of epistemic trust have an important influence on personality functioning, and thus, might play a role in better understanding the implications of ACEs in those with PTSD and cPTSD. There is the possibility that the disruption of the system of trusting socially conveyed information might lead to problems of personality functioning because updating knowledge about the self becomes a challenge. In other words, the risk of PTSD and cPTSD increases because the person is less connected to their social network so that adequate personality functioning-which assumes a free-flow of information within a social network-becomes compromised. Yet, notably stronger associations for cPTSD compared to PTSD have to be considered with respect to the different diagnostic requirements: while cPTSD is normally associated with prolonged or multiple ACEs, PTSD can be caused by a variety of single stressful or threatening events. That ACEs might cause disruptions in epistemic trust and therefore impairments in personality functioning-an assumption that requires further researchmight in part explain the specific symptoms accompanying cPTSD, namely impaired affect regulation, low self-esteem, and interpersonal problems (18, 19, 62).

Even though future research has to validate our findings, we believe knowledge about constructs such as personality functioning and specifically epistemic trust—both modifiable by psychotherapy (47, 62–64)—should inspire further research on psychotherapeutic prevention and intervention when addressing PTSD and more importantly cPTSD but also when considering adult psychopathology in general and personality disorders in particular.

Strengths and limitations

A major strength of this study was the availability of representative data from a face-to-face survey which included information about participants' psychological, physical, personal and socio-demographic characteristics. In addition, to our knowledge this is the first study to empirically examine the role of epistemic trust in the direct context of ACEs and PTSD as well as cPTSD in adulthood. While standardized clinical diagnoses are certainly the gold standard, we consider it a strength of the study that the layout of the ITQ allows for potential classification of diagnosis by assessing the specific diagnostic criteria of PTSD and cPTSD according to ICD-11 (52). Nevertheless, the ITQ is a self-report measure that does not resemble the quality of a clinical diagnosis. Moreover, there are potential limitations that should be considered with regard to the study results. While overall quality of the data is high (unbiased general population based data), the cross-sectional study design limits the interpretation of the results in terms auf causality. From a developmental perspective, ACEs could have also immediately resulted in disrupted trust and attachments, and therefore, PTSD or cPTSD in childhood, which in turn could have impaired a healthy personality development during late childhood and adolescence. While we examined epistemic trust in relation to personality functioning, we did not include attachment which might offer even further insights on the involved pathways of ACEs and adult psychopathology (43). In addition, we did not conduct separate analyses for different subtypes of ACEs that might yield further insights on the role of a specific type of ACEs-e.g., sexual abuse-in relation to adult psychopathology.

Conclusion

Our results add to the body of evidence demonstrating the mediating effect of personality functioning in the association of ACEs and adult psychopathology. Our findings imply that personality functioning might play an important role in developing PTSD and even more importantly cPTSD symptoms in adulthood following ACEs. Theory driven and based on preliminary research in the area of personality research, we included epistemic trust as a new and potentially relevant element for this association, showing that epistemic trust had indeed a predictive influence on a persons' level of personality functioning. This knowledge helps us to better understand the underlying pathways resulting in psychopathology following ACEs but also might inform psychotherapeutic treatment

frontiersin.org

planning by considering and addressing the interfering role of e.g., epistemic mistrust within the therapeutic relationship.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of the University of Leipzig (474/20-ek). Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

Author contributions

HK, DR, JK, AL, and TN participated in the research design. PF offered the conceptual framework of the epistemic trust construct. EB collected the data. DR conducted the formal statistical analyses. JK and AL supervised the study. HK and DR wrote the original draft of the manuscript. NH, LK, TN, and SZ contributed to the writing of the manuscript. NH, EB, CS, JK, AL, SG, PF, TN, LK, and SZ reviewed and edited the manuscript. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank all participants as well as the staff of the USUMA GmbH involved in data retrieval and management.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Ajilian Abbasi M, Saeidi M, Khademi G, Hoseini BL, Emami Moghadam Z. Child Maltreatment in the World: a review article. *Int J Pediatr.* (2015) 3:353–65.

2. Sethi D, Yon Y, Parekh N, Anderson T, Huber J, Rakovac I, et al. *European Status Report on Preventing Child Maltreatment*. Denmark: World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe (2018). doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(18) 30280-3

3. Witt A, Sachser C, Plener PL, Brähler E, Fegert JM. The prevalence and consequences of adverse childhood experiences in the german population. *Dtsch Arzteblatt Int.* (2019) 116:635–42. doi: 10.3238/arztebl.2019.0635

4. Kalmakis KA, Chandler GE. Adverse childhood experiences: towards a clear conceptual meaning. J Adv Nurs. (2014) 70:1489-501. doi: 10.1111/jan.12329

5. Hughes K, Bellis MA, Hardcastle KA, Sethi D, Butchart A, Mikton C, et al. The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Public Health.* (2017) 2:e356–66. doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(17)30118-4

6. Beutel ME, Tibubos AN, Klein EM, Schmutzer G, Reiner I, Kocalevent RD, et al. Childhood adversities and distress - the role of resilience in a representative sample. *PLoS One*. (2017) 12:e0173826. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0173826

7. Ernst M, Tibubos AN, Werner A, Beutel ME, Plener PL, Fegert JM, et al. Sexdependent associations of childhood neglect and bodyweight across the life span. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:5080. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-41367-y

8. Riedl D, Lampe A, Exenberger S, Nolte T, Trawöger I, Beck T. Prevalence of adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) and associated physical and mental health problems amongst hospital patients: results from a cross-sectional study. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry.* (2020) 64:80–6. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2020.03.005

9. Affif TO, Sareen J, Fortier J, Taillieu T, Turner S, Cheung K, et al. Child maltreatment and eating disorders among men and women in adulthood: results from a nationally representative United States sample. *Int J Eat Disord.* (2017) 50:1281–96. doi: 10.1002/eat.22783

10. Li M, D'Arcy C, Meng X. Maltreatment in childhood substantially increases the risk of adult depression and anxiety in prospective cohort studies: systematic review, meta-analysis, and proportional attributable fractions. *Psychol Med.* (2016) 46:717–30. doi: 10.1017/S0033291715002743

11. Gardner MJ, Thomas HJ, Erskine HE. The association between five forms of child maltreatment and depressive and anxiety disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2019) 96:104082. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2019. 104082

12. Krakau L, Tibubos AN, Beutel ME, Ehrenthal JC, Gieler U, Brähler E. Personality functioning as a mediator of adult mental health following child maltreatment. *J Affect Disord.* (2021) 291:126–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2021.0 5.006

13. Hoeboer CM, de Kleine RA, Oprel DAC, Schoorl M, van der Does W, van Minnen A. Does complex PTSD predict or moderate treatment outcomes of three variants of exposure therapy? *J Anxiety Disord.* (2021) 80:102388. doi: 10.1016/j. janxdis.2021.102388

14. Bohus M, Kleindienst N, Hahn C, Müller-Engelmann M, Ludäscher P, Steil R, et al. Dialectical behavior therapy for posttraumatic stress disorder (DBT-PTSD) compared with cognitive processing therapy (CPT) in complex presentations of PTSD in women survivors of childhood abuse: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Psychiatry.* (2020) 77:1235–45. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2020.2148

15. Hailes HP, Yu R, Danese A, Fazel S. Long-term outcomes of childhood sexual abuse: an umbrella review. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2019) 6:830–9. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30286-X

16. Gilbert R, Widom CS, Browne K, Fergusson D, Webb E, Janson S. Burden and consequences of child maltreatment in high-income countries. *Lancet.* (2009) 373:68–81. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61706-7

17. Messman-Moore TL, Bhuptani PH. A review of the long-term impact of child maltreatment on posttraumatic stress disorder and its comorbidities: an

emotion dysregulation perspective. Clin Psychol Sci Pract. (2017) 24:154-69. doi: 10.1111/cpsp.12193

18. Cloitre M. ICD-11 complex post-traumatic stress disorder: simplifying diagnosis in trauma populations. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2020) 216:129–31. doi: 10.1192/ bjp.2020.43

19. Deutschsprachige Gesellschaft für Psychotraumatologie [DeGBT]. *Komplexe Posttraumatische Belastungsstörungen.* (2021). Available online at: https://www.degpt.de/ (accessed August 2, 2021)

20. Sin J, Spain D, Furuta M, Murrells T, Norman I. Psychological interventions for post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) in people with severe mental illness. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2017) 1:CD011464. doi: 10.1002/14651858. CD011464.pub2

21. Shalev A, Liberzon I, Marmar C. Post-traumatic stress disorder. *N Engl J Med.* (2017) 376:2459–69. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1612499

22. Schlenger WE, Corry NH, Williams CS, Kulka RA, Mulvaney-Day N, DeBakey S, et al. A prospective study of mortality and trauma-related risk factors among a nationally representative sample of Vietnam veterans. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2015) 182:980–90. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwv217

23. Meier SM, Mattheisen M, Mors O, Mortensen PB, Laursen TM, Penninx BW. Increased mortality among people with anxiety disorders: total population study. *Br J Psychiatry J Ment Sci.* (2016) 209:216–21. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.115.171975

24. Karatzias T, Hyland P, Bradley A, Cloitre M, Roberts NP, Bisson JI, et al. Risk factors and comorbidity of ICD-11 PTSD and complex PTSD: findings from a trauma-exposed population based sample of adults in the United Kingdom. *Depress Anxiety.* (2019) 36:887–94. doi: 10.1002/da.22934

25. Freier A, Kruse J, Schmalbach B, Zara S, Werner S, Brähler E, et al. The mediation effect of personality functioning between different types of child maltreatment and the development of depression/anxiety symptoms – a German representative study. *J Affect Disord*. (2022) 299:408–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2021.12. 020

26. Jaffee SR. Child maltreatment and risk for psychopathology in childhood and adulthood. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol.* (2017) 13:525–51. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-032816-045005

27. Cecil CAM, Zhang Y, Nolte T. Childhood maltreatment and DNA methylation: a systematic review. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2020) 112:392–409. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2020.02.019

28. Cloitre M, Khan C, Mackintosh MA, Garvert DW, Henn-Haase CM, Falvey EC, et al. Emotion regulation mediates the relationship between ACES and physical and mental health. *Psychol Trauma Theory Res Pract Policy*. (2019) 11:82–9. doi: 10.1037/tra0000374

29. Beebe B, Jaffe J, Markese S, Buck K, Chen H, Cohen P, et al. The origins of 12month attachment: a microanalysis of 4-month mother-infant interaction. *Attach Hum Dev.* (2010) 12:3–141. doi: 10.1080/14616730903338985

30. Kernberg OF. A psychoanalytic classification of character pathology. J Am Psychoanal Assoc. (1970) 18:800–22. doi: 10.1177/000306517001800403

31. Kernberg OF. Severe Personality Disorders: Psychotherapeutic Strategies. Rev ed ed. New Haven: Yale University Press (1993). 400 p.

32. Riedl D, Kampling H, Nolte T, Lampe A, Kruse J. Measuring Impairments of Mentalization with the 15-item Mentalization Questionnaire (MZQ): Reliability, Validity and Norm Values Based on a Representative Sample of the German Population. (under review).

33. Ehrenthal J, Benecke C. Tailored treatment planning for individuals with personality disorders. In: Kramer U editor. *Case Formulation for Personality Disorders*. Amsterdam: Elsevier (2019). p. 291–314. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-813521-1.00015-1

34. Morey LC, Hopwood CJ. Expert preferences for categorical, dimensional, and mixed/hybrid approaches to personality disorder diagnosis. *J Personal Disord*. (2019):1–8. [Epub ahead of print]. doi: 10.1521/pedi_2019_33_398

35. Tyrer P, Mulder R, Kim YR, Crawford MJ. The development of the ICD-11 classification of personality disorders: an amalgam of science, pragmatism, and politics. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol.* (2019) 15:481–502. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050718-095736

36. Bach B, First MB. Application of the ICD-11 classification of personality disorders. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2018) 18:351. doi: 10.1186/s12888-018-1908-3

37. Mulder RT. ICD-11 personality disorders: utility and implications of the new model. *Front Psychiatry.* (2021) 12:655548. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.655548

38. Felding SU, Mikkelsen LB, Bach B. Complex PTSD and personality disorder in ICD-11: when to assign one or two diagnoses? *Aust Psychiatry*. (2021) 29:590–4. doi: 10.1177/10398562211014212

39. Innamorati M, Imperatori C, Harnic D, Erbuto D, Patitucci E, Janiri L, et al. Emotion regulation and mentalization in people at risk for food addiction. *Behav Med.* (2017) 43:21–30. doi: 10.1080/08964289.2015.1036831

40. Huang YL, Fonagy P, Feigenbaum J, Montague PR, Nolte T, London Personality and Mood Disorder Research Consortium. Multidirectional pathways between attachment, mentalizing, and posttraumatic stress symptomatology in the context of childhood trauma. *Psychopathology.* (2020) 53:48–58. doi: 10.1159/000506406

41. Wagner-Skacel J, Bengesser S, Dalkner N, Mörkl S, Painold A, Hamm C, et al. Personality structure and attachment in bipolar disorder. *Front Psychiatry*. (2020) 11:410. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00410

42. Luyten P, Campbell C, Allison E, Fonagy P. The mentalizing approach to psychopathology: state of the art and future directions. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol.* (2020) 16:297–325. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-071919-015355

43. Maercker A, Bernays F, Rohner SL, Thoma MV. A cascade model of complex posttraumatic stress disorder centered on childhood trauma and maltreatment, attachment, and socio-interpersonal factors. *J Trauma Stress.* (2021) 35:446–460. doi: 10.1002/jts.22756

44. Sperber D, Clément F, Heintz C, Mascaro O, Mercier H, Origgi G, et al. Epistemic vigilance. *Mind Lang.* (2010) 25:359–93. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0017.2010. 01394.x

45. Wilson D, Sperber D. Meaning and Relevance. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (2012). doi: 10.1017/CBO9781139028370

46. Bo S, Sharp C, Fonagy P, Kongerslev M. Hypermentalizing, attachment, and epistemic trust in adolescent BPD: clinical illustrations. *Personal Disord Theory Res Treat.* (2017) 8:172–82. doi: 10.1037/per0000161

47. Fonagy P, Allison E. The role of mentalizing and epistemic trust in the therapeutic relationship. *Psychotherapy.* (2014) 51:372-80. doi: 10.1037/a0036505

48. Fonagy P, Luyten P, Allison E, Campbell C. What we have changed our minds about: part 2. Borderline personality disorder, epistemic trust and the developmental significance of social communication. *Borderline Personal Disord Emot Dysregulation*. (2017) 4:9. doi: 10.1186/s40479-017-0062-8

49. Fonagy P, Campbell C, Bateman A. Mentalizing, attachment, and epistemic trust in group therapy. *Int J Group Psychother*. (2017) 67:176–201. doi: 10.1080/00207284.2016.1263156

50. Schäfer I, Wingenfeld K, Spitzer C. ACE-D. Deutsche version des adverse childhood experiences questionnaire. In: Brähler R, Strauß E editors. *Diagnostische Verfahren in der Sexualwissenschaft*. Göttingen: Hogrefe (2014). p. 11–5.

51. Wingenfeld K, Schäfer I, Terfehr K, Grabski H, Driessen M, Grabe H, et al. Reliable, valide und ökonomische erfassung früher traumatisierung: erste psychometrische charakterisierung der deutschen version des adverse childhood experiences questionnaire (ACE). *PPMP Psychother Psychosom Med Psychol.* (2011) 61:e10-4. doi: 10.1055/s-0030-1263161

52. Cloitre M, Shevlin M, Brewin CR, Bisson JI, Roberts NP, Maercker A, et al. The international Trauma questionnaire: development of a self-report measure of ICD-11 PTSD and complex PTSD. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2018) 138:536–46. doi:10.1111/acps.12956

53. Rocha J, Rodrigues V, Santos E, Azevedo I, Machado S, Almeida V, et al. The first instrument for complex PTSD assessment: psychometric properties of the ICD-11 Trauma questionnaire. *Braz J Psychiatry.* (2020) 42:185–9. doi: 10.1590/1516-4446-2018-0272

54. Christen D, Killikelly C, Maercker A, Augsburger M. Item response model validation of the German ICD-11 International Trauma questionnaire for PTSD and CPTSD. *Clin Psychol Eur.* (2021) 3:e5501. doi: 10.32872/cpe.5501

55. Ehrenthal JC, Dinger U, Schauenburg H, Horsch L, Dahlbender RW, Gierk B. Entwicklung einer Zwölf-Item-version des OPD-strukturfragebogens (OPD-SFK)/ development of a 12-item version of the OPD-structure questionnaire (OPD-SQS). Z Für Psychosom Med Psychother. (2015) 61:262–74. doi: 10.13109/zptm.2015.61.3. 262

56. Campbell C, Tanzer M, Saunders R, Booker T, Allison E, Li E, et al. Development and validation of a self-report measure of epistemic trust. *PLoS One.* (2021) 16:e0250264. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0250264

57. Nolte T. Epistemic Trust, Mistrust and Credulity Questionnaire (ETMCQ). (in preparation).

58. Ford J. An affective cognitive neuroscience-based approach to PTSD psychotherapy: the TARGET model. *J Cogn Psychother.* (2015) 29:68–91. doi: 10.1891/0889-8391.29.1.68

59. Karatzias T, Shevlin M, Fyvie C, Grandison G, Garozi M, Latham E, et al. Adverse and benevolent childhood experiences in posttraumatic stress disorder

(PTSD) and Complex PTSD (CPTSD): implications for trauma-focused therapies. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2020) 11:1793599. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2020.1793599

60. Møller L, Meisner MW, Søgaard U, Elklit A, Simonsen E. Assessment of personality functioning in ICD-11 posttraumatic stress disorder and complex posttraumatic stress disorder. *Personal Disord Theory Res Treat.* (2021) 12:466–74. doi: 10.1037/per0000491

61. Godbout N, Daspe MÈ, Runtz M, Cyr G, Briere J. Childhood maltreatment, attachment, and borderline personality-related symptoms: gender-specific structural equation models. *Psychol Trauma Theory Res Pract Policy.* (2019) 11:90–8. doi: 10.1037/tra0000403

62. Bach B, Simonsen S. How does level of personality functioning inform clinical management and treatment? Implications for ICD-11 classification of personality disorder severity. *Curr Opin Psychiatry.* (2021) 34:54–63. doi: 10.1097/YCO. 00000000000658

63. Kraus B, Dammann G, Rudaz M, Sammet I, Jeggle D, Grimmer B. Changes in the level of personality functioning in inpatient psychotherapy. *Psychother Res.* (2021) 31:117–31. doi: 10.1080/10503307.2020.1763493

64. Fonagy P, Luyten P, Allison E, Campbell C. Mentalizing, epistemic trust and the phenomenology of psychotherapy. *Psychopathology.* (2019) 52:94–103. doi: 10.1159/000501526

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Myriam Verena Thoma, University of Zurich, Switzerland

REVIEWED BY

Giovanni Mansueto, University of Florence, Italy Srinivas Dannaram, Banner Health, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Julia Petersen Julia.Petersen@unimedizin-mainz.de

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 30 March 2022 ACCEPTED 18 July 2022 PUBLISHED 22 August 2022

CITATION

Petersen J, Schulz A-C, Brähler E, Sachser C, Fegert JM and Beutel ME (2022) Childhood maltreatment, depression and their link to adult economic burdens. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:908422. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.908422

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Petersen, Schulz, Brähler, Sachser, Fegert and Beutel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Childhood maltreatment, depression and their link to adult economic burdens

Julia Petersen^{1*}, Ann-Christin Schulz¹, Elmar Brähler^{1,2}, Cedric Sachser³, Jörg M. Fegert³ and Manfred E. Beutel¹

¹Department of Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy, University Medical Center, Johannes Gutenberg University Mainz, Mainz, Germany, ²Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Leipzig University Medical Center, Leipzig, Germany, ³Department of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Ulm University, Ulm, Germany

Background: Adult depression is a common consequence of adverse childhood experiences. There is also a higher likelihood of being affected by economic burdens after having experienced a traumatic event in childhood. As depression has been associated with economic burden, these long-term sequelae of childhood adversity are likely to interact.

Goals: We investigated depression and economic consequences, such as unemployment, lower level of education, lower income as long-term sequelae of adverse childhood experiences in adulthood and their interaction.

Methods: Childhood Maltreatment was measured by the German version of the Adverse Childhood Experience (ACE) questionnaire. Depression was measured by the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-2). Logistic regressions were applied to investigate the risks of suffering economic burdens, with depression as a moderator.

Results: Depressive symptoms increased with the number of ACEs and were highest in those reporting four or more ACEs, especially amongst those who experienced sexual and emotional abuse, as well as neglect. Moderation analysis showed a significant effect of depression increasing almost all economic burdens. Migration background additionally increased the risk of unemployment and working in a blue-collar job. Female gender decreased the risk of unemployment and working in a blue-collar job, but increased the risk of low income and part-time employment.

Conclusion: The moderation effect of depression increased the negative impact of exposure to multiple ACEs on economic life in adulthood. Prevention of ACEs and early intervention are needed to prevent the mental health and economic consequences.

KEYWORDS

adverse childhood experiences (ACE), depression, economic burdens, poverty, unemployment, education

Introduction

Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) are a common phenomenon. In representative studies up to 43.7% of respondents of the German population reported having experienced at least one adverse childhood experience, which includes emotional, physical and sexual abuse, as well as neglect and household dysfunction, such as domestic violence and drug abuse (1). Most respondents who have experienced an adverse event in their childhood have also been exposed to at least another adverse event, with 8.9% reporting at least four or more ACEs (1). Studies repeatedly showed that having experienced one ACE increased the risk of experiencing another one. For example, Clemens et al. (2) reported that having witnessed domestic violence increased the risks of sexual abuse by 4.4 times, of emotional neglect 6.5 times, of physical abuse 8.8 times, and the risk of physical neglect even by 10.3 times. In another study, Clemens et al. (3) found that having grown up in a family with mental illness or substance abuse history increased the risk of child maltreatment 5.07-5.63 times and the risk of physical abuse by 6.81 times as well as the risk of physical neglect by 6.91 times.

Additionally, studies have also found strong associations between the occurrence of ACEs and negative psychological, emotional, social, health and economic outcomes (1, 4-8). Adverse events in childhood have been consistently identified as risk factors for depression in the past decades (3, 9-11). Being exposed to any ACE increased the likelihood of experiencing depression by almost three (12) to four (1) times. A cumulative experience of multiple ACEs lead to stronger associations, increasing the ratios for depression up to OR = 7.8 (95% confidence interval: [5.45; 11.13]) (1). Furthermore, having experienced traumatic experiences in childhood has been associated with higher risks of anxiety, negative repetitive thinking, dysfunctional metacognitive beliefs, stress systems dysregulations, as well as advanced biological aging (13-16).

According to stress sensitization theory, having experienced adversity in childhood can reduce a person's coping ability in stressful times, leading to greater reactivity and more depressive reactions compared to people who did not experience such events (17). This may lead to a so called "ripple effect" from early consequences of childhood trauma, such as, for example, an increased risk of lower educational achievement due to increased stress and/or mental health issues, to a decrease in one's economic productivity in later adult life. This includes increased unemployment, reduced working hours, working lower paid jobs, or permanent sick leave and may contribute ot negative economic long-term consequences and lower social class membership (3, 4, 6, 18-22). More studies described a "greater risk of sickness absence, having less assets, requiring income related support, experiencing financial insecurity and belonging to lower social class (odds ratios ranged from 1.73 to 2.98)" [(23), p. 129]. Fergusson et al. (24) also showed that lower gross income and welfare dependency were significantly associated with childhood sexual abuse, though the effect on income became insignificant when covariates were added. This effect remained significant among women, maybe because they are more likely to experience sexual abuse than men (22). Thus, gender seems to play a significant role in the manifestation of economic burdens for people with childhood trauma. For example, even after controlling for family SES and other variables, a significant negative effect of abuse on employment emerges, but only for women (20). Additionally, it has been observed that women in particular face a greater risk of suffering from economic stress later in life following a variety of ACEs (6). Physical maltreatment of women was significantly associated with reduced SES (25, 26). In contrast, in another study, men reported lower income and working hours following severe physical abuse in childhood; the effect was not significant for women (27).

In addition to these personal economic consequences following the experience of childhood maltreatment, researchers also began to evaluate the overall average economic lifetime costs of nonfatal childhood trauma and maltreatment in terms of medical costs, productivity losses and even in criminal justice costs. Fang et al. (28), for example, estimated total costs of all childhood trauma victims in the US as approximately \$124 billion in 2008. Peterson et al. (29) updated these estimates from \$210,012 to around \$830,928 per non-fatal child maltreatment victim across their lifetimes, which raises the total costs of all non-fatal maltreatment cases to \$428 billion. For Germany, the estimates of the same year ranged between 11.1 and 28.8 billion Euros (30).

As most of the current research is on non-German samples, this study aims to add to the growing research on the association between adverse childhood experiences and negative economic (as well as academic) outcomes in later life for Germany to understand better this complex interplay and to potentially aid in finding solutions to this big social, mental health and economic issue for a considerable part of the German population. We hypothesize, based on existing research, that ACEs negatively affect a person's mental health, increasing the risk of depression. We further hypothesize, that there is also an association between ACEs and economic burdens, such as lower levels of education and unemployment. Finally, due to the abovementioned "ripple effect" ACEs have on depression and depression on economic outcomes, we hypothesize that the associations between ACEs and economic burdens are moderated by depression. Finally, we assume gender effects regarding the negative psychological and economic outcomes.

Materials and methods

Data

A nationwide representative survey conducted by the independent institute for polling and social research (USUMA

Berlin) was performed between December 2020 and February 2021. In total, 2,519 participants were included. However, we excluded all participants under the age of 25 since, by this time, they have finished their early adulthood stage and typically have become economically independent. This left us with a sample of 2,288 respondents (90.8% of the total sample).

Measures

Sociodemographic information such as age, level of education, occupational status, times of unemployment, current occupation, net household income and migration background were asked of all participants of this study. Additionally, the equivalized income was calculated according to the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) (31). Adverse childhood experiences were surveyed using the German version of the ACE Questionnaire which consists of 10 items that inquire about child maltreatment and problems at home in childhood using yes/no answer categories (4, 32). Depression was measured using the Patient Health Questionnaire-4 (PHQ-4) which includes two items from the PHQ-9 and two items from the General Anxiety Disorder Screener (GAD-7) (33). Study participants were asked to assess how much they were impacted by the symptoms during the past 2 weeks on a 4-point scale ranging from 1 = not at allto 4 = almost every day. The subscale of PHQ-4 (PHQ-2) exhibits sufficient reliability (Cronbach's alpha = 0.72). In order to estimate the prevalence of depression, we used the validated cut-off value of ≥ 3 (34).

Statistical analysis

First, we examine if we find a cumulative effect among the ACEs on depression by correlating the frequencies of ACEs (0, 1, 2, 3, 4+) with depression (PHQ-2), and with economic burdens [lower level of education, occupational status, blue collar occupation, frequency of unemployment and having an equivalized income of less than $1,126\in$, which is defined to be the 2020 at-risk-of-poverty threshold in Germany by the German Federal Office of Statistics (35)] using odds ratios. Second, we performed structural equation modeling (SEM) with the same variables as outcomes and added interaction terms to test if depression moderates the associations between ACEs and economic burdens. Before computing the interaction terms, we centered the predictors around their means (36). We then controlled for gender and migration background.

All calculations were performed using the statistical program R (version 4.1.2, packages: psych, naniar, poLCA, tidyLPA, tidyverse, lavaan).

Results

Demographics

One thousand ninety-one (47.7%) of the respondents were male with a mean age of 53.3 years (SD = 16.1). The full description of the sample can be found in Table 1. One thousand five hundred twenty-nine (66.8%) of the respondents reported having suffered no ACEs, 759 (33.2%) reported at least one. Compared to respondents without ACEs, more participants who reported ACEs had no academic degree (4.4 vs. 1.2%, p < 0.001). Furthermore, they had graduated less from secondary school (middle educational level; 39.3 vs. 45.4%, p = 0.007) and were less likely to hold a university degree (9.1 vs. 12.7%, p = 0.013). Regarding their current occupational status, respondents with ACEs were less likely employed full-time (37.7 vs. 49.0%, p < 0.001) but rather part-time employed (14.1 vs. 9.5%, p = 0.001) or currently unemployed (9.6 vs. 4.1%, p < 0.001) than their counterparts. Additionally, they were also more likely to have been unemployed at least twice (twice: 17.4 vs. 11.4%, p < 0.001; three times: 9.0 vs. 5.4%, p = 0.002; four times or more: 10.1 vs. 4.4%, p < 0.001). Participants with ACEs more frequently reported to be working blue collar jobs than participants without ACEs (26.8 vs. 22.7%, p = 0.039) and their mean household income was significantly lower (2,532.5 [SD =1,538.3] vs. 2,859.5 [SD = 1,569.4], p < 0.001). Respondents with ACEs were more likely to have a migration background (15.5 9.7%, p < 0.001). And finally, they also exhibited significantly more likely symptoms of depression (15.9 3.0%, p < 0.001).

A total of 262 (11.5%) reported to have experienced one ACE, 138 (6.0%) two, 119 (5.2%) three, and 240 (10.5%) four or more ACEs. Emotional abuse was cited the most (363, 15.9%), followed by parental separation or divorce (324, 14.2%), physical abuse (288, 12.6%), substance abuse in the home (285, 12.5%), and emotional neglect (283, 12.4%). Incarceration of a family member (67, 2.9%) and sexual abuse (86, 3.8%) were mentioned least frequently.

Associations between number of ACEs, depression and economic burdens

For individual ACEs, as well as multiple ACEs, we found significant moderate to strong associations with depression, income, level of education, current unemployment, blue collar education and higher risk of unemployment (see Table 2). The associations between the individual ACEs and depression ranged from OR = 2.80 (parental separation) to OR = 6.35 (sexual abuse). However, the highest associations were found for the cumulation of ACEs (ACE load) on depression. Additionally, no ACEs showed a significantly lower chance of depression (OR = 0.17) compared to the occurrence of four or more ACEs (OR = 10.20).

	Sample	With ACE	No ACE	<i>p</i> -Value
	N = 2,288	<i>N</i> = 759, 33.2%	<i>N</i> = 1,529, 66.8%	
Gender (men)	1,091 (47.7%)	360 (47.4%)	731 (47.8%)	0.900
Age				
25-35	364 (15.9%)	120 (15.8%)	244 (16.0%)	0.976
36-45	399 (17.4%)	134 (17.7%)	265 (17.3%)	0.894
46-55	411 (18.0%)	154 (20.3%)	257 (16.8%)	0.047
56-65	487 (21.3%)	150 (19.7%)	337 (22.1%)	0.230
66–75	390 (17.0%)	125 (16.5%)	265 (17.3%)	0.647
>75	237 (10.4%)	76 (10.0%)	161 (10.5%)	0.757
Education				
Without a degree	52 (2.3%)	33 (4.4%)	19 (1.2%)	0.000
Secondary general school	651 (28.7%)	236 (31.4%)	415 (27.3%)	0.047
Secondary school	984 (43.3%)	295 (39.3%)	689 (45.4%)	0.007
Academic secondary school	318 (14.0%)	118 (15.7%)	200 (13.2%)	0.114
Tertiary education	261 (11.5%)	68 (9.1%)	193 (12.7%)	0.013
Other	4 (0.2%)	1 (0.1%)	3 (0.2%)	1.000
Occupational status				
Full-time employment	1,028 (45.2%)	285 (37.7%)	744 (49.0%)	0.000
Part-time employment	252 (11.1%)	107 (14.1%)	145 (9.5%)	0.001
Unemployed	135 (5.9%)	73 (9.6%)	62 (4.1%)	0.000
Other	860 (37.8%)	292 (38.6%)	568 (37.4%)	0.616
Frequency of unemployment				
0	1,168 (51.7%)	300 (40.2%)	868 (57.6%)	0.000
1	498 (22.1%)	174 (23.3%)	324 (21.2%)	0.337
2	302 (13.4%)	130 (17.4%)	172 (11.4%)	0.000
3	149 (6.6%)	67 (9.0%)	82 (5.4%)	0.002
≥ 4	140 (6.2%)	75 (10.1%)	65 (4.4%)	0.000
Occupation				
Never been employed	28 (1.2%)	12 (1.6%)	16 (1.1%)	0.360
Blue collar workers	545 (24.1%)	200 (26.8%)	345 (22.7%)	0.039
White collar workers	1,350 (59.6%)	429 (57.4%)	921 (60.7%)	0.147
Civil servants	113 (5.0%)	33 (4.4%)	80 (5.3%)	0.437
Other	228 (10.1%)	73 (9.8%)	155 (10.2%)	0.797
Net household income (in Euro)	2,751.8 (1,566.4)	2,532.5 (1,538.3)	2,859.5 (1,569.4)	0.000
Equalized household income				
≤1,000€	221 (9.9%)	108 (14.6%)	113 (7.5%)	0.000
≤2,000€	1,055 (47.1%)	363 (49.2%)	692 (46.1%)	0.179
≤3,000€	613 (27.3%)	177 (24.0%)	436 (29.0%)	0.014
>3,000€	351 (15.7%)	90 (12.2%)	261 (17.4%)	0.002
Migration background (yes)	267 (11.7%)	118 (15.5%)	149 (9.7%)	0.000
Depression (yes)	166 (7.3%)	120 (15.9%)	46 (3.0%)	0.000

TABLE 1 Descriptive overview of social demographics of respondents who reported ACEs and those who did not.

Significant (p \leq 0.05) group differences in bold. p-Values were calculated using Pearson's Chi-squared test.

Depression according to PHQ-2 cut-off at \geq 3.

Looking at the economic burdens, we found a higher risk of unemployment within the high-risk group of 4+ ACEs (OR = 3.99). Having reported four or more ACEs was also highly

associated with having an equivalized income of under $1,126 \in$ and current unemployment (OR = 3.19 and OR = 3.75). For individual ACEs, the ratios ranged between OR = 1.70

123

TABLE 2 Prevalence of combined adverse childhood experiences (ACEs), odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals for depression, income, education, working hours, occupation, and risk of unemployment.

	Total sample	Depression ^a	Equivalized income ≤1,126€	Lower level of education ^b	Part-time working	Currently unemployed	Blue collar occupation	Higher risk of unemployment ⁶
Number of ACEs (A	N = 2,288)							
0	1,529	1	1	1	1	1	1	1
	(66.8%)							
1	262 (11.5%)	3.57	1.56	0.90	1.28	1.55	0.98	1.37
		[2.14-5.86]	[1.06-2.26]	[0.66-1.21]	[0.83-1.91]	[0.85-2.66]	[0.71-1.33]	[0.90-2.02]
2	138 (6.0%)	4.57	1.71	0.80	2.44	2.07	0.85	1.36
		[2.67-8.55]	[1.03-2.73]	[0.52-1.19]	[1.53-3.78]	[1.01-3.90]	[0.54-1.30]	[0.77-2.27]
3	119 (5.2%)	5.74	2.56	1.80	1.38	2.90	1.51	2.02
		[3.13-10.13]	[1.59-4.01]	[1.22-2.63]	[0.75-2.36]	[1.48-5.30]	[0.99-2.27]	[1.19-3.28]
≥ 4	240 (10.5%)	10.20	3.19	1.68	1.52	3.75	1.72	3.99
		[86.73-15.55]	[2.27-4.44]	[1.26-2.23]	[1.00-2.25]	[2.37-5.83]	[1.28-2.31]	[2.87-5.52]
ACEs $(N = 2,288)$								
Emotional abuse	363 (15.9%)	5.21	2.45	1.72	1.39	2.87	1.66	2.81
		[3.74-7.25]	[1.85-3.23]	[1.35-2.17]	[0.99-1.92]	[1.95-4.16]	[1.30-1.12]	[2.11-3.71]
Physical abuse	288 (12.6%)	4.53	3.07	2.13	0.97	3.48	2.12	2.56
		[3.19-6.39]	[2.28-4.10]	[1.65-2.75]	[0.64-1.42]	[2.34-5.10]	[1.62-2.75]	[1.87-3.46]
Sexual abuse	86 (3.8%)	6.35	2.61	1.88	1.60	1.95	0.80	2.83
		[3.82-10.28]	[1.55-4.25]	[1.20-2.92]	[0.85-2.81]	[0.89-3.80]	[0.45-1.35]	[1.70-4.57]
Emotional	283 (12.4%)	5.27	2.40	1.28	1.07	2.44	1.47	2.15
neglect		[3.73-7.42]	[1.76-3.24]	[0.98-1.67]	[0.71-1.56]	[1.59-3.67]	[1.11-1.93]	[1.56-2.94]
Physical neglect	107 (4.7%)	4.94	2.83	2.19	1.13	2.34	1.80	3.35
, 0		[3.04-7.82]	[1.67-4.05]	[1.47-3.25]	[0.59-1.98]	[1.22-4.16]	[1.18-2.69]	[2.15-5.12]
Parental	324 (14.2%)	2.80	1.77	0.84	1.75	1.98	0.99	2.03
separation/divorce		[1.94-3.97]	[1.30-2.39]	[0.64-1.10]	[1.25-2.41]	[1.28-2.96]	[0.75-1.31]	[1.49-2.75]
Witnessing	150 (6.6%)	4.03	2.72	1.92	1.18	3.49	1.71	2.58
domestic abuse		[2.59-6.13]	[1.84-3.97]	[1.36-2.69]	[0.70-1.91]	[2.12-5.55]	[1.19-2.43]	[1.72-3.78]
Case of	285 (12.5%)	3.68	2.14	1.46	1.84	3.27	1.15	3.10
addiction in		[2.56-5.23]	[1.56-2.91]	[1.12-1.89]	[1.30-2.57]	[2.19-4.82]	[0.86-1.52]	[2.29-4.17]
household		[0.000]	[[1007]	[mio,]	[102]	[[
Mental illness in	179 (7.8%)	3.39	1.70	0.84	1.35	1.64	0.83	2.07
household	17 (1.070)	[2.21-5.10]	[1.13-2.49]	[0.59-1.18]	[0.84-2.07]	[0.92-2.76]	[0.56-1.20]	[1.40-3.00]
Incarceration of	67 (2.9%)	[2.21-3.10] 6.03	3.45	2.00	[0.84-2.07] 2.01	3.73	1.39	4.45
familymember	07 (2.270)	[3.40-10.32]	[2.02-5.75]	[1.21-3.28]	[1.03-3.63]	[1.85-6.92]	[0.80-2.34]	[2.62-7.40]

Significant (p \leq 0.05) odds ratios in bold.

^aDepression according to PHQ-2 cut-off at \geq 3.

^bLower level of education includes graduates from secondary general school (Volks- and Hauptschule).

^cHigher risk of unemployment contains those respondents who were unemployed for at least three times.

(mental illness in household) and OR = 3.45 (incarceration of family member) for the equivalized income of under $1,126 \in$ and between OR = 1.98 (parental separation or divorce) and OR = 3.73 (incarceration of family member) for current unemployment. Working a part-time job was associated with the incarceration of a family member (OR = 2.01), parental separation or divorce (OR = 1.75) and drug or alcohol abuse in household (OR = 1.84).

Cumulative effect of ACEs on depression and economic burdens

When put in linear structural equation models, we find significant associations between depression and all economic burdens, except for low level of education and part-time working (see Tables 3, 4). The coefficients ranged from B = 0.017 (p = 0.031, [0.002–0.032]) for working a blue-collar job

TABLE 3 Results of the structural equation models for low income, low level of education and part-time working with 95% confidence intervals.

		Low incom	N = 2,232		Lowl	evel of edu	cation ^a ($N = 2,26$	51)	Pa	rt-time wor	rking ($N = 2,26$	7)
	Mod	el 1	Model	2	Mode	el 1	Model	2	Mode	el 1	Mod	el 2
	CFI =	1.000	CFI = 0.9	992	CFI = 1	.000	CFI = 0.2	990	CFI = 1	1.000	CFI =	0.994
	TLI =	1.000	TLI = 0.9	945	TLI = 1	.000	TLI = 0.9	933	TLI = 1	.000	TLI = 0	0.960
	RMSEA =	= 0.000	RMSEA = 0	0.029	RMSEA =	- 0.000	RMSEA = 0	0.028	RMSEA =	= 0.000	RMSEA =	= 0.024
	SRMR =	=0.000	SRMR = 0	.008	SRMR =	0.000	SRMR = 0	.008	SRMR =	0.000	SRMR =	= 0.007
	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value
Number of ACEs												
1 ACE	0.176 (0.055)	0.090	0.033 (0.031)	0.145	-0.024 (-0.017)	0.429	-0.025 (-0.018)	0.410	0.021 (0.021)	0.331	0.024 (0.024)	0.245
	[-0.027 to 0.380]		[-0.012 to 0.078]		[-0.084 to 0.036]		[-0.085 to 0.035]		[-0.021 to 0.062]		[-0.017 to 0.065]	
2 ACEs	0.167 (0.038)	0.227	0.027 (0.018)	0.384	-0.056 (-0.029)	0.173	-0.059 (-0.031)	0.153	0.106 (0.080)	0.000	0.111 (0.084)	0.000
	[-0.104 to 0.437]		[-0.034 to 0.088]		[-0.136 to 0.025]		[-0.139 to 0.022]		[0.050 to 0.161]		[0.056 to 0.165]	
3 ACEs	0.408 (0.089)	0.003	0.092 (0.059)	0.005	0.123 (0.061)	0.005	0.119 (0.059)	0.006	0.025 (0.018)	0.405	0.034 (0.024)	0.246
	[0.138 to 0.677]		[0.028 to 0.156]		[0.038 to 0.208]		[0.034 to 0.204]		[-0.034 to 0.084]		[-0.024 o 0.092]	
4+ ACEs	0.476 (0.141)	0.000	0.108 (0.096)	0.000	0.102 (0.069)	0.002	0.097 (0.066)	0.004	0.034 (0.033)	0.143	0.028 (0.028)	0.213
	[0.272 to 0.679]		[0.058 to 0.158]		[0.037 to 0.168]		[0.031 to 0.163]		[-0.011 to 0.079]		[-0.016 to 0.073]	
Depression	0.135 (0.154)	0.000	0.034 (0.116)	0.000	0.009 (0.023)	0.309	0.009 (0.024)	0.284	0.006 (0.024)	0.293	0.004 (0.014)	0.539
	[0.084 to 0.185]		[0.021 to 0.047]		[-0.008 to 0.026]		[-0.008 to 0.026]		[-0.005 to 0.018]		[-0.008 to 0.015]	
Moderation												
Depression \times 1	0.065 (0.020)	0.000	0.017 (0.015)	0.004	0.004 (0.003)	0.314	0.005 [-0.004 to	0.290	0.003 (0.003)	0.299	0.002 (0.002)	0.540
ACE	[0.035 to 0.095]		[0.009 to 0.024]		[-0.004 to 0.013]		0.013]		[-0.003 to 0.009]		[-0.004 to 0.008]	
Depression $\times 2$	0.094 (0.022)	0.000	0.024 (0.016)	0.006	0.006 (0.003)	0.314	0.006 [-0.005 to	0.289	0.004 (0.003)	0.299	0.003 (0.002)	0.540
ACEs	[0.053 to 0.135]		[0.013 to 0.035]		[-0.006 to 0.018]		0.018]		[-0.004 to 0.013]		[-0.006 to 0.011]	
Depression \times 3	0.110 (0.024)	0.000	0.028 (0.018)	0.006	0.007 (0.003)	0.313	0.007 [-0.006 to	0.288	0.005 (0.004)	0.298	0.003 (0.002)	0.540
ACEs	[0.063 to 0.157]		[0.015 to 0.041]		[-0.007 to 0.021]		0.021]		[-0.004 to 0.015]		[-0.006 to 0.012]	
Depression \times 4+	0.174 (0.052)	0.000	0.044 (0.039)	0.009	0.011 (0.008)	0.310	0.012 [-0.010 to	0.285	0.008 (0.008)	0.294	0.005 (0.004)	0.539
ACEs	[0.107 to 0.240]		[0.027 to 0.061]		[-0.010 to 0.033]		0.033]		[-0.007 to 0.023]		[-0.010 to 0.019]	
Total effect of ACI	Es moderated by dep	ression										
Depression $\times 1$	0.241 (0.075)	0.021	0.050 (0.046)	0.023	-0.020 (-0.014)	0.512	-0.021 [-0.080 to	0.496	0.024 (0.024)	0.257	0.026 (0.026)	0.207
ACE	[0.037 to 0.446]		[0.005 to 0.095]		[-0.079 to 0.039]		0.039]		[-0.017 to 0.065]		[-0.014 to 0.066]	
Depression \times 2	0.261 (0.060)	0.060	0.051 (0.035)	0.031	-0.050 (-0.026)	0.220	-0.052 [-0.132 to	0.198	0.110 (0.083)	0.000	0.113 (0.085)	0.000
ACEs	[-0.011 to 0.532]		[-0.010 to 0.111]		[-0.129 to 0.030]		0.027]		[0.055 to 0.165]		[0.059 to 0.167]	

(Continued)

10.3389/fpsyt.2022.908422

TABLE 3 Continued

	Low income $(N = 2,232)$				Low level of education ^a ($N = 2,261$)				Part-time working ($N = 2,267$)			
	Mod	el 1	Model	2	Model 1		Model	Model 2		el 1	Model 2	
	CFI =	1.000	CFI = 0.	992	CFI =	1.000	CFI = 0.	990	CFI =	1.000	CFI =	0.994
	TLI =	1.000	TLI = 0.9	945	TLI =	1.000	TLI = 0.9	933	TLI = 1	1.000	TLI =	0.960
	RMSEA	= 0.000	RMSEA =	0.029	RMSEA =	= 0.000	RMSEA =	0.028	RMSEA =	= 0.000	RMSEA :	= 0.024
	SRMR =	=0.000	SRMR = 0	0.008	SRMR =	- 0.000	SRMR = 0	0.008	SRMR =	0.000	SRMR =	= 0.007
	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value
Depression \times 3	0.518 (0.113)	0.000	0.120 (0.077)	0.032	0.130 (0.064)	0.002	0.126	0.003	0.030 (0.021)	0.311	0.037 (0.026)	0.202
ACEs	[0.252 to 0.783]		[0.056 to 0.183]		[0.046 to 0.214]		[0.042 to 0.210]		[-0.028 to 0.089]		[-0.020 to 0.0.94]
Depression \times 4+	0.649 (0.193)	0.000	0.152 (0.134)	0.024	0.114 (0.077)	0.000	0.109	0.001	0.042 (0.041)	0.055	0.033 (0.032)	0.126
ACEs	[0.456 to 0.842]		[0.105 to 0.199]		[0.052 to 0.175]		[0.047 to 0.171]		[-0.001 to 0.084]		[-0.009 to 0.075]	
Control variables												
Gender (Ref.: Men)			0.026 (0.038)	0.068			-0.015 (-0.016)	0.433			0.133 (0.211)	0.000
			[-0.002 to 0.054]				[-0.052 to 0.022]				[0.108-0.158]	
Migration			0.114 (0.106)	0.000			0.047 (0.033)	0.114			-0.003 (-0.004)	0.864
background			[0.070 to 0.157]				[-0.011 to 0.105]				[-0.043 to 0.036]	

Significant (p \leq 0.05) coefficients in bold.

Standardized coefficient and 95% confidence interval in brackets.

^aLower level of education includes graduated from secondary general school (Volks- and Hauptschule).

	Curi	ently unem	ployed ($N = 2,26$	57)	I	Blue collar	job ($N = 2,255$)		Higher risk of unemployment ^a $(N = 2,249)$			
	Mod	el 1	Model	2	Mode	el 1	Model	2	Mod	el 1	Mod	el 2
	CFI =	1.000	CFI = 0.9	994	CFI =	1.000	CFI = 0.9	994	CFI = 1	1.000	CFI =	0.991
	TLI =	1.000	TLI = 0.9	959	TLI = I	.000	TLI = 0.9	959	TLI = I	1.000	TLI =	0.942
	RMSEA =	= 0.000	RMSEA = 0	0.024	RMSEA =	= 0.000	RMSEA =	0.029	RMSEA =	= 0.000	RMSEA =	= 0.029
	SRMR =	= 0.000	SRMR = 0	.007	SRMR =	0.000	SRMR = 0	.008	SRMR =	0.000	SRMR =	= 0.008
	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value
Number of ACEs												
1 ACE	0.006 (0.008)	0.712	0.005 (0.006)	0.771	-0.011 (-0.008)	0.715	-0.019 (-0.014)	0.495	0.016 (0.015)	0.478	0.015 (0.014)	0.494
	[-0.025 to 0.037]		[-0.026 to 0.035]		[-0.067 to 0.046]		[-0.072 to 0.035]		[-0.028 to 0.060]		[-0.028 to 0.059]	
2 ACEs	0.019 (0.019)	0.367	0.016 (0.016)	0.438	-0.032 (-0.018)	0.410	-0.043 (-0.024)	0.239	0.008 (0.006)	0.793	0.004 (0.003)	0.897
	[-0.022 to 0.060]		[-0.025 to 0.057]		[-0.108 to 0.044]		[-0.115 to 0.029]		[-0.051 to 0.066]		[-0.054 to 0.062]	
3 ACEs	0.044 (0.042)	0.049	0.040 (0.037)	0.078	0.073 (0.038)	0.078	0.050 (0.026)	0.204	0.056 (0.037)	0.079	0.050 (0.033)	0.115
	[0.000 to 0.088]		[-0.004 to 0.083]		[-0.008 to 0.154]		[-0.027 to 0.126]		[-0.006 to 0.118]		[-0.012 to 0.112]	
4+ ACEs	0.058 (0.076)	0.001	0.055 (0.072)	0.001	0.097 (0.069)	0.002	0.103 (0.074)	0.001	0.165 (0.151)	0.000	0.155 (0.142)	0.000
	[0.025 to 0.091]		[0.022 to 0.089]		[0.035 to 0.159]		[0.044 to 0.162]		[0.117 to 0.212]		[0.107 to 0.203]	
Depression	0.031 (0.155)	0.000	0.032 (0.159)	0.000	0.010 (0.029)	0.203	0.017 (0.046)	0.031	0.030 (0.107)	0.000	0.031 (0.109)	0.000
	[0.023 to 0.040]		[0.023 to 0.041]		[-0.006 to 0.026]		[0.002 to 0.032]		[0.018 to 0.043]		[0.019 to 0.043]	
Moderation												
Depression \times 1	0.016 (0.021)	0.000	0.016 (0.022)	0.000	0.005 (0.004)	0.211	0.008 (0.006) [0.000	0.040	0.015 (0.015)	0.000	0.016 (0.015)	0.000
ACE	[0.009 to 0.022]		[0.010 to 0.022]		[-0.003 to 0.013]		to 0.016]		[0.008 to 0.023]		[0.008 to 0.023]	
$\text{Depression} \times 2$	0.022 (0.022)	0.000	0.022 (0.022)	0.000	0.007 (0.004)	0.211	0.011 (0.006)	0.040	0.021 (0.015)	0.000	0.022 (0.015)	0.000
ACEs	[0.013 to 0.030]		[0.014 to 0.031]		[-0.004 to 0.018]		[0.001 to 0.022]		[0.011 to 0.032]		[0.011 to 0.032]	

TABLE 4 Results of the structural equation models for current unemployment, blue collar employment and higher risk of unemployment with 95% confidence intervals.

(Continued)

TABLE 4 Continued

	Currently unemployed ($N = 2,267$)			Blue collar job ($N = 2,255$)				Higher risk of unemployment ^a $(N = 2,249)$				
	Mod	el 1	Model	2	Mode	el 1	Model	2	Mode	el 1	Mod	el 2
	CFI = 1	1.000	CFI = 0.9	94	CFI = 1	.000	CFI = 0.9	994	CFI = 1	.000	CFI = 0	0.991
	TLI = 1	1.000	TLI = 0.9	59	TLI = 1	.000	TLI = 0.9	959	TLI = 1	.000	TLI = 0	0.942
	RMSEA =	= 0.000	RMSEA = 0	0.024	RMSEA =	0.000	RMSEA = 0	0.029	RMSEA =	= 0.000	RMSEA =	= 0.029
	SRMR =	0.000	SRMR = 0.	.007	SRMR =	0.000	SRMR = 0	.008	SRMR =	0.000	SRMR =	= 0.008
	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value	Coef.	<i>p</i> -Value
Depression \times 3	0.025 (0.024)	0.000	0.026 (0.024)	0.000	0.008 (0.004)	0.209	0.014 (0.007)	0.038	0.025 (0.016)	0.000	0.025 (0.017)	0.000
ACEs	[0.016 to 0.034]		[0.016 to 0.035]		[-0.005 to 0.022]		[0.001 to 0.026]		[0.013 to 0.036]		[0.013 to 0.037]	
Depression \times 4+	0.039 (0.051)	0.000	0.040 (0.052)	0.000	0.013 (0.009)	0.205	0.021 (0.015)	0.032	0.039 (0.035)	0.000	0.039 (0.036)	0.000
ACEs	[0.027 to 0.051]		[0.028 to 0.052]		[-0.007 to 0.034]		[0.002 to 0.040]		[0.022 to 0.055]		[0.023 to 0.055]	
Total Effect of AC	Es moderated by de	pression										
Depression \times 1	0.021 (0.029)	0.172	0.021 (0.028)	0.189	-0.005 (-0.004)	0.850	-0.010 (-0.008)	0.701	0.031 (0.030)	0.160	0.031 (0.029)	0.165
ACE	[-0.009 to 0.052]		[-0.010 to 0.051]		[-0.062 to 0.051]		[-0.064 to 0.043]		[-0.012 to 0.075]		[-0.013 to 0.074]	
Depression $\times 2$	0.041 (0.041)	0.052	0.038 (0.039)	0.066	-0.025 (-0.014)	0.517	-0.032 (-0.018)	0.382	0.029 (0.021)	0.325	0.025 (0.018)	0.389
ACEs	[-0.000 to 0.082]		[-0.002 to 0.079]		[-0.100 to 0.050]		[-0.103 to 0.039]		[-0.029 to 0.087]		[-0.032 to 0.083]	
Depression \times 3	0.069 (0.065)	0.002	0.065 (0.062)	0.003	0.081 (0.042)	0.046	0.063 (0.033)	0.102	0.080 (0.053)	0.011	0.075 (0.050)	0.017
ACEs	[0.025 to 0.113]		[0.022 to 0.109]		[0.001 to 0.161]		[-0.013 to 0.139]		[0.019 to 0.142]		[0.013 to 0.136]	
Depression \times 4+	0.097 (0.127)	0.000	0.095 (0.124)	0.000	0.110 (0.079)	0.000	0.124 (0.089)	0.000	0.203 (0.186)	0.000	0.194 (0.178)	0.000
ACEs	[0.065 to 0.129]		[0.063 to 0.127]		[0.051 to 0.168]		[0.068 to 0.180]		[0.158 to 0.248]		[0.149 to 0.239]	
Control variables												
Gender (Ref.: Men))		-0.032 (-0.068)	0.001			-0.278 (-0.325)	0.000			-0.007 (-0.010)	0.610
			[-0.051 to -0.013]				[-0.312 to -0.245]				[-0.034 to 0.020]	
Migration			0.035 (0.047)	0.022			0.025 (0.019)	0.352			0.081 (0.077)	0.000
background			[0.005 to 0.065]				[-0.027 to 0.077]				[0.038 to 0.123]	

Significant (p \leq 0.05) coefficients in bold.

Standardized coefficient and 95% confidence interval in brackets.

^aHigher risk of unemployment contains those respondents who were unemployed for at least three times.

to B = 0.034 (p < 0.000, [0.021-0.047]) for having a low income. Furthermore, both reporting 3 and 4+ ACEs was significantly associated with reporting any economic burden, with an increased effect of 4+ ACEs compared to 3 ACEs. The largest coefficients amongst participants who reported three ACEs were found for low income (B = 0.092, p = 0.005, [0.028 -(0.156]) and low level of education (B = 0.119, p = 0.006, [0.034 - 0.006]0.204]). Working a blue collar or part-time job and experiencing a higher risk of unemployment or being currently unemployed were not significantly associated with reporting three ACEs. The largest coefficients amongst participants who reported four or more ACEs were found for low level of education (B = 0.097, p =0.004, [0.031-0.163]), low income (B = 0.108, p < 0.001, [0.058-0.158]), and higher risk of unemployment (B = 0.155, p < 0.001, [0.107-0.203]). Only part-time working was not significantly associated with reporting four or more ACEs, but was associated with reporting 2 ACEs (B = 0.111, p < 0.001, [0.056-0.165]).

The interaction terms between depression and number of ACEs were mostly significant, except for the cases of low level of education and part-time working. We found the largest moderation effects amongst those who reported four or more ACEs, indicating that demonstrating signs of depression amongst this population increased the total effect of number of ACEs by up to B = 0.044 (low income, p = 0.009, [0.027–0.061]). Additionally, we also found gender effects as well as effects of having a migration background for almost all economic burdens when including gender and migration as control variables. Being a woman decreased the risk of being unemployed (B = -0.032, p = 0.001, (-0.051 to -0.013)] and working in a blue-collar job (B = -0.278, p < 0.001, [-0.312 to -0.245]), but increased the risk of working part-time (B = 0.133, p < 0.001, [0.108– 0.158]). Having a migration background increased the risk of being currently unemployed (B = 0.035, p = 0.022, [0.005– 0.065]) and being at greater risk of unemployment in general (B = 0.081, p < 0.001, [0.038-0.123]), as well as having a lower income (B = 0.114, p < 0.001, [0.070–0.157]).

Discussion

In this study, we investigated the (co-)occurrence of ACEs and their correlations to negative economic outcomes, such as lower income, lower level of education, type of occupation and unemployment, as well as depression. In total, 33.2% reported at least one ACE, including 10.5% reporting four or more. The most common ACE was emotional abuse, followed by parental separation or divorce. Least common were incarceration of a family member and sexual abuse. These findings were largely in line with other findings of representative studies in Germany, in which the prevalence of child maltreatment ranged from 31.0% (22) to 43.7% (1). The prevalence of adverse childhood experiences mirrored findings from a previous representative cross-sectional study of German samples (1, 2, 37), in which the frequencies for physical and emotional abuse were reported

to be significantly higher and frequencies for sexual abuse were reported significantly lower than those of previous studies (22, 37, 38).

Association with depression and role as moderator

We found that each individual ACE showed a strong association to depression with odds ratios ranging from OR = 2.80 (parental separation) to OR = 6.35 (sexual abuse). These findings were significantly higher than those of, for example, Witt et al. (1), who found (unadjusted) odds ranging from OR = 2.04 (parental separation) to OR = 3.94 (sexual abuse). The relatively high odds for depressive symptoms after experiencing sexual trauma in childhood is a common and widely discussed phenomenon in literature (39, 40). Though, more recent studies conclude, above all, neglect and emotional abuse to have the strongest and the most relevant associations to depression while sexual and physical abuse may be less strongly associated (40). The association between adverse experiences and depression might be result of a higher sensitivity to stress, a heightened emotional vulnerability and engagement with repetitive negative thinking after the experience of adverse events in childhood (13, 14, 16).

We found that having experienced 3 or 4+ ACEs increased the risk for depressive symptoms. This result is in accordance with previous studies indicating an association between cumulative ACEs and negative psychological outcomes (1, 23, 39). Not only were the odds of depression higher amongst those who reported multiple, or more specifically 4+ ACEs, even after controlling for gender and migration background. This might be due to negative metacognitive beliefs resulting from adverse experiences in childhood that are associated with high levels of depression. Researchers have found that a low confidence in one's own memory was associated with low work ability (41). When adjusting in a structural equation model, the significant associations for depression were lowest for working a blue-collar job and highest for being currently unemployed. Depression had no significant association with low level of education and part-time working, indicating that depression, on itself, does not increase the risk of those factors (3).

As for economic burdens and the occurrence of ACEs, we found a generally higher risk of occurrence of economic burdens in one's life the more ACEs the person has experienced, except for people who worked part-time. Respondents who suffered four or more ACEs, for example, were more likely to be at risk of poverty with an equivalized income of under $1,126 \in$ and a blue-collar job. Furthermore, they were also more likely to be currently unemployed and to be at greater risk of unemployment, in general. This mirrors results from previous studies (4, 6, 18–22, 42). Additionally, when investigating the moderating effect of depression, we found that almost all

interaction terms were significantly moderating and increasing the effects of number of ACEs on economic burdens. The largest effects were found amongst those who reported four or more ACEs, further cementing the negative cumulative impact of ACEs on adult economic life. Our findings on the relation of ACEs, depression and economic performance in adult life have serious clinical implications: The importance of the role of depression after having experienced childhood adversities on adulthood economic outcomes, it is crucial to be able to identify possible depressive symptoms early in order to induce psychological intervention, such as, for example, metacognitive psychotherapy (14, 43).

The role of gender and migration background

Finally, the role of gender needs to be addressed. We found a lower likelihood for women to be affected by current unemployment or working a blue-collar job compared to men. Instead, we found that women were more likely to live at risk of poverty with an equivalized income of under $1,126 \in$ and to work part-time jobs. This might be due to gender roles in traditional family constellations where women typically work part-time jobs in addition to caring for children while their husband is typically working full-time. This might also explain the lower income and the insignificant results for part-time working in the structural equation models for ACEs.

Additionally, we have to consider migration background as an important factor when investigating economic burdens. Our analysis showed a significant association between having a migration background and an increased risk of being unemployed or being at risk of poverty. As this analysis showed by the increasing moderation effect of depression, this association might be due to the increased risks of depressive symptoms in those with migration background compared to non-migrants (44-46). However, this discrepancy in depression prevalence has been heavily disputed by contradicting findings from other researchers who found no differences between migrants and German natives [see for example (47, 48)]. Self-attribution of being a migrant might also play a role in demonstrating depressive symptoms (48). It also needs to be mentioned that these economic burdens can also be affect by one's own socioeconomic status as a child: A lower socioeconomic status is not only associated with the prevalence of ACEs, it also affects the likelihood of a person having a lower education and, in turn, work a lower paid job (23, 49, 50).

Strengths and limitations

A strength of this study is the large and representative sample size of 2,288 participants. To measure adverse childhood experiences, we used the well-established ACE questionnaire. This measure has been discussed because of its reliability (since it's a retrospective self-reporting measure) and bias (23). However, the biggest benefit of using the ACE questionnaire is that it leaves little room for misinterpretation with its binary questions. The possibility of false-negative statements due to suppression or concealment out of shame has also been discussed extensively in the literature [see for example Harft (51)]. Furthermore, it is possible that this sample excludes participants who are at a higher risk of experiencing sexual trauma, as previous studies showed higher rates of sexual abuse (52). And finally, as previous research showed, childhood maltreatment can be "both a cause and consequence of poverty" [(23), p. 122], making it difficult to test for a definite causal relationship, especially with cross-sectional data. In the same vein, a high risk of being unemployed and generally being more vulnerable to unemployment when suffering depression has been widely discussed (53, 54). Though, it might also be plausible that unemployed respondents suffer from depressive symptoms because of their unemployment, as evidence from many studies leads to suggest (55, 56).

Data availability statement

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses/restrictions. The dataset is not publicly available. Requests to access these datasets should be directed at: EB, Elmar.Braehler@medizin.uni-leipzig.de.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Medical Department of the University of Leipzig (Ref. No. 474/20-ek). Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

Author contributions

EB, JF, CS, and MB were involved in the study design. JP performed the statistical analysis and wrote the manuscript. A-CS, EB, MB, JF, and CS provided ideas as well as guidance and critical feedback to the final version of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Witt A, Sacher C, Plener PL, Brähler E, Fegert JM. The Prevalence and consequences of adverse childhood experiences in the German population. *Dtsch Ärztebl Int*. (2019) 116:635–42. doi: 10.3238/arztebl.2019.0635

2. Clemens V, Berthold O, Witt A, Sachser C, Brähler E, Plener PL, et al. Child maltreatment is mediating long-term consequences of household dysfunction in a population representative sample. *Eur Psychiatry*. (2019) 58:10–8. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2019.01.018

3. Clemens V, Berthold O, Witt A, Sacher C, Brähler E, Plener PL, et al. Lifespan risks of growing up in a family with mental illness or substance abuse. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:15453. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-72064-w

4. Felitti VJ, Anda RF, Nordenberg D, Williamson DF, Spitz AM, Edwards V, et al. Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults. *Am J Prev Med.* (1998) 14:245–58. doi: 10.1016/S0749-3797(98)00017-8

5. Zielinski DS. Child maltreatment and adult socioeconomic well-being. Child Abuse Negl. (2009) 33:666–78. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2009.09.001

6. Currie J, Spatz Widom C. Long-term consequences of child abuse and neglect on adult economic well-being. *Child Maltreat.* (2010) 15:111–20. doi: 10.1177/1077559509355316

7. Felitti VJ, Anda RF. The relationship of adverse childhood experiences to adult medical disease, psychiatric disorders and sexual behavior: implications for healthcare. In: Lanius RA Vermetten E, and Pain C, eds. *The Impact of Early Life Trauma on Health and Disease*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (2010), p. 77–87. doi: 10.1017/CBO9780511777042.010

8. Barrett A, Kamiya Y, Sullivan VO. Childhood sexual abuse and later-life economic consequences. *J Behav Exp Econ.* (2014) 53:10–6. doi: 10.1016/j.soccc.2014.07.001

9. Banyard VL, Williams LM, Siegel JA. The long-term mental health consequences of child sexual abuse:an exploratory study of the impact of multiple traumas in a sample of women. *J Trauma Stress.* (2001) 14:697–715. doi: 10.1023/A:1013085904337

10. Lansford JE, Dodge KA, Pettit GS, Bates JE, Crozier J, Kaplow J, et al. 12-Year prospective study of the long-term effects of early child physical maltreatment on psychological, behavioral, and academic problems in adolescence. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* (2002) 156:824. doi: 10.1001/archpedi.156.8.824

11. Schilling C, Weidner K, Brähler E, Glaesmer H, Häuser W, Pöhlmann K. Patterns of childhood abuse and neglect in a representative german population sample. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0159510. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.01 59510

12. Cheong EV, Sinnott C, Dahly D, Kearney PM. Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) and later-life depression: perceived social support as a potential protective factor. *BMJ Open.* (2017) 7:e013228. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013228

13. Mansueto G, Caselli G, Ruggiero GM, Sassaroli S. Metacognitive beliefs and childhood adversities: an overview of the literature. *Psychol Health Med.* (2019) 24:542–50. doi: 10.1080/13548506.2018.1550258

14. Mansueto G, Cavallo C, Palmieri S, Ruggiero GM, Sassaroli S, Caselli G. Adverse childhood experiences and repetitive negative thinking in adulthood: a systematic review. *Clin Psychol Psychother.* (2021) 28:557–68. doi: 10.1002/cpp.2590

15. Kuzminskaite E, Penninx BWJH, van Harmelen AL, Elzinga BM, Hovens JGFM, Vinkers CH. Childhood trauma in adult depressive and anxiety disorders: an integrated review on psychological and biological mechanisms in the NESDA cohort. J Affect Disord. (2021) 283:179–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2021. 01.054

16. Mansueto G, Faravelli C. Stressful life events and psychosis: gender differences. *Stress and Health.* (2022) 38:19–30. doi: 10.1002/smi.3067

17. Monroe SM, Simons AD. Diathesis-stress theories in the context of life stress research: Implications for the depressive disorders. *Psychol Bull.* (1991) 110:406–25. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.110.3.406

18. Boden JM, Horwood LJ, Fergusson DM. Exposure to childhood sexual and physical abuse and subsequent educational achievement outcomes. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2007) 31:1101–14. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2007.03.022

19. Harkonmaki K, Korkeila K, Vahtera J, Kivimäki M, Suominen S, Sillanmäki L, et al. Childhood adversities as a predictor of disability retirement. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* (2007) 61:479–84. doi: 10.1136/jech.2006.052670

20. Lund T, Andersen JH, Winding TN, Biering K, Labriola M. Negative life events in childhood as risk indicators of labour market participation in young adulthood: a prospective Birth Cohort Study. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e75860. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0075860

21. Fahy AE, Stansfeld SA, Smuk M, Lain D, van der Horst M, Vickerstaff S, et al. Longitudinal associations of experiences of adversity and socioeconomic disadvantage during childhood with labour force participation and exit in later adulthood. *Soc Sci Med.* (2017) 183:80–7. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.04.023

22. Witt A, Brown RC, Plener PL, Brähler E, Fegert JM. Child maltreatment in Germany: prevalence rates in the general population. *Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health.* (2017) 11:47. doi: 10.1186/s13034-017-0185-0

23. Bunting L, Davidson G, McCartan C, Hanratty J, Bywaters P, Mason W, et al. The association between child maltreatment and adult poverty – a systematic review of longitudinal research. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2018) 77:121–33. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.12.022

24. Fergusson DM, McLeod GFH, Horwood LJ. Childhood sexual abuse and adult developmental outcomes: findings from a 30-year longitudinal study in New Zealand. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2013) 37:664–74. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.03.013

25. Mullen PE, Martin JL, Anderson JC, Romans SE, Herbison GP. The effect of child sexual abuse on social, interpersonal and sexual function in adult life. *Br J Psychiatry.* (1994) 165:35–47. doi: 10.1192/bjp.165.1.35

26. Mullen PE, Martin JL, Anderson JC, Romans SE, Herbison GP. The long-term impact of the physical, emotional, and sexual abuse of children: a community study. *Child Abuse Negl.* (1996) 20:7–21. doi: 10.1016/0145-2134(95)00112-3

27. Tanaka M, Jamieson E, Georgiades K, Duku EK, Boyle MH, MacMillan HL. The association between childhood abuse and labor force outcomes in young adults: results from the Ontario Child Health study. *J Aggress Maltreat Trauma*. (2011) 20:821–44. doi: 10.1080/10926771.2011.621851

28. Fang X, Brown DS, Florence CS, Mercy JA. The economic burden of child maltreatment in the United States and implications for prevention. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2012) 36:156–65. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2011.10.006

29. Peterson C, Florence C, Klevens J. The economic burden of child maltreatment in the United States, 2015. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2018) 86:178-83. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2018.09.018

30. Habetha S, Bleich S, Weidenhammer J, Fegert JM. A prevalence-based approach to societal costs occurring in consequence of child abuse and neglect. *Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health.* (2012) 6:35. doi: 10.1186/1753-2000-6-35

31. OECD. OECD Framework for Statistics on the Distribution of Household Income, Consumption and Wealth. Paris: OECD Publishing (2013). doi: 10.1787/9789264194830-en

32. Wingenfeld K, Schäfer I, Terfehr K, Grabski H, Driessen M, Grabe H, et al. Reliable, valide und ökonomische Erfassung früher Traumatisierung: Erste psychometrische Charakterisierung der deutschen Version des Adverse Childhood Experiences Questionnaire (ACE). *PPmP Psychother Psychosom Medizinische Psychol.* (2011) 61:e10–4. doi: 10.1055/s-0030-1263161

33. Löwe B, Wahl I, Rose M, Spitzer C, Glaesmer H, Wingenfeld K, et al. A 4-item measure of depression and anxiety: validation and standardization of the Patient Health Questionnaire-4 (PHQ-4) in the general population. *J Affect Disord.* (2010) 122:86–95. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2009.06.019

34. Löwe B, Decker O, Müller S, Brähler E, Schellberg D, Herzog W, et al. Validation and standardization of the generalized anxiety disorder screener (GAD-7) in the general population. *Med Care.* (2008) 46:266–74. doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e318160d093

35. Statista. Schwellenwert* für die Armutsgefährdung in Deutschland auf Basis des monatlichen Äquivalenzeinkommens nach Haushaltsgröße von 2007 bis 2020'. (2022). Available online at: https://de.statista.com/statistik/daten/ studie/816302/umfrage/monatlicher-schwellenwert-fuer-armutsgefaehrdungin-deutschland-2016/#:\$\sim\$:text=Im%20Jahr%202020%20galt%20ein, Ausgrenzung%20betroffene%20Bev%C3%B6lkerung%20in%20Deutschland (accessed March 18, 2022).

36. Aiken LS, West SG. *Multiple Regression: Testing and Interpreting Interactions*. Reprinted. Newbury Park, CA: SAGE (1991).

37. Häuser W, Schmutzer G, Brähler E, Glaesmer H. Misshandlungen in Kindheit und Jugend. Ergebnisse einer Umfrage in einer repräsentativen Stichprobe der deutschen Bevölkerung. *Dtsch Ärztebl Int.* (2011) 108:287–94. doi: 10.3238/arztebl.2011.0287

38. Clemens V, Allroggen M, Schlack R, Schulz A-C, Brähler E. Expertise zur Machbarkeit der Durchführung von Dunkelfeldstudien zu sexueller Gewalt gegen Kinder und Jugendliche mittels Haushaltsbefragung. Arbeitsstab des Unabhängigen Beauftragten für Fragen des sexuellen Kindesmissbrauchs beim Bundesministerium für Familie, Senioren, Frauen und Jugend. Berlin (2021).

39. Wiersma JE, Hovens JGFM, van Oppen P, Giltay EJ, van Schaik DJF, Beekman ATF, et al. The importance of childhood trauma and childhood life events for chronicity of depression in adults. *J Clin Psychiatry.* (2009) 70:983–9. doi: 10.4088/JCP.08m04521

40. Mandelli L, Petrelli C, Serretti A. The role of specific early trauma in adult depression: a meta-analysis of published literature. Childhood trauma and adult depression. *Eur Psychiatry*. (2015) 30:665–80. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2015.04.007

41. Nordahl H, Wells A. Predictors of work ability in individuals with a common mental disorder: is there an effect of metacognitive beliefs among poor physical health and emotional distress? *Behav Change*. (2019) 36:252–62. doi: 10.1017/bec.2019.15

42. Liu Y, Croft JB, Chapman DP, Perry GS, Greenlund KJ, Zhao G, et al. Relationship between adverse childhood experiences and unemployment among adults from five US states. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* (2013) 48:357–69. doi: 10.1007/s00127-012-0554-1

43. Wells A. *Metacognitive Therapy for Anxiety and Depression*. New York, NY: Guilford (2011).

44. Rommel A, Saß A-C, Born S, Ellert U. Die gesundheitliche Lage von Menschen mit Migrationshintergrund und die Bedeutung des sozioökonomischen Status: Erste Ergebnisse der Studie zur Gesundheit Erwachsener in Deutschland (DEGS1). Bundesgesundheitsblatt Gesundheitsforschung Gesundheitsschutz. (2015) 58:543–52. doi: 10.1007/s00103-015-2145-2 45. Beutel ME, Jünger C, Klein EM, Wild P, Lackner KJ, Blettner M, et al. Depression, anxiety and suicidal ideation among 1st and 2nd generation migrants - results from the Gutenberg health study. *BMC Psychiatry.* (2016) 16:288. doi: 10.1186/s12888-016-0995-2

46. Janssen-Kallenberg H, Schulz H, Kluge U, Strehle J, Wittchen H-U, Wolfradt U, et al. Acculturation and other risk factors of depressive disorders in individuals with Turkish migration backgrounds. *BMC Psychiatry.* (2017) 17:264. doi: 10.1186/s12888-017-1430-z

47. Glaesmer H, Wittig U, Brähler E, Martin A, Mewes R, Rief W. Sind Migranten häufiger von psychischen Störungen betroffen? *Psychiatr Prax.* (2009) 36:e3. doi: 10.1055/s-0028-1090167

48. Nesterko Y, Friedrich M, Brähler E, Hinz A, Glaesmer H. Mental health among immigrants in Germany – the impact of self-attribution and attribution by others as an immigrant. *BMC Public Health.* (2019) 19:1697. doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-8060-y

49. Duncan GJ, Magnuson K, Kalil A, Ziol-Guest K. The importance of early childhood poverty. *Soc Indic Res.* (2012) 108:87–98. doi: 10.1007/s11205-011-9867-9

50. Lesner RV. The long-term effect of childhood poverty. J Popul Econ. (2018) 31:969–1004. doi: 10.1007/s00148-017-0674-8

51. Hardt J, Rutter M. Validity of adult retrospective reports of adverse childhood experiences: review of the evidence. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry.* (2004) 45:260–73. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.00218.x

52. Allroggen M, Rau T, Ohlert J, Fegert JM. Lifetime prevalence and incidence of sexual victimization of adolescents in institutional care. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2017) 66:23–30. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.02.015

53. Lerner D, Adler DA, Chang H, Lapitsky L, Hood MY, Perissinotto C, et al. Unemployment, job retention, and productivity loss among employees with depression. *Psychiatric Serv.* (2004) 55:1371-8. doi: 10.1176/appi.ps.55. 12.1371

54. Lépine J-P, Briley M. The increasing burden of depression. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*. (2011) 7:3–7. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S19617

55. Zuelke AE, Luck T, Schroeter ML, Witte AV, Hinz A, Engel C, et al. The association between unemployment and depression-results from the population-based LIFE-adult-study. *J Affect Disord.* (2018) 235:399–406. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018

56. Amiri S. Unemployment associated with major depression disorder and depressive symptoms: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Occup Saf Ergon.* (2021) 5:1–13. doi: 10.1080/10803548.2021.1954793

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Myriam Verena Thoma, University of Zurich, Switzerland

REVIEWED BY

Li Qing, Shandong Normal University, China Xue Qin Mao, Shandong University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Fang Pan panfang@sdu.edu.cn; 572217915@qq.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Addictive Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 30 April 2022 ACCEPTED 02 August 2022 PUBLISHED 23 August 2022

CITATION

Shi J, Li W, Han C, Han J and Pan F (2022) Mediating pathways of neuroticism and social anxiety in the relationship between childhood trauma and the fear of missing out among Chinese college students. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:933281. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.933281

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Shi, Li, Han, Han and Pan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Mediating pathways of neuroticism and social anxiety in the relationship between childhood trauma and the fear of missing out among Chinese college students

Jiale Shi^{1,2†}, Wei Li^{1,2†}, Chengwen Han^{1,2}, Jingying Han² and Fang Pan³*

¹Department of Second Clinical Medical School, Cheeloo College of Medicine, Shandong University, Jinan, China, ²Department of Basic Medical School, Cheeloo College of Medicine, Shandong University, Jinan, China, ³Department of Medical Psychology and Ethics, School of Basic Medical Sciences, Cheeloo College of Medicine, Shandong University, Jinan, China

Recent research has identified various risk factors for fear of missing out. However, studies on the potential influence of childhood trauma on the fear of missing out remain scarce, and little is known regarding the mediating mechanisms underlying this relationship. In this study, we examine the predictive role of childhood trauma on the fear of missing out among college students and investigate whether neuroticism and social anxiety mediate the relationship between childhood trauma and the fear of missing out. A sample of 1,266 Chinese college students completed guestionnaires regarding childhood trauma, neuroticism, social anxiety, and the fear of missing out. The results indicated that (a) childhood trauma is positively associated with the fear of missing out, (b) both neuroticism and social anxiety mediate the relationship between childhood trauma and the fear of missing out, and (c) neuroticism and social anxiety sequentially mediate the relationship between childhood trauma and the fear of missing out. These findings have crucial implications for the prevention and intervention of the fear of missing out among college students.

KEYWORDS

childhood trauma, neuroticism, social anxiety, fear of missing out, college students

Introduction

Smartphones have become an inseparable part of life (1). More than 36% of people worldwide are smartphone users (Statista: Number of smartphone users worldwide from 2014 to 2020). Further, in China, smartphone users comprise 99.7% of the entire Chinese population. According to the 47th Statistical Report on Internet Development in China,

as of December 2020, smartphone internet users in China reached 989 million. Owing to the increase in the time spent and the frequency of accessing social media through smartphones, users may worry about or fear missing information posted by others as well as responses to their messages. This attribute results in the failure to benefit from social media as well as in negative emotions, such as anxiety and worry. This state of smartphone users is called the fear of missing out (FOMO) (2). Previous studies have demonstrated that a high degree of FOMO among college students has a negative effect on the state of their studies (3, 4). College students with high levels of FOMO can be characterized as those afraid of missing important information. In the long term, such individuals rely excessively on social media and can even develop addictive tendencies. Such tendencies result in adverse effects on the mental health of college students (5). Moreover, distracted driving and higher alcohol consumption, which are unsafe behaviors, may be associated with high levels of FOMO among college students (6, 7).

Recent studies have proven that psychological factors, such as personality traits and psychological needs, are closely related to FOMO (8). High levels of neuroticism and social anxiety have positive predictive effects on the levels of FOMO among college students (9-11). Liftiah reports that FOMO among college students was associated with neuroticism, extraversion, and agreeableness and not with conscientiousness and openness (12). Blackwell finds that neuroticism can predict FOMO, but extraversion cannot (8). Sabah believes that high levels of neuroticism among individuals have positive predictive effects on their FOMO (9). Jiang reports that neuroticism, extraversion, and conscientiousness have significant associations with FOMO, whereas agreeableness and openness do not (13). It seems that neuroticism is more strongly associated with FOMO than other personality dimensions; thus, we focus on neuroticism. Moreover, individuals suffering from social anxiety are susceptible to problems in interpersonal relationships and find it significantly difficult to interact directly with people in face-to-face contexts (14, 15). Such individuals use mobile phone calls or text messages to reduce interpersonal anxiety, and this approach provides them with an elevated sense of control over communication (14). If their feelings of anxiety are not regulated, such individuals will spend additional time on their phones and become dependent. Additionally, individuals that overuse mobile phones have a higher sense of social isolation (16). Notably, a positive correlation exists between social anxiety and smartphone overuse (17). Social anxiety mediates the relationship between anxiety and smartphone addiction (11). Further, significant positive correlations exist among neuroticism, social anxiety, and FOMO (11).

Abbreviations: FOMO, fear of missing out; CTQ-SF, Chinese version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire; IAS, Interaction Anxiousness Scale; BFI, Big Five Inventory.

Childhood trauma results from acts of abuse or neglect, often committed by parents or caregivers, and are likely to "harm or threaten a child" (18). Child abuse involves various types of physical, emotional, and sexual abuse as well as physical and emotional neglect. According to a worldwide meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials associated with the prevention of child maltreatment, the prevalence levels of sexual abuse, physical neglect, emotional neglect, physical abuse, and emotional abuse were estimated at 12.7, 16.3, 18.4, 22.6, and 36.3%, respectively (19). According to other studies on childhood experiences and trauma, 45.5% of Chinese college students reported unpleasant childhood experiences (20). People who experience emotional trauma exhibit tendencies of hopelessness, low self-esteem, reduced feelings of social support, and poor satisfaction with life (21). Bock et al. find that young people with trauma are more likely to develop negative emotions, though they did not distinguish among the types of trauma in their study (22). This suggests that such individuals may find it challenging to identify and express their emotions, which can result in interpersonal problems among individuals who have experienced emotional or physical trauma. Meanwhile, the versatility, portability, and timeliness of mobile phone-based communication can satisfy these individuals' need for communication with their peers (23), resulting in their excessive reliance on social media, which may further contribute to their FOMO. Moreover, recent studies have demonstrated that although mobile phone addiction is associated with FOMO, emotional abuse and emotional neglect during childhood are associated with addiction to the Internet (24), and physical and emotional neglect have a prominent positive predictive effect on mobile phone addiction (25). Such studies show that both physical and emotional trauma can predict problematic usage of the Internet or phones, indicating that a relationship between childhood trauma and FOMO may exist. To the best of our knowledge, studies that investigate the exact relationship between these factors are yet to be conducted.

Various studies have established that childhood trauma among college students is significantly and positively correlated with social anxiety (10, 26). It is well known that childhood trauma has a significant impact on personality (22, 26, 27). People who experience childhood trauma tend to exhibit neuroticism (28–32), and individuals with neurotic personalities are highly prone to social anxiety (19). However, the relationship between childhood trauma and FOMO as well as the role of neuroticism and social anxiety with regard to childhood trauma and FOMO are yet to be clarified.

In this study, we hypothesize that (a) childhood trauma is positively correlated with FOMO, (b) neuroticism and social anxiety play mediating roles between childhood trauma and FOMO, and (c) neuroticism and social anxiety moderate the relationship between childhood trauma and FOMO sequentially.

10.3389/fpsyt.2022.933281

Materials and methods

Participants and procedures

We conducted a cross-sectional study through an online survey between July 25 and August 1, 2021. For this survey, we randomly selected one campus among the eight campuses of Shandong University, after which we selected 24 classes on this campus through the random sampling method. To facilitate unified management, all of the selected classes had class-specific WeChat groups, which included all of the enrolled undergraduate students. All of the participants provided informed consent online, and they were informed about the purpose of the study in accordance with Chinese legislation. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the School of Basic Medical Sciences of Shandong University [No. ECSBMSSDU 2021-1-096].

The applet with the questionnaires, including the Social Media FOMO Scale, the brief version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire, the Interaction Anxiousness Scale, and the Big Five Inventory, was delivered to the undergraduates in their WeChat groups. The participants who volunteered to take the online survey and completed the questionnaire received compensation for research assistance. A total of 1,400 questionnaires were sent out, and 1,266 questionnaires were valid. Among them, 540 (42.7%) were completed by males, and 726 (57.3%) were completed by females.

Measures

Fear of missing out

The Social Media FOMO Scale (Chinese version) compiled by Zhao et al. (33) was used to measure FOMO levels. The questionnaire comprises 17 items measuring four dimensions: psychological motivation, cognitive motivation, behavioral performance, and emotional dependence. The items were rated using a 5-point Likert scale (1 = disagree completely, 5 = completely agree). The higher the total score, the higher levels of the FOMO. The internal consistency coefficient of the questionnaire used in this study was 0.979.

Childhood trauma

The brief Chinese version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ-SF) compiled by Zhao et al. (34) was used to evaluate individuals' childhood trauma experiences. The scale comprises 28 items, including 25 clinical and three validity items. This scale is divided into five subscales: emotional abuse, physical abuse, sexual abuse, emotional neglect, and physical neglect. The entire scale was used to analyze trauma level in the present study. Fu and Yao (35) verified the reliability and validity of the scale using college students as the subjects; the results showed that the scale had good reliability and validity, and it had specific applicability in the context of Chinese cultural backgrounds. In this study, the internal consistency coefficient of the questionnaire was 0.856.

Social anxiety

The Chinese version of the Interaction Anxiousness Scale (IAS) (36, 37) was used to determine levels of social anxiety. The scale comprises 15 items rated using a 5-point scale (1 = disagree completely, 5 = completely agree). Higher scores indicated higher levels of social anxiety. The scale has a satisfactory measurement index and is suitable for Chinese college students. In this study, the internal consistency coefficient of the questionnaire was 0.969.

Personality

The Chinese version of the Big Five Inventory (BFI) (38–40) was used to evaluate the personality traits of college students. The scale comprises 60 items, including five dimensions: neuroticism, extraversion, openness, conscientiousness, and agreeableness. The scale was rated using a 5-point scale (1 = disagree completely, 5 = completely agree). Only neuroticism was analyzed in the present study. The coefficients of internal consistency for each sub-questionnaire used in this study were 0.757, 0.761, 0.698, 0.862, and 0.976.

Results

Correlation between childhood trauma, neurotic personality, social anxiety, and the fear of missing out

Pearson correlations between the variables are shown in **Table 1**. First, childhood trauma is positively correlated with neuroticism and social anxiety and negatively correlated with openness, extraversion, agreeableness, and conscientiousness. Second, neuroticism is positively correlated with social anxiety, whereas openness, extraversion, agreeableness, and conscientiousness are negatively correlated. Third, neuroticism, social anxiety, and FOMO demonstrated a positive correlation. In view of the high correlation between neuroticism and social anxiety (r = 0.913, P < 0.01) and between neuroticism and social anxiety than other dimensions in the BFI used in this study, which is consistent with the content related to personality mentioned in the introduction. Therefore, other dimensions are not discussed further.

Stepwise regression analysis

We performed stepwise regression analysis, with FOMO as the dependent variable and childhood trauma, neuroticism,

and social anxiety as the predictive variables. First, only childhood trauma was used as the predictive variable (Model 1). Neuroticism and social anxiety were placed in the second layer (Models 2 and 3). Neuroticism was placed in the second layer, and social anxiety was placed in the third layer (Model 4). The results are listed in Table 2.

In Model 1, childhood trauma significantly predicted FOMO ($\beta = 0.526$, P < 0.001). Therefore, Hypothesis (a) was supported. The variables in Model 4 accounted for 78.2% of FOMO, better than the variables in Model 1 (27.6%), Model 2 (73.6%), and Model 3 (76.5%). The performance levels of Models 2, 3, and 4 were confirmed through stepwise regression analysis, but the mediation effect needs to be verified further.

Mediation analysis

Mediating roles of neuroticism and social anxiety in the relationship between childhood trauma and the fear of missing out

We used AMOS24.0 to test the mediating role of neuroticism in the relationship between childhood trauma and FOMO. Bootstrapping was applied to verify the mediation effect, as shown in **Table 3**. We established that the indirect and direct effects were significant, indicating that the mediation effect was partial rather than complete. Therefore, neuroticism partially mediates the relationship between childhood trauma and FOMO (indirect effect = 0.446, SE = 0.033, 95% CI = [0.409, 0.482]). Mediating effects accounted for 84.79% of the total effect of neuroticism and FOMO.

Similar procedures were conducted to evaluate the mediating role of social anxiety in the relationship between childhood trauma and FOMO. Consequently, social anxiety was found to partially mediate the relationship between childhood trauma and FOMO (indirect effect = 0.413, SE = 0.031, 95% CI = [0.392, 0.473]). The mediation effect accounted for 82.32% of the total effect of social anxiety and FOMO. Therefore, Hypothesis (b) was supported.

Examining the multiple mediation model

As shown in **Figure 1** and **Table 3**, all pathways were significant. The sequential pathway of "childhood trauma \rightarrow neuroticism \rightarrow social anxiety \rightarrow FOMO" was significant (indirect effect = 0.413, SE = 0.030, 95% CI = [0.377, 0.449]). This multiple mediation model accounted for a significant amount of variance regarding FOMO levels among college students (total effect = 0.507). Therefore, Hypothesis (c) was supported.

In conclusion, all three hypotheses were supported; the results are as follows: (a) childhood trauma is positively associated with FOMO, (b) both neuroticism and social anxiety mediate the relationship between childhood trauma and FOMO, and (c) neuroticism and social anxiety sequentially mediate the relationship between childhood trauma and FOMO.

Discussion

In this study, we explored the predictive role of childhood trauma on FOMO and the mediating role of neuroticism and social media in this relationship with a sample of students from a Chinese college. The results showed that childhood trauma positively predicted FOMO, and this relationship was sequentially mediated by neuroticism and social anxiety.

Consistent with our hypotheses, this study showed that neuroticism, a personality trait, plays a mediating role in the relationship between childhood trauma and FOMO among college students. In other words, childhood trauma can be used to predict neuroticism, which, in turn, facilitates FOMO among college students. Therefore, neuroticism is an outcome affected by childhood trauma, and it is also an internal motivation for FOMO. The results of our investigation corroborate the conclusions of previous studies proving the existence of significant positive correlations between childhood trauma and personality traits. Additionally, various types of childhood trauma may have different effects on the development of personality dimensions (19). Moreover, previous studies have demonstrated that childhood trauma is positively associated

TABLE 1 Correlation between childhood trauma, neuroticism, social anxiety, and the fear of missing out (FOMO).

Variables	$\bar{x} \pm SD$	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
1 Childhood trauma	37.49 ± 10.21	1							
2 Neuroticism	$\textbf{37.43} \pm \textbf{16.58}$	0.550**	1						
3 Openness	44.35 ± 6.64	-0.305**	-0.110**	1					
4 Extraversion	42.78 ± 6.71	-0.265**	-0.019	0.661**	1				
5 Agreeableness	44.23 ± 6.59	-0.316**	-0.158**	0.630**	0.523**	1			
6 Conscientiousness	47.38 ± 7.58	-0.348**	0.010	0.671**	0.622**	0.689**	1		
7 Social anxiety	48.98 ± 17.50	0.526**	0.913**	-0.250**	-0.175**	-0.280**	-0.122**	1	
8 FOMO	53.53 ± 19.75	0.526**	0.855**	-0.125**	0.008	-0.202**	-0.095**	0.871**	1

**p < 0.01.

Model	Dependent variable	Predictive variable	β	t	R^2	Р
1	FOMO	Constant		8.560		< 0.001
		Childhood trauma	0.526	21.984	0.276	< 0.001
2	FOMO	Constant		10.607		< 0.001
		Childhood trauma	0.080	4.610		< 0.001
		Neuroticism	0.811	46.885	0.736	< 0.001
3	FOMO	Constant		1.248		0.212
		Childhood trauma	0.093	5.821		< 0.001
		Social anxiety	0.822	51.253	0.765	< 0.001
4	FOMO	Constant		4.371		< 0.001
		Childhood trauma	0.061	3.894		< 0.001
		Neuroticism	0.335	10.198		< 0.001
		Social anxiety	0.533	16.528	0.782	< 0.001

TABLE 2 Results of stepwise regression analysis.

FOMO, fear of missing out.

TABLE 3 Pathways of the mediation model using bootstrapping.

Model	Effect type	Pathway	Effect	95% CI lower	95% CI upper
2	Direct	Childhood trauma→neuroticism	0.550**	0.507	0.591
		Neuroticism→FOMO	0.811***	0.781	0.840
		Childhood trauma→FOMO	0.080**	0.039	0.121
	Indirect	Childhood trauma \rightarrow neuroticism \rightarrow FOMO	0.446***	0.409	0.482
3	Direct	Childhood trauma→social anxiety	0.526**	0.479	0.574
		Social anxiety→FOMO	0.822***	0.789	0.851
		Childhood trauma→FOMO	0.093***	0.058	0.130
	Indirect	Childhood trauma \rightarrow social anxiety \rightarrow FOMO	0.433***	0.392	0.473
4	Direct	Childhood trauma→ neuroticism	0.550**	0.507	0.591
		Neuroticism→social anxiety	0.913**	0.902	0.923
		Social anxiety→FOMO	0.824***	0.791	0.852
		Childhood trauma→FOMO	0.094***	0.058	0.130
	Indirect	Childhood trauma \rightarrow neuroticism \rightarrow social anxiety \rightarrow FOMO	0.413***	0.377	0.449

FOMO, fear of missing out. **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.



with neuroticism (21), and neuroticism positively affects FOMO (20). In this study, significant positive correlations among childhood trauma, neuroticism, and FOMO were established, corresponding with studies conducted by Kumari and Wan. Additionally, neuroticism is a mediator in the

relationship between childhood trauma and FOMO among college students.

Similarly, social anxiety is an outcome affected by childhood trauma, and it is also an internal motivation for FOMO. Previous studies have proven that children who suffer from

137

negative childhood experiences often fail to form secure attachments and suffer from high levels of social anxiety throughout adulthood (20). Social anxiety levels can predict FOMO among such individuals (11). In this study, we examined the relationship between childhood trauma, social anxiety, and FOMO simultaneously, and we primarily focused on the mediating role of social anxiety. Consistent with our hypotheses, social anxiety is a mediator in the relationship between childhood trauma and FOMO among college students.

Finally, the results showed that the role of neuroticism and social anxiety in mediating the association between childhood trauma and FOMO among college students is parallel and sequential. Previous studies have reported that social anxiety acts as a mediator between neuroticism and FOMO among teenagers and college students (11). In this study, through the multiple mediation model (Model 4), we further determined a positive correlation between neuroticism and social anxiety, and we established that neuroticism and social anxiety play mediating roles sequentially. Our findings support the notion that childhood trauma affects multiple psychological functions throughout life, including personality traits (41-43). Neurotic individuals often display obvious emotional traits, such as suspicion (44), sensitivity (26), and anger (22), which induce social interaction problems, such as social anxiety. As a result of neuroticism and social anxiety among such individuals, online communication through mobile phonebased social media applications becomes an alternative to face-to-face communication and provides opportunities for improved expression and a heightened sense of communication control (45). In the long run, the communication employed by such individuals through social media replaces offline communication. Moreover, because of their sensitive, neurotic personalities, they pay significant attention to messages, and eventually, their FOMO is manifested.

In conclusion, through a multiple mediation model, this study provides a complex understanding of the way in which childhood trauma affects FOMO. We established three mediating pathways of neuroticism and social anxiety in the relationship between childhood trauma and FOMO among Chinese college students. Moreover, neuroticism and social anxiety sequentially mediate the relationship between childhood trauma and FOMO.

This study has limitations that must be considered when interpreting the results. First, the data were obtained through self-assessment *via* online surveys, which means that some deviations must exist. Through Harman's single-factor test, it can be concluded that the surveys are not significantly affected by the deviation of standard methods. Therefore, further studies using clinical interviews are required to ensure a highly comprehensive assessment. Second, causal reasoning was limited because of the cross-sectional data used in this study. In our future studies, we will use a longitudinal design to evaluate the performance of the multiple mediation model used in this study. Third, some detailed mechanisms that connect childhood trauma to FOMO remain unclear. Such mechanisms include the shortest path from a specific subtype of trauma to a specific subtype of FOMO.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in this study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the School of Basic Medical Sciences of Shandong University (No. ECSBMSSDU 2021-1-096). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

JS: conceptualization, data curation, and writing—original draft preparation. WL: conceptualization, formal analysis, and writing—original draft preparation. FP: validation, project administration, and writing—reviewing and editing. CH and JH: investigation. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This study was supported by grants from the National Innovation and Entrepreneurship Training Program Foundation for college students in China (202110422068) and the Provincial Innovation and Entrepreneurship Training Program Foundation for college students in Shandong Province (S202110422076).

Acknowledgments

The authors thank Chuanyong Liu for his help in the preparation of this report.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Pontes HM, Szabo A, Griffiths MD. The impact of Internet-based specific activities on the perceptions of internet addiction, quality of life, and excessive usage: A cross-sectional study. *Addict Behav Rep.* (2015) 1:19–25. doi: 10.1016/j. abrep.2015.03.002

2. Wegmann E, Oberst U, Stodt B, Brand M. Online-specific fear of missing out and internet-use expectancies contribute to symptoms of internet-communication disorder. *Addict Behav Rep.* (2017) 5:33–42. doi: 10.1016/j.abrep.2017.04.001

3. Fabris MA, Marengo D, Longobardi C, Settanni M. Investigating the links between fear of missing out, social media addiction, and emotional symptoms in adolescence: The role of stress associated with neglect and negative reactions on social media. *Addict Behav.* (2020) 106:106364. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2020.106364

4. Settanni M, Marengo D, Fabris MA, Longobardi C. The interplay between ADHD symptoms and time perspective in addictive social media use: A study on adolescent facebook users. *Child Youth Serv Rev.* (2018) 89:165–70. doi: 10.1016/j. childyouth.2018.04.031

5. Błachnio A, Przepiorka A. Be aware! If you start using facebook problematically you will feel lonely: Phubbing, loneliness, self-esteem, and facebook intrusion. A cross-sectional study. *Soc Sci Comput Rev.* (2019) 37:270–8. doi: 10. 1177/0894439318754490

6. Przybylski AK, Murayama K, DeHaan CR, Gladwell V. Motivational, emotional, and behavioral correlates of fear of missing out. *Comput Hum Behav.* (2013) 29:1841–8. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2013.02.014

7. Riordan BC, Flett JAM, Cody LM, Conner TS, Scarf D. The fear of missing out (FoMO) and event-specific drinking: The relationship between FoMO and alcohol use, harm, and breath alcohol concentration during orientation week. *Curr Psychol.* (2021) 40:3691–701. doi: 10.1007/s12144-019-00318-6

8. Blackwell D, Leaman C, Tramposch R, Osborne C, Liss M. Extraversion, neuroticism, attachment style and fear of missing out as predictors of social media use and addiction. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2017) 116:69–72. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2017.04. 039

9. Balta S, Emirtekin E, Kircaburun K, Griffiths MD. Neuroticism, trait fear of missing out, and phubbing: The mediating role of state fear of missing out and problematic instagram use. *Int J Ment Health Addiction.* (2020) 18:628–39. doi: 10.1007/s11469-018-9959-8

10. Hu J. Influence of childhood trauma on mobile phone addiction tendency in college students. *China J Health Psychol.* (2020) 28:1071-6.

11. Jiang Y, Bai X, Qi S. The relationship between neuroticism and fear of missing out in adolescents: The mediating role of social anxiety. *Chin J Clin Psychol.* (2020) 28:1029–32.

12. Liftiah L, Dahriyanto F, Tresnawati R. Personality traits prediction of fear of missing out in college students. *Int J Indian Psychol.* (2016) 3:128–36. doi: 10.25215/0304.090

13. Jiang Y. Research on the relationship between personality traits and fear of missing out among WeChat users. Nanchang: Nanchang University (2018).

14. Billieux J, Van Der Linden M, Rochat L. The role of impulsivity in actual and problematic use of the mobile phone. *Appl Cognit Psychol.* (2008) 22:1195–210. doi: 10.1002/acp.1429

15. Ezoe S, Toda M, Yoshimura K, Naritomi A, Den R, Morimoto K. Relationships of personality and lifestyle with mobile phone dependence among female nursing students. *Soc Behav Pers.* (2009) 37:231–8. doi: 10.2224/sbp.2009. 37.2.231

16. Ha JH, Chin B, Park DH, Ryu SH, Yu J. Characteristics of excessive cellular phone use in Korean adolescents. *Cyberpsychol Behav.* (2008) 11:783–4. doi: 10. 1089/cpb.2008.0096

17. Turgeman L, Hefner I, Bazon M, Yehoshua O, Weinstein A. Studies on the relationship between social anxiety and excessive smartphone use and on the effects of abstinence and sensation seeking on excessive smartphone use. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:1262. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17041262

18. Gilbert R, Widom CS, Browne K, Fergusson D, Webb E, Janson S. Burden and consequences of child maltreatment in high-income countries. *Lancet.* (2009) 373:68–81. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61706-7

19. Euser S, Alink LR, Stoltenborgh M, Bakermans-Kranenburg MJ, van JJzendoorn MH. A gloomy picture: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials reveals disappointing effectiveness of programs aiming at preventing child maltreatment. *BMC Public Health.* (2015) 15:1068. doi: 10.1186/s12889-015-2387-9

20. Wan Y, He J, Zhang Y, Zhang J. Correlations among adverse childhood experiences and anxiety, mobile phone dependence in college students. *J Psychiatry*. (2021) 34:230–3. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.2095.-.9346.2021.03.009

21. Kumari V. Emotional abuse and neglect: Time to focus on prevention and mental health consequences. *Br J Psychiatry.* (2020) 217:597–9. doi: 10.1192/bjp. 2020.154

22. Bock BB, Bastos CR, Ardais AP, Grellert M, de Carvalho HW, Farias CP, et al. Temperament traits moderate the relationship between childhood trauma and interleukin 1 β profile in young adults. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2020) 116:104671. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2020.104671

23. Liang J, Zhuo Y, Li X, Qin F. Structural equation model of childhood psychological abuse and neglect, psychological resilience, life satisfaction and mobile phone addiction in medical students. *Occup Health.* (2020) 36:2702–6. doi: 10.13329/j.cnki.zyyjk.2020.0715

24. Dalbudak E, Evren C, Aldemir S, Evren B. The severity of internet addiction risk and its relationship with the severity of borderline personality features, childhood traumas, dissociative experiences, depression and anxiety symptoms among Turkish university students. *Psychiatry Res.* (2014) 219:577–82. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2014.02.032

25. Xie F. The influence of childhood psychological abuse and neglect experience and adult attachment on mobile phone addiction of college students. Nanjing: Nanjing Normal University (2016).

26. Loewy RL, Corey S, Amirfathi F, Dabit S, Fulford D, Pearson R, et al. Childhood trauma and clinical high risk for psychosis. *Schizophr Res.* (2019) 205:10-4. doi: 10.1016/j.schres.2018.05.003

27. Isvoranu AM, van Borkulo CD, Boyette LL, Wigman JT, Vinkers CH, Borsboom D, et al. A network approach to psychosis: Pathways between childhood trauma and psychotic symptoms. *Schizophr Bull.* (2017) 43:187–96. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbw055

28. Ono K, Takaesu Y, Nakai Y, Shimura A, Ono Y, Murakoshi A, et al. Associations among depressive symptoms, childhood abuse, neuroticism, and adult stressful life events in the general adult population. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*. (2017) 13:477–82. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S128557

29. Roy A. Childhood trauma and neuroticism as an adult: Possible implication for the development of the common psychiatric disorders and suicidal behaviour. *Psychol Med.* (2002) 32:1471–4. doi: 10.1017/s00332917020 06566

30. Moskvina V, Farmer A, Swainson V, O'Leary J, Gunasinghe C, Owen M, et al. Interrelationship of childhood trauma, neuroticism, and depressive phenotype. *Depress Anxiety.* (2007) 24:163–8. doi: 10.1002/da.20216

31. DeYoung CG, Cicchetti D, Rogosch FA. Moderation of the association between childhood maltreatment and neuroticism by the corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor 1 gene. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry.* (2011) 52:898–906. doi: 10. 1111/j.1469-7610.2011.02404.x

32. Hui H, Hong A, Zhou S, Liu J, Cheng J, Li P, et al. Effect of childhood emotional abuse on obsessive-compulsive symptoms: the chain mediation role of neurotic personality and stress sensation. *Chin J Clin Psychol.* (2022) 30:51–5. doi: 10.16128/j.cnki.1005-3611.2022.01.010

33. Zhao Y, Zhang X, Song X. Review and prospect of fear of missing out (FoMO) in mobile social media environment. *Libr Inf Serv*. (2017) 61:133–44.

34. Zhao X, Zhang Y, Li L, Zhou Y. Evaluation on reliability and validity of Chinese version of childhood trauma questionnaire. *Chin J Clin Rehabil.* (2005) 20:105–7.

35. Fu W, Yao S. Initial reliability and validity of childhood trauma questionnaire(CTQ-SF) applied in Chinese college students. *Chin J Clin Psychol.* (2005) 01:40–2.

36. Peng C, Gong Y, Zhu X. The applicability of interaction anxiousness scale in Chinese undergraduate students. *Chin Ment Health J.* (2004) 5:39–41.

37. Leary MR. Social anxiousness: The construct and its measurement. J Pers Assess. (1983) 47:66–75. doi: 10.1207/s15327752j pa4701_8

38. Costa PT, McCrae RR. Hypochondriasis, neuroticism, and aging. When are somatic complaints unfounded? Am Psychol. (1985) 40:19–28. doi: 10.1037//0003-066x.40.1.19

39. Morrison KA. Personality correlates of the five-factor model for a sample of business owners/managers: Associations with scores on self-monitoring, type a behavior, locus of control, and subjective well-being. *Psychol Rep.* (1997) 80:255–72. doi: 10.2466/pr0.1997.80.1.255

40. Yao R, Liang L. Analysis of the application of simplified neo-FFI to undergraduates. Chin J Clin Psychol. (2010) 18:457–9.

41. Comijs HC, van Exel E, van der Mast RC, Paauw A, Oude Voshaar R, Stek ML. Childhood abuse in late-life depression. J Affect Disord. (2013) 147:241–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2012.11.010

42. Lee MA, Song R. Childhood abuse, personality traits, and depressive symptoms in adulthood. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2017) 65:194–203. doi: 10.1016/j. chiabu.2017.02.009

43. Wang J, He X, Chen Y, Lin C. Association between childhood trauma and depression: A moderated mediation analysis among normative Chinese college students. *J Affect Disord.* (2020) 276:519–24. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.0 7.051

44. Pennebaker JW, Susman JR. Disclosure of traumas and psychosomatic processes. *Soc Sci Med.* (1988) 26:327–32. doi: 10.1016/0277-9536(88)9 0397-8

45. Joinson AN. Self-esteem, interpersonal risk, and preference for e-mail to face-to-face communication. *Cyberpsychol Behav.* (2004) 7:472–8. doi: 10.1089/cpb. 2004.7.472

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Shauna Ledean Rohner, University of Zurich, Switzerland

REVIEWED BY Daniela Polese, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy Alessandra Carta, University of Sassari, Italy

*CORRESPONDENCE Ann-Christin Schulz Ann-Christin.Schulz@unimedizin-mainz.de

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 30 March 2022 ACCEPTED 05 September 2022 PUBLISHED 21 September 2022

CITATION

Schulz A-C, Kasinger C, Beutel M, Fegert JM, Clemens V and Brähler E (2022) Adverse childhood experiences growing up in East or West Germany or abroad. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:908668. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.908668

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Schulz, Kasinger, Beutel, Fegert, Clemens and Brähler. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Adverse childhood experiences growing up in East or West Germany or abroad

Ann-Christin Schulz^{1*}, Christoph Kasinger^{1,2}, Manfred Beutel¹, Jörg M. Fegert³, Vera Clemens³ and Elmar Brähler^{1,2}

¹Department of Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy, University Medical Center, Johannes Gutenberg University of Mainz, Mainz, Germany, ²Department of Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, University of Leipzig Medical Center, Leipzig, Germany, ³Department of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry and Psychotherapy, Medical Faculty of the University of Ulm, Ulm, Germany

Background: Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) are potentially traumatic events that occur before the age of 18. The term encompasses various adverse childhood experiences, e.g., physical, psychological, and sexual abuse, physical and psychological neglect, and family dysfunction. Prevalence estimates for a broad spectrum of ACEs against the background of where childhood and adolescence were spent are scarcely available in Germany. This study examines the frequencies of adverse childhood experiences, considering growing up in East or West Germany or abroad and interacting with different age cohorts and gender.

Methods: A total of 5,018 individuals (51.4% female) aged 14 years and older were retrospectively assessed on adverse childhood experiences using questionnaires "adverse childhood experiences" (ACE). Logistic regression models were used to analyze the association between birth cohort, gender, and where a person grew up. Descriptive statistics and univariate analyses were used to calculate frequencies, proportions, and unadjusted associations for each variable.

Results: 37.4% (N = 1,878) of respondents reported experiencing at least one form of ACE. Individuals who grew up abroad report significantly more adverse childhood experiences than individuals in East or West Germany. Men and women who grew up in East Germany reported a lower rate of ACEs. We found significant effects for all predictors: Where childhood and adolescence were predominantly spent, year of birth, and gender. Significant differences in the prevalence of adverse childhood experiences within the gender groups were only found for sexual and physical abuse and substance dependence in the household.

Conclusion: The results suggest that the socio-political context plays an essential role in the experience of adverse childhood experiences, both in frequency and risk. Thus, child abuse and neglect studies should increasingly focus on societal risk and protection mechanisms.

KEYWORDS

adverse childhood experiences, immigration, socio-political context, child abuse, child neglect, East and West Germany

Introduction

Adverse childhood experiences (ACE) are potentially traumatic events that occur in the age of 0–17 years and include abuse and neglect and household dysfunction (1). The manifestations of ACEs are manifold and include physical, sexual, or emotional abuse, physical and psychological neglect, and family dysfunction such as domestic violence or separation from a parent. ACEs can negatively impact health and life satisfaction, cause substance use in adulthood, and reduce career opportunities and earning potential (1, 2).

The consequences and effects are diverse: Somatic symptoms, general health status, and mental illnesses are among the consequences of ACEs, as well as social consequences for affected individuals (3). These include chronic pain, musculoskeletal disorders, obesity, diabetes, cancer, and stroke (4-6). ACEs have been associated with mental illnesses such as depression, anxiety, sleep and eating disorders, substancerelated disorders, personality disorders, and post-traumatic stress disorder (7). In addition, ACEs are associated with a tenfold increased risk for suicide attempts, alcohol, and drug abuse (8-10). Importantly, persons who have experienced maltreatment during childhood are at higher risk of maltreating their children (11). According to Fox et al. (12), each additional negative experience leads to a >35% likelihood of becoming violent and delinquent in adolescence. International metaanalyses show high prevalence rates of 22.6% (85% CI: 20.3-25.1) for physical abuse, 36.3% (85% CI: 30.2-42.9) for emotional abuse, and 7.6% (85% CI: 6.4-8.5) for sexual abuse of boys and 18.0% (85% CI: 16.9-19.2) of girls worldwide (13). In a national study, 4.3% (95% CI: 3.5-5.1) of respondents reported experiencing childhood sexual abuse. Parental divorce/separation 19.4% (95% CI: 17.7-20.9) and alcohol and drug abuse in the home 16.7% (95% CI: 15.1-18.3) were among the most commonly reported household dysfunction (14). However, it should be noted that prevalence varies internationally (13); this indicates the political-social context.

Quite a few studies deal with a victim-perpetrator reversal and the assumption of transgenerational transmission of trauma, i.e., the transmission of experiences of the members of one generation to the members of a subsequent generation (11). However societal, and legal-preventive structures play an equally crucial role, especially in relation to neglect and emotional abuse. For example, a German study on authoritarianism and the transgenerational transmission of corporal punishment shows that participants who affirmed authoritarian submission were significantly more likely to endorse a slap or spanking (15).

For instance, recent studies show that social policies can increase and decrease child maltreatment rates (16, 17). For example, economic guidelines can reduce household income, which may be associated with increased maltreatment rates (18, 19). Results show that discrimination against women, gender inequality, and disparities can be associated with adult advocacy to hit a child with an object (severe physical abuse) (17). Conversely, women's positively impacts child development (17, 20, 21). A study by Fiala and LaFree (22) shows that countries that offer women more opportunities, such as tertiary education, have lower rates of child abuse. Gartner (23) also shows that disempowered women can less protect their children from thirdparty abuse. Policies such as paid parental leave, earned income tax credits, increases in the minimum wage, and more generous welfare benefits have also reduced child maltreatment (24, 25). Limited options thus create more stress and frustration for women, which can impact violence in childrearing.

With its divided past of two different countries but shared history and culture, Germany is an excellent research subject to investigate the consequences of different socio-political environments. The divided past begins with the end of the Second World War in 1945 and the Potsdam Agreement, which was decided in August 1945 to divide Germany into four occupation zones. The three western zones became democratic, and free elections took place. In the Soviet-administered zone, a Soviet-dependent communist dictatorship developed: the GDR (German Democratic Republic). Although per capita income was higher in West Germany than in neighboring East Germany, the economic and societal inequality was higher in West Germany (26). Despite the constitution's stipulation of gender equality, the GDR, in particular, failed to implement it (27). In East Germany, for example, both genders had the same right to work, which was made possible by the government through outof-home childcare from an early age (28). State differences in the legal framework of child-rearing should also be mentioned; While corporal punishment of children was still considered acceptable in West Germany until 1973, it was banned in East Germany as early as 1949 with the founding of the state (29).

Reunification in 1989 was followed by a period of individualization and autonomy. The remaining social inequalities were relativized, and life forms and lifestyles seemed freely selectable (30). Despite the attempt to equalize living conditions after reunification, there is still a considerable difference between the levels of living in East and West Germany (31).

Studies already show the socio-political context as a determinant of child abuse (32, 33). However, our study also included individuals who did not spend their childhood and adolescence in Germany and was therefore considered a comparison group independent of German history.

The present study aims to shed light on underlying sociopolitical mechanisms for ACEs by investigating the prevalence of ACEs depending on where most of the childhood (East or West Germany or abroad) was spent. In doing so, this work focuses on the undercurrents of different types of abuse and neglect and other adverse childhood experiences. Furthermore, we are also considering the interaction of different age cohorts and gender.

Materials and methods

The independent Institute for Opinion and Social Research (USUMA, Berlin) conducted the nationwide data collection. A total of two representative samples were examined. The first data collection occurred between February and March 2020, followed by April and June 2020. In addition to sufficient German language skills, a minimum age of 14 years was required for participation. The sample, which was representative of age, gender, education, and region of residence, was selected using the random route method with a default starting address. Using a specific street and house number, every third household was personally contacted by study staff and invited to participate in the study through interviews. In households with more than one person, the selection was made through the Kish selection grid, a random selection of respondents in multi-person households.

Information about the study and consent to participate was obtained from all participants by the interviewers. The study staff first collected sociodemographic information in a personal interview.

Subsequently, the participants were given a questionnaire to be completed independently and returned to the interviewers in a sealed envelope. The interviewers were not in the room but could help with comprehension problems. In the subsequent questionnaire analysis, the previously collected demographic data was linked to the completed questionnaire without names or other identifying information. The study was conducted by the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of Leipzig University.

Sample description

A total of 5,018 people from two representative surveys (N = 2,503; N = 2,515) were included in the study. 4,935 were over 18 years of age, N). Participants were on average 49.93 years old [standard deviation (SD) = 17.78] of whom 2,578 (51.4%) were women. A large proportion of respondents reported having grown up predominantly in West Germany 3,711 (74.0%). Study participants who grew up predominantly abroad were underrepresented in this sample, at 5.5%, compared with the general population (proportion of the population with a migration background as of 1.10.2021 26.7%). Detailed information on the sample is presented in Table 1.

Instruments

Sociodemographic data such as age, gender, marital status, employment, and school-leaving qualifications were collected from all participants. In order to record where childhood and adolescence were spent, participants indicated in which country they predominantly grew up or in which federal state Average (SD)

TABLE 1 Sample description.

	Average (SD)
Age (years)	
Male	49.60 (17.58)
Female	50.25 (17.97)
Quantity (valid %)	
Gender	
Male	2,440 (48.6)
Female	2,578 (51.4)
Living with a partner	
Yes	2,182 (43.5)
No	2,823 (56.2)
Nationality	
German	4,831 (96.3)
Not German	184 (3.7)
Highest level of education	
No school-leaving qualification	109 (2.2)
School-leaving qualification	3,440 (68.5)
(Technical) Baccalaureate	830 (16.5)
University/technical college degree	531 (10.6)
Monthly household income	
<1,250€	635 (12.6)
1,250-2,500 €	2,030 (40.5)
>2,500€	2,260 (45.0)
Predominantly grown up	
West Germany	3,711 (74.0)
East Germany	1,015 (20.2)
Abroad	276 (5.5)
Age cohorts	
Until 1945	469 (9.3)
1946–1967	1,912 (38.1)
1968–1989	1,778 (35.4)
From 1990	859 (17.1)

(The GDR comprised the territory of the present-day states of Brandenburg, Mecklenburg-Western Pomerania, Saxony, Saxony-Anhalt, and Thuringia).

Various forms of adverse childhood experiences were assessed using the German version of the Adverse Childhood Experiences Questionnaire. The questionnaire comprised 10 items and was first used by Felitti et al. (34). Each item represents one form of ACE: emotional, physical, and sexual abuse, emotional and physical neglect, separation from a parent, violence against the mother, substance dependence in the household, mental illness, and incarceration of a household member. The questions were answered "yes" and "no" on a dichotomous response scale and were for sexual abuse, for example: Did an adult or person at least 5 years older ever touch or fondle you in a sexual way or cause you to touch their body in
a sexual way? Or attempted to have or had oral, anal, or vaginal intercourse with you?"

Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses were performed using R, version 4.1.0 (35) and the dplyr (36), haven (37), and ggplot2 (38) packages and SPSS version 27. Descriptive calculations were used to determine the prevalence rates of each ACE. The Chi-square test was used to compare categorical variables, including demographic and ACE data between groups. Group comparisons were made by gender and ethnicity. We also examined prevalence rates in different age cohorts to account for social phenomena.

A binary logistic regression model was applied to determine independent relationships between gender, origin (West-East Germany or abroad), and age. The reference categories were male sex, predominantly those who grew up in West Germany, and the age cohort born before 1945. A *p*-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Frequencies of adverse childhood experiences

Overall, N = 1,815 (37.3%) reported at least one ACE, and 493 (5.5%) participants reported experiencing four or more ACEs.

Specifically, 1,533 (30.5%) participants reported experiencing emotional and/or physical and/or sexual abuse, and N = 903 (18.0%) reported experiencing emotional and/or physical neglect. Loss of a parent through death or separation was experienced by N = 949 (18.9%). Family dysfunction such as domestic violence, substance abuse, or mentally ill persons in the household, as well as whether a family member had been incarcerated, were affirmed by 1,604 (31.9%) participants.

Table 2 provides an overview of the cohorts measured by the number of ACEs experienced. For example, 42 (15.5%) of the predominantly foreign-raised respondents reported having experienced more than four ACEs, significantly more than the comparison group. The trend that foreign-born reported more ACEs runs through all age cohorts, except for the 1968–1989 age cohorts and those born after 1990 who grew up predominantly in East Germany: For example, over half (56.1%) of those who grew up in East Germany and were born in 1968–1989 reported having experienced at least one ACE. In comparison, those who grew abroad report less than half, 43.5%. In the cohort from 1990 onwards, the number of respondents who had at least four adverse childhood experiences was highest, with N = 15 (10.8%) of respondents who grew up predominantly in eastern Germany.

Frequencies of adverse childhood experiences in West and East Germany and abroad in gender comparison

The frequencies of the various ACEs in a gender comparison are shown in Table 3. Figure 1 illustrates the differences between West and East Germany and other countries.

Women reported more often adverse childhood experiences than men. Statistically significant differences between men and women were only found in the experience of sexual abuse $\chi^2(1) = 68.80$, p = < 0.001, and in the question of whether someone from the household had alcohol problems or used drugs, $\chi^2(1) = 9.45$, p = < 0.002.

Separation of parents is the most frequently reported ACE in Germany and the only item that does not register a significant difference between West and East Germany. Differences in gender perception are also evident in the experience of violence against the mother. Male participants report fewer experiences than women, and there are no differences between participants who grew up in West or East Germany or those who spent most of their childhood and youth abroad. The frequency of experiences of violence against the mother is higher among women who grew up abroad than among the female comparison groups $\chi^2(2) = 12.74$, p = < 0.002.

Frequencies of adverse childhood experiences in West and East Germany and abroad in the different age cohorts

Table 4 shows differences between the various age cohorts. The age cohort born up to 1945 represents the war generation of the Second World War, which ended on September 2nd, 1945. The second cohort, 1946–1967, is considered the postwar generation. Also significant is the founding of the GDR on October 7th, 1949. The third cohort, 1968–1989, begins with times of upheaval and worldwide protests and ends with the fall of the Berlin Wall on October 3rd, 1989. The third cohort, born after 1990, was raised in the period of numerous political changes and German reunification.

Significant differences in the frequencies of ACE within West and East Germany and abroad were found primarily in the cohorts 1946–1967 and 1968–1989. Emotional abuse, physical abuse, emotional and physical neglect, and a household member's substance dependence as well as mental illness show highly significant differences (p = < 0.001). Respondents who spent most of their childhood and adolescence in East Germany report less emotional abuse, physical abuse, neglect, and substance dependence. The mental illness of a household member is most frequently written by persons who grew up predominantly in West Germany. Participants born up to 1945 show highly significant differences only in

	Number ACE	Total	West Germany	East Germany	Abroad
Total		N = 4,892	N = 3,637	N = 984	N = 271
	0	3,077 (62.7)	2,193 (60.3)	736 (74.8)	142 (52.4)
	1	741 (15.2)	568 (15.6)	122 (12.4)	42 (15.5)
	2	327 (6.7)	269 (7.4)	34 (3.5)	23 (8.5)
	3	270 (5.5)	220 (6.0)	28 (2.8)	22 (8.1)
	>4	493 (10.1)	387 (10.6)	64 (6.5)	42 (15.5)
Cohort until 1945		N = 456	N = 302	N = 136	N = 17
	0	285 (62.5)	184 (60.9)	91 (66.9)	10 (58.2)
	1	80 (17.5)	44 (14.6)	31 (22.8)	4 (23.5)
	2	23 (5.0)	18 (6.0)	5 (3.7)	0 (0.0)
	3	20 (4.4)	18 (6.0)	1 (0.7)	1 (5.9)
	>4	48 (10.5)	38 (12.6)	8 (5.9)	2 (11.8)
Cohort 1946–1967		N = 1,862	N = 1,349	N = 413	N = 93
	0	1,178 (63.2)	821 (60.9)	311 (75.3)	44 (47.3)
	1	273 (14.6)	207 (15.3)	48 (11.6)	13 (14.0)
	2	123 (6.6)	99 (7.3)	14 (3.3)	10 (10.7)
	3	100 (5.4)	76 (5.6)	15 (3.6)	9 (6.7)
	>4	188 (10.1)	146 (10.8)	25 (6.0)	17 (18.3)
Cohort 1968–1989		N = 1,748	N = 1,310	N = 296	N = 138
	0	1,088 (62.2)	777 (59.,3)	130 (43.9)	78 (56.5)
	1	240 (13.7)	191 (14.6)	30 (10.1)	18 (13.0)
	2	120 (6.9)	98 (7.5)	11 (3.7)	11 (8.0)
	3	105 (6.0)	86 (6.6)	9 (3.0)	10 (7.2)
	>4	195 (11.2)	158 (12.1)	16 (5.4)	21 (15.2)
Cohort from 1990		N = 842	N = 676	N = 139	N = 23
	0	526 (62.5)	411 (60.8)	104 (74.8)	10 (43.5)
	1	148 (17.6)	126 (18.6)	13 (9.3)	7 (30.4)
	2	61 (7.2)	54 (8.0)	4 (2.9)	2 (8.7)
	3	45 (5.3)	40 (5.9)	3 (2.2)	2 (8.7)
	>4	62 (7.4)	45 (6.7)	15 (10.8)	2 (8.7)

TABLE 2 Frequencies of adverse childhood experiences in West-East Germany in persons predominantly raised abroad (number N and corresponding percentage).

the case of separation of a parent, especially among East Germans; the number is 29.4%, significantly higher than the comparison groups (p = < 0.001). Physical neglect is highly significant in the youngest age cohort (p = < 0.002). Here, West Germans report less physical neglect than persons who grew up predominantly abroad (p = < 0.002). Physical and sexual abuse, emotional neglect, and mental illness of a household member, also show significance (p = < 0.05).

Predictors of experiencing adverse childhood experiences

The logistic regression results are shown in Table 5. Sociopolitical context emerges as a predictor across

almost all ACEs. An increased likelihood of experiencing adverse childhood experiences among those raised abroad is especially evident for the ACEs of emotional and physical abuse [odds ratio (OR) = 1.693, p = < 0.001; OR = 2.208, p = < 0.001), and physical neglect (OR = 2.920, p = < 0.001). Coming from East Germany decreases the likelihood of having experienced adverse childhood experiences.

A strong negative influence on physical neglect is evident between all age cohorts (1946–1967: OR = 1.590, p => 0.001; 1968–1989: OR = 1.1909, p =< 0.001; from 1990: OR = 2.190, p =< 0.001).

Women were more likely to be victims of sexual abuse (OR = 4.071, p = < 0.001) and less likely than men to be at risk of physical abuse (OR = 0.755, p = < 0.002).

			Male			-	T CILIAIC			*	TINAT			I OLAI	
	West	East	West East Abroad	χ^{2}	West	East	Abroad	χ^2	West	East	East Abroad	X ²	Male	Female	χ^2
Emotional abuse	16.8	9.5	24.2	25.47***	16.4	6.7	26.5	41.266***	16.6	8.3	25.5	64.70***	15.4	15.3	0.02
Physical abuse	13.3	7.8	25.8	32.81***	10.7	5.3	20.4	28.42***	11.9	6.7	22.9	58.66***	12.6	10.3	6.56
Sexual abuse	1.9	0.5	1.6	5.12	6.4	3.7	8.2	5.95*	4.3	1.9	5.1	13.72**	1.5	6.0	68.80***
Emotional neglect	14.2	8.7	11.0	12.20**	15.5	6.0	19.0	29.39***	14.9	7.5	15.3	37.65***	12.7	14.1	2.04
Physical neglect	5.0	2.1	10.9	20.47***	4.6	2.3	14.3	35.27***	4.8	2.2	12.7	53.89***	4.6	4.8	0.05
Separation from a parent	19.2	19.9	14.1	2.32	18.8	17.7		1.60	19.0	18.9	18.5	0.03	19.2	18.8	0.10
Violence against the mother	7.1	5.0	9.4	4.45	6.8	4.4	12.9	12.74**	7.0	4.8	11.3	15.51***	6.7	6.7	0.00
Substance dependence in the household	13.5	8.0	12.3	13.54**	16.4	8.3		22.23***	15.0	8.1	18.5	37.55***	12.3	15.3	9.45**
Mental illness in the household	10.0	2.6	3.2	36.59***	10.6	3.0	10.2	24.06***	10.3	2.8	7.0	57.89***	7.9	9.3	2.95
Prison stay	3.0	2.6	5.5	2.97	2.9	1.6	6.1	8.11*	2.9	2.2	5.8	10.07**	3.0	2.8	0.11

Discussion

In the present study, we examined the prevalence of individual ACEs and the likelihood of experiencing abuse, neglect, and household dysfunction in dependence on age and gender and where childhood and youth were spent predominantly. In addition to gender and age, sociopolitical context predicted nearly all the ACEs examined. Where someone grew up proved to be the strongest predictor of experiencing adverse childhood experiences. As the first study on a German representative sample, our results show that the risk of experiencing ACEs is lower for participants from East Germany than those from West Germany or abroad.

There are many possible reasons for the above-described findings. Household dysfunction or economic inequality and precarity are considered social risk factors for abuse in childhood and adolescence, of which the former GDR was less affected (18, 39, 40). Childcare may also play a possible role in the frequency of abuse experiences. For example, there were state-directed policies and structures such as out-of-home care facilities and other collective institutions in the former GDR by 1965. Thus, children's growing up took place more in social networks, which proved to be a protective factor against ACEs (28). In their studies Gordon et al. (41) refer to the association between highquality childcare and low symptoms of maternal depression.

In contrast, childcare in West Germany took place more within the family system and was thus more dependent on socioeconomic opportunities and family dynamics. This could be why children in West Germany were more affected by abusive and harmful family structures (42). However, there is also a downside to it; The state's educational function in the former GDR led to institutional violence, especially in youth welfare facilities. On the one hand, this was due to the excessive demands on the educators to ensure compliance with the norms in the parental home, which was often solved by force.

Our results regarding sexual abuse in East and West Germany are in line with the findings of Schötensack et al. (33) and Ulke et al. (32). Sexual abuse was reported more frequently in the age cohorts 1946–1989. However, no differences can be identified before and after establishing the GDR.

A lack of awareness of sexual violations of boundaries is caused by socially propagated permissive sexual education. Thus, sex education in the GDR was seen as part of personality education, which was the responsibility of all state educational institutions (43). From an epidemiological perspective, however, these cases of affected children were minor. They are also unlikely to have occurred more frequently than other forms of institutional violence in West Germany, such as in Catholic boarding schools or Welfare institutions for children's recovery or prevention. Dreßing et al. (44) showed that sexual abuse happened quite frequently within the catholic clergies. Since the catholic church did not have much power and societal interweaving in the former GDR, it might be that this

ABLE 3 Relative frequency (percent) of individual adverse childhood experiences in West and East Germany and abroad and by gender (male, female)



may be an explanation for the higher prevalence rates in West Germany.

Another German cohort study shows that parental separation may be associated with psychological impairment in adulthood (45). However, the results of our study show no significant difference for separation from one parent. This suggests that children in the former GDR have not felt the separation of a parent more often than children in the FRG.

Findings by Austin et al. (16) suggest that sociopolitical policies can reduce child maltreatment rates. For example, corporal punishment was banned in the former GDR as early as 1949. A study on remembered parental parenting behavior underpins this assumption: People from East Germany reported significantly less rejection and punishment by mother and father than the West German comparison group (46). In West Germany, corporal punishment was still tolerated until 1973, and in Bavaria until 1983. This could express a greater acceptance of physical discipline strategies in West Germany, associated with greater use of physical violence against children and higher prevalence rates (47). This view can be confirmed by the dramatic decrease in corporal punishment in Sweden after the ban of this educational measure in 1979 (48). Germany also showed a significant decrease in corporal punishment against

children and adolescents after children's right to a non-violent upbringing was enshrined in law in the Civil Code in 2000 (15). Another reason for more violent and abusive parenting behavior could be the greater acceptance of parenting advice widely used in the "Third Reich," such as the parenting books by Johanna Haarer. Such books were banned in the former GDR. For example, the author (49) recommends leaving the child alone in a room day and night, not responding to the child's crying, limiting food intake, and starving the child if necessary.

Highly pronounced maternal depressive symptomatology is a risk factor for child physical abuse and neglect (50–52). Adverse effects and emotions have a significant influence on the child's development. Thus, self-experienced negative childhood experiences of the mother can be directly related to internalized and externalized difficulties in the children and thus complicate the positive mother-child relationship (53). Another risk factor for childhood abuse seems to be the wellbeing of the woman and mother, which is related, among other things, to the opportunity for education and gender equality (23, 54). Thus, there is a broad consensus that improving the position of women and mothers positively impacts the wellbeing of their children (17, 20, 21). The importance and impact of maternal wellbeing on child health are illustrated by an experimental

frontiersin.org

		Un	til 1945			19 4	46-1967			196	58-1989			From	n 1990	
	West	East	Abroad	χ^2	West	East	Abroad	χ^2	West	East	Abroad	χ^2	West	East	Abroad	χ^2
Emotional abuse	19.4	7.0	11.1	11.86**	18.4	8.7	34.0	42.30***	16.6	6.3	23.0	26.96***	11.8	12.8	16.7	0.59
Physical abuse	16.8	6.3	11.1	9.23**	13.2	7.7	28.7	31.51***	11.3	4.3	20.1	26.04***	8.3	9.2	25.0	0.00*
Sexual abuse	2.6	0.7	-	2.27	4.5	2.1	5.3	5.23	4.8	2.0	4.3	4.76	3.6	2.1	12.5	6.30*
Emotional neglect	15.5	7.9	11.1	4.96	15.0	8.0	17.0	14.68***	16.3	6.7	13.0	18.77***	11.7	7.8	25.0	6.25*
Physical neglect	9.2	6.4	16.7	2.50	4.9	2.3	13.8	22.45***	4.4	1.0	11.5	24.88***	3.2	-	12.5	12.14**
Separation from a parent	13.2	29.4	16.7	17.14***	16.0	16.3	21.3	1.79	22.1	17.6	18.7	3.51	21.4	19.3	8.3	2.61
Violence against the mother	9.5	3.5	-	6.67*	7.9	5.7	16.0	11.44**	6.9	3.0	10.1	9.40**	4.1	7.1	8.3	3.12
Substance dependence in the household	12.8	2.8	16.7	12.01**	15.1	8.7	24.5	19.77***	17.0	7.6	17.3	16.94***	12.1	12.8	4.2	1.47
Mental illness in the household	6.6	0.7	5.9	7.33*	9.8	2.1	2.2	31.26***	10.7	3.7	10.1	14.17***	12.2	5.0	8.7	6.35*
Prison stay	2.6	2.1	5.6	0.78	2.5	1.9	4.3	1.86	3.8	2.0	6.5	5.51	2.2	3.5	8.3	4.11

TABLE 4 Relative frequency (percent) of individual adverse childhood experiences in West and East Germany and abroad and age cohorts.

 $^{***}p < 0.001, \,^{**}p < 0.01, \,^{*}p < 0.05.$

TABLE 5 Binary logistic regression to examine the association between adverse childhood experiences (dependent variable¹) and gender, origin, and age (independent variables) for the entire sample (N = 5,018) as odds ratios and 95% confidence intervals.

	Gender Ref = Male		ised t Germany		Age cohorts Ref = Until 1945	
	Female	East Germany	Abroad	1946-1967	1968-1989	From 1990
Emotional abuse	0.94 [0.80-1.09]	0.43 *** [0.34–0.55]	1.69*** [1.26–2.22	1.05 [0.89–1.41]	0.88 [0.66-1.19]	0.69* [0.49–0.96]
Physical Abuse	0.75** [0.63-0.90]	0.49 *** [0.37–0.64]	2.20 *** [0.37–2.96]	0.86 [0.64-1.18]	0.68 [0.50-0.93]	0.57 [0.40-0.82]
Sexual Abuse	4.07*** [2.86-5.94]	0.49 ** [0.29–0.78]	1.17 [0.63-1.99]	2.26 * [1.18–4.89]	2.28 * [1.19–4.94]	1.96 [0.96-4.43]
Emotional neglect	1.07 [0.91-1.26]	0.46*** [0.35-0.59]	1.00 [0.70-1.40]	1.00 [0.74-1.36]	1.04 [0.77-1.42]	0.79 [0.56-1.12]
Physical neglect	0.95 [0.72-1.24]	0.40 *** [0.24–0.61]	2.92 *** [1.95-4.26]	0.48*** [0.33-0.72]	0.40 *** [0.27–0.61]	0.29 *** [0.17-0.48]
Separation from a parent	0.98 [0.84-1.13]	1.02 [0.85-1.22]	0.95 [0.69–1.30]	0.87 [0.67-1.14]	1.19 [0.92–1.56]	1.16 [0.87-1.56]
Violence against the mother	0.97 [0.77-1.21]	0.64 ** [0.46–0.87]	1.67** [1.10-2.45]	1.02 [0.73-1.53]	0.81 [0.55-1.22]	0.59 [0.63-0.95]
Substance dependence in the household	1.12** [1.06-1.47]	0.51*** [0.40-0.65]	1.24 [0.89–1.69]	1.46 [1.06-2.06]	1.56 ** [1.12–2.20]	1.17 [0.81-1.71]
Mental illness in the household	1.13 [0.92–1.38]	0.26 *** [0.17–0.38]	0.65 [0.38-1.02]	1.50 * [1.02–2.02]	1.90** [1.23-3.10]	2.19** [1.37-3.63]
Prison stay	0.92 [0.66-1.28]	0.74 [0.45-1.17]	1.95 * [1.09–3.27]	0.92 [0.50-1.85]	1.33 [0.74–2.63]	0.97 [0.48-2.05]

¹Reference category = "No."

Odds ratio (OR) and 95% confidence interval (95% CI); ***p < 0.001, **p < 0.01, *p < 0.05.

The bold values show the significant values.

study by Maccari et al. (55); for example, stress during pregnancy decreases motherly guidance during early childhood, which can have lifelong effects on emotional behavior and increased susceptibility to age-related disorders.

Almost all ACEs decreased with the increasing birth year of the respondents. For example, physical abuse was reported in 13.3% of those born up to 1945 and decreased to 8.9% in the 1990 and older age cohort. The increase could be due to the growing awareness of these societal issues (56). However, the results are striking on whether a household member was depressed, mentally ill, or had ever attempted suicide. This shows a significant increase from 4.7 to 10.9% between all age cohorts $[\chi^{2}(3) = 18,05; p = < 0.001]$. There are numerous reasons for this; social inequality, higher workloads, and increased sensitivity are just some of them (57, 58). Interestingly the prevalence differences of ACEs between East and West Germany almost disappeared in the generations born after the unification. This finding supports our hypothesis of the importance of socio-political factors in the occurrence of ACEs, as with an alignment of socio-political environments after the unification, the prevalence rates of ACEs also do align.

Conclusion

Adverse childhood experiences are a fundamental public health problem. In order to ensure a safe and stable environment for children, it is crucial to consider societal circumstances and influences in addition to family risk factors. The role of motherhood in society and politics should also be emphasized here (23, 51). Thus, the mother's wellbeing is positively related to adverse childhood experiences. This aspect can be of great importance for preventing child abuse and neglect as well as for the treatment, e.g., psychotherapeutic support of the mother. A large body of research confirms the effectiveness of various interventions regarding adverse childhood experiences at individual and family levels (59, 60). However, it can be assumed that prevention interventions focusing on social-political risk factors would significantly affect the prevalence of adverse childhood experiences.

Limitations and strengths

Our study has several strengths, including the use of nationally representative data. Also noteworthy is the precise description of the different items for adverse childhood experience. However, it cannot be excluded that cultural or contextual differences played a role in the response behavior and may have impacted prevalence rates.

However, some limitations of the present research must also be considered. For example, the available data do not provide precisely where a person spent childhood and adolescence exactly. This is primarily a limitation for the participants who were raised abroad since we cannot further differentiate the participant's countries and regions. Also, internal migration was not considered in the present work. Domestic isolation might have had an impact on the psychological condition and thus might have had an effect on the response behavior of the respondents. Memory and social desirability biases may be limited data on severe abuse and neglect (61). Furthermore, the data collection period should be mentioned as a possible limitation of the study, which was collected in the first Covid wave.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of Leipzig University. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

Author contributions

A-CS and EB designed and directed the project. A-CS processed the data, performed the analysis, drafted the manuscript, and designed the figures. CK and EB contributed to the interpretation of the results. EB, CK, MB, JF, and VC contributed to the writing of the manuscript and supervised the work. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Prevention CfDCa. *Preventing Adverse Childhood Experiences 2021*. Available online at: https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/aces/fastfact.html (accessed November 01, 2021).

2. Maniglio R. The impact of child sexual abuse on health: a systematic review of reviews. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2009) 29:647–57. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2009.08.003

3. Görgen T, Rauchert K, Fisch S. Langfristige folgen sexuellen missbrauchs Minderjähriger. *Forens Psychiatr Psychol Kriminol.* (2012) 6:3–16. doi: 10.1007/s11757-011-0129-0

4. Auderset D, Akre C, Barrense-Dias Y, Berchtold A, Jacot-Descombes C, Leeners B, et al. Profile of young victims of unwanted sexual experiences: a gender comparison using a swiss national survey. *Sex Res Social Policy.* (2020) 18:127–36. doi: 10.1007/s13178-020-00436-y

5. Paras ML, Murad MH, Chen LP, Goranson EN, Sattler AL, Colbenson KM, et al. Sexual abuse and lifetime diagnosis of somatic disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA*. (2009) 302:550–61. doi: 10.1001/jama.2009.1091

6. Wegman HL, Stetler C. A meta-analytic review of the effects of childhood abuse on medical outcomes in adulthood. *Psychosom Med.* (2009) 71:805-12. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e3181bb2b46

7. Wiss DA, Brewerton TD. Adverse childhood experiences and adult obesity: a systematic review of plausible mechanisms and meta-analysis of cross-sectional studies. *Physiol Behav.* (2020) 223:112964. doi: 10.1016/j.physbeh.2020.112964

8. Hailes HP, Yu R, Danese A, Fazel S. Long-term outcomes of childhood sexual abuse: an umbrella review. *Lancet Psychiat.* (2019) 6:830–9. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30286-X

9. Wang D-S, Chung C-H, Chang H-A, Kao Y-C, Chu D-M, Wang C-C, et al. Association between child abuse exposure and the risk of psychiatric disorders: a nationwide cohort study in Taiwan. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2020) 101:104362. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104362

10. Cash SJ, Bridge JA. Epidemiology of youth suicide and suicidal behavior. *Curr Opin Pediatr.* (2009) 21:613. doi: 10.1097/MOP.0b013e32833063e1

11. Witt A, Fegert JM, Rodens KP, Brähler E, Lührs Da Silva C, Plener PL. The cycle of violence: examining attitudes toward and experiences of corporal punishment in a representative German sample. *J Interpers Violence*. (2021) 36:Np263–86. doi: 10.1177/0886260517731784

12. Fox BH, Perez N, Cass E, Baglivio MT, Epps N. Trauma changes everything: examining the relationship between adverse childhood experiences and serious, violent and chronic juvenile offenders. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2015) 46:163–73. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2015.01.011

13. Stoltenborgh M, Bakermans-Kranenburg MJ, Alink LR, van IJzendoorn MH. The prevalence of child maltreatment across the globe: review of a series of meta-analyses. *Child Abuse Rev.* (2015) 24:37–50. doi: 10.1002/car.2353

14. Witt A, Sachser C, Plener PL, Brähler E, Fegert JM. The prevalence and consequences of adverse childhood experiences in the German population. *Dtsch Arztebl Int.* (2019) 116:635. doi: 10.3238/arztebl.2019.0635

15. Clemens V, Decker O, Plener PL, Witt A, Sachser C, Brähler E, et al. Authoritarianism and the transgenerational transmission of corporal punishment. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2020) 106:104537. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104537

16. Austin AE, Lesak AM, Shanahan ME. Risk and protective factors for child maltreatment: a review. *Curr Epidemiol Rep.* (2020) 7:1–9. doi: 10.1007/s40471-020-00252-3

17. Klevens J, Ports KA. Gender inequity associated with increased child physical abuse and neglect: a cross-country analysis of population-based surveys and country-level statistics. *J Fam Violence.* (2017) 32:799–806. doi: 10.1007/s10896-017-9925-4

18. Brooks-Gunn J, Schneider W, Waldfogel J. The great recession and the risk for child maltreatment. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2013) 37:721–9. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.08.004

19. Zhang L, Nepomnyaschy L, Simmel C. So close yet so different: neighborhood inequality and child maltreatment. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2022) 130(Pt 4):104988. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2021.104988

20. Heaton TB. Are improvements in child health due to increasing status of women in developing nations? *Biodemogr Soc Biol.* (2015) 61:252-65. doi: 10.1080/19485565.2015.1047487

21. Homan P. Political gender inequality and infant mortality in the United States, 1990–2012. *Soc Sci Med.* (2017) 182:127– 35. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.04.024 22. Fiala R, LaFree G. Cross-national determinants of child homicide. *Am Sociol Rev.* (1988) 53:432–45. doi: 10.2307/2095650

23. Gartner R. The victims of homicide: a temporal and cross-national comparison. Am Sociol Rev. (1990) 55:92–106. doi: 10.2307/2095705

24. Klevens J, Luo F, Xu L, Peterson C, Latzman NE. Paid family leave's effect on hospital admissions for pediatric abusive head trauma. *Inj Prev.* (2016) 22:442–5. doi: 10.1136/injuryprev-2015-041702

25. Klevens J, Schmidt B, Luo F, Xu L, Ports KA, Lee RD. Effect of the earned income tax credit on hospital admissions for pediatric abusive head trauma, 1995–2013. *Public Health Rep.* (2017) 132:505–11. doi: 10.1177/0033354917710905

26. Lorke C. Armut im geteilten Deutschland: Die Wahrnehmung sozialer Randlagen in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland und der DDR. New York, NY: Campus Verlag (2015).

27. Brückner J, Schmidt S, Brähler E, Decker O. Bedingungen außerfamiliärer Kleinkindbetreuung in der DDR. Prekärer Zusammenhalt. Gießen: Psychosozial-Verlag (2020). doi: 10.30820/9783837930504-79

28. Berth H, Förster P, Brähler E, Stöbel-Richter Y. Hat der Besuch einer Kinderkrippe Auswirkungen auf psychische und Einstellungsfaktoren im Erwachsenenalter? Ergebnisse der Sächsischen Längsschnittstudie. *Psychoanalyse.* (2010) 2:209–18. doi: 10.30820/9783837973945

29. Fegert JM, Rassenhofer M, Schneider T, Spröber N, Seitz A. Sexueller Kindesmissbrauch-Zeugnisse, Botschaften, Konsequenzen. Ergebnisse der Begleitforschung für die Anlaufstelle der Unabhängigen Beauftragten der Bundesregierung zur Aufarbeitung des sexuellen Kindesmissbrauchs, Frau Dr Christine Bergmann. Basel: Beltz Juventa (2013).

30. Berking H, Neckel S. Die Politik der Lebensstile in einem Berliner Bezirk. Zu einigen Formen nachtraditionaler Vergemeinschaftung. In: Berger PA, Hradil S, editors. *Lebenslagen, Lebensläufe, Lebenstile. Soziale Welt, Sonderband.* Göttingen: Soziale Welt (1990) 7. p. 481–500.

31. Diewald M, Mayer KU. The sociology of the life course and life span psychology: integrated paradigm or complementing pathways? *Adv Life Course Res.* (2009) 14:5–14. doi: 10.1016/j.alcr.2009.03.001

32. Ulke C, Fleischer T, Muehlan H, Altweck L, Hahm S, Glaesmer H, et al. Sociopolitical context as determinant of childhood maltreatment: a population-based study among women and men in East and West Germany. *Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci.* (2021) 30:1–8. doi: 10.1017/S2045796021000585

33. Schötensack K, Elliger T, Gross A, Nissen G. Prevalence of sexual abuse of children in Germany. Acta Paedopsychiatr. (1992) 55, 211-6.

34. Felitti VJ, Anda RF, Nordenberg D, Williamson DF, Spitz AM, Edwards V, et al. Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults: the adverse childhood experiences (ACE) study. *Am J Prev Med.* (1998) 14:245–58. doi: 10.1016/S0749-3797(98)00017-8

35. R Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. (2014).

36. Hadley Wickham RF, Lionel Henry, Kirill Müller. *dplyr: A Grammar of Data Manipulation. R Package Version 1.0.7.* (2021). Available online at: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=dplyr. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4842-6876-6_1 (accessed May 13, 2021).

37. Hadley Wickham EM. *haven: Import and Export 'SPSS', 'Stata' and 'SAS' Files.* R Package Version 2.4.3. (2021). Available online at: https://CRANR-projectorg/package=haven (accessed May 13, 2021).

38. Wickham H. ggplot2: Elegant Graphics for Data Analysis. New York, NY: Springer-Verlag (2016). doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-24277-4

39. Clemens V, Berthold O, Witt A, Sachser C, Brähler E, Plener PL, et al. Child maltreatment is mediating long-term consequences of household dysfunction in a population representative sample. *Eur Psychiatry.* (2019) 58:10–8. doi: 10.1016/j.eurpsy.2019.01.018

40. Clemens V, Berthold O, Witt A, Sachser C, Brähler E, Plener PL, et al. Lifespan risks of growing up in a family with mental illness or substance abuse. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:1–8. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-72064-w

41. Gordon RA, Usdansky ML, Wang X, Gluzman A. Child care and mothers' mental health: is high-quality care associated with fewer depressive symptoms? *Fam Relat.* (2011) 60:446–60. doi: 10.1111/j.1741-3729.2011.00657.x

42. Korbin JE. Cross-cultural perspectives and research directions for the 21st century. *Child Abuse Negl.* (1991) 15:67–77. doi: 10.1016/0145-2134(91) 90010-B

43. Sachse C, Knorr S, Baumgart B. Sexueller Missbrauch in der DDR: Historische, Rechtliche und Psychologische Hintergründe des Sexuellen Missbrauchs an Kindern und Jugendlichen in der DDR. Wiesbaden: Springer-Verlag (2018). doi: 10.1007/978-3-658-20874-5

44. Dresing H, Dolling D, Hermann D, Horten B, Hoell A, Voss E, et al. Sexueller Missbrauch von Kindern durch katholische Priester seit 2009: Verlauf und relativeHaufigkeit im Vergleich zur mannlichen Allgemeinbevolkerung. *Psychiat Prax.* (2019) 46:1–7. doi: 10.1055/a-0936-3869

45. Clemens V, Plener PL, Brähler E, Strauß B, Fegert JM. [Parental separation is the accumulation with other adverse childhood experiences the main burden? Analysis of a representative sample of the German population]. *Psychother Psychosom Med Psychol.* (2021) 71:81–9. doi: 10.1055/a-1197-7144

46. Brahler E, Schumacher J, Eisemann M. Das erinnerte elterliche Erziehungsverhalten im Ost-West-Vergleich und seine Beziehung zur aktuellen Befindlichkeit. In: Kerz-Ruhling I, editor. Sozialistische Diktatur und psychische Folgen. Psychoanalytisch-psychologische Untersuchungen in Ostdeutschland und Tschechien. Tubingen: Diskus (2000). p. 91-118.

47. Lansford JE, Malone PS, Dodge KA, Chang L, Chaudhary N, Tapanya S, et al. Children's perceptions of maternal hostility as a mediator of the link between discipline and children's adjustment in four countries. *Int J Behav Dev.* (2010) 34:452–61. doi: 10.1177/0165025409354933

48. Durrant JE, Janson S. Law reform, corporal punishment and child abuse: the case of Sweden. *Int Rev Victimol.* (2005) 12:139–58. doi: 10.1177/026975800501200203

49. Haarer J. Die deutsche Mutter und ihr erstes Kind. München: JF Lehmanns Verlag (1943).

50. Stith SM, Liu T, Davies LC, Boykin EL, Alder MC, Harris JM, et al. Risk factors in child maltreatment: a meta-analytic review of the literature. *Aggress Violent Behav.* (2009) 14:13–29. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2006.03.006

51. Kang NR, Kwack YS, Song JK, Kim MD, Park JH, Kim BN, et al. The intergenerational transmission of maternal adverse childhood experiences on offspring's psychiatric disorder and the mediating role of maternal depression: results from a cross sectional study. *Clin Child Psychol Psychiatry*. (2022) 27:613–29. doi: 10.1177/13591045211056919

52. Ishikawa K, Azuma N, Ohka M. Intergenerational transmission of maternal adverse childhood experiences on next generation's development: a mini-review. *Front Psychol.* (2022) 13:852467.

53. McDonald S, Madigan S, Racine N, Benzies K, Tomfohr L, Tough S. Maternal adverse childhood experiences, mental health, and child behaviour at age 3: the all our families community cohort study. *Prev Med.* (2019) 118:286–94. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2018.11.013

54. Lee WC, Fang SC, Chen YY, Liu HC, Huang MC, McKetin R. Exploring the mediating role of methamphetamine use in the relationship between adverse childhood experiences and attempted suicide. *Addict Behav.* (2021) 123:107060. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2021. 107060

55. Maccari S, Polese D, Reynaert M-L, Amici T, Morley-Fletcher S, Fagioli F. Early-life experiences and the development of adult diseases with a focus on mental illness: the human birth theory. *Neuroscience*. (2017) 342:232–51. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.05.042

56. Witt A, Glaesmer H, Jud A, Plener PL, Brähler E, Brown RC, et al. Trends in child maltreatment in Germany: comparison of two representative population-based studies. *Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health.* (2018) 12:24. doi: 10.1186/s13034-018-0232-5

57. Ahmadzadeh A. Die Auswirkung soziale Ungleichheit in Deutschland auf psychische Erkrankung am Beispiel der Depression. Hamburg: Hochschule für angewandte Wissenschaften Hamburg (2016).

 Jacobi F. Nehmen psychische Störungen zu. Rep Psychol. (2009) 34:16–
Available online at: https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Frank-Jacobi/publication/236220223_Nehmen_psychische_Storungen_zu/links/
00463517b1322e4f90000000/Nehmen-psychische-Stoerungen-zu.pdf

59. Poli A, Gemignani A, Miccoli M. Randomized trial on the effects of a group EMDR intervention on narrative complexity and specificity of autobiographical memories: a path analytic and supervised machine-learning study. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2022) 19:7684. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19 137684

60. Moore SK, Okst K, Smith L, Fatkin T, Creedon T, Fredericksen AK, et al. "Today I can look in the mirror and like myself": effects of a traumainformed mindful recovery program on self-compassion. *Front Psychol.* (2022) 13:780383. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.780383

61. Fergusson DM, Horwood LJ, Woodward LJ. The stability of child abuse reports: a longitudinal study of the reporting behaviour of young adults. *Psychol Med.* (2000) 30:529–44. doi: 10.1017/S003329179900 2111

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Rakesh Pandey, Banaras Hindu University, India

REVIEWED BY

Meenakshi Shukla, Allahabad University, India Hitesh Khurana, Pandit Bhagwat Dayal Sharma University of Health Sciences, India Jiushu Xie, Nanjing Normal University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Linping Tu tulp1021@163.com

[†]These authors share first authorship

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Mood Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 08 May 2022 ACCEPTED 20 October 2022 PUBLISHED 16 November 2022

CITATION

Li X, Tu L and Jiang X (2022) Childhood maltreatment affects depression and anxiety: The mediating role of benign envy and malicious envy. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:924795. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.924795

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Li, Tu and Jiang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Childhood maltreatment affects depression and anxiety: The mediating role of benign envy and malicious envy

Xiaojun Li^{1†}, Linping Tu^{2*†} and Xinsheng Jiang²

¹School of Teacher Education, Nanjing Xiaozhuang University, Nanjing, China, ²School of Educational Science, Hunan Normal University, Changsha, China

The influence of childhood maltreatment on depression and anxiety has been reported in many studies, and the mechanism of this influence has been described from different perspectives. However, few research has explored the influence of child maltreatment on depression and anxiety from the perspective of benign/malicious envy. Given that, based on social comparison theory, this study explored the mediating effect of benign envy/malicious envy on child maltreatment, depression, and anxiety. The sample of this study consisted of 2,691 Chinese adolescents. The results showed that benign and malicious envy both played a significant role in mediating the relation between childhood maltreatment and depression and anxiety. Interestingly, we found that there were different mechanisms of benign and malicious envy in this relationship, namely, malicious envy promoted the effects of childhood maltreatment on depression and anxiety, whereas benign envy inhibited the effects of childhood maltreatment on depression and anxiety. These findings not only reveal the different mechanisms between the two socially comparable emotions of benign/malicious envy in the early adverse environment and depression and anxiety, but also provide a specific reference for individuals to regulate the depression and anxiety caused by childhood maltreatment and envy.

KEYWORDS

childhood maltreatment, depression, anxiety, benign envy, malicious envy

Introduction

Today, childhood maltreatment is a major concern around the world and a focus of international child protection (1). Childhood maltreatment is defined as actual or potential harm caused by caregivers or others during childhood, including physical abuse, emotional abuse, sexual abuse, physical neglect, and emotional neglect (2). Several studies have shown that childhood maltreatment affects not only the physical health of an individual (3–6), but can also lead to mental health problems (7–9), such as depression (the main manifestation is low mood) and anxiety (the main manifestation is panic) (10). The relationship between childhood maltreatment and depression and anxiety has been studied in numerous studies. As an example, Wright et al. (11) studied the direct

effects of childhood maltreatment on depression and anxiety from an attachment and cognitive perspective; Huh et al. (12) explored the underlying mechanisms of childhood maltreatment and depression and anxiety from the perspective of emotion regulation. In spite of this, few studies have investigated the influence mechanism of childhood maltreatment on these two typical mental health problems from the perspective of social comparison. In the process of upward social comparison, that is, comparison with others who are better than oneself, the individual develops the negative emotion of envy (13). Moreover, depending on perceptions and motivations, envy under social comparison can be classified as either benign or malicious (14-16), and these two types may have different impacts on depression and anxiety. In view of this, this study will explore the mediating role of benign and malicious envy between childhood maltreatment and depression and anxiety based on social comparison theory, in order to provide a theoretical basis for interventions to promote individuals' mental health and reduce their negative emotions.

The link between childhood maltreatment and mental health has been established in previous studies (17, 18). Depression and anxiety, as two typical mental health problems, have also been shown to be influenced by this early adverse environment. For example, Li et al. (19) used the meta-analysis revealed that that individuals abused early in their lives were more likely to have depressive and anxious tendencies; Fergusson et al. (20) demonstrated through a longitudinal study that individuals with early experiences of abuse exhibit stronger tendencies toward depression and anxiety; In a clinical study, Heim and Nemeroff (21) found that childhood maltreatment can lead to partial neurological overactivity, which may increase an individual's risk of developing depression or anxiety disorders. Additionally, previous studies have demonstrated the relationship between childhood maltreatment and depression and anxiety from various perspectives. According to Bernet and Stein (22), abuse during childhood predicts the probability of adult depression; Nanni et al. (23), in a clinical study, found that depressed individuals who suffered abuse in childhood had relapses and remained depressed longer. Furthermore, research has shown that childhood maltreatment makes individuals more prone to anxiety (24, 25). Based on above, we propose the first hypothesis of this study (H1): childhood maltreatment is positively related to depression and anxiety.

Furthermore, from the perspective of social comparison, benign and malicious envy may function as mediators between depression and anxiety. According to the Social Comparison Theory (SCT), individuals have an innate tendency to compare themselves to others (26). Depending on the object of comparison, these comparisons can be categorized as upward or downward social comparisons (27, 28). Individuals who have experienced childhood maltreatment tend to be insecure and more concerned with what others have that they do not (29), and thus more prone to upward social comparison. In upward social comparisons, individuals are prone to the negative emotion of envy (13). In previous research, it has been shown that envy, as a negative emotion generated by social comparison, can lead to a wide variety of mental health disorders in individuals (30). Moreover, studies have shown that envy can be divided into benign envy and malicious envy (14-16), and these two kinds of envy may have different effects on individual mental health. Based on previous research, it has been found that individuals who develop benign envy in upward social comparisons are hopeful, more likely to have relatively positive cognitive styles and emotional experiences, and tend to self-improve in comparisons with others to achieve their desired goals, believing that they can work hard to get what the envied person has (31), so that they are less likely to fall into depression and anxiety. In contrast, individuals who are maliciously envy psychologically perceive themselves as unable to achieve desired goals through self-improvement, while they tend to be destructive and intent on preventing the success of others (32) and reinforce this behavioral tendency through constant social comparison, leading to higher levels of depression and anxiety. Therefore, benign envy may lead to less depression and anxiety, while malicious envy may lead to more depression and anxiety. In addition, previous research using university students has also found that childhood maltreatment is associated with both benign and malicious envy. For example, Zhao et al. (33) found that childhood maltreatment positively predicted malicious envy and negatively predicted benign envy; Li and Xiang (34) explored the mechanisms of influence of childhood maltreatment on benign and malicious envy based on the framework of learned helplessness theory; He and Xiang (35) also confirmed that there is a relationship between childhood maltreatment and benign and malicious envy. Thus, from a social comparison perspective, childhood maltreatment may also affect benign and malicious envy. Individuals who have experienced childhood maltreatment are prone to distrust the outside world and are more willing to choose destructive ways to destroy others' victories in social comparison to achieve their success. As a result, they are more prone to malicious envy than benign envy, which leads to more depression and anxiety. Give that, we suggest a second hypothesis for this study (H2): Benign and malicious envy may play a mediating role between childhood maltreatment and depression and anxiety. And, on the basis of mediating effect, we further hypothesize that: On the one hand, childhood maltreatment can aggravate an individual's tendency to depression and anxiety by increasing malicious envy. On the other hand, it can aggravate an individual's tendency to depression and anxiety by suppressing benign envy.

In summary, this study aims to examine the impact of childhood maltreatment on depression and anxiety from a social comparison perspective and the mediating role that benign and malicious envy plays between them. To this end, we propose two research hypotheses. **H1**: Childhood maltreatment is positively correlated with depression and anxiety; and **H2**: Benign envy and malicious envy mediate the relationship between childhood maltreatment and depression and anxiety, meaning that childhood maltreatment can increase depression and anxiety by increasing malicious envy, as well as by decreasing benign envy.

Method

Participants

This study was conducted in two elementary schools, two middle schools and one high school in a coastal city using cluster sampling. The total number of questionnaires distributed was 2,749. After excluding incomplete and apparently random questionnaires, 2,691 questionnaires were returned. Grade characteristics of the subjects were: 1,303 primary school students (grades 4-6), 673 junior high school students (grades 7-8) and 715 high school students (grade 10); gender characteristics were: 1,504 male students and 1,187 female students. The participants ranged in age from 9 to 17 years, with a mean age of 12.50 \pm 2.00 years. Detailed participants demographic data can be found in Table 1. After detailed instruction, participants independently completed a series of questionnaires, which included, Childhood Trauma Questionnaire, Benign and Malicious Envy Scale, and Depression Anxiety Stress Scales. The study was approved by the ethics committee of Hunan Normal University (2021, No. 076). The consent procedures followed were consistent with those mentioned in the study protocol submitted for ethical approval. The consent process followed by the Institute is set out below. Firstly, in view of the young age of the participants, the informed consent was communicated to the guardians of the children studying at school, i.e., the teachers concerned, and the parents were informed verbally through the teachers. Therefore, informed consent was obtained from teachers and parents for this study. Secondly, prior to completing the questionnaire, all participants were fully informed of their right to participate in the study, including voluntary participation and withdrawal at

TABLE 1 Demographic data of the sample population (N = 2,691).

Grade		Sample	2	Age (y	ears)
	Total	Male	Female	Male	Female
Grade 4	390	195	195	9.91 ± 0.68	9.77 ± 0.65
Grade 5	496	295	201	10.84 ± 0.68	10.72 ± 0.61
Grade 6	417	222	195	11.69 ± 0.65	11.60 ± 0.61
Grade 7	327	179	148	12.65 ± 0.62	12.47 ± 0.60
Grade 8	346	201	145	13.59 ± 0.63	13.39 ± 0.64
Grade 10	715	412	303	15.15 ± 0.60	15.06 ± 0.55

Age are expressed as means \pm standard deviations.

any time, and that participation was not associated with merit assessments. Therefore, informed consent was obtained from the participants.

Measures

Childhood maltreatment

Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ) was developed by Bernstein et al. (2) and subsequently revised by Xiang et al. (36). Considering the sensitivity of sexual abuse in the Chinese culture, the study used a revised version of Xiang et al. (36), which removed five items associated with the sexual abuse subscale, leaving 23 items divided into four dimensions, including emotional abuse, physical abuse, emotional neglect, and physical neglect. Each subscale contains five items and an additional three items are set as validity evaluation. The four subscales' Cronbach's alpha coefficients were as follows: 0.69 for emotional abuse, 0.77 for physical abuse, 0.79 for emotional neglect, and 0.61 for physical neglect in the present study. An example of an item is: someone in my family called me "stupid," "lazy" or "ugly". All items are scored by a five-point Likert-type scale, ranging from 1 "never" to 5 "always." The scale has been shown to be appropriate for upper elementary, middle and high school samples (35). The full scale (excluding the sexual abuse subscale) had a Cronbach's alpha of 0.898 in this study.

Benign envy and malicious envy

This study used the Benign and Malicious Envy Scale (BeMaS) developed by Lange and Crusius (37), which consists of two scales, Benign Envy and Malicious Envy, each consisting of five items, all items were rated on a six-point Likert scale from 1 "strongly disagree" to 6 "strongly agree." Example of an item: I want people who are better than me to lose their competitive edge. The scales has been validated for upper elementary and middle and high school students (35), and in this study the Cronbach's alpha was 0.737 for the Benign Envy subscale and 0.786 for the Malicious Envy subscale.

Depression and anxiety

The Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS) were developed by Lovibond and Lovibond (38) and adapted by Gong et al. (39). Only two of the subscales, depression and anxiety, were used in this study, comprising a total of 14 items. All items were rated on a four-point Likert scale, with 1 representing "never" and 4 representing "always," and the higher the score (up to 4), the greater the degree of anxiety or depression. In this study, Cronbach's alpha for the depression and anxiety dimensions were 0.867 and 0.810, respectively. Due to the fact that the scale has only been used in middle and high schools and adult samples previously (40), its

reliability in upper elementary grades was separately examined in this study. The reliability coefficients for depression and anxiety were 0.859 and 0.811, respectively, for the upper elementary students.

Statistical analysis

The data for this study was analyzed using SPSS24.0 and AMOS24.0 software. Firstly, we performed a descriptive analysis using SPSS 24.0 to measure correlations between the potential variables based on the hypotheses of this study. Secondly, a measurement model was constructed using AMOS 24.0 to examine the predictive effect of the observed variables on the latent variables. On this basis, the structural equation model is further constructed. For testing the fit of the model, the Comparative Fit Index (CFI), Standardized Root Mean Square Residual (SRMR) and Root Mean Square Error of Approximation (RMSEA) were used (41). Finally, we used a bias-corrected percentile Bootstrap method with a sample size of 2,000 times and a confidence interval of 95% to examine the mediating effect of benign envy/malicious envy between childhood maltreatment and depression and anxiety. In addition, it is important to note that in the structural equation modeling construct, the observed variables of benign envy/malicious envy, depression and anxiety are each packaged as two variables according to Little et al. (42), which takes into account item balance.

Results

Measurement model

The measurement model consists of five potential variables: childhood maltreatment, benign envy, malicious envy, depression and anxiety. The results show that the measurement model showed a good fitness: χ^2 (44,2691) = 495.075, *p* < 0.001; RMSEA = 0.062; SRMR = 0.0387; CFI = 0.973.

Meanwhile, Table 2 presents the mean (M), standard deviation (SD) and the correlation between the two variables. The results revealed that all variables studied were significantly correlated with each other, except for benign envy, which was not significantly correlated with malicious envy.

Structural model

In the absence of benign and malicious envy as mediating variables, childhood maltreatment predicts depression ($\beta = 0.18$, p < 0.001) and anxiety ($\beta = 0.16$, p < 0.001). Based on this, model 1 was constructed based on the research hypothesis. By controlling for grade and gender in this model, childhood

maltreatment directly and positively predicted depression and anxiety, while childhood maltreatment also positively predicted depression and anxiety by decreasing benign envy and positively predicted depression and anxiety by increasing malicious envy (Figure 1). The results showed that the fitting degree of model 1 was good [$\chi^2_{(64)} = 898.359, p < 0.001$; RMSEA = 0.070; SRMR = 0.039; CFI = 0.952] (Table 3).

Mediation variable significance

This study used the Bootstrap method to test the significance of the mediating role of benign and malicious envy. We investigated 2,000 bootstraps from the original data, and determined that benign envy mediated the relationship between the impact of childhood maltreatment on depression [95% CI (0.01, 0.03)] and anxiety [95% CI (0.004, 0.02)]. Moreover, childhood maltreatment was associated with depression [95% CI (0.03, 0.05)] and anxiety [95% CI (0.03, 0.05)] through malicious envy (Table 4).

Discussion

Based on the social comparison theory, this study examined how childhood maltreatment affects depression and anxiety, as well as the mediating role played by benign and malicious envy. Our results indicated that benign envy inhibited the negative effects of childhood maltreatment on both negative emotions, whereas malicious envy facilitated this relationship mechanism. These findings not only have important theoretical support for the interventions that aim to improve mental health of individuals, but also provide an empirical foundation for practical activities to prevent negative emotions in individuals such as anxiety and depression.

First of all, the results of the study tested hypothesis 1, which suggests that childhood maltreatment positively predicts depression and anxiety. In fact, previous studies using adults as subjects have shown that childhood maltreatment is associated with persistent negative effects on mental health. For example, Springer et al. (10) showed that individuals who were physically abused in childhood displayed more mental health problems in middle age; Thoma et al.'s (43) involving older adults indicated that childhood maltreatment had a negative impact on individuals' mental health throughout their lifetime. Similarly, the study found that childhood maltreatment affected individuals' psychological wellbeing, indicating that childhood maltreatment increased depression and anxiety among adolescents. Moreover, the findings are consistent with those of previous studies involving adults, including Brown et al.'s (44) findings demonstrating that child maltreatment is a significant predictor of depression and anxiety symptoms in adults. The findings of this study, which used adolescent groups

	М	SD	1	2	3	4	5
1. Childhood maltreatment	32.87	11.89	1.00				
2. Benign envy	22.46	4.75	-0.24***	1.00			
3. Malicious envy	11.95	5.49	0.31***	-0.003	1.00		
4. Depression	10.95	3.97	0.53***	-0.27***	0.35***	1.00	
5. Anxiety	11.56	3.81	0.50***	-0.16***	0.33***	0.78***	1.00

TABLE 2 Descriptive statistics and bivariate correlations for all measures.

 $^{***} p < 0.001.$



TABLE 3 Fit indices of model 1.

	χ ²	df	CFI	RMSEA	SRMR	GFI	AGFI	TLI
Model 1	898.359	64	0.952	0.070	0.039	0.953	0.923	0.932

RMSEA, root-mean-square error of approximation; SRMR, standardized root means square residual; CFI, comparative ft index; AIC, Akaike information criterion; ECVI, expected cross-validation index.

as subjects, actually provide further evidence that childhood maltreatment has a negative impact on depression and anxiety in individuals across generations and in a stable manner. And, this result can also be explained by social comparison theory. Individuals who have experienced childhood maltreatment tend to feel more insecure (45) and are prone to envy in social comparisons of what others have that they do not have, leading to depression and anxiety. As a result, individuals who are abused early on are more likely to develop depression and anxiety.

Furthermore, consistent with Hypothesis 2, the results indicate that benign envy and malicious envy play an important mediating role between childhood maltreatment and depression and anxiety, but that there are different mechanisms of action in this relationship. In the case of malicious envy, childhood maltreatment increased malicious envy and consequently

Pathways	Estimate	Lower	Upper	Effect size (%)
$CM \rightarrow BE \rightarrow DE$	0.022	0.010	0.032	3.56
$CM \rightarrow \ BE \rightarrow \ AN$	0.010	0.004	0.018	1.62
$CM \rightarrow \ ME \rightarrow \ DE$	0.039	0.029	0.051	6.31
$CM \rightarrow \ ME \rightarrow \ AN$	0.039	0.030	0.050	6.31

TABLE 4 Standardized indirect effects and 95% confidence intervals.

CM, childhood maltreatment; BE, benign envy; ME, malicious envy; DE, depression; AN, anxiety.

depression and anxiety in individuals, and this finding is congruent with previous research. As He et al. (35) found that adolescents who suffered childhood maltreatment had higher levels of malicious envy, which, as a negative emotion, can potentially lead to an individual developing psychological symptoms such as obsessions, fears, depression, and anxiety (46). The present study with adolescents as subjects further confirms that malicious envy plays an important mediating role between childhood maltreatment and depression and anxiety. Moreover, the results of this study are consistent with social comparison theory. From the perspective of social comparison theory, individuals who feel maliciously envy are often prone to a negative state of fear of failure due to their unfavorable social comparison (47), which makes them more likely to develop depression and anxiety. Therefore, individuals who have experienced abuse during childhood are more vulnerable to developing malicious envy, which can lead to depression and anxiety.

In the case of benign envy, however, the study found a completely different mechanism from malicious envy, in that benign envy suppressed the effect of childhood maltreatment on depression and anxiety. As previous research has found, individuals who have suffered childhood maltreatment hold a negative perception of life (34, 48) and are more likely to develop malicious envy than benign envy (33). The present study found that individuals who were less abused in childhood tend to develop benign envy and are thus less likely to fall into depression and anxiety. The reason might be due to the fact that individuals with benign envy demonstrate relatively positive cognitive styles (15), behave more positively when social comparisons occur, believe that the gap between them and the envied person can be closed through self-improvement, and are optimistic about life (49), and thus are less likely to become depressed or anxious. As a result, individuals who experience childhood maltreatment are likely to develop less benign envy, and are more prone to depression and anxiety.

However, there are some limitations to this study. In the construct model, we used depression and anxiety as a single variable to explain the underlying mechanisms of depression and anxiety, which may have caused some bias in the results. Therefore, the role of benign and malicious envy in the relationship between childhood maltreatment and depression and anxiety remains to be studied, and further research should consider the different mechanisms of depression and anxiety.

In summary, this study examines the mechanisms of how childhood maltreatment affects depression and anxiety from the perspective of social comparison theory. While previous studies have examined the effects of childhood maltreatment on individuals' negative emotions from a positive psychology and Big Five personality perspective (46, 50), this study expands the understanding of the mechanisms of childhood maltreatment on negative emotions under a social comparison theoretical perspective. Interestingly, the two types of envy, benign and malicious, play different roles in this mechanism. These results not only contribute to the theoretical study of the effects of childhood abuse on an individual's mental health, but also provide some reference for individuals to regulate depression and anxiety caused by childhood maltreatment and envy.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

This research was approved by the scientific research project of the Medical Ethics Committee of Hunan Normal University. The project is titled "The Neural Associations of Benign/Malicious Envy and the Mechanism of Mindfulness Intervention". The consent procedures followed were consistent with those mentioned in the study protocol submitted for ethical approval. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

Author contributions

XJ and XL: data collection. XL and LT: data analysis. XL, LT, and XJ: paper revising. LT: paper writing. XJ: study designing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by the Qing Lan Project and Project of Nanjing Institute of Mental Health for Minors (2021ZKWY03).

Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful for the support and grant funding contributed by General Program of the Philosophy and Social Science Project of Hunan Province (18YBA324).

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships

References

1. Gilbert R, Widom CS, Browne K, Fergusson D, Webb E, Janson S. Burden and consequences of child maltreatment in high-income countries. *Lancet.* (2009) 373:68–81. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61706-7

2. Bernstein DP, Fink L, Handelsman L, Foote J, Lovejoy M, Wenzel K, et al. Initial reliability and validity of a new retrospective measure of child abuse and neglect': reply. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1995) 152:1535–7. doi: 10.1176/ajp.152.10.1535-a

3. Anda RF, Felitti VJ, Bremner JD, Walker JD, Whitfield C, Perry BD, et al. The enduring effects of abuse and related adverse experiences in childhood. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2006) 256:174–86. doi: 10.1007/s00406-005-0624-4

4. Hussey JM, Chang JJ, Kotch JB. Child maltreatment in the United States: prevalence, risk factors, and adolescent health consequences. *Pediatrics*. (2006) 118:933–42. doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-2452

5. Hughes K, Bellis MA, Hardcastle KA, Sethi D, Butchart A, Mikton C, et al. The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Public Health.* (2017) 2:e356–e66. doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(17)30118-4

6. Felitti VJ, Anda RF, Nordenberg D, Williamson DF, Spitz AM, Edwards V, et al. Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults: the adverse childhood experiences (ACE) study. *Am J Prev Med.* (1998) 14:245–58. doi: 10.1016/S0749-3797(98)00017-8

7. Norman RE, Byambaa M, De R, Butchart A, Scott J, Vos T. The long-term health consequences of child physical abuse, emotional abuse, and neglect: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS Med.* (2012) 9:e1001349. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001349

 Varese F, Smeets F, Drukker M, Lieverse R, Lataster T, Viechtbauer W, et al. Childhood adversities increase the risk of psychosis: a meta-analysis of patientcontrol, prospective- and cross-sectional cohort studies. *Schizophrenia Bull*. (2012) 38:661–71. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbs050

9. Edwards VJ, Holden GW, Felitti VJ, Anda RF. Relationship between multiple forms of childhood maltreatment and adult mental health in community respondents: results from the adverse childhood experiences study. *Am J Psychiat.* (2003) 160:1453–60. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.160.8. 1453

10. Springer KW, Sheridan J, Kuo D, Carnes M. Long-term physical and mental health consequences of childhood physical abuse: results from a large population-based sample of men and women. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2007) 31:517–30. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2007.01.003

11. Wright MOD, Crawford E, Del Castillo D. Childhood emotional maltreatment and later psychological distress among college students: the mediating role of maladaptive schemas. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2009) 33:59-68. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2008.12.007

12. Huh HJ, Kim KH, Lee H-K, Chae J-H. The relationship between childhood trauma and the severity of adulthood depression and anxiety symptoms in a clinical sample: the mediating role of cognitive emotion regulation strategies. *J Affect Disorders*. (2017) 213:44–50. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017. 02.009

13. Smith RH, Kim SH. Comprehending envy. Psychol Bull. (2007) 133:46-64. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.133.1.46

that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

14. van de Ven N, Hoogland CE, Smith RH, van Dijk WW, Breugelmans SM, Zeelenberg M. When envy leads to schadenfreude. *Cogn Emot.* (2015) 29:1007–25. doi: 10.1080/02699931.2014.961903

15. van de Ven N, Zeelenberg M, Pieters R. Leveling up and down: the experiences of benign and malicious envy. *Emotion.* (2009) 9:419-29. doi: 10.1037/a0015669

16. van de Ven N, Zeelenberg M, Pieters R. Appraisal patterns of envy and related emotions. *Motiv Emot.* (2012) 36:195–204. doi: 10.1007/s11031-011-9235-8

17. Zhu Z, Li P, Hao L. Correlation of childhood psychological abuse and neglect with mental health in Chinese college students during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Front Psychiatry*. (2021) 12:770201. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.770201

18. Kuuire VZ. Childhood adversity and psychosocial health outcomes in later life among immigrants in Canada. *J Immigr Minor Health.* (2020) 22:383–91. doi: 10.1007/s10903-019-00884-8

19. Li M, D'Arcy C, Meng X. Maltreatment in childhood substantially increases the risk of adult depression and anxiety in prospective cohort studies: systematic review, meta-analysis, and proportional attributable fractions. *Psychol Med.* (2016) 46:717–30. doi: 10.1017/S0033291715002743

20. Fergusson DM, Boden JM, Horwood LJ. Exposure to childhood sexual and physical abuse and adjustment in early adulthood. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2008) 32:607–19. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2006.12.018

21. Heim C, Nemeroff CB. The role of childhood trauma in the neurobiology of mood and anxiety disorders: preclinical and clinical studies. *Biol Psychiat*. (2001) 49:1023–39. doi: 10.1016/S0006-3223(01)01157-X

22. Bernet CZ, Stein MB. Relationship of childhood maltreatment to the onset and course of major depression in adulthood. *Depress Anxiety*. (1999) 9:169– 74. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1520-6394(1999)9:4<169:aid-da4>3.0.co;2-2

23. Nanni V, Uher R, Danese A. Childhood maltreatment predicts unfavorable course of illness and treatment outcome in depression: a meta-analysis. *Am J Psychiat.* (2012) 169:141–51. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.11020335

24. Kuo JR, Goldin PR, Werner K, Heimberg RG, Gross JJ. Childhood trauma and current psychological functioning in adults with social anxiety disorder. J Anxiety Disord. (2011) 25:467–73. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2010.11.011

25. Cougle JR, Timpano KR, Sachs-Ericsson N, Keough ME, Riccardi CJ. Examining the unique relationships between anxiety disorders and childhood physical and sexual abuse in the national comorbidity survey-replication. *Psychiat Res.* (2010) 177:150–5. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2009.03.008

26. Festinger L. A theory of social comparison processes. *Human Relations*. (1954) 7:117-40. doi: 10.1177/001872675400700202

27. Wheeler L. Motivation as a determinant of upward comparison. J Exp Soc Psychol. (1966) 1:27–31. doi: 10.1016/0022-1031(66)90062-X

28. Hakmiller KL. Threat as a determinant of downward comparison. J Exp Soc Psychol. (1966) 1:32–9. doi: 10.1016/0022-1031(66)9 0063-1

29. Lo CK, Chan KL, Ip P. Insecure adult attachment and child maltreatment: a meta-analysis. *Trauma Viol Abuse.* (2019) 20:706–19. doi: 10.1177/1524838017730579

30. Mujcic R, Oswald AJ. Is envy harmful to a society's psychological health and wellbeing? A longitudinal study of 18,000 adults. *Soc Sci Med.* (2018) 198:103–11. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.12.030

31. Kwon M, Han Y, Nam M. Envy takes you further: the influence of benign envy on risk taking. Social Behav Personal. (2017) 45:39–50. doi: 10.2224/sbp.5977

32. Khan AK, Bell CM, Quratulain S. The two faces of envy: perceived opportunity to perform as a moderator of envy manifestation. *Personnel Rev.* (2017) 46:490–511. doi: 10.1108/PR-12-2014-0279

33. Zhao J, Xiang Y, Zhao J, Li Q, Dong X, Zhang W. The relationship between childhood maltreatment and benign/malicious envy among chinese college students: the mediating role of emotional intelligence. *J Gen Psychol.* (2020) 147:277–92. doi: 10.1080/00221309.2020.1743229

34. Li Q, Xiang Y. How is childhood maltreatment linked to benign envy/malicious envy? The mediating role of self-esteem, authentic pride and hubristic pride. *Personal Mental Health*. (2020) 14:376–87. doi: 10.1002/pmh.1492

35. He N, Xiang Y. How child maltreatment impacts internalized/externalized aggression among Chinese adolescents from perspectives of social comparison and the general aggression model. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2021) 117:105024. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2021.105024

36. Xiang Y, Wang W, Guan F. The relationship between child maltreatment and dispositional envy and the mediating effect of self-esteem and social support in young adults. *Front Psychol.* (2018) 9:1054. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01054

37. Lange J, Crusius J. Dispositional envy revisited: unraveling the motivational dynamics of benign and malicious envy. *Pers Soc Psychol Bull.* (2015) 41:284–94. doi: 10.1177/0146167214564959

38. Lovibond PF, Lovibond SH. The structure of negative emotional states: comparison of the depression anxiety stress scales (DASS) with the beck depression and anxiety inventories. *Behav Res Ther.* (1995) 33:335–43. doi: 10.1016/0005-7967(94)00075-U

39. Gong X, Xie X-y, Xu R, Luo Y-j. Psychometric properties of the Chinese Versions of DASS-21 in Chinese college students. *Chin J Clin Psychol.* (2010) 18:443–6. doi: 10.16128/j.cnki.1005-3611.2010.04.020

40. He J, Xiang Y. Kinship and problem behavior of left-behind children from the perspective of cognitive behavior therapy. *Curr Psychol.* (2022). doi: 10.1007/s12144-022-03438-837

41. Byrne BM. Structural equation modeling with Amos, Eqs, and Lisrel: comparative approaches to testing for the factorial validity of a

measuring instrument. Int J Test. (2001) 1:55–86. doi: 10.1207/S15327574IJT 0101_4

42. Little TD, Cunningham WA, Shahar G, Widaman KF. To parcel or not to parcel: exploring the question, weighing the merits. *Struct Equ Model Multidiscip J.* (2002) 9:151–73. doi: 10.1207/S15328007SEM0 902_1

43. Thoma MV, Bernays F, Eising CM, Maercker A, Rohner SL. Child maltreatment, lifetime trauma, and mental health in Swiss older survivors of enforced child welfare practices: investigating the mediating role of self-esteem and self-compassion. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2021) 113:104925. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.1 04925

44. Brown S, Fite PJ, Stone K, Bortolato M. Accounting for the associations between child maltreatment and internalizing problems: the role of alexithymia. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2016) 52:20–8. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2015. 12.008

45. Cantón-Cortés D, Cortés MR, Cantón J. Child sexual abuse and suicidal ideation: the differential role of attachment and emotional security in the family system. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:3163. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17093163

46. Xiang Y, Zhao J, Li Q, Zhang W, Dong X, Zhao J. Effect of core selfevaluation on mental health symptoms among Chinese College students: the mediating roles of benign and malicious envy. *Psychiatr Ann.* (2019) 49:277– 84. doi: 10.3928/00485713-20190508-01

47. Kang X, Zhang B, Bi Y, Huang X. The effect of malicious envy on the framing effect: the mediating role of fear of failure. *Motiv Emot.* (2019) 43:648–61. doi: 10.1007/s11031-019-09767-9

48. Pierce J, Abbey A, Wegner R. Mediators of the association between childhood emotional maltreatment and young adult men's life satisfaction. *J Interpers Violence.* (2018) 33:595–616. doi: 10.1177/08862605156 09584

49. Crusius J, Lange J. What catches the envious eye? Attentional biases within malicious and benign envy. *J Exp Social Psychol.* (2014) 55:1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.jesp.2014.05.007

50. Xiang Y, Yuan R, Zhao J. Childhood maltreatment and life satisfaction in adulthood: the mediating effect of emotional intelligence, positive affect and negative affect. *J Health Psychol.* (2020) 26:2460–9. doi: 10.1177/1359105320 914381

Frontiers in **Psychiatry**

Explores and communicates innovation in the field of psychiatry to improve patient outcomes

The third most-cited journal in its field, using translational approaches to improve therapeutic options for mental illness, communicate progress to clinicians and researchers, and consequently to improve patient treatment outcomes.

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



